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THE ÍNTER-A WERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

The Inter-American Development Bank, the oldest and largest regional multilateral development institution, was established in Decem
ber of 1959 to help accelerate economic and social development in Latin America and the Caribbean. 

The Bank was created in response to a longstanding desire on the part of the Latin American nations for a development 
institution that would focus on the pressing problems of the region. A resolution calling for the creation of such a bank was adopted at 
the First International American Conference, held in Washington, D.C. in 1890. In 1958 President Juscelino Kubitschek of Brazil pro
posed that the countries of the Hemisphere embark upon a bold cooperative effort to promote the economic and social development of 
the region. His proposal received support from throughout the Hemisphere and shortly thereafter a special committee of the Organiza
tion of American States drafted the Articles of Agreement Establishing the Inter-American Development Bank. 

The Bank's original membership included 19 Latin American and Caribbean countries and the United States. Subsequently, 
eight other Western Hemisphere nations, including Canada, joined the Bank. Belize became the most recent regional member when it 
joined the Bank in 1992. From the beginning, the Bank developed links with many industrialized countries on other continents and in 
1974 the Declaration of Madrid was signed to formalize their entry into the Bank. Seventeen nonregional countries joined the Bank 
between 1976 and 1986. Today Bank membership totals 46 nations. 

In its 34 years of operations, the Bank has become a major catalyst in mobilizing resources for the region. The Bank's Charter 
states that its principal functions are to utilize its own capital, funds raised by it in financial markets, and other available resources, for 
financing the development of the borrowing member countries; to supplement private investment when private capital is not available 
on reasonable terms and conditions; and to provide technical assistance for the preparation, financing, and implementation of develop
ment plans and projects. 

In carrying out its mission, the Bank has mobilized financing for projects that represent a total investment of S178 billion. The 
Bank's annual lending has grown dramatically from the $294 million in loans approved in 1961 to $5.3 billion in 1994. 

The Bank's operations cover the entire spectrum of economic and social development. In the past, Bank lending emphasized 
the productive sectors of agriculture and industry, the physical infrastructure sectors of energy and transportation and the social sectors 
of environmental and public health, education and urban development. Future areas of concentration include the social sectors, modern
ization and integration, and the environment. 

During the 1960s and 1970s, the Bank was a pioneer in financing social projects such as health and education. In fact, the 
Bank's first loan, approved in February of 1961, was for improving the water and sewage system of Arequipa, Peru. Its innovative Small 
Projects Program seeks to provide small financings to microentrepreneurs and small-scale farmers and since 1990 the Bank has broad
ened its support to the informal sector. The Bank has made an effort to see to it that its lending operations directly benefit low-income 
populations. In recent years, the Bank has financed sector reform loans and debt reduction programs. Beginning in 1995, the Bank will 
target a small percentage of resources for direct lending to the private sector, without government guarantees. 

The financial resources of the Bank consist of the ordinary capital account—comprised of subscribed capital, reserves and 
funds raised through borrowings—and Funds in Administration, comprised of contributions made by member countries. In 1994, the 
Bank's member countries agreed to a $40 billion replenishment of the Bank's resources. It should be noted that member countries' 
subscriptions to the Bank's capital fund consist of paid-in and callable capital. A paid-in subscription is in the form of a cash payment 
and represents a minor portion of a member's subscription (under the Eighth General Increase in the Resources of the Bank, the paid-in 
portion represents only 2.5 percent of a member's subscription). The major part of a member's subscription is in the form of callable 
capital—or guarantees of the Bank's borrowings in the world's financial markets. The Bank also has a Fund for Special Operations for 
lending on concessional terms for projects in countries classified as economically less developed. 

The Bank has borrowed funds for its operations from the capital markets of Europe, Japan, Latin America, the Caribbean and 
the United States. The Bank's debt is AAA rated by the three major rating services in the United States, and is accorded equivalent status 
in the other major capital markets. 

The Board of Governors is the Bank's highest authority, on which each member country is represented. Governors are usually 
Ministers of Finance, Presidents of Central Banks or officers of comparable rank. The Board of Governors has delegated many of its 
operational powers to the Board of Executive Directors, which is responsible for the conduct of the Bank's operations. 

The Bank, whose headquarters are in Washington, D.C, has Country Offices in each of its borrowing member countries and 
in Paris. 
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THE COVER. The faces of a teacher, an agricultural worker, 
a lab technician and a student shape the mosaic that is the fu
ture of Latin America and the Caribbean. In 1994, the Inter-
American Development Bank invested over S J billion in projects 
that benefit young people, ranging from education and job train
ing to health and emergency social programs. The Youth Fo
rum at the 1995 Annual Meeting in Jerusalem underscores an 
even stronger commitment forged under the Eighth Replenish
ment. Social projects will now constitute half oj all IDB op
erations, broadening the Bank's reach to those who can affect 
change and building the foundation for development into the next 
century. 



THIRTY-FOUR YEARS OF OPERATIONS 

Loans, Technical Cooperat ion , and Smal l Projects 

• The Bank has approved 2,166 loans totaling $70 billion. 
The total investment in projects financed with the help of the 
Bank is estimated at $ 178 billion. 

• The Bank has committed a total of $2.2 billion for tech
nical cooperation. Of this, $1,201 million has been extended 
on a grant or contingent recovery basis. Another $1,026 mil
lion in reimbursable technical cooperation has been extended for 
preinvestment purposes or as additional parts of specific loans 
to ensure the optimal execution of projects. 

• A total of $176.7 million has been approved for the fi
nancing of Small Projects. 

Resource Mobi l i za t ion 

The subscribed capital of the Bank totaled $70.8 billion as of 
December 3 1 , 1994. This includes cumulative subscriptions to 
the ordinary capital of $60.8 billion; contributions totaling $8.7 
billion to the Fund for Special Operations; and $1.3 billion in 
other funds entrusted to the Bank. 

Lending by Sector 

• Agriculture and Fisheries: 491 loans for $1 1.5 billion 
have helped to finance agricultural and fisheries projects costing 
a total of $25.5 billion. 

• Energy: 258 loans for $14.9 billion have helped to fi
nance $53.3 billion in projects in the energy sector. 

• Industry, Mining and Tourism: 280 loans amounting to 
$8 billion for projects whose total cost is $3 1.3 billion. 

• Transportation and Communications: 272 loans with a 
value of $10 billion have contributed to the execution of projects 
with a combined cost of $2 1.5 billion. 

• Health and Sanitation: 274 loans for $7.3 billion as part 
of projects with a total cost of $14.1 billion. 

• Urban Development: 12 1 loans for $3.9 billion as part 
of financing for projects with a combined worth of $6.9 billion. 

• Education: 150 loans for $2.6 billion have financed 
projects costing $4.9 billion all told. 

• Science and Technology: 30 loans for $1.1 billion have 
helped finance programs worth $2 billion. 

• Environment: 28 loans for $1 billion have helped finance 
projects worth $2.5 billion. 

• Social Investment Funds: 24 loans for $694 million as 
part of projects worth $1.3 billion. 

• Microenterprise: 13 loans for $202 million have helped 
finance projects worth $278 million. 

• Export Financing: 43 loans for $1.1 billion as part of a 
total portfolio of $ 1.7 billion. 

• Preinvestment: 87 global preinvestment loans for $462 
million as part of projects with a total cost of $868 million. 

• Planning and Reform: 74 loans for $5.6 billion, toward 
projects totaling $7.8 billion. 

• Other: 21 multisector loans for $1.5 billion as part of 
projects with a total cost of $3.7 billion. 
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PRESIDENT'S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 

inter-American Development Bank 
Washington, D.C. 

February 15, 1995 

Mr. Chairman: 

Pursuant to Section 2 of the By-Laws of the Inter-American Development Bank, I transmit to you the Annual Report of the 
Bank for 1994, which the Board of Executive Directors submits to the Board of Governors. 

The Report contains a brief summary of the economic situation of Latin America and a review of the Bank's activities in 
1994. 

In addition, the Report contains a description on a country-by-country basis and a regional basis of the Bank's various 
operations—loans, financings for small projects and technical cooperation—on behalf of Latin America's development; a sum
mary statement of the loans approved in 1994; a series of tables of selected data on the region; the financial statements of the 
Bank, and its general appendices. 

Complying with Article III, Section 3(a), of the Agreement Establishing the Bank, the Report contains separate audited finan
cial statements for its various sources of funds. For the ordinary capital resources, these are presented pursuant to the provisions 
of Article VIII, Section 6(a), of the Agreement; for the Fund for Special Operations, in accordance with the provisions of Article 
IV, Section 8(d), of the Agreement; for the Intermediate Financing Facility Account, complying with Section 5(d) of Resolution 
AG-12/83 of the Board of Governors; for the Social Progress Trust Fund, pursuant to Section 5.04 of the Agreement signed 
between the Government of the United States and the Bank; and for the Venezuelan Trust Fund, in accordance with Article VI, 
Section 24, of the Agreement signed between the Government of Venezuela and the Bank. 

Sincerely yours, 

Chairman, Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 



TABLE I. TEN YEARS 01 OPERATIONS, 1985-94 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

1983 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 

CAPTTAL 
Subscriptions (Fnd of Year) 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

BORROWINGS 
Outstanding (End of Year) 
Gross Annual Borrowings 

OPERATIONS 
Loans Aulriorizecl (Cumulative)

1 

Ordinary Capital 
Kund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Ixians Authorized (Annual)
2 

Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

boat) Disbursements (Annual) 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Loan Repayments (Annual) 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Loans Outstanding 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

Nonreimbursable Technical 
Cooperation (Annual) 

Fund for Special Operations 
Other Funds 

Total 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
Income 

Loans 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 

Investments 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 

Net Income 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations ' 

Reseñes (Find of Period): 
Ordinary Capital 
Fund for Special Operations 

ADMINISTRATION 
Administrative Expenses 

Total-All Funds 

26.714 
8.362 
1,182 

9.366 
2.333 

21,056 
9,150 
1.314 

2,766 
251 
II 

3.061 

1.781 
504 
58 

2.343 

382 
187 
7-1 

643 

8.586 
5.072 
497 

35 

II 

695 
110 

311 
29 

271 
64 

2.207 
■471 

155 

34.073 
8.420 
1.188 

31.083 
8.476 
1,127 

34.083 
8.458 
1.192 

34455 
8.458 
1,130 

40.994 
8.702 
1,172 

41.063 
8,704 
1.191 

54.174 
8,667 
1,207 

54.198 60.864 
8.649 8,675 
1,256 1,336 

36258 43.681 43.686 43,733 44.043 50.868 50.958 64.048 64.103 70.875 

12.115 
1,911 

24,772 
9.354 
1,312 

15.225 
1.115 

28.658 
9.664 
1.369 

14.266 
902 

28.466 
9.733 
1.426 

14.630 
1.984 

30.113 
10.038 
1.448 

17.273 
1,830 

35.021 
10.475 
1.499 

19.656 
3428 

39.223' 
11.040 
1.556 

21,390 
5,074 

43,818 
11.381 
1.571 

23.424 25,198 
3,941 955 

49,608 56,242 
11.756 12,269 
1,607 1,621 

31.520 35.438 39.691 39.625 41.599 46.995 51.819 56.770 62.971 70.132 

2.706 
292 
39 

1.957 
346 
58 

1,474 
154 
54 

2.235 
342 
41 

3.315 
517 
49 

4.734" 
625 
60 

5.534 
459 
30 

5,492 4.698 
423 543 
48 14 

3.037 2,361 1.682 2.618 3,881 5,419 6.023 5.963 

1,742 
478 
45 

1,574 
290 
55 

1.942 
321 
65 

2.193 
311 
45 

2.129 
329 
49 

2,804 
296 
51 

2.781 
387 
27 

2265 1,919 2.328 2.549 2.507 3.151 3.195 

519 
202 
60 

646 
205 
78 

850 
232 
78 

935 
219 
68 

1.069 
229 
77 

1.440 
340 
108 

1.504 
299 
70 

1.788 
270 
43 

781 929 1.160 1222 1.375 1.888 1.873 

11.166 
5.359 
452 

14.119 
5.452 
433 

14,342 
5.544 
422 

15.281 
5,631 
386 

17.728 
5.747 
359 

19.260 
5.716 
307 

20.098 
5.818 
378 

14.155 16.977 20.004 20.308 21298 23.834 

in 
III 

35 
12 

40 
16 

II 
17 

48 
9 

99 
II 

41 
10 

87 
'7 

20 17 56 (.1 57 1 1(1 51 104 

945 
114 

367 
40 

286 
79 

2,537 
528 

1.145 
12(1 

344 
48 

282 
94 

2.882 
567 

1.221 

3211 
62 

238 
50 

3.070 
559 

1.165 
103 

370 
73 

221 
48 

3.296 
546 

1.418 
126 

449 
74 

341 
47 

3,711 
539 

1.675 
158 

529 
61 

394 
131 

4,062 
539 

1.620 
128 

547 
59 

382 
85 

4,360 
552 

1.864 
126 

482 
54 

395 
88 

4.758 
534 

165 170 171 184 202 2211 256 273 

5.255 

3,336 2,626 
381 400 
15 I4 

3.732 3.040 

2.099 
301 
35 

2.101 2.435 

22,179 24,478 
5,932 6.043 
223 199 

25283 26294 28.334 30.720 

77 
34 

III 

1.916 
138 

337 
37 

369 
89 

5,303 
534 

290 

1 Net of cancellations. Includes currency translation adjustments. 
2 Based on original amounts in U.S. dollar equivalent 
■' Income before Technical Cooperation expense. 

' Includes loans totaling $ 1.711.8 million which were conditionally authorized under resolutions which did not enter into effect until January 1992. 



POINT FORTIN, TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO. Oil rig work
ers drill a well that will extend 2,300 feet underground. Steam 
injected through the well forces heavy crude oil into extractor wells. 
The state oil company, Petrotrin, is using a $260 million IDB 
loan to develop oil recovery facilities and to modernize the Point
a-Pierre refinery. EXIMBANK of Japan and the European In
vestment Bank are. providing $75 million in cofinancing. 



LATIN AMERICA 
and 

THE CARIBBEAN IN 1994 

Nineteen ninety-four witnessed a continuation and consoli
dation of the economic progress that was achieved in the re
gion during the first three years of the decade, punctuated in 
the final weeks of the year with a stark reminder of the vul
nerabilities created by heavy reliance upon short-term foreign 
finance of domestic imbalances. The Mexican devaluation and 
consequent financial-market turmoil arrived too late in the 
year to affect most economic indicators for 1994, but few 
events will have as powerful an influence over outcomes in 
1995*. 

The Latin American 
economy is estimated to have 
grown by about 4.1 percent in 
1994, marking the fourth 
consecutive year of recovery. 
As in the preceding three 
years, investment was the 
most rapidly growing compo
nent of demand, registering an 
increase of nearly 8 percent 
over 1993. Consumption 
growth, at about 4 percent, 
was more moderate. 

The four-year recov
ery has resulted largely from 
improved macroeconomic 
management, and has been 
associated with a moderation 
of inflation in most countries 
in the region. Recovery is also 
attributable to improved effi
ciency and competitiveness of Latin American economies—the 
fruit of wide-ranging structural reforms. Growth in 1994 was 
also facilitated by an external environment that was, on bal
ance, more favorable than in the preceding three years, as eco
nomic recovery in industrial countries gathered pace, the terms 
of trade of many countries in the region improved, and sub
stantial inflows of international capital continued to support 
strong growth in domestic demand. 

TKilRE I. ECONOMIC GROWTH IN LATIN AMERICA 
\NI) THE CARIBBEAN, I980-ÎI4 

(Percentages) 

In 1994 the growth of domestic demand roughly 
matched that of production, and consequently the current ac
count of the balance of payments remained in substantial defi
cit. In most of the region these current account deficits were, 
as in previous years, financed by large inflows of foreign capi
tal, though the magnitude of the capital flows was lower than 
in 1993. In Mexico, however, the capital inflows slowed sub
stantially during the course of 1994, and toward the end of 
the year reversed themselves, as some investors apparently be
gan to anticipate a devaluation. The consequent reserve losses 

precipitated the devaluation of 
the Mexican peso on Decem
ber 19. 

-4 
80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 92 93 94.-

c: estimate 

'Statistical tables appear on pages 101-1 1 1. 

Continuing Recovery 

The 4.1 percent growth in real 
GDP that was recorded in 
1994 for Latin America and 
the Caribbean was higher than 
the average rate of growth 
during the preceding three 
years. In four countries (Co
lombia, El Salvador, Guyana, 
and Peru) growth was higher 
than 5.5 percent. Most coun
tries experienced moderate 
growth; and in only four 
countries (Haiti, Honduras, 
Suriname, and Venezuela) did 
real GDP decline. 

In general, growth rates represented a continuation of 
the trend recorded since the beginning of the 1990s; countries 
that grew rapidly in the preceding three years have for the most 
part grown rapidly in 1994, and conversely. Significant ex
ceptions include Venezuela and Honduras, where growth de
teriorated, and Pern, where the growth rate accelerated sharply 
in comparison with the average for the preceding three years. 

After growing by about 7.5 percent per year during 
1991-93, investment grew by 7.7 percent in real terms dur
ing 1994. As a result, its share in GDP increased to 23 per-



INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

cent compared to 19.7 percent in 1990. Growth in invest
ment was particularly rapid in Peru (33 percent), Argentina 
(18 percent), El Salvador (10 percent), and Colombia (9.9 per
cent). In Mexico, investment rose 8.5 percent, a substantial re
covery from the 3.3 percent decline recorded in 1993. 

In most countries, the recovery of investment during 
the past four years has been substantial. In Brazil, where eco
nomic recovery began later than in the rest of the region, and 
where inflation stabilization was achieved only in mid-1994 , 
investment remains at a historically low proportion of GDP. 
In the rest of the region, however, the ratio of investment to 
GDP has now risen to levels comparable to those attained in 
the 1960s, though it remains below the peak attained in the 
late 1970s. 

Consumption rose modestly in 1994; at 3.9 percent 
its rate of increase was slightly lower than growth in domestic 

FIGURE 2. RATIO Of INVESTMENT TO GDP. 1960-94 
(Percentages) 

60 63 66 69 72 75 78 81 84 87 90 94 

Latin America 
and die Caribbean 

Brazil 
Excluding Brazil 

production. The implied increase in the rate of domestic sav
ing is a modest but very welcome improvement, as the recov
ery has otherwise been characterized by low savings rates. 

Growth in the volume of exports declined consider
ably, from nearly 7 percent annually in the first three years of 
the recovery, to 4.1 percent in 1994. Growth in real imports 
declined as well, from the torrid 15 percent per year recorded 
in 1991-93 to 7.5 percent in 1994. These figures neverthe
less represent a continuation of the trend toward increased 
openness to international trade that has been one of the most 
significant developments in Latin America during the ongoing 
recovery. 

The modest economic growth recorded during 1994 
was insufficient to secure a reduction in the rate of unemploy
ment, which either remained relatively stable or rose from 
1993 . The increases were not large, except in Venezuela, 

where unemployment rose from about 7 to 13.5 percent of 
the labor force. Some of the increase in unemployment can be 
attributed to higher rates of participation in the labor force as 
a result of the improved economic prospects. In Argentina un
employment rose during the year despite robust economic 
growth, and at over 11 percent is now very high by historical 
standards. One plausible interpretation of the Argentine expe
rience is that the economic restructuring that is underway is 
generating substantial transition unemployment, as workers 
released from firms and sectors of the economy that are con
tracting take time to find employment in the sectors where 
employment opportunities are expanding. 

Favorable External Environment 

The economic recovery was supported by an external envi
ronment that was more favorable than in the preceding three 
years. The industrial countries, recovering from a worldwide 
recession, registered a growth rate of about 3 percent, more 
than double the average rate in the previous three years. This 
helped drive an acceleration in the volume of world trade, 
which grew by 7 percent in 1994, compared with an average 
growth of 4 percent annually in the preceding four years. The 
resultant increase in demand for the region's exports was re
flected in a modest increase in the prices of the region's non-
fuel commodity exports, reversing the sustained decline that 
had been experienced in the previous five years. Movements 
in the prices of agricultural commodities were mixed: while 
the price of coffee almost doubled, the prices of soybean re
mained stable and those of corn and beef declined. The prices 
of most metals went up considerably and fuel prices registered 
a slight drop for the year as a whole. On balance, the region's 
terms of trade remained essentially unchanged in 1994, fol
lowing a cumulative deterioration of some 11 percent during 
the period 1990-93. 

A less favorable development for the region was the 
substantial increase in world interest rates, and particularly 
U.S. rates, that occurred during 1994. The increase followed 
a sharp decline in interest rates in 1992-93, which together 
with the restructuring of most of the countries' public external 
debt that began in the mid-1980s, had provided substantial 
relief to the region. In 1994, Brazil, the Dominican Republic 
and Ecuador completed negotiations on Brady-type debt re
structuring, while Peru is currently negotiating such a plan, 
providing further relief from the burden of debt service. 

Despite the rise in world interest rates, the availability 
of large-scale foreign financing continued in 1994, although 
the flows were somewhat smaller than in 1993, and at the 
end of the year displayed substantial volatility. The flow of in
ternational capital to Latin America and the Caribbean is now 
estimated to have been about $42 billion in 1994, down from 
an estimated $64 billion in 1993. The most notable develop
ment was the sharp reduction in capital flows to Mexico dur
ing the course of the year; for the year as a whole it is esti-
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mated that the net inflow to Mexico amounted to only about 
$9 billion, compared with an inflow of roughly $32 billion in 
1993. Substantial outflows were almost certainly experienced 
during the last part of the year. (The origins and implications 
of this $23 billion swing in international capital flows are dis
cussed below.) Venezuela also experienced large capital out
flows ($3.6 billion compared with an inflow of $1.8 billion in 
1993), but in the other countries of the region capital inflows 
rose from $30.6 billion in 1993 to $36.9 billion m 1994. 

Macroeconomic and Fiscal Policy 

The continuing process of economic recovery was also sup
ported by the maintenance in most countries of stabilization 
efforts and structural reform programs, including continuation 
of the fiscal and monetary restraint that has been achieved in 

most of the region over the past several years. Brazil joined 
other countries in the region in mid-1994 when it launched a 
stabilization program that brought its rate of inflation down 
from quadruple-digit levels to about 30 percent per year. 

After the dramatic improvement in the fiscal position 
of many countries during the period 1989-92, fiscal perfor
mance in the region as a whole deteriorated somewhat during 
1993-94, although the emergent fiscal deficits were in gen
eral moderate. Performance varied by country. During 1994, 
the fiscal situation worsened significantly in Belize, Costa Rica, 
Haiti, Nicaragua and Venezuela and moderately in Mexico, 
the Dominican Republic, Uruguay, and Guatemala. In con
trast, an improvement in the fiscal position was achieved by 
Peru and Bolivia, in both cases through increased revenues. A 
more modest improvement was achieved by Honduras, start
ing from a very large fiscal imbalance, and also by El Salva-

BUENOS AIRES, ARGENTINA. A technician prepares 
blood for transfusion at the Institute of Cardiology and Car
diovascular Surgery, built and equipped with $2.4 million in 
IDB financing in 1987. A second loan and technical coop
eration grant totaling $6.5 million supported research, health 
education and hospital care. The projects were carried out by 
the Favaloro Foundation for Teaching and Scientific Research, 
a private nonprofit group. 

dor, Paraguay and Panama. Chile and Colombia had another 
year of fiscal surplus while Argentina experienced some dete
rioration in its fiscal position toward the end of the year, pri
marily due to increased expenditure on the social security sys
tem. In Brazil, fiscal reform is a centerpiece of the ongoing 
stabilization program ; however, fiscal reforms are still at a very 
early stage, and the year's improved performance was achieved 
through temporary measures, many of which expired at the 
end of December. 
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Monetary and Exchange Rate Policy 

The large capital inflows that have accompanied Latin 
America's ongoing reform and stabilization programs have 
complicated the management of monetary policy. Exchange 
rates have been used by many countries to provide an anchor 
for inflationary expectations, reducing the scope for a mon
etary response to various exigencies. In Argentina, for example, 
the exchange-rate peg to the U.S. dollar is a cornerstone of the 
stabilization program that ended hyperinflation. In real terms, 
the Argentine peso has appreciated substantially in recent 
years. In conjunction with large capital inflows and associated 
current-account deficits, the strong commitment to a fixed, 
nominal exchange rate could imply difficult tradeoffs if the 
magnitude of those capital inflows were to decline precipi
tously. Similarly, the 1994 stabilization in Brazil has utilized 
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determined by predominantly domestic factors in several other 
countries. In Venezuela, fiscal imbalances generated by a crisis 
in the banking system have led to very rapid monetary growth. 
Large fiscal deficits and associated high rates of monetary 
growth were also experienced in Honduras and Suriname. 

Continued Decline in Inflation 

Reflecting the generally moderate stance of monetary and fis
cal policy in most of the region, the impressive stabilization of 
inflation that had been achieved during the preceding three 
years continued in 1994, and with the mid-year Brazilian sta
bilization, extreme inflation has nearly vanished from the re
gion. The median inflation rate in Latin America and the Car
ibbean has declined steadily from its 1991 peak of about 30 
percent, to 11.5 percent in 1994. 

The number of countries with very high inflation 
rates, defined as 40 percent or more, was reduced from nine 
in the second half of the 1980s to four in 1994. At the same 
time the number of low-inflation countries, with rates under 
10 percent per annum, increased from six in the second half 
of the 1980s to 10 in 1994. In Argentina, Bolivia, Mexico, 
Nicaragua and Peru stabilization programs have brought prices 
down from extreme or even hyperinflationary levels to those 
associated with their industrial country trading partners. Rates 
continued to decline in each of those countries in 1994. 

Against this generally positive backdrop, however, 
several countries saw inflation deteriorate significantly in 
1994, notably Honduras, Suriname, and Venezuela. And, fol
lowing the steep devaluation of the Mexican peso that occurred 
at the end of 1994, a substantial rise is anticipated in Mexican 
inflation during 1995. 

Expanded Trade and Large External Deficits 

an exchange-rate band, which has led to significant real ap
preciation. 

The capital inflows have also posed difficulties for 
countries with more flexible monetary and exchange arrange
ments. For example, in an effort to combat inflationary pres
sures without generating an appreciation of its currency, Co
lombia restricted domestic credit and attempted to curtail 
short-term foreign capital inflows in 1994, resulting in high 
interest rates. Similarly, Chile resorted to capital controls and 
tight monetary policy in hopes of securing a reduction in in
flation without exchange-rate appreciation, resulting again in 
high domestic interest rates. Despite the capital controls im
posed in both countries, the capital inflows continued at levels 
too large to sterilize. Faced with the choice between an infla
tionary monetization of the flows and an undesired apprecia
tion of the exchange rate, both chose to permit the exchange 
rate to appreciate. 

By contrast, the evolution of monetary policy has been 

The current account of the balance of payments in the region 
registered a deficit of $49 billion in 1994, about 4 percent of 
GDP. This deficit was similar to that of the previous year, and 
was more than double the 1990-92 average. The current ac
count deficit exceeded 5 percent of GDP in almost half the 
countries in the region. 

Exports in the region grew by about 4.1 percent in 
volume, while the value in U.S. dollars rose by 9 percent. As 
noted above, the favorable performance of exports in 1994 
was supported by world economic recovery. A number of 
countries experienced particularly high rates of export growth 
(Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Guyana, Mexico, Nicaragua, Peru 
and Paraguay), while Brazil's exports declined in real terms. 

Imports also continued to grow, although at a some
what slower pace than during the preceding three years. Capi
tal goods, industrial inputs and raw materials made up the 
dominant share in imports in most countries in the region; the 
share of consumer goods was relatively modest. In 1994 the 
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share of capital goods in total imports rose in a number of 
countries, reflecting the strong performance of investment. 

Interest payments on external debt by the region in
creased somewhat as a result of an increase in international 
interest rates and a slight increase in the total stock of debt. 
The coincidence of growing exports and falling amortization 
payments led to a continued decline in the debt-service ratio 
of the region. 

The current account deficits were in most countries 
once again covered by substantial capital inflows to the region, 
including foreign direct investment. The direct investment was 
to a large extent related to the privatization of public enter
prises and to the liberalization of capital movements. 

The decline in international capital flows was reflected 
in a substantial decumulation of international reserves in the 
region, in sharp contrast with the four previous years, in which 
reserves had increased sub
stantially. The decline in re
serves is mainly attributable 
to large declines in Mexico 
and Venezuela; in the other 
countries of the region re
serves accumulated at about 
the same rate as in 1993. 

The real exchange 
rate appreciated by about 8 
percent in the region. The 
appreciation was particu
larly large in Brazil (19 per
cent), Jamaica (16 percent), 
Colombia (16 percent), and 
Paraguay (12 percent). The 
real exchange rate depreci
ated considerably in Hondu
ras (5 percent), Suriname (17 
percent), and Venezuela (19 
percent). 

FIGURE 4. THE REM, EXCHANGE RATE IN LATIN VMER1CA \ND 
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Crisis in Mexico 

No experience better illustrates the complications for macro-
economic policy generated by large, volatile capital flows and 
the risks associated with reliance upon short-term foreign fi
nancing of domestic imbalances, than that of Mexico at the 
end of 1994. In the several preceding years, Mexico was the 
largest recipient by far of the enormous surge in capital in
flows to the region, accounting for well over half the total dur
ing 1990-1993. These inflows were eventually reflected in a 
current-account deficit that reached nearly $25 billion in 1993 
and 1994. At the same time, monetary policy was allotted the 
task of keeping the nominal exchange rate, which functioned 
as the anchor for inflationary expectations, within a band that 
depreciated only gradually over time. 

Uncertainty generated by a series of unexpected events, 
including civil unrest in the state of Chiapas and the assassina
tion of a presidential candidate, led to a decline in the magni
tude of the capital flows to Mexico and a depreciation of the 
exchange rate to the upper limit of the band established by the 
authorities. Despite higher interest rates, capital outflows and 
reserve decumulation accelerated in the last months of the year, 
as some international investors apparently began to contem
plate the prospect of devaluation. Faced with a weak domestic 
economy, authorities were unwilling to raise interest rates in 
the amount that would have been required to end the reserve 
losses. In the middle of December international reserves fell to 
a level insufficient to defend the exchange rate, and the au
thorities were eventually forced to eliminate the band entirely 
in favor of a floating exchange rate. 

The devaluation was not received calmly by interna
tional financial markets. 
The peso fluctuated widely 
in very thin trading, and 
the prices of Mexican secu
rities, equity and debt, 
peso- and dollar-denomi
nated alike, declined pre
cipitously. 

The crisis of confi
dence was addressed by a 
strong commitment by 
Mexico to intensified fiscal 
discipline, and by an ex
traordinary package of 
credit lines and loan guar
antees, amounting to 
roughly $50 billion, offered 
by the United States, the 
International Monetary 
Fund and several regional 
and nonregional bilateral 
lenders. Despite the appar

ent resolution of its short-term financing difficulties, Mexico 
faces challenges adjusting to reduced international capital in
flows in the years ahead. 

Consequences for the rest of the region remain to be 
seen. Financial-market pressures seem to have eased on those 
countries that appeared to have been adversely affected by the 
financial-market turmoil that followed the Mexican devalua
tion. Some countries have so far emerged unscathed by the epi
sode, and indeed continue to grapple with the difficulties posed 
by too large, rather than too small an inflow of international 
capital. 
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EL TABLAZO, VENEZUELA. Com
pleted in 1994, the $313 million Resilin 
polyethylene plant will produce 150,000 
tons of polyethylene a year for various plas
tic products, most for export. IDB financ
ing to help build the plant totaled $15 mil
lion and was channeled through the Andean 
Development Corporation, which received 
an $80 million Bank loan in 1990 for a 
multisector credit program. 

Trade Liberalization 

Many countries in the region have in recent years implemented 
strongly outward-oriented trade policies, marked by unilateral 
reductions in tariff and non-tariff barriers; the conclusion of 
negotiations on the GATT agreement in April 1994 not only 
provides a strong international commitment to open trade 
policies, but also makes current, low tariff levels binding. The 
region's involvement in the GATT has been complemented re
cently by the adoption of a strategy of open regionalism, re
flected in major steps toward intra- as well as extraregional 
integration. Most notably, the NAFTA agreement—in force 
since January 1, 1994—creates a free-trade area linking the 
United States, Canada and Mexico. At the recently-concluded 
Summit of the Americas, the three countries agreed upon the 
rapid entry of Chile into the free-trade area, and all countries 
committed themselves to the objective of creating a hemispheric 
free-trade zone by the year 2005. 

Meanwhile, the Andean group, whose members are 
Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela, is being 
transformed from a protectionist group into a force for open 
markets. Mercosur, made up of Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay 
and Uruguay, became a full customs union at the beginning of 
1995 and reached an agreement with the European Commu
nity to establish a free trade zone by 2003. An agreement for 
economic complementarity among the "group of three" (G3)— 

Colombia, Mexico and Venezuela— 
was approved in June 1994, specified 
as its objectives to liberalize the ex
change of goods and services, to in
crease investment opportunities and to 
protect intellectual property rights. 
The members of the Caribbean Com
munity, Caricom, agreed to reduce 
their common external tariff (CET) to 
a level in line with other trading blocks 

in Latin America by 1998. A number of bilateral agreements 
were also negotiated or came into effect during the year. 

Privatization 

The countries of the region found themselves in different 
phases of the privatization process during 1994. Some coun
tries, notably Argentina, Chile and Mexico, have launched far-
reaching privatization plans that have been largely executed, 
while others have proceeded at a more moderate pace. During 
the year, Bolivia formulated an ambitious program for the 
privatization of several important state-owned enterprises. 

In 1994, privatization continued to take place in Bra
zil, Colombia, Jamaica, Mexico and Peru. In Peru, two large 
public enterprises in the areas of energy and communications 
were privatized, and the resources generated were used, in part, 
to reduce external debt, and finance social programs. Brazil an
nounced that it would sell shares held by state-owned enter
prises in various sectors, including railways, telephones and 
hotels. Argentina announced its intention to sell a new group 
of public firms and Bolivia announced a plan to capitalize six 
major public enterprises. Chile intends to privatize state com
panies which operate in competitive or adequately regulated 
markets, including water and sanitation companies, and to di
vest the remaining government stakes in electricity companies. 
In El Salvador the legislative assembly approved a law for the 
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GUAYAQUIL, ECUADOR. A $24 mil
lion IDB loan in 1985 helped improve en
vironmental and health conditions in west
ern Guayaquil, the most densely populated 
part of the metropolitan area, where the 
homes of many low-income residents had 
been built in low-lying areas prone to flood
ing. The project includes construction of 
sewage lines and storm sewers as well as 
landfill for lots and sidewalks. 

privatization of alcohol refineries and 
plants as a first step towards their sale 
in 1995. 

Outlook 

Latin American governments have 
taken enormous strides in stabilizing 
and liberalizing their economies, 
though much remains to be done to 
consolidate and extend the reforms. In 
the region as a whole, growth has 
been modest by international and the 
region's own historical standards, and 
as yet has not been sufficient to secure 
rapid improvements in standards of 
living or reductions in poverty and 
unemployment. While investment has 
rebounded recently to the ratio to 
GDP achieved in the 1980s, it can
not yet support a sustained accelera
tion of economic growth. And the 
region's rate of saving remains low, 
making it reliant upon foreign capital 
for the financing of domestic invest
ment. 

Despite the need to address these problems and the 
short-term uncertainty generated by turbulence in interna
tional financial markets, recent economic developments in the 
countries of Latin America bode well for continued economic 
recovery and macroeconomic stability over the medium run. 
So long as the region takes steps to raise domestic savings, and 
becomes less dependent upon volatile foreign savings, the con
tinued strong performance of investment should lay a secure 
foundation for future economic growth. Progress made during 
1994 on trade agreements at the global, the hemispheric and 

the intraregional level provides opportunities for continued 
deepening of Latin America's integration with the world 
economy. The anticipated strong growth in the industrial 
countries in 1995 will provide a good environment for export 
growth in Latin America. 
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ISSUES AND POLICIES 

Eighth General Increase in the Resources of the Bank 

The year 1994 saw the largest increase in resources in IDB 
history as member countries agreed on a $40 billion replen
ishment aimed at reducing poverty and promoting social eq
uity in the region. With resources scheduled to reach $101 bil
lion over the next few years, the Bank will continue to support 
economic modernization and integration and the protection of 
the environment as it helps the region's governments redefine 
the role of the state and promote the growth of the private sec
tor. 

The Eighth General Increase in the Resources of the 
Bank was agreed to at the Bank's Annual Meeting in Guad
alajara, Mexico in April. The Committee of the Board of Gov
ernors recommended that member countries authorize an ad
ditional $1 billion for the Fund for Special Operations (FSO), 
expanding the soft lending window to more than $10 billion. 
The combined increase in funds, the largest ever for any re
gional multilateral institution, will permit the Bank to lend be
tween $6-7 billion a year through the end of the century. 

Member country subscriptions to the Eighth General 
Increase will consist of 2.5 percent paid-in capital and 97.5 
percent callable capital. The Eighth General Increase agree
ment also stipulated that the voting power of the member 
countries would change, providing the nonregional member 
countries with an increase to 15.973 percent from 7.132 per
cent and a decrease in the shares of the Latin American and 
Caribbean countries from 53.867 percent to 50.018 percent. 
The share of the United States will change to 30.008 percent 
from 34.627 percent, and Canada's share will change to 4.001 
percent from 4.374 percent. The countries of Latin America 
and the Caribbean will retain their majority voting power in 
the institution. An additional chair in the Board of Executive 
Directors will be created for the nonregional countries and an
other for the regional borrowing countries. 

Under the Seventh General Increase in the Resources 
of the Bank, covering the period 1990-93, the Bank loaned 
$2 1.5 billion for traditional investment projects and sector ad
justment programs. During these years the Bank worked 

closely with the borrowing countries to formulate and imple
ment policies that were needed for the restructuring and mod
ernization of their economies. The Bank dedicated a little more 
than one-quarter of its lending to sector adjustment loans 
which helped the countries of the region modernize their 
economies. At the same time, the Bank utilized three-quarters 
of its resources to finance high-priority projects in the physi
cal, productive, and social infrastructure sectors. In its lending, 
the Bank also devoted considerable attention to environmen
tal protection and management of natural resources; promoted 
greater efforts to strengthen the role of women in development; 
increased support to microentrepreneurs; and targeted low-in
come groups. 

In 1994, the Bank approved $5.3 billion in loans for 
social and economic development projects and programs. On 
a sectoral basis, 61 percent of the year's lending went to social 
programs'—the highest in the Bank's history. Infrastructure 
works accounted for 15 percent, 10 percent was approved for 
the productive sectors, and 13 percent for public sector reform 
and preinvestment programs. The Multilateral Investment 
Fund (MIF) approved 29 projects totaling $64 million. The 
Inter-American Investment Corporation approved 14 projects 
totaling $42.7 million. 

The work of recent years, both at the Bank and in the 
borrowing countries, has helped pave the way for the ambi
tious goals of the Eighth Replenishment. The three principal 
areas of concentration are outlined below. 

Poverty Reduction and Social Equity 

Under the Eighth Replenishment guidelines, the Bank's sup
port for social and poverty reduction programs should increase 
to 40 percent of total lending and 50 percent of the total num
ber of operations. To accomplish this goal the Bank will need 
to broaden and deepen its approach to lending in the social 
sectors. Traditionally, the Bank has financed water and sani
tation systems, education, health, and preparing sites for hous-

' Includes education, health, urban development, water and sewerage, 
environment, and modernization of the state. 
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ZACULEU, GUATEMALA. Lorenza 
Guitz uses the faucet installed in her back 

yard in this small village in the central 
highlands. Water supply systems were built 
in 185 rural communities by the Ministry 
of Public Health with support from a 
$16.8 million IDB loan. An estimated 
90,000 people benefited from the project. 

ing in urban areas. While these areas remain priorities, the 
Bank must go beyond them to address related concerns, in
cluding family welfare, women and youth, nutrition, and la
bor training. Low-income groups will be targeted through in
vestments in preschool and basic education, primary health 
care, mother and child health and nutrition, and activities 
aimed at boosting the production capacity of small farmers and 
microenterprises. 

Critical poverty will continue to be addressed in part 
through emergency programs such as social investment funds 
that help build small-scale infrastructure works and create jobs 
and other assistance programs that will protect the most vul
nerable groups in society. The Bank plans to expand its sup
port of programs for children at risk. The Bank will also sup

port indigenous peoples. The Bank 
will encourage governments to pro
mote greater local involvement and 
control over social sector programs 
that are essentially local. 

The Bank will identify the 
projects or programs that are poverty-
targeted investments by following one 
of two criteria—either the project is 
geographically targeted to poor ben
eficiaries, or it is determined that a sig
nificant majority of the beneficiaries of 
the project are poor. All investment 
loan documents presented to the 
Bank's Board of Executive Directors 
for consideration will state whether 
the project meets one of these two cri
teria, and how this is achieved. Man
agement will monitor and report an
nually to the Board of Executive 
Directors on the proportion of lend
ing that meets one or both of these cri
teria and will propose to the Board 
any adjustments necessary in order to 
ensure Bank compliance with the pov
erty reduction objective. 

Modernization and Integration 

Modernizing the region's infrastructure and continuing reform 
of the public sector will help the countries compete interna
tionally. The Bank's work will include the promotion of do
mestic and foreign private investment; institutional strength
ening, skills training, the generation and dissemination of 
technology; ensuring a hospitable legal and regulatory envi
ronment for small and medium-sized firms; financial sector re
form and modernization; financing essential infrastructure in 
energy and transportation; modernizing the agricultural sec
tor; and support for subregional integration initiatives with a 
view to achieving overall hemispheric trade integration. 
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The Bank will also help governments continue to build 
an efficient public sector. It will support efforts aimed at 
achieving and maintaining macroeconomic stability; establish
ing social sector reform policies and programs; overhauling tax 
and budgetary systems; rationalization and, where appropri
ate, privatization of public entities; and establishing appropri
ate regulatory frameworks. 

The Bank will also provide support to the reform of 
democratic institutions, judicial systems, parliaments, and the 
strengthening of civil society in its many manifestations, in
cluding nongovernmental organizations. 

I lie I in imimu' i i f 

In recent years the Bank has strengthened its ability to assist 
countries in managing the significant environmental problems 
facing the region and has also financed many environmental 
and natural resource management programs. In the future, the 
Bank will support strengthening the environmental legal and 
regulatory framework; strengthening environmental institu
tions; promoting the conservation and efficient use of energy 
in Bank projects; and improving the environment and living 
conditions for urban residents. The Bank will also continue to 
ensure that the operations it finances are environmentally sus
tainable. 

The Bank will continue to finance programs for envi
ronmental conservation and management of natural resources. 
Special emphasis will be placed on soil conservation in farm
lands and critical watersheds; supporting the conservation, re
forestation, and rehabilitation of forests, as well as agroforestry; 
assisting in the conservation of biological diversity; preserving 
the region's maritime resources; and continued attention to the 
environmental consequences of extractive activities, particu
larly pollution control and the restoration of degraded areas. 

Within the context of the Eighth Replenishment, the 
Bank's member countries also agreed that the Bank should lend 
directly to the private sector and increase transparency and ac
countability in Bank operations. 

• The Bank will target up to five percent of commit
ments under the Eighth Replenishment lending program for 
direct lending to the private sector, without government guar
antees. The loans would finance activities formerly undertaken 
by the public sector, such as infrastructure and public utility 
projects. A strategy framework and guidelines for this new ac
tivity will be considered by the Bank's Board of Executive Di
rectors in early 1995. (See Box on page 34.) 

• In order to increase transparency in the Bank's op
erations, an Information Disclosure Policy was approved by 
the Board of Executive Directors in 1994. The policy covers a 
variety of information, including project information, environ
mental documents and operational and sector policies. 

• To further increase the Bank's accountability, the 

Board of Executive Directors approved the introduction of an 
Independent Investigation Mechanism which would provide 
a "safety net" to groups of persons in the borrowing member 
countries who might be affected by Bank-supported opera
tions. This mechanism would investigate allegations by affected 
parties that the Bank failed to follow its own established op
erational policies. (See Box on page 19.) 

1994 lending Highlights 

The year 1994 was a transitional year between replenishments 
in which the Bank financed a number of innovative programs 
and projects signalling its future direction. Most countries in 
Latin America and the Caribbean have implemented signifi
cant reforms in recent years to position themselves for growth 
through increased investment and greater efficiency in govern
ment. In 1994, the pace of change accelerated as governments 
continued to carry out reform measures, restructure state-
owned industries, establish the necessary regulatory frame
work, and implement the needed tax and customs programs 
to assure fiscal balance. 

As part of public sector reforms, governments are in
creasingly seeking ways to decentralize their services as a 
means of achieving greater efficiency and a sense of involve
ment on the part of the beneficiaries of projects and programs. 
Moreover, there is a trend toward strengthening government's 
capacity for policy formulation, regulation, and oversight and 
to reduce its responsibilities in the execution of projects. 

The Bank and the MIF responded to these changes in 
1994 with an array of loans and technical cooperation 
financings aimed at supporting efforts in the region to privatize 
state-owned industries; to help improve the regulatory climate 
for investment; to promote decentralization of government ser
vices; and to develop projects aimed directly at helping the 
most vulnerable segments of society. A few examples of 
projects approved during the year follow: 

• The Bank approved a $60 million loan to El Salva
dor for the third stage of its Social Investment Fund (FIS). The 
FIS has helped mitigate the effects of poverty in the country by 
financing small-scale investment projects. Because of the 
agency's reputation for efficiency and secure management of 
public funds, the Government of El Salvador decided to make 
the FIS the country's primary executor of small investment 
projects in the social, electricity, and reforestation sectors, and 
allow it to assume duties previously performed by ministries 
and line agencies. 

• A $500 million loan to Mexico will finance a new 
model of a municipal development program that relies on in
novative forms of community participation. Unlike most other 
Bank-financed projects in the past, the Municipal Develop
ment Program will be administered by thousands of grassroots 
committees and municipal officials rather than a centralized 
government entity. The design of the project has emphasized a 
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c n II. SOCIETl 

What is "civil society"? It. is the citizenry, the sum total of 
individuals and organizations that exist apart from gov
ernments—groups of microentrepreneurs or environmen
talists, civic and trade associations, political parties, phil
anthropic organizations, churches, indigenous 
communities, organized labor and women's and youth 
groups. Without a strong civil society, even democratic 
governments become the; stewards of a kind of develop
ment that comes from the top down, not from the ground 
up. 

In September, the IDB hosted a three-day confer
ence on "Strengthening Civil Society." bringing together 
private civic groups, international organizations and gov
ernment representatives in a common search for ways to 
increase popular participation in political and economic 
decision-making. Throughout Latin America and the Car
ibbean, said a report prepared for the conference, groups 
need to assume responsibilities that had once been re
served for the state— beginning with the fight against the 
poverty that affects vast, segments of the region's popu
lation. And encouragingly, progress is already being 
made—Brazil's inspirational Campaign Against Hunger 
offers a case in point. In fact, during the hard economic 
crises of the 1980s. Latin America was quietly undergo
ing an opening-tip, building a consensus in favor of con
sultation and dialogue. 

One way civil society's influence can be expanded is 
through legal reform. Civic groups need to have access 
to government officials and need to have assurance that 
their opinions can be passed through established legal 
channels and will be heard. Another is to provide im

proved educational opportunities for those who lack them, 
increasing the chance of learning a skill that will lead to 
steady employment. Still another is to support microenter
prises, trade associations and cooperatives, positioning 
them as sources of jobs at the community as well as the 
national level. 

The number of nongovernmental organizations is 
mushrooming throughout the region. The background pa
per cited evidence that suggested there are tens of thou
sands. Logically, the influence each such group can exer
cise is measured by the space granted it by the state in a 
national context. Thus a strengthened civil society and a 
"modernized" state are inextricably linked. Reforms under
taken in the name of improving the means by which gov
ernments provide services to their population—and in de
centralizing their activities so that they take local needs 
and conditions into account—are a key complement to the 
strengthening of these groups. 

For its part, the IDB will continue to seek ways to as
sist the diverse groups that make up civil society. Its in
vestment and technical cooperation programs will seek to 
increase access to credit by urban microentrepreneurs. to 
finance cadastral mapping and land titling initiatives for 
small farm cooperatives, and to identify productive, eco
nomically sustainable activities for women and indigenous 
groups. In each of these activities, whether undertaken by 
the Bank or already underway in the region, the key is to 
broaden opportunity and participation, strengthening the 
bonds of community and bringing into the mainstream 
those who have been left out of the process of develop
ment. 

series of program criteria and guidelines that are sufficiently 
flexible to allow for differing requirements in differing locales. 
In addition, a careful evaluation and monitoring system will 
be followed during the execution phase. 

• Loans totaling $82.4 million to Ecuador will help 
restructure the transportation sector, beginning with a redefi
nition of the role of the state and the creation of a framework 
hospitable to private investment. The program will help mod
ernize the public sector; privatize port services; reorganize the 
customs system; develop a concession regime for road con
struction and operation; outline an action plan for closing the 
state railway company; and prepare plans for labor market 
flexibility that focuses on retraining. 

• The MIF approved $4.8 million for two programs 
in Jamaica, one to provide job training and the other to estab
lish an office to regulate public utilities and stimulate private 

investment in electric power. The first program will provide 
training and job placement for 3,600 workers at technical and 
supervisory levels. A Labor Market Services Centre with rep
resentatives from both the private sector and labor will be es
tablished. MIF resources will be used under the second pro
gram to help develop legislation and regulatory instruments to 
facilitate private sector participation in the provision of elec
tricity. 

• A $1.9 million MIF technical cooperation financ
ing will be used by the Government of El Salvador to imple
ment a new legal, regulatory, and institutional framework for 
the energy and telecommunications sectors, creating a favor
able climate for private investment. 

• The IDB approved a $ 17.9 million financing to help 
improve the living conditions of 52,000 children in especially 
difficult circumstances in six Brazilian cities. The program will 
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RECIFE, BRJIZIL. An estimated 400 
children and 150 mothers are vaccinated 
daily at the Pernambuco Mother-Child In
stitute, a nonprofit medical center for low-
income families. A $1.2 million IDB grant 
in 1992 supported expansion of the center 
as well as construction and equipping of 
three, health clinics in poor neighborhoods of 
the city. 

provide funding for social work activities including shelters, 
group houses, recovery centers, programs for young girls, and 
legal aid programs for juvenile delinquents. 

Reorganization 

The Bank was reorganized in 1994 in order to strengthen its 
country focus, increase the delegation of authority within man
agement, make greater use of the Country Offices in the re
gion, and establish better management accountability. The re
organization, affecting over 600 staff, became effective in 
September 1994 and is expected to enable the Bank to fulfill 
the mandates of the Eighth Replenishment. 

Social Sectors 

Poverty and income inequality deterio
rated sharply during the 1980's. Ac
cording to IDB estimates, poverty rose 
by around 43 percent, resulting in an 
increase of poverty of almost 40 mil
lion people during that decade. Indices 
of human development did not dete
riorate in most countries, but neither 
did they continue to improve at the 
rates observed earlier. At the beginning 
of the 1990's both education and 
health profiles were still substantially 
below the levels that would be expected 
given the region's per capita income. 
For example, UNESCO estimates that 
only 54 percent of those entering pri
mary school ever reach the fourth 
grade, much less graduate. Gross en
rollment rates in secondary school art
less than half the eligible age group. 

According to a recent estimate by the World Bank, the burden 
of disease in Latin America was 3 1 percent greater than in 
China even though China has only one sixth the average per 
capita income of Latin America. Much of the divergence be
tween actual social conditions and expectations based on re
gional per capita income results from the extreme inequalities 
within and among countries in the distribution of income. Such 
inequities pose additional challenges to development. 

The IDB is determined to work with the countries of 
the region to improve this situation. To that end the Bank has 
committed itself within the context of the Eighth Replenish
ment to greatly increase its lending for social sectors and pov
erty alleviation projects. To help fulfill this new commitment 
to the social sectors, the Bank, during its recent reorganiza
tion, created a new Department of Social Programs and Sus
tainable Development. In addition, Social Program Divisions 
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SANTO DOMINGO, DOMINICAN 
REPUBLIC. A worker spot checks or
anges at the Agro-Delta orange juice plant. 
A $90 million IDB loan for a national 
agroindustrial credit program channeled 
loans to private enterprises through the Do
minican Republic's Investment Fund for 
Economic Development. 

were created within each of the three Regional Operations De
partments. This reorganization will foster a sharper focus and 
expansion of Bank operations in education, health, urban de
velopment, slum upgrading, and poverty-alleviating social in
vestment funds. 

An Indigenous Peoples and Community Development 
Unit was also established to enable the Bank to play a far more 
proactive role in addressing issues involving indigenous peoples 
and resettlement. The Unit focuses on enhancing the socio-
cultural quality of Bank projects as well as actively seeking in
novative projects to foster the ethnodevelopment of indigenous 
peoples and other marginal population groups. 

In 1994, the Bank approved 39 operations totaling 
$3.2 billion, or 61 percent of total lending volume, in the so

cial and poverty alleviation sectors. 
The breakdown by activity includes 
$1,161 million in urban develop
ment, $969 million in education, 
$748 million in sewers, water and ba
sic sanitation, $266 million in social 
investment funds, and $85 million in 
environment. 

The Social Agenda Policy 
Group, formed in 1993, expanded 
the number of its missions and subse
quent Pilot Studies on Socioeconomic 
Reform to a total of seven, and pub
lished case studies on Bolivia, Costa 
Rica, Guyana and Peru. Taken in 
combination with a review of the pre-
vious year's studies (on Chile, 
Trinidad and Tobago and Venezuela), 
these reports have prompted the 
Group to attempt to synthesize what 
it has learned so far, and to begin 
work on the definition of a social de
velopment policy agenda for the re
gion as a whole, over the next five to 

seven years. Beginning with a two-day roundtable discussion 
in January, 1995, the Group will examine issues such as how 
to integrate and balance reform among the economic, finan
cial and social spheres; how to define the characteristics of pov
erty within the region; what the factors are that have made 
current levels of disposable income insufficient to ward off that 
poverty; and what the countries of the region and institutions 
like the IDB can do in the form of action plans to reduce pov
erty in the near and medium terms. 

Economic Integration 

The year 1994 was an important one for economic integra
tion and trade for Latin America and the Caribbean, as well as 
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FISCAL REI OKMS 

The economic crisis of the early 1980s underscored the 
need for major reforms to provide governments with solid 
and stable sources of income and efficient mechanisms to 
control and execute their budgets. In response, the Bank 
has been financing technical cooperation projects aimed 
at, Improving the fiscal administration capacity of govern
ments in the region since the mid- 1980s. 

The Bank's support in the fiscal area has expanded 
over the years from tax administration and reform to in
clude customs and financial management. At first, the ex
tent or the crisis only permitted reforms in specific taxes 
and across-the-board budget cuts. When governments 
began to undertake structural adjustment geared at con
solidating the market economy, liberalizing trade, and ra
tionalizing the size of government and the nature of its in
tervention in the economy, fax reform played a key role 
by making the tax code more neutral and efficient, reduc
ing distortions, and promoting competition while at the 
same time ensuring a stable source of revenue. The re
ductions in tariffs, rates and brackets implied a possible 
loss of revenue that needed to be compensated for with 
more efficient and effective tax and customs administra
tion. Accordingly, procedures wen; simplified while mod
ern computer systems were introduced and tax audit sys
tems were implemented to curtail tax evasion and fraud. 
Recently, special attention has been placed on improving 
human resources management. 

In 1994. 1 I technical assistance projects totaling 
$ 11 million were approved by the Bank, the largest num
ber of programs the IDB has ever financed in this field. In 

tax administration, five programs totaling $10.7 million 
were approved for Bolivia, Guatemala, Dominican Repub
lic. Peru, and Uruguay. Kour programs totaling $5.1 mil
lion were approved for strengthening the customs opera
tions in Guatemala, Nicaragua. Uruguay and Peru. These 
programs will help modernize the administration of these 
services, including support for the revision of the legal 
codes, redesigning the organizational structures, revising 
and simplifying procedures, improving human resources 
management and training and introducing modern infor
mation systems to increase efficiency, facilitating fraud 
detection and improving trade and revenue statistics. 

financial management operations were approved Tor 
Nicaragua and Argentina. These projects are aimed at 
strengthening the budget process by introducing inte
grated financial management systems in order to restore 
the role of the budget process as an economic policy tool. 
They foster accountability and enhance the information 
that becomes available; concerning the efficiency in the 
use of resources. 

The Bank's strategy in supporting liscal reforms has 
emphasized the financing of projects with specific goals 
and targets for periods of two to three years rather than 
undertaking massive overhauls of fiscal administration. 
Currently, the Bank is active in 18 countries with 16 op
erations in tax administration. 12 in customs administra
tion and six in financial management On a cumulative ba
sis, the Bank has approved $123.8 million for lax, 
customs, and budget reform. 

the world. The General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade 
(GATT), the most ambitious global trade agreement in four 
decades and one that is expected to reduce tariffs by more than 
$700 billion and eliminate quotas worldwide over the next 
decade, came closer to reality when the United States agreed 
to participate in it in December 1994. Other countries, includ
ing Japan and the members of the European Union, and the 
over 100 countries involved in the 10-year negotiation, are 
expected to ratify the treaty in 1995. Latin America and the 
Caribbean should benefit substantially from the liberalization 
of world trade called for under the GATT. 

At the Summit of the Americas, convened by Presi
dent Bill Clinton December 9-11, in Miami, the presidents of 
34 hemispheric countries, in order to "promote prosperity 
through economic integration and free trade...," agreed to be
gin immediately the process to establish a "Free Trade Area of 
the Americas" (FTAA) by the year 2005. The FTAA would be 
the world's largest market with approximately 850 million 

people with a combined GNP of $13 trillion. The FTAA 
would be established by using the existing bilateral and subre-
gional agreements as building blocks. The Bank, the Organi
zation of American States (OAS), and the United Nations Eco
nomic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean 
(ECLAC) were asked to take the lead in following up on the 
Summit's decisions. During 1994, other regional and subre-
gional agreements were strengthened, expanded, or signed to 
promote free trade and integration. In many cases IDB financ
ing is helping to facilitate the process. Subregional integration 
agreements registered the following activities during the year: 

• The Group of Three—Colombia, Mexico, and Ven
ezuela—completed negotiations in December 1993 and signed 
an agreement to increase trade through the elimination of tar
iff and nontariff barriers and expand investment opportuni
ties. 

• The launching of the North American Free Trade 
Agreement (NAFTA) helped to expand trade among Mexico, 
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the United States, and Canada. At the Miami Summit, it was 
also announced that talks would begin soon to bring Chile into 
NAFTA. 

• Intraregional trade among members of the South
ern Common Market (MERCOSUR) soared from $4.1 billion 
in 1990 to $12 billion in 1994. The trade liberalization pro
gram was completed on December 31, 1994. The common 
external tariff, which forms a customs union, became effective 
on January 1, 1995. In addition, discussions have begun on 
free-trade agreements between MERCOSUR and the other 
South American countries. The Bank continued to support 
this subregional integration effort through a $4.05 million op
eration approved in 1993 which is being used by the coun
tries to provide technical support for the coordination and/or 
harmonization of macroeconomic and sector policies. The 
MERCOSUR countries are Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay, and 
Uruguay. 

• In Central America, as in the rest of the region, in
traregional trade continued to grow rapidly. Exports among 
the Central American countries (including Panama) rose from 
$673 million in 1990 to $1.1 billion in 1993. In March 
1992, the Bank approved a $2.7 million nonreimbursable 
technical cooperation designed to support this integration pro
cess. Known by the Spanish acronym PRADIC, the project 
consists of two programs. The first, which was recently com
pleted, included studies on macroeconomic policy harmoni
zation, trade policies, and private-sector competitiveness. The 
second PRADIC program consists of the Regional Consulta
tive Group for Central America. It was established under the 
leadership of the IDB in order to help mobilize resources for 
the subregion. The program has raised $6.4 million in dona
tions from other development agencies for development of a 
regional, integrated electricity system, formulation of a region-
wide human resource policy in Central America, and natural 
resource management. 

• In the Andean Group, intraregional trade has also 
mushroomed, from $1.3 billion in 1990 to $2.8 billion in 
1993. Intra-Andean exports as a percentage of overall exports 
increased from 4 percent in 1990 to 11 percent in 1993. In 
1992, the Bank approved a $925,000 technical cooperation 
financing to support the process of commercial integration of 
the Andean region. The financing was used to prepare studies 
on the harmonization of exchange rate policies, financial 
mechanisms to support exports, legislation on reimbursement 
of and exemption from indirect taxes, customs regulations, and 
streamlining of border procedures. The Andean Group coun
tries are Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru, and Venezuela. 

• In July 1994, the integration process of the Carib
bean region was given a strong boost with the signature by 25 
countries of an agreement for the establishment of an Associa
tion of Caribbean States (ACS). The purpose of the agreement 
is to increase cooperation and economic integration among the 
countries through increased trade and financial transactions. 

The agreement also seeks to lay the economic foundation for 
gaining access to a free trade area with the United States. In 
November 1994, the Bank approved a $1 million financing 
to support greater participation of the Caribbean Community 
(CARICOM) countries in the international economy by 
strengthening the economic ties among them. The program 
includes technical strengthening of the CARICOM Secretariat 
for management of macroeconomic and commercial informa
tion; development of a plan to promote private sector invest
ment; and development of a plan to improve the mobility of 
skilled labor. 

The Latin American Integration Association (ALADI) 
continued to develop its data base on external trade, supported 
by $290,000 in financing approved by the Bank in 1992. As 
a result of the operation, an information system is now avail
able and accessible from 11 ALADI member countries. 

One of the mandates of the Bank's Eighth Replenish
ment is to provide strong support for the integration efforts in 
the region. To help accomplish that, and within the context of 
the reorganization of the Bank, the Integration, Trade, and 
Hemispheric Issues Division of the Integration and Regional 
Programs Department was strengthened in 1994. 

The Institute for Latin American Integration (INTAL) 
which will act as an executing agency for regional technical 
cooperation operations, published its annual report on regional 
integration and its monthly review Integración latinoamericana. 

Cofinancing 

In 1994, cofinancing amounted to $1.3 billion as the Bank 
continued to seek the support of bilateral and multilateral en
tities to provide additional resources for its programs and 
projects. A special effort was made to consolidate the relation
ship with traditional cofinancing partners, such as Japan, 
which is the single largest source of cofinancing, and to reach 
out to other concessional sources, particularly in Europe. The 
number of cofinanciers increased in 1994 with new institu
tions and agencies such as the European Commission, the 
Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA), and the 
Government of the Netherlands participating in IDB projects. 
A Cofinancing Agreement involving the use of concessional 
resources was signed with the Nordic Development Fund 
(NDF). General framework agreements are under negotiation 
with other European institutions. In the area of rural poverty 
alleviation, a Supplementary Agreement was signed by the 
Bank and the International Fund for Agricultural Development 
to strengthen cooperation at the policy and operational levels. 

During the Eighth Replenishment period, the Bank 
will need to attract additional concessional funding, particu
larly for the social sectors and the less developed countries. It 
will also have to tap additional resources for the considerable 
infrastructure needs of the region, particularly from private 
cofinanciers. 
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TABLE II. COFINANCING IN 1994 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

Country 

Sources of Finance 

Project IDB World Bank Japan Other Funds 

Argentina 

Bolivia 

Brazil 

Ecuador 

El Salvador 

Jamaica 

Mexico 

Nicaragua 

Paraguaj 

Peru 

Uruguay 

Venezuela 

Reconquista River Sanitation Program $ 150.0"1 

Education Reform 80.0 $ 40.01 

Ministry of Environment Instil Strengthening 19.0 

Drainage in São Paulo Stage 11 302.0 

Social bund 30.0 30.0 

Road Rehabilitation 225.0 

Multisector Preinvestment Program 7.9 

Guadalajara Water & Sewerage 169.0 

Agricultural Sector Adjustment Program 52.6m 

National Rural Development Program 30.0 
Primary Education Improvement Project 52.8'" 
Electric Transmission & Distribution 100.0'" 

Road Rehabilitation Program 2 10.0"1 

Multisector Credit Program 100.0 
Health Sector Strengthening 68.0m 

Transmission & Restruct. Electricity Sector 45.0"' 

Multisector Global Credit Program 90.0ni/n 35.0 

National urban Transport Program 70.0 100.0 

$ 75.0b 

494.8l'/i| 

106.0" 

81.0"/u 

50.0*** 
22.4" 
22.5a 

W > + I4.0~" + 7.5W,/|' 

9 .0^ 

3.5" 

60.0e 

30.0k 

1 1.4" 

1.9« 

50.0''/ü 

90.0''Al 

6.0' 

30.0l'/o 

TOTAL S 1.032.!) S 205.0 S 801.2 S313.8 

11 Export-Import Bank of Japan (JKXIM) 
b Overseas Economic Cooperation fund of Japan (OECF) 
' European Investment Bank (EIB) 
11 Nordic Development Fund 
" Andean Development Corporation (CAF) 
1 Kreditanstalt fiir Wiederaufbau (KfW) 
B Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA) 
h Contrai American Bank for Economic Integration (CABEI) 
1 Government of the Netherlands 

European Union Commission 

k The Export-Import Bank of the Republic of China 
(see footnote 2 in text) 

I International Development Association (IDA) 
'" Approved prior to 1994; not added to total 
" International Fund for Agricultural Development (JFAD) 
" parallel financing 
II parallel financing for a larger program 
f| parallel financing approved in 1993 
' not added to total 

On the bilateral side, Japan continued to be the pri
mary source of untied cofinancing in 1994 with a total of 
$801.2 million. The Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund 
(OECF) provided concessional funds totaling $778.7 million 
for five projects in Argentina, Brazil, El Salvador, Paraguay, 
and Peru. The Export-Import Bank of Japan cofinanced a 
project in Peru for $22.5 million. Germany, through its 
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau (KfW), provided resources for 
projects in Bolivia and Uruguay (the Uruguay project was ap
proved by the Bank in 1993) on concessional terms for a total 
of $14.5 million. Sweden's SIDA granted $15.9 million for 

two projects in Bolivia and Paraguay. The Government of the 
Netherlands provided financing of $7.5 million for a project 
in Bolivia. The Export-Import Bank of the Republic of China2 

provided $30 million on concessional terms in support of a 
Bank-funded agriculture sector program in Nicaragua. 

On the multilateral side, the World Bank provided 

- The use of the name "Export-Import Bank of the Republic of China" 
does not in any way reflect a position by the Inter-American Develop
ment Bank or any of its member countries regarding issues of national 
sovereignty or diplomatic recognition. 
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$165 million to cofinance three projects, and the International 
Development Association (IDA) cofinanced a program in Bo
livia on concessional terms for $40 million. The Andean De
velopment Corporation (CAR supported three Bank projects 
in Peru and Venezuela for a total of $170 million. The Euro
pean Investment Bank cofinanced a project in Mexico for $60 
million. The European Union Commission granted $8.5 mil
lion to support a project in Bolivia. The International Fund 
for Agricultural Development (IFAD) committed parallel fi
nancing of $11.4 million for a national rural development 
program in Nicaragua. The Nordic Development Fund con
tributed $4.5 million interest-free for investment studies in Ja
maica. The Central American Bank for Economic Integration 
(CABEI) supported a road program in El $alvador with a $9 
million loan. 

Microenterprise 

In 1994, the Bank approved 24 Small Project financings to
taling $12 million to assist low-income microentrepreneurs. 
An additional $4 million in nonreimbursable technical coop
eration was also approved for the institutional strengthening 
of the nongovernmental organizations that carry out these 
projects. The Multilateral Investment Fund (MIF) financed 
seven operations for small businesses and microenterprises to
taling $16.3 million. 

The Small Projects Program supports specific low-in
come groups in each country. Of the 24 Small Project loans 
approved during the year, 11 were directed to rural microen
trepreneurs and 13 benefitted urban microentrepreneurs. Sev
eral of these projects were dedicated exclusively to low-income 
women's groups, indigenous groups, or youth, thus maintain
ing the Bank's commitment to credit, training, and technical 
assistance in support of disadvantaged entrepreneurs. Six 
projects in Bolivia, Costa Rica, and Guatemala stood out for 
their environmental focus, favoring ecosystem conservation, 
ecotourism enterprises, and small enterprise solid waste treat
ment and recycling systems. 

The operations in 1994 continued emphasizing insti
tutional strengthening of the intermediary organizations, in
cluding their administrative and financial self-sufficiency, ac
countability, responsibility in the management of loan 
portfolios, and the elimination of distortions in resource trans
fers to microentrepreneurs. Institutional strengthening also em
phasized the promotion of new credit management techniques 
in order to help reduce the costs of servicing microenterprises 
and to induce more financial institutions to provide services to 
this clientele. 

The operations financed by the MIF during the year 
broke new ground in support of small producers and microen
trepreneurs. Equity participation in two new financieras in Bo
livia and El Salvador helped intermediaries specialized in small 
and micro lending enter the regulated financial market, thus 

acquiring access to fund sources and financial instruments oth
erwise beyond their reach. A $ 10 million trust fund cofinanced 
with a private financial institution in Mexico to support rural 
productive projects will expeditiously make available risk capi
tal, loans, and technical cooperation to low-income rural en
trepreneurs. 

Environmental Activities 

As in previous years, the bulk of Bank lending in the environ
mental and natural resource areas was for projects to improve 
the urban environment, including potable water and sewerage 
programs in Ecuador, Peru, and Mexico, as well as the second 
stage of a drainage program in São Paulo, Brazil. A project to 
rehabilitate Quito's historic district, an area that is included in 
the United Nations list of cultural heritage sites, was approved. 
Similarly, the tourism development project for Brazil's north
east included a substantial historical and cultural heritage con
servation component. 

The Bank also approved five operations for the man
agement of natural resources, including the Sustainable Devel
opment Program for Colombia's Pacific Coast. This program 
complements investments by the World Bank and the Global 
Environment Facility to preserve one of the most biologically 
diverse regions in the Americas. The IDB project emphasizes 
local participation and social welfare issues, necessary com
ponents to ensure environmental conservation. The Environ
mental Management Program for Honduras' Bay Islands will 
help protect and restore natural resources and coastal and ma
rine ecosystems. The program will also improve the living con
ditions of the inhabitants of the islands through investments in 
water supply and sanitation facilities, and contribute to eco
nomic development through tourism. An institutional 
strengthening loan will help Bolivia's Ministry of Sustainable 
Development and Environmental Protection develop a more 
effective capacity for managing sustainable development. 

Fifteen technical cooperation projects totaling $19.9 
million were approved and most of these addressed natural re
sources conservation. The largest was a $10 million financing 
for Colombia to complement the Pacific Coast Program. Other 
projects included the ecological zoning of the Amazon, an en
vironmental development program for the Galápagos Islands, 
and a coastal management program for Guyana. A project for 
Costa Rica will help make its National System for Sustainable 
Development operational. 

In addition to financing environmental and natural 
resource projects, the Bank systematically reviews all projects, 
including non-environmental projects, for their environmen
tal impact. The basic responsibility for the environmental qual
ity of all Bank projects resides with the respective project teams 
and the Bank's Environment Committee, with the technical 
support of the Environment Division. The scrutiny of proposed 
operations during the project cycle often results in the incor-
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TRANSPARENCY AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

Disclosure of Information Policy 
The Bank's Board of Executive Directors adopted in 1994 a 
disclosure policy which presumes that information concern
ing the Bank's operational activities would be made available 
to the public in the absence of a compelling reason for confi
dentiality. The policy is based on the assumptions that (a) the 
effectiveness of projects supported by the Bank will be 
strengthened by public access to information and consulta
tion with affected populations and (b) broad availability to the 
public of information about the Bank's projects will increase 
understanding and support of the Bank's mission and increase 
transparency and accountability. 

The policy covers a variety of types of information, includ
ing information on the projects it finances in the region: op
erational policies and sector studies; environmental docu
ments; and summaries of evaluation reports. Information on 
projects under consideration will be contained in documents 
known as Project Profiles, which will be updated as needed. 
After a loan is approved by the Board of Executive Directors, 
the loan document will also be made available upon request. 
One of the more far-reaching aspects of the policy is the stipu
lation that environmental impact assessments must be made 
available to affected populations and local nongovernmental 
organizations (NGOs) by the borrower prior to the Bank's 
analysis mission—a key step in the project cycle. 

The policy will apply to Bank documents prepared after 
January I. 199r3 and to loan proposals negotiated after that 
date. Public information facilities at the Bank's Headquarters 
in Washington, its European Office in Paris, and each of ils 
Country Offices in Latin America and the Caribbean were es
tablished February 1, 1995. 

Independent Investigation Mechanism Policy 
The Bank's Board of Executive Directors also created an 
independent investigation mechanism which will provide 
a "safety not" in the event of complaints that the Bank 
failed to follow its own operational policies and norms in 
Bank operations and that such failure could produce ad
verse effects in its borrowing member countries. To imple
ment the mechanism, the Bank's President will nominate 
a roster of 10 investigators of different nationalities from 
Bank member countries, to be confirmed by the Board of 
Executive Directors. 

The IDB's President will receive requests for Investi
gation from affected groups and forward copies to the 
Bank's management and Executive Directors. The Execu
tive Directors will determine whether an investigation will 
proceed and, if an inquiry is warranted, will name a panel 
of no less than three Individuals from the roster. 

Panel findings will be submitted to the Executive Di
rectors and the President. In turn, a response by the Bank's 
management to the findings will be submitted to the Ex-
ecutivc Directors. 

On the basis of the two reports, the Executive Direc
tors will determine what preventive or corrective action, if 
any. should be taken. The Bank will make publicly avail
able the investigation report and management's response. 

poration of environmental measures that either avoid or miti
gate negative effects of the investment. The cost of built-in en
vironmental protection measures required to improve non-en
vironmental programs totaled approximately $150 million in 
1994. 

Consultations with local populations affected by Bank 
operations increased during the year. Meetings were held with 
project team members on field missions. It is expected that the 
Bank's new information disclosure policy will further facili
tate this participatory process. The Bank also held its Fifth 
Consultative Meeting on the Environment with nongovern
mental organizations from the Caribbean in Barbados. 

Within the context of the Bank's reorganization, the 
responsibility for environmental issues and projects was 
strengthened. Each of the three Regional Operational Depart

ments has an Environment and Natural Resources Manage
ment Division, which handles environmental issues and 
projects for that region. The reorganization also created the 
Social Programs and Sustainable Development Department 
(SDS)—which provides policy support and technical assistance 
to the Regional Departments. SDS has, among others, an En
vironment Division staffed with environmental specialists that 
assist in project development and environmental quality. 
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BOGOTA, COLOMBIA. Gloria Benavides used a $500 
loan from the Corporación Mundial de la Mujer to buy mer
chandise and equipment/or her oxygen and acetylene tank busi
ness. The lender is one of six nongovernmental organizations 
that benefited from a $3.6 million IDB loan. 

Women in Development 

The Bank's Eighth Replenishment, recognizing the key role 
that women play in social reform and poverty alleviation, 
mandated that the Bank provide strong support for Women 
in Development OWED) issues. The Bank's WID program car
ried out a variety of activities during the year that helped focus 
attention on WID issues in the region, and supported women's 
access to credit and training. One of the highlights of 1994 
was the Latin America and Caribbean Regional Forum on 
Women in Development: "Women in the Americas: Partici
pation and Development," held April 6-7, 1994 in Guadala
jara, Mexico and organized by the Bank. The Forum was co-
sponsored by the Economic Commission for Latin America 
and the Caribbean (ECLAC) and the United Nations Develop

ment Fund for Women (UNIFEM). It attracted more than 400 
participants from the region representing governments, the pri
vate sector (NGOs, community groups, academia, and busi
ness associations) and international organizations. The purpose 
of the Forum was to help the Bank and the other sponsors set 
priorities and agree on strategies for strengthening the partici
pation of women in the developmental, political, and economic 
aspects of the region. 

In order to help strengthen women's political partici
pation in the Latin American and Caribbean countries, the IDB 
introduced a pilot project, "Women in Politics - an Exchange 
Program," funded by the Swedish Trust Fund for Consulting 
Services and Training Activities, in which 15 women politi
cians from the region exchanged information, participated in 
seminars and observed final stages of the Swedish elections in 
September 1994. Sweden is a country that has achieved a high 
level of equity in its political system, where women represent 
approximately 40 percent of elected officials at all levels of the 
Swedish government. As a continuation of this event, the par
ticipants have decided to create a network for women politi
cians and community leaders of the Latin American and Car
ibbean region, which would encourage the collaboration of 
women from different political parties and different countries. 

Improving women's participation in vocational and 
technical training programs was a priority during the year. For 
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example, a 1994 loan to Argentina to strengthen the efficiency 
of the labor market has a Youth Training Program compo
nent that will help create favorable conditions to encourage 
women's equal participation in the workforce. A public aware
ness campaign will educate people that will be involved in 
training women in gender sensitivity and the requirement of 
equal treatment. The Youth Training Program will also pro
vide access to training and subsidies for child care, encourage 
women's participation in nontraditional economic activities, 
and help create internships and employment in the private sec
tor. 

The Training Program for Women and MERCOSUR, 
financed by the Bank in 1994, will conduct a workshop to 
train and sensitize governmental and nongovernmental repre
sentatives involved in the formation of MERCOSUR. It will 
also be aimed at the organizations in the MERCOSUR coun
tries that promote women's participation in the work force. 
Training will focus on the potential impact of the integration 
process on the female labor force, with the intent of establish
ing guidelines to ensure equal opportunities for women. 

The Multilateral Investment Fund (MIF) approved fi
nancing in 1994 for a regional program for strengthening 
technical/vocational programs for low-income women in Ar
gentina, Bolivia, Costa Rica and Ecuador. Another MIF-sup-
ported project coordinated with the Fundación FES m Colom
bia is designed to empower women heads of household and 
strengthen their vocational training. 

The Bank is also financing a review of experiences in 
early childhood development and community child care 
projects, evaluating the lessons learned, and testing their ap
plicability in the design of a pilot program in Nicaragua. This 
initiative is also seen as a support service to women in the la
bor force. An important Bank-financed study on women's ac
cess to credit was completed in 1994. The study, "Financial 

Services for Women Microentrepreneurs," identified and ex
amined the financial structures and technologies that determine 
the supply of financial services to low-income women mi
croentrepreneurs. The research was based on a study carried 
out in Jamaica, the Dominican Republic, Costa Rica, Colom
bia, Ecuador and Chile, which used comparative case studies 
to examine the institutional structures, methodologies and fi
nancial products of a selected sample of formal and informal 
financial intermediaries, including banks, credit unions, NGOs 
with microenterprise programs, and special informal local 
credit and savings schemes. Workshops in Colombia, Costa 
Rica, Jamaica and at Bank headquarters reviewed the findings. 
The study proposes policy, operational guidelines, and cost-
efficient technologies that will help expand women's access to 
financial services in IDB-supported operations. 

The Bank continues to make progress in supporting 
women microentrepreneurs. The 24 Small Project financings 
approved during the year will benefit 11,103 women mi
croentrepreneurs, representing 52 percent of total project ben
eficiaries. 

The Bank launched a Training Program in Women in 
Development and Gender Analysis for Bank staff at headquar
ters and in the Country Offices as well as for staff of institu
tions that work closely with the Bank. The program is designed 
to improve their knowledge of women in development issues 
and provide them with the tools for gender analysis and plan
ning in the context of programming and project design. The 
year was also significant because a Women in Development 
Unit was created within the Bank's reorganization. The WID 
Unit, which formalizes and continues a strong institutional 
commitment to WID, provides expertise and policy guidance 
for incorporating women's issues into the design and analysis 
of the Bank's projects. 



TABLE III. CAPITAL OF THE BANK 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars f 

Subscriptions as of December 31.1994 
Future Commitments from the 8th 

General lncreaseb 

Country Paid-in Callable Sub-total Paid-in Callable Sub-lolal Grand-Total 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 

384,051 
2,618 

11,533 
5,634 
6.357 

6,679.450 
45,624 

124,989 
78.859 

107.956 

7,063,502 
48,242 

136,522 
84,492 

114,313 

81.066 
4,283 

0 
0 

7,877 

3,714,379 
108,064 
73,358 
45,395 

208,806 

3,795,445 
112,347 
73,358 
45,395 

216,683 

10,858,947 
160,589 
209,880 
129,887 
330.996 

Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 

7,202 
30,810 

384,051 
149,369 
105,386 

64,817 
536,195 

6,679,450 
2,518,555 
1.834.100 

72,019 
567,005 

7,063,502 
2.667,925 
1,939,486 

0 
6,514 

81,066 
24,308 
22.329 

38,699 
298,160 

3,714,379 
1,347.654 
1,019,818 

38.699 
304,674 

3,795,445 
1,371,962 
1,042,147 

110,718 
871,679 

10,858,947 
4,039,887 
2.981,633 

Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Croatia 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

105,362 
15,417 

748 
2,823 

20,556 
20,556 

1.832,737 
268,025 

13,029 
48,555 

357,826 
357,826 

1,938,099 
283,442 

13,776 
51,378 

378,382 
378,382 

22,354 
3,245 
1,339 
4.524 
4,355 
4,355 

1,021,182 
149,056 
33,355 

114,880 
198.962 
198,962 

1,043,536 
152,301 
34,694 

119,404 
203,317 
203,317 

2,981,635 
435,743 

48,470 
170,782 
581,699 
581,699 

El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 

15,417 
2,618 

32,017 
32,752 
20.556 

268.025 
45,624 

555.220 
568.706 
357.826 

283,442 
48.242 

587,236 
601,459 
378,382 

3,245 
4,283 

50,256 
49.520 

4,355 

149,056 
108.064 

1,276,227 
1.262,740 

198,962 

152,301 
112,347 

1,326,483 
1,312,260 

203,317 

435,743 
160,589 

1,913,719 
1,913,719 

581,699 

Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 

7,793 
12,329 
15,417 
2,606 

32,017 

97,304 
148,115 
268.025 
44,948 
555.220 

105,097 
160,444 
283,442 
47,554 
587,236 

0 
6,333 
3,245 
4,198 

50,256 

56,469 
268,966 
149,056 
106,592 

1,276,227 

56.469 
275,299 
152,301 
110,790 

1.326,483 

161,566 
435,743 
435,743 
158,344 

1,913,719 

Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 

20,556 
35,659 

246,914 
4,825 

15,417 

357,826 
619,421 

4,293,605 
84,456 

268,025 

378,382 
655,080 

4,540,519 
89,281 

283,442 

4,355 
181,446 
52,066 
9,808 
3,245 

198,962 
4,213,733 
2,387,703 

241,184 
149,056 

203,317 
4,395,179 
2,439,769 

250,992 
152,301 

581.699 
5,050,259 
6.980,288 

340,273 
435,743 

Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 

2,823 
15,417 
15,417 
51.511 

796 

48,555 
268,025 
268,025 
895,010 
14,669 

51,378 
283,442 
283,442 
946,521 

15,465 

4,524 
3,245 
3,245 

10,724 
1,520 

114,880 
149,056 
149,056 
495,735 

36.986 

119.404 
152,301 
152,301 
506,459 
38,506 

170,782 
435,743 
435.743 

1,452,980 
53,971 

Slovenia 
Spain 
Suriname 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 

434 
32,017 

5,718 
5.525 
7,093 

15,417 

7,467 
555,220 

51,897 
94,481 

124,036 
268.025 

7.902 
587,236 

57.615 
100,006 
131,130 
283,442 

832 
50,256 

0 
8,613 

13,318 
3,245 

20.628 
1,276,227 

30.955 
220,327 
330,212 
149,056 

21,460 
1,326,483 

30.955 
228,940 
343,530 
152,301 

29,362 
1,913,719 

88,570 
328,946 
474,660 
435,743 

United Kingdom 
United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

32,017 
1,149,355 

41.209 
213,185 

555,220 
19,984,391 

716.085 
3,571,162 

587,236 
21.133,746 

757,294 
3,784.347 

9,759 
153,664 
8,662 

36,154 

374,726 
9,022,313 
398,250 

1,997,294 

384,485 
9,175,977 
406.912 

2,033,448 

971.721 
30,309,723 
1,164,206 
5,817,795 

Sub-Total 
Unallocated 

3,337,300 
1,363 

57.502,607 
22,317 

60,839,907 
23,680 

1.001,987 
(229) 

39,093,807 
3.752 

40,095,794 
3,523 

100,935,701 
27.203*' 

TOTAL $3,338,663 $57.524,924 $60,863,587 $1.001,758 $39,097,559 $40,099,317 $100,962,904 

■ Data arc rounded to the nearest one thousand; detail may not add to subtotals, totals and grand-totals because of rounding. 
' Includes 1 laiti's pending subscription to the Seventh Increase of Resources in the amount of $ 122.988.000 ($3.088.000 of paid-in capital and $ 119.910.000 of callable capital). 
'' Total unallocated amount of $27,203,000, consisting of 2,255 shares (represented by 94 shares of paid-in and 2.161 callable) pertaining to the remainder of the former Social 
federal Republic of Yugoslavia. 
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FINANCIAL MATTERS 

Financial Highlights 

The Bank's ordinary capital loan portfolio became fully per
forming for 1994 when Suriname cleared its arrears. This fa
vorable outcome was due to a number of factors, not least of 
which was the continuing positive economic performance of 
the region, which registered higher growth rates in real terms 
than in 1993. The Bank's net income targeting policy allowed 
it to set its lending spreads at levels slightly below those of the 
previous year, without in any way jeopardizing its strong fi
nancial position. Except for a 75 basis-points waiver of the 
inspection and supervision fee during the first semester, other 
loan charges were applied in 1994. 

Highlights of earnings from the Bank's own resources 
in 1994 are shown below: 

Ordinary capital resources: Total income: $2,256 mil
lion compared with $2,330 million in 1993. Net income: 
$369 million compared with $395 million in 1993. Total re
serves: $5,303 million as of December 31, 1994, compared 
with $4,758 million at the end of 1993. 

Fund for Special Operations: Total income: $ 177 mil
lion compared with $ 181 million in 1993. Net income before 
technical cooperation expenses: $89 million compared with 
$88 million in 1993. Total reserves: $534 million as of De
cember 31, 1994, compared with $534 million at the end of 
1993. 

Intermediate Financing Facility: Total addition of $27 
million compared with $3 1 million in 1993. Interest paid on 
behalf of ordinary capital borrowers: $32 million compared 
with $24 million in 1993. Fund balance: $348 million com
pared with $327 million at the end of 1993. 

The audited financial statements of the ordinary capi
tal, the Fund for Special Operations, and the Intermediate Fi
nancing Facility Account, as well as those of the Social Progress 
Trust Fund and the Venezuelan Trust Fund, appear on pages 
113 through 164. 

Borrowings 

The Bank's funding program strives to achieve the lowest-cost 
financing possible for its borrowers while ensuring strong, 
long-term market support for its bond issues. During what is 
generally acknowledged as a very difficult year for all capital 
markets, the Bank was able in 1994 to broaden the market for 
its securities by diversifying its borrowings in terms of currency, 
maturity, and target investor base, while continuing to main
tain its presence in most of its traditional markets. 

At the end of 1994, the Bank's outstanding borrow
ings amounted to $25,198 million equivalent. During 1994, 
the Bank completed seven individual borrowings in the world's 
capital markets for a total of $955 million equivalent. 

TABLE IV. CONTRIBUTION OlOTAS TO THE FIND 
FOR SPECIAL OPERATIONS 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Country 
As of 

December 31. 1994 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 

Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 

Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Croatia 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 

Guyana 
I laili 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 

Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 

Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Pent 
Portugal 

Slovenia 
Spain 
Suriname 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 

United Kingdom 
United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

Sub-total 

Unallocated 

477,630 
14.741 
9,966 
1,604 

35,835 

7,200 
46,227 

515,925 
260,672 
148,435 

145,601 
22,102 

4,166 
15,416 
31.872 
28,681 

20.158 
13,445 

172.759 
182,581 
30,842 

7.879 
20.600 
24.853 
13.828 

160,023 

27.264 
222.891 
310.237 

27,236 
22,870 

14,427 
24,155 
26.788 
75.402 

5.813 

2.397 
163,546 

5.968 
28,880 
40,071 
19,730 

164,630 
4.715.878 

52,838 
298,116 

8,662.178 

12,856 

TOTAL $8.675.034 
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NILO COELHO, BRAZIL. Construction workers prepare an 
irrigation canal designed to boost agricultural productivity over 
4,500 hectares in the states of Bahia and Pernambuco. A $57 
million IDB loan to the São Francisco River Valley Develop
ment Company is financing construction of the 22-kilometer 
canal as well as pumping stations and reservoirs. 

The Bank continues to intensify its investor relations 
program. During the year, a series of meetings were held with 
investors in Asia, Europe, the U.S. and Latin America. The 
goals of these meetings include broadening the Bank's investor 
base, increasing investor knowledge about the institution and 
its activities, and exploring ways to promote investment in 
Bank securities. 

Funds in Administration 

Approximately 10.3 percent of the Bank's borrow
ings after swaps were denominated in Japanese yen, 23.8 per
cent in U.S. dollars, 45.9 percent in Swiss francs, and 20 per
cent in Deutsche marks. Of particular note, the Bank 
completed four currency swap-driven issues for an aggregate 
amount of $514 million equivalent. The currency swap op
erations included the Bank's first Hong Kong dollar issue, 
swapped into Swiss francs, and the Bank's first Luxembourg 
franc issue, the proceeds of which were swapped to fund the 
first disbursement of the single currency U.S. dollar) window 
facility at a very favorable rate. 

Total advance redemptions for the year amounted to 
$266 million equivalent through the prepayment of three 
Swiss franc borrowings. The advance redemption of these bor
rowings will generate significant savings during the coming 
years, since the high coupon debt has been replaced with 
lower-cost borrowings. 

Since the Bank's establishment, trust funds have been an im
portant source of additional financing for projects, particularly 
projects benefitting low-income people. The first trust fund, 
created in 1961, was entrusted to the Bank by the United 
States. Other funds have been established by member coun
tries, including the Venezuelan Trust Fund, the Swedish Fund 
for Small Projects, the Canadian Fund, the United Kingdom 
Fund, the Swiss Fund for Technical Cooperation, the Argen
tine Fund, the Spanish Quincentennial Funds, and the Euro
pean Economic Community Fund. 

Japan established the Japan Special Fund (JSF) in 1988 
to finance nonreimbursable technical cooperation, primarily 
for project preparation, small projects, and emergency assis
tance to cope with natural disasters. On a cumulative basis, 49 
operations have been approved with JSF resources totaling 
¥9,831 million (approximately $100 million.) In 1994, the 
Japanese Government contributed ¥1,600 million (approxi-
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TABLE V. BORROWINGS', FISCAL YEAR 1994 

(In millions of currency) 

T>po Issue I nils Amount 

Amount 

(USS equlv.) 

Japanese yen 

Swiss francs 

Deutsche marks 

Pounds sterling 

Hong Kong doDars 

Italian lire 

Luxembourg francs 

4.25% Euro-MTN. due 2006 

5.625% Bonds, due 2001 

7.75% Bonds, due 2004 

7.125% Eurobonds, due 2004 

7.30% Eurobonds, due 2004 

7.70% Eurobonds, due 2004 

7.75% Eurobonds, due 1999 

Yen 

SwF 

DM 

I'S 

HK$ 

ITL 

LUF 

10.000 

200 

300 

150 

500 

250,000 

2,500 

$ 99 

150 

191 

222 

65 

147 

81 

tola I Borrowings S955 

Before swaps. 

mately $14 million) to the JSF. Total contributions have 
reached ¥ 1 6 , 6 0 0 million (approximately $166 million). An 
additional ¥1 ,900 million (about $19 million) was committed 
to the JSF, of which ¥ 7 0 0 million is earmarked for environ
ment-related technical assistance. The JSF resources are untied 
and available for all borrowing member countries of the Bank. 

The Bank established the Japan-IDB Scholarship Pro
gram with grant funding from Japan to promote the develop
ment of human resources in the region. The program offers 
opportunities to selected individuals to undertake graduate 
studies at national or international institutions in the social sci
ences, management, engineering, and other development-re
lated fields. The program provided scholarships for 2 9 recipi
ents for the 1 9 9 4 - 9 5 academic yea r . The p r o g r a m ' s 
cumulative resources totaled ¥ 5 1 1 . 8 million (approximately 
$4.5 million) as of the end of 1994. On a cumulative basis, 
9 6 scholarships have been awarded. 

The Program for the Development of Technical Co
operation among Member Countries of the Bank (TC/FUNDS 
Program) was created in 1991 in order to provide additional 
financing to hire short- and medium-term consultants and to 
finance scholarships and other training activities. The TC/ 
FUNDS Program consists of several individual funds financed 
by contributions from member countries and international en
tities. To date, $29.7 million has been contributed by Austria, 
Belgium, the European Union (EU), Germany, Israel, Italy, 
Portugal, $weden, Notway, The Netherlands, and Spain. Dur 
ing 1994, three new funds were established, including the 
Danish Consultant Fund, the Norwegian Technical Coopera
tion Trust Fund for Consulting Services, and the United King-

TABLE VI. OUTSTANDING BORROWINGS BY 

CURRENCY AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1994 

(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Currencj ' 

Austrian schillings 
British Pounds sterling 
Canadian dollars 
French francs 
German marks 
Hong Kong dollars 
Italian lire 
Japanese yen 
Luxembourg francs 
Netherlands guilders 
Portuguese escudos 
Spanish pesetas 
Swiss francs 
United States dollars 

total 

1 Before swaps. 

Amount 

92 
761 
499 
224 

2,550 
65 

153 
9,425 

79 
1,248 

72 
228 

3,669 
6,133 

$25,198 

dom Fund for Consultant Services. The Canadian Technical 
Cooperation Program amended and replaced the Canadian 
Project Preparation Fund. 



TABLE VIL FUNDS IN ADMINISTRATION 

Name 
Date 

Established 
Entrusted 

by Currency 

.Amount 
Contributed1 

(million) Sector Concentration or Purpose 

Social Progress Trust Fund 1961 USA U.S.S 

Venezuelan Trust Kund 1975 Venezuela U.S.S 

Bolivars 

Canadian Fund 1964 Canada Can$ 

Japan Special Fund 1988 Japan Yen 

IDB Graduate Scholarship Program 1991 Japan Yen 

Swiss Fund for Technical 1980 Switzerland SwF 
Cooperation and Small Projects 

Norwegian Development Fund 1987 Norway U.S.S 

Special Fund for Small Projects 1991 EEC ECU 

Spanish Quincentennial Funds 1990 Spain ECU 

Fund for Belgian Consultants 1991 Belgium BF 

EEC Fund for Technical 1991 EEC ECU 
Consultancy Services 

Italian Trust Fund 1991 Italy U.S.S 

Italian Fund for Consulting Firms 1992 Italy U.S.S 

Italian Fund for Individual Consultants 1992 Italy U.S.S 

Portuguese Technical 1991 Portugal Escudos 
Cooperation 

Swedish Trust Fund for Consulting 1991 Sweden U.S.S 
Services and Training Activities 

Swedish Fund for the 
Financing of Small Projects 1992 Sweden U.S.S 

Austrian Technical 
Cooperation Trust Fund 1992 Austria U.S.S 

German Technical Cooperation 1992 Germany DM 
Fund 

Israeli Consultant Trust Fund 1992 Israel Shekels 

Norwegian Fund for Women 1993 Norway NOK 
in Development 

Environmental Technical Cooperation 1993 Netherlands NG 
Trust Fund of the Netherlands 

Spanish Fund for 1993 Spain Ptas. 
Consultants flCEX) 

Swedish Fund for 1993 Sweden SwK 
Microenterprise in Bolivia 

Canadian Technical Cooperation 1994 Canada Can$ 
ftogram2 

Danish Consultant Fund 1994 Denmark DKK 

Norwegian Technical Cooperation 
Trust Fund for Consulting Services 1994 Norway U.S.S 

United Kingdom Fund for 1994 United Kingdom £ 
Consultant Services 

525 

400 
430 

73 

16,600 

512 

53 

equiv. to 
U.S.S90 

equiv. to 
U.S.S0.38 

equiv. to 
U.S.S2.4 

3.5 

1.8 

0.82 

equiv. to 
U.S.S1.5 

equiv. to 
U.S.S0.18 

equiv. to 
U.S.S0.19 

equiv. to 
U.S.S0.14 

equiv. to 
U.S.S0.98 

equiv. to 
U.S.S0.36 

equiv. to 
U.S.S4.0 

5.77 

14 

1 

0.1 

Agriculture, sanitation, education. 

Integration, natural resources, industry, exports. 

Physical infrastructure 

Technical assistance, small projects, 
emergency assistance. 

Scholarships for advanced study. 

Projects that benefit low-income groups. 

Loans and small projects. 

Small projects and technical assistance. 

Technical education, agriculture, 
health, communications, urban development. 

Technical assistance for preparation 
of projects in productive and private sectors. 

Short-term consultancy services. 

Consulting services for industrial reconstruction. 

Consulting services for specialized institutions. 

Individual consultants 

Technical assistance, scholarships and 
traineeships. 

Consulting services and training in 
social sectors. 

Small projects. 

Short- and long-term consultancies. 

Short- and medium-term advisory services. 

Advisory services for projects. 

Technical assistance related to WID. 

Consulting services. 

Consulting services from Spain for 
technical assistance activities. 

Microenterprise activities and Small Projects. 

Finance consulting services in support 
of the programs, projects or activities of the IDB. 

Finance TCs in all sectors of activities of the IDB. 

Consulting services. 

Finance consulting services in support 
of IDB activities in the borrowing countries. 

1 figures represent gross contributions and do not reflect balances on hand. 
2 Amends and replaces Canadian Project ¡'reparation Fund established in 197-1. 
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INSTITUTIONAL ASPECTS 

Board of Governors 

At the Bank's Thirty-Fifth Annual Meeting, which took place 
in Guadalajara, Mexico in April 1994, the Board of Gover
nors approved the 1993 financial statements of the ordinary 
capital, the Fund for Special Operations, and the Intermediate 
Financing Facility. At the same time, the Board expressed its 
satisfaction for the successful negotiation results achieved by 
the Committee of the Board of Governors related to the Eighth 
General Increase in the Resources of the Bank. 

The Committee of the Board of Governors is the 
Board's permanent arm, made up of 12 of its members. The 
Committee held three meetings in 1994, the first and second 
at the Bank's headquarters in January and February respec
tively, and the third in Guadalajara in April, at which the 
Committee reached the agreement on the Eighth General In
crease in the Resources of the Bank. 

Board of Executive Directors 

The Board of the Executive Directors is responsible for the op
erations of the Bank. It establishes the institution's operational 
policies, approves loan and technical cooperation proposals 
submitted by the President of the Bank, authorizes Bank bor
rowings on capital markets, approves the Bank's administra
tive budget, and determines the loan charges and interest rates 
on its loans. 

The Board performs its duties on a full-time basis at 
the Bank's headquarters, and its 12 principal members are 
elected or appointed for three-year terms by the Board of Gov
ernors of the Bank. Each Executive Director may appoint an 
Alternate, who has full power to act when the principal is ab
sent. A roster of the Executive Directors and Alternate Execu
tive Directors appears on page 166. To facilitate its work, the 
Board has four standing committees, which were reorganized 
in July 1994 as follows: 

• Board Matters and Evaluation Committee; 
• Policy Committee; 
• Budget, Financial Policies, and Audit Committee; 
• Programming Committee. 
In 1994, in addition to the activities described above, 

the Board of Executive Directors approved a variety of initia
tives, policies, and regulations that will have an important im
pact on the Bank's future activities. The following policies and 
initiatives are listed in the order in which they were approved 
by the Board during the year. 

• Modification of the policy on ordinary capital li
quidity; 

• Organization of the new Evaluation Office; 
• Principles of human resources management; 
• Establishment of a U.S. dollar window; 

• New procedures on selection of external auditors; 
• Terms of reference for committees of the Board of 

the Executive Directors; 
• The Bank's independent investigation mechanism; 
• Updating of procurement procedures for goods and 

services; 
• Cooperation agreement between the Nordic Devel

opment Fund and the IDB on programming and project cofi
nancing; 

• Information disclosure policy. 
With regard to the selection of external auditors, the 

Board of Executive Directors, without in any way reflecting 
adversely upon the quality of service received from its current 
external auditors nor indicating any dispute or disagreement 
with them, decided as a matter of principle that such selection 
should be done by means of international competitive bidding. 

The Board of Executive Directors approved new cri
teria and norms for Board/Management relations which in
creased the delegation of authority from the Board to the Man
agement. The new delegation facilitates the administration of 
day-to-day activities and the simplification of internal proce
dures, thereby reinforcing the benefits to be gained from a 
streamlined organizational structure. The delegation of author
ity will permit the Board to focus its attention on the broad 
policy and programming issues arising from the Eighth Re
plenishment Agreement. 

Reorganization 

The basic idea of the reorganization of the Bank in 1994 was 
to strengthen country focus, increase the delegation of author
ity, make greater use of the Country Offices, and establish bet
ter management accountability. 

The Bank's reorganization process was designed to 
address the following objectives: 

• Exploit the Bank's unique comparative advantage as 
a regional institution in which borrowing members feel a 
strong sense of ownership and with which they enjoy a close 
working relationship; 

• Create a more efficient organization so that the 
Bank's growing workload can be managed without the need 
for significant new resources; 

• Strengthen the Bank's focus on the development im
pact of its operations and its dialogue with borrowers; 

• Produce a flexible organization capable of respond
ing not only to the new mandates of the Eighth Replenish
ment, but also to the likelihood of future changes in the re
gion. 

• Develop a process of synergy and better integration 
among the Regional Operations Departments and their Coun
try Offices, to facilitate the assigning of responsibilities and the 
sharing of associated resources. 

• Address current priorities for the region, including 
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PARAJE MOLLES, URUGUAY. 
IDB loans totalling $13.2 million in 
1987 supported a campaign by the 
Ministry of Livestock, Agriculture and 
Fisheries to control foot-and-mouth 
disease and reduce tick infestation in 
cattle. The project included construc
tion of facilities to improve quarantine 
measures and purchase of machinery, 
vehicles and field and laboratory equip
ment. 

modernization of the state and civil society, social sector re
form and poverty reduction, regional and continental integra
tion, sustainable development, environmental protection and 
support to the private sector. 

To meet these objectives, the Bank recently imple
mented significant changes in its organizational structure: 

• A new "Regional" structure was created, with three 
Regional Operations Departments organized by country 
groups. These Departments have full responsibility for carry
ing out the Bank's work with their specific countries. They 
manage all activities related to programming and are respon
sible for the entire "project cycle" (project identification, ori
entation, analysis, negotiation, and implementation.) 

• Two new central departments, Social Programs and 
Sustainable Development (SDS) and Strategic Planning and 
Operational Policy (DPP), were created to provide technical 
and policy support in the priority areas of the Eighth Replen
ishment. SDS, among other duties, provides advisory services 
and assistance needed by other units of the Bank in the 
conceptualization and design of operations. DPP, among other 
duties, develops general operational policies of the Bank. 

• The Chief Economist is the principal advisor to the 
President and Management on economic matters. The Office 
of the Chief Economist will conduct studies and research on 
subjects related to development policy in Latin America and 
the Caribbean, and assist the departments on economic issues. 

• The Private Sector Department will help the Bank 
focus its support to the private sector. The IDB will devote 5 
percent of its lending resources under the Eighth Replenish
ment directly to the private sector without government guar
antees. 

• The Integration and Regional Programs Department 
handles region-wide and hemispheric operational and related 
activities, such as regional technical cooperation, regional pro
gramming and integration and trade. Also, it manages the In
ter-American Institute for Social Development, which will per
form an important function by training a critical mass of 
policymakers and program managers of the region, both pub
lic and private, in the design, management, and evaluation of 
social policies, programs, and projects. 

Evaluation and Internal Audit 

Evaluation is used as a tool for institutional learning and as an 
instrument for assessing the effectiveness of Bank development 
policies and the results of Bank-financed activities. The evalu
ation experience of borrowing and non-borrowing countries, 
as well as the Bank's own operations, are used in the design of 
new operations and in the improvement of ongoing activities. 

The Bank's new Evaluation Office (EVO), which 
merged the Bank's external and internal evaluation systems, 
became effective in January 1994. EVO's mandate includes 
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MAY PEN, JAMAICA. Construction, equipping and 
repair oj six hospitals, including this one in May Pen, is 
being financed by a $70.5 million IDB loan. Under the 
direction of the Ministry of Health, the project will im
prove the efficiency and capacity of Jamaica's health ser
vices, increasing bed capacity by 18percent. 

evaluation system. Together with the Bank's Staff De
velopment Section, EVO also sponsored several train
ing sessions at Headquarters and in the Country Of
fices on the application of the Logical Framework 
Analysis for setting up criteria for the attainment of 
project objectives. 

The Office of the Auditor General performs 
independent audit reviews designed to assure Man
agement of the effectiveness of the Bank's internal 
controls and resource utilization, in coordination 
with the Bank's external auditors. 

During 1994, the work of the Office in
cluded determining and evaluating risk factors asso
ciated with the Bank's control systems, and provid
ing periodic reviews of the Bank's financial, 
accounting, operational, administrative and manage
ment information systems procedures. The Office also 
continued to oversee computer data access security 
systems, as well as the development of new and up
dated computer technology applications. 

Due to the procedural reformulation and or
ganizational restructuring of the Bank in 1994, the 
Office of the Auditor General performed numerous 
reviews and consultations, including those related to 
specific control issues relating to Country Office de
centralization. 

undertaking independent and systematic evaluations of the 
Bank's strategies, policies, programs, activities, and systems. It 
provides oversight and support to enhance the effectiveness of 
the Bank Evaluation System (BES). EVO reports to the Presi
dent and the Board of Executive Directors. 

Several evaluations were prepared in 1994. In addi
tion, EVO led the team which prepared the regional technical 
cooperation project to "Support Monitoring and Evaluation 
Activities in Social Programs and Projects." 

EVO conducted seminars in the Caribbean and in 
Central America on evaluation and monitoring. At the request 
of Costa Rica, as part of EVO's support for in-country capac
ity building, EVO is assisting in the establishment of a national 

Role of the Country Offices 

The Bank has a Country Office in each of the member coun
tries in the region. The Country Offices provide essential link
ages with the borrowing member countries. Most of them are 
staffed with a multidisciplinary team that includes a Represen
tative, Deputy Representative and sectoral specialists who help 
administer the Bank's portfolio in each country. The Offices 
are responsible for overseeing the technical and operational 
aspects of project execution, including the approval of dis
bursements and the monitoring of the procurement process by 
which the borrowers purchase goods and services to execute 
the projects. 
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In 1993, the Task Force on Portfolio Management 
(TAPOMA) recommended that the Country Offices, one of the 
Bank's greatest assets, be given increased responsibility 
throughout the project cycle. As a result, and in line with the 
recent restructuring of the Bank, the Country Offices have now 
been assigned a far more pivotal role in project related activi
ties. For example, the Country Offices prepare annual Coun
try Portfolio assessments identifying issues affecting project 
implementation and steps which should be taken to resolve 
outstanding problems. The first country portfolio assessments 
were prepared in early 1994 and enabled the Bank to prepare 
its first Annual Report on Portfolio Management, which was 
submitted to the Board of Executive Directors in April, 1994. 

The Task Force also recommended that Country Of
fice staff be more fully utilized in programming, preparing sec
tor studies, formulating investment strategies and identifying 
and preparing projects. Currently the Country Offices are fully 
integrated into the programming process, the preparation of 
loan documents, and the negotiation of loans. For example, 
the Country Offices are responsible for reviewing the institu
tional analysis contained in loan proposals and the Country 
Representative is a member of the Management Review Com
mittee which screens programming and loan documents. The 
Task Force Report also proposed that Management further del
egate to the Country Offices responsibility for declaring loans 
eligible for disbursement and other decisions of project execu
tion previously reserved for Headquarters. These responsibili
ties have now been delegated to the Country Offices. 

As a result of the restructuring of the Bank, three re
gional operations departments were created with a mandate 
to increase the responsibilities and resources of the Country 
Offices in light of the recommendations made by the Task 
Force. Since the restructuring, each of the regional department 
managers has produced and distributed to all operational staff 
procedures clearly outlining the role of the Country Offices in 
the supervision of projects in execution and the preparation 
and review of project profiles, loan proposals, macroeconomic/ 
sector studies, country strategies, and programming documents. 

Special Office in Europe 

The Bank's Paris-based Special Office in Europe (SOE) plays a 
pivotal role in strengthening cooperation between the Bank 
and its nonregional member countries. 

SOE implements an extensive program of outreach 
activities designed to highlight to key European audiences the 
new priorities of the Bank and new trends in Latin America 
and the Caribbean. During the year, SOE organized meetings 
in most of the nonregional member countries aimed at busi
ness, economic, and academic audiences. It also organized two 
major international conferences on the economic development 
of Latin America. At the fifth IDB-International Herald Tri
bune Latin America Conference, held in London in June 1994, 
seven finance and economic ministers from the region were 

among speakers addressing the theme of "Latin America: a 
New Investment Partner." The fifth IDB-OECD Development 
Centre Forum on Latin American Perspectives, meeting in Paris 
in November, focused on "Social Tensions, Employment Gen
eration and Economic Policy in Latin America." 

Part of SOE's mandate involves facilitating and ex
panding contacts at different levels between the nonregional 
and Latin American member countries. The innovative, IDB-
backed Bolivar-Enlace Program linking science and industry 
opened its first pan-European office in Paris, together with sat
ellite offices in Israel and Italy, and began discussions with au
thorities in Spain on opening an office there. A framework 
agreement was signed with the French bank Crédit Lyonnais 
providing for cooperation in looking for joint-venture part
ners for European and Latin American firms. 

In order to promote the Bank's new goals under the 
Eighth Replenishment, SOE also expanded contacts with key 
interest groups in Europe, particularly those concerned with 
the social sectors. SOE staff participated in European NGO 
meetings which examined new forms of development assis
tance, and in the first formal meeting between European and 
Latin American NGOs and development foundations, held in 
Madrid. SOE also held consultations on Haiti with European 
NGOs. The Bank's President made official visits in 1994 to 
several nonregional countries for ongoing consultations with 
their governments. 

As part of the Bank's continuing effort to help mobi
lize nonregional resources for Latin American development, 
SOE concluded agreements in 1994 establishing Consultant 
Trust Funds with Denmark, Norway and the UK—the latest of 
19 such funds set up during 1992-4. Negotiations are cur
rently underway to replenish several funds whose resources 
have been committed. 

Administration 

A Statement of Principles of Personnel Policies was approved 
by the Board of Executive Directors in 1994. Consistent with 
the philosophy contained in this Statement, as well as with the 
recommendations of the Advisory Group on Labor Relations, 
three new staff rules were approved by the President, includ
ing Staff Rule #3 11—Terms of Appointment; #3 15—Staffing; 
and #325—End of Employment, all of which will facilitate 
Management's ability to better manage the Bank's human re
sources requirements in the future. 

In carrying out the Bank's reorganization, a Staff Pref
erence Exercise was conducted in order to reassign staff to jobs 
in the new organizational structure. Of the 448 professionals 
who participated in this exercise, 64 percent were assigned 
their first choice. Of the 174 administrative personnel, 88 per
cent were given their first choice of assignments. The physical 
relocation of the 622 staff members was carried out effectively 
and with minimal interruption of day-to-day work activities. 

During 1994, significant progress was made toward 
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TABLE VIII. CONSOLIDA TED ADMINISTRA TIVE EXPENSES 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Categorj 
19921 

Actual 
1993 

Actual 
1994 

Actual 

Board of Governors 

Board of Executive Directors 

Evaluation Office1' 

I ieadquarters and Country Offices1 

TOTAL BEFORE REIMBURSEMENT 

Reimbursement from Funds 
under Administration and IIC 

$ 974.50 

10,657.20 

222.520.80 

234,152.50 

(3.559.60) 

2.039.20 

11,619.60 

241.584.30 

255,243.10 

(2,895.20) 

$ 1.249.90 

10.077.40 

3,461.40 

255.467.80 

270,256.50 

(3,620.90) 

TOTAL S230,5!)2.90 * 252.347.90 $ 266.635.60 

1 Excludes approximately $ 11.9 million related to special termination program expenses. 
2 The External Review and Evaluation Office has been replaced by the Evaluation Office, which now appears as a separate category and is no longer included in the 
Board of Executive Directors budget. 
3 Excludes funding for Post retirement benefits (FAS 106) amounting to $ 11.2 million ¡n 1992. $19.4 million in 1993, and $23.8 million for 1994. 

setting up the Human Resources Information System (HURIS) 
with full implementation scheduled for 1995. HURIS is ex
pected to contribute greatly toward the improvement of hu
man resources management in the future. 

Training programs focused on the leadership abilities 
of supervisory staff at all levels and also provided increased 
training for technical staff. In all, 475 supervisory staff in 1994 
participated in training while professional development courses 
were provided for 779 technical staff. 

The Bank's Administrative Budget for 1995 was au
thorized at $316.9 million, net of projected overhead reim
bursements of $2.8 million.3 Total expenditures for 1992, 
1993, and 1994 are shown in Table VIII. In 1994, total ex
penditures of $266.6 million, net of the actual $3.6 million 
reimbursement, represented 99 .7 percent of the approved bud
get. 

At the end of 1994, Bank staff (excluding the Board 
of Executive Directors and the Evaluation Office) totaled 
1,798, of which 13 were on special leave and 1,785 were in 
active service. Of the 1,785, 1,146 were professionals and 

3 This figure reflects the inclusion in the Bank's Administrative Bud
get of $34 million attributable to FAS 106 requirements, $ 10 million for 
termination payments, and policy changes in the treatment of the capital 
budget. On an adjusted basis, the 1995 budget of $272.9 million has had 
an increase of S1.2 million, or 0.4 percent against an adjusted 1994 bud
get of $271.7 million. 

639 administrative. Of these staff members, 4 9 0 were assigned 
to the Country Offices. These figures compare with a total of 
1,830 staff members of which 12 were on special leave and 
1,818 were in active service—1,171 professionals and 647 ad
ministrative—at year's end 1993. At the close of 1994, 321 
professional women were employed at the Bank. 

Cultural Activities and Conferences 

During 1994, the Cultural Center presented a wide-ranging 
program of exhibitions, concerts and lectures. Exhibitions in
cluded "Other Sensibilities," a selection of paintings, ceramics 
and wooden sculptures from Paraguay; "Latin American Art
ists in Washington Collections," a series of works selected from 
several museums and private collections; "Graphics from Latin 
America and the Caribbean," a selection of works from the IDB 
collection; and " 17th and 18th Century Sculpture in Quito," a 
selection of Colonial religious sculptures, which included 
works by Legarda and Caspicara. The lecture series included, 
among others, prominent figures such as Alfonso Sastre, Ed
ward Villella and Renee Ferrer de Arrellaga. 

A scholarship program was inaugurated in coopera
tion with the Center for Advanced Study in the Visual Arts of 
the National Gallery of Art. The program, open to scholars, 
art critics and experts in the visual arts from Latin America 
and the Caribbean, consists of study and research at art insti
tutions in the United States. The book "The Art of Latin 
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TEGUCIGALPA, HONDU
RAS. A joint IDB/UNICEF pro
gram provides basic social services 
to street children throughout Central 
America. Student to the left of the 
teacher in this 7th grade natural 
science, class is a former street child 
who with support from the program 
has returned to school and works as 
an apprentice in an electronics re
pair shop. 

America, 1900-1980," by the 
late art critic Marta Traba, 
was published by the Bank. 

The Bank organizes 
and cosponsors meetings and 
conferences on development 
topics in its member countries. 
During 1994, the major 
events included the following: 

• In April, in con
junction with the Bank's Annual Meeting, a major forum en
titled "Women in the Americas: Participation and Develop
ment" was held in Guadalajara, Mexico. It attracted more than 
400 participants representing governments, the private sector 
(including nongovernmental organizations,) and international 
organizations. The purpose of the Forum was to create a dia
logue to help the Bank and others set priorities and agree on 
strategies for strengthening the participation of women in the 
development of the region. 

• In May, a seminar on "The Caribbean: Identity, 
Politics and Economy" was held in Cambridge, Massachusetts 
and cosponsored with Harvard University and Tufts 
University's Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy. The pur
pose of the seminar was to further promote strategic policy 
research regarding the Caribbean. 

• In July, the "Infrastructure Maintenance Workshop" 
was held at the Bank in an effort to review methods for main
taining existing infrastructure as a more efficient and less costly 
alternative to new infrastructure investments. 

• In September, two major events highlighted the 
Bank's new mandate to focus on issues such as civil society 
and governance. The "Conference on Strengthening Civil So
ciety," September 12-14, and the "Forum on Governance and 
Modernization of the Democratic State," September 16, at
tracted wide audiences. At the forum on governance, former 
presidents Raúl Alfonsfn of Argentina, Patricio Aylwin of 
Chile, Belisario Betancur of Colombia, Rodrigo Borja of Ecua

dor, and Luis Herrera Campins of Venezuela, spoke on the 
struggles and promises of the modernization of the democratic 
state. Vice President Al Gore, Jr. of the United States, also 
addressed the forum, highlighting the key areas of governance 
and sustainability of democracy that were later addressed at 
the December Summit of the Americas in Miami. 

Cooperation with other Organizations 

The centerpiece of IDB/United Nations Development 
Programme (UNDP) collaboration in 1994 was the produc
tion and publication of "Our Common Agenda for the Ameri
cas'—the culmination of an eight month-long process that en
gaged the members of the Latin American and Caribbean 
Commission on Development and Environment, govern
ments, experts, national and international NGOs throughout 
the hemisphere. The process began with a February, 1994 
meeting which brought together leading political and intel
lectual figures from the Americas to discuss an agenda for sub
stantive decisions at the Summit of the Americas —the first 
congress of Western Hemisphere countries since 1967. A 
working draft of "Our Common Agenda for the Americas" 
was discussed and reviewed at broad-based national and sub-
regional meetings. A final version was approved by the Com
mission in an August, 1994 meeting for submission to the 
Summit as an important contribution to a program of action 
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GEORGETOWN, GUYANA. Sugar cane awaits processing 
at the Guyana Sugar Corporation's Albion plant, the largest 
in the country. The plant produces 300 tons of sugar and mo
lasses a day. A $27 million IDB loan to the Ministry of Ag
riculture in 1990 is being used to increase production at 
Albion and other sugar plants by purchasing new machinery, 
spare parts and agrochemicals. 

for the pursuit of sustainable development into the next 
millennium. 

The Latin American and North American Con
ference of Mayors was cosponsored by the World Bank, 
the OAS, and USAID, and was held at OAS headquar
ters on November 14-16, 1994 in Washington, D.C. 
Under the title "Pathways of Development for Munici
pal Governance," the conference brought together local 
government executives from three continents and dis
tinctive subregional backgrounds to exchange ideas and 
discuss issues of mutual concern. Professional staff from 
bilateral and multilateral development organizations 
also participated. 

The Bank also cosponsored the "Interamerican 
Conference on Society, Violence, and Health" that was 
organized by, and took place at the headquarters of, the 
Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) on No
vember 16-17, 1994 in Washington, D.C. This con
ference brought together legislators, ministers of health 
and justice, and representatives of NGOs. The topics 
included "Violence as a Health Problem," "Towards a Democ
racy without Violence," and the "Political Economy of Non
violence," reflecting the preoccupation of the countries of the 
region with violence as a threat to democratic forms of gov
ernment. 

The Bank continued its collaboration with UNICEF 
in support of a program to dampen the effects of extreme pov
erty on children by cofinancing a program to support children 
in especially difficult circumstances in the cities of Salvador, 
Recife, Fortaleza, São Luis, Teresina and Campinas in Brazil. 

Inter-American Investment Corporation 

The Inter-American Investment Corporation QIC) promotes 
the establishment, expansion, and modernization of private 
enterprises in Latin America and the Caribbean, preferably 
those that are small and medium-scale. The IIC works directly 
with the private sector and neither seeks nor requires govern

ment guarantees for its loans, equity investments or lines of 
credit. Enterprises with partial share participation by govern
ment or other public entities whose activities strengthen the 
private sector of the economy are eligible for financing by the 
Corporation. 

The year 1994 was a period of consolidation for the 
IIC. Discussions on the institution's role within the IDB group 
led to the appointment of a group of international experts to 
evaluate the Corporation's past performance and possible fu
ture strategies. The advisory group presented its findings in 
November 1994. The Corporation is developing a new busi
ness strategy that gives greater emphasis to equity investments, 
capital markets activities, and cofinancing. In 1994, the Board 
of Executive Directors approved $42.7 million for 14 projects, 
of which $32.8 million were for long-term loans and $9.9 
million for equity investments. Since its inception, the IIC has 
approved $499.5 million for 122 transactions, the total cost 
of which exeeds $2 billion. 
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l'RI\ Ml', SIICTOR I,I;M)I\G PROGRAM 

The Bank's Charter has always granted the; institution the 
authority to provido financing to tho private; sector without 
government guarantees. In the wake of the deep and wide
spread economic reforms in Latin America In the late 
1980s and early t990s, the private sector is a very ap
propriate conduit for growth- and development-Inducing 
investment throughout the region. Accordingly, the IDB's 
Eighth Replenishment agreement provides that a maximum 
of 5 percent of the Bank's annual loan commitments dur
ing the Replenishment period may be made directly to pri
vate borrowers. 

The Bank's private-sector lending operations will be 
concentrated in infrastructure—energy, communications, 
transportation, water and sanitation—and will be diversi
fied across the borrowing member countries. Historically, 
over 40 percent of the IDB's total loan portfolio has come 
under the heading of physical infrastructure. This experi
ence, together with the Bank's ability to lend over relatively 
long terms, should enable private borrowers in the region 
to leverage sources of commercial capital which otherwise 
might perceive projects as too large or too risky. 

In urging the Bank to move into direct private lending, 
the Board of Governors stipulated that the Bank's share in 
any individual project could not exceed 25 percent of the 
total cost or $75 million equivalent, whichever is less. The 

Bank's Management has designed a private-sector lend
ing program, under consideration by the Board of Execu
tive Directors, that will enable borrowers to mobilize re
sources through a variety of Instruments. For example, 
guarantees may be provided by the Bank for portions of 
financings extended by private financiers. As a general 
rule, the private-sector loans will have up to 1 5-ycar 
maturities and will carry market-based rates of interest. 
The operations will carry fees and security requirements 
and will be subject to the application of environmental 
guidelines consistent with those of the Bank and the coun
try. 

Consistent with the Bank's Charter, the private-sec
tor lending program will focus on operations in which the 
Bank is, in effect, a lender of last resort. Impressive as the 
inflow of capital from outside the region has been in re
cent years, the development financing needs facing Latin 
America and the Caribbean, particularly in infrastructure, 
are extremely large. The IDB cannot fill the gap by itself— 
nor should if fry. The Bank's role is not to supplant other 
potential sources of capital; rather, its function in this new 
area is that of a catalyst, helping to attract private lending 
to important development projects for the mutual benefit 
of all of its member countries. 

A more detailed review of the Corporation's activities 
in 1994 appears in its Ninth Annual Report, which is pub
lished separately. 

Multilateral Investment Fund (MIF) 

During its first full year of operations, the Multilateral Invest
ment Fund (MIF) in 1994 substantially expanded the number 
of eligible countries and range of projects in pursuing its prin
cipal goal of assisting the region's efforts to improve their mar
ket economies. The MIF Donors Committee approved 29 
projects totaling over $64 million. 

The MIF seeks, through investments that are both 
catalytic and self-sustaining, to promote the economic and so
cial viability of market economies in Latin America and the 
Caribbean. Drawing upon the technical and administrative re
sources of the Bank, MIF projects are being developed in con
junction with nongovernmental organizations, foundations, 
associations and other private sector partnerships as well as 
through traditional collaboration with government agencies. 

MIF activities are undertaken through three primary 
facilities, known as "windows": 

• Technical Cooperation Facility—The main avenues 
of collaboration of this facility include the establishment of le
gal and institutional frameworks to attract private investment, 
assistance in privatization efforts, promotion of modern finan
cial sectors, and assistance in modernizing mediation and ar
bitration systems. Recipients include stock exchanges and pub
lic sector organizations such as governments, regulatory 
authorities, central banks, and privatization agencies. 

Human Resources Development Facility—The 
long-term objective of this facility is to develop the skills and 
capabilities of the future work force and to improve labor mar
ket flexibility in the region to meet the needs of the growing 
private sector. As an immediate priority, the facility also ad
dresses the human resources needs of those groups most se
verely affected by economic reforms such as workers displaced 
by privatization. Recipients are drawn principally from the 
nongovernment sector and entities such as training centers and 
vocational schools. 
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• Small Enterprise Development Facility—Financing 
through this facility focuses on the small business sector by of
fering technical assistance to develop innovative financial ser
vices, business advice, technical know-how, market informa
tion, technology transfer, and facilitating partnerships and 
subcontracting. Potential partners could include various insti
tutions of the private sector such as nongovernmental organi
zations and Chambers of Commerce. The financing tools of 
this facility also include the Small Enterprise Investment Fund, 
which allows for reimbursable operations as well as for eq-
uity/quasi-equity investments to increase resources available 
for target businesses. 

Under the Technical Cooperation Facility, projects 
have been prepared to support private sector investment in the 
energy and telecommunication sectors through the prepara
tion of appropriate legislation and the institutional strength
ening of regulatory agencies in countries such as Bolivia, Co
lombia, Costa Rica, El Salvador and Jamaica. 

The Human Resources Facility financed a capital de
velopment project in Jamaica which aims to pilot a new form 
of collaboration between organized labor and employers. The 

project will expand private sector capacity in improving labor 
market exchange mechanisms, training and retraining, as well 
as expand the role of the private sector in promoting human 
resource development capital on a national level. 

The Small Enterprise Facility supported increases in 
the productivity and competitiveness of small enterprises in El 
Salvador. In this project, MIF is investing in self-sustainable 
business extension centers to spur the creation of a specialized 
business services market for small enterprises. In a regional 
project involving Profund International, the Small Enterprise 
Investment Fund provided equity for identifying and investing 
in Latin American financial institutions and NGOs specialized 
or seeking to specialize in providing financial services to the 
microenterprise and small business markets. The MIF project 
is co-sponsored by Acción Internacional, Calmeadow Founda
tion, the Fundación para el Desarrollo Sostenible (FUNDES) and 
Société d'investissement et de développement international (SIDI), 
and expects further contributions from the International Fi
nance Corporation, the Calvert Group and the Rockefeller 
Foundation, as well as from the Swiss government. 
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JUAZEIRO, BRAZIL. A farm market shows the 
results of an irrigation project that transformed over 
100,000 hectares of the São Francisco River Val

ley into a growing agroindustrial center. The 
project was supported by a $57 million IDB loan 
and $56.7 million in parallel financing from the 
Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund of Japan. 
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PARTI! 

LOANS 
and 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Part II includes a description of the terms and conditions for 
Bank lending; a summary of the year's lending and technical 
cooperation activities; procurement statistics; and country 
chapters which include a description of the loans, Small 
Projects, and technical cooperation operations authorized by 
the Bank in 1994. The Statement of Approved Loans and sta
tistical tables on Latin America and the Caribbean can be found 
at the end of Part II. 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The Bank's pool-based variable lending rate methodology, 
which was adopted in December 1989, uniformly adjusts the 
lending rate applicable to the outstanding balances of all loans 
approved since January 1, 1990. As a result, all borrowers 
equally share the costs and benefits of changes in the lending 
rate which is consistent with the cooperative nature of the in
stitution. The lending rate obtained by applying the fixed-at-
disbursement methodology is still applied to disbursements of 
loans approved prior to January 1, 1990. Both the variable 
and fixed-at-disbursement lending rates include the same 
spread over the relevant cost of borrowings, which in 1994 
was 0.5 percent. 

New borrowings are assigned to fund disbursements 
of loans approved under either of the two types of lending 
rates. The cost of borrowing for the fixed-at-disbursement rate 
is the weighted average cost of new borrowings carried out 
during the previous 12 months which are assigned to fund 
loans approved before January 1, 1990. The cost of borrow
ing for the variable lending rate is the weighted average for the 
previous six months of all outstanding borrowings assigned to 
the pool of borrowings that funds loans approved after Janu
ary 1, 1990. 

The lending rate for new disbursements of fixed-at-
disbursement loans was 6.14 percent during the first six 
months of 1994 and 5.63 percent during the last six months 
of the year. The lending rate charged on outstanding balances 
of variable-rate loans was 6.95 percent during the first six 
months of 1994 and 6.81 percent during the last six months 
of the year. Loans extended from the ordinary capital during 
1994 were made for terms ranging from 20 to 30 years. 

During 1994, six loans were made from the ordinary 
capital's newly established U.S. dollar window, under which 
loans are denominated and disbursed only in U.S. dollars, with 
maturities of up to 10 years, and a choice of either a fixed rate 
or a LIBOR-based floating rate based on the Bank's cost of U.S. 
dollar funding of that type and the same lending spread as 
other ordinary capital loans. This program is aimed at stimu
lating private sector activity by providing financing on terms 
more compatible with the needs of private sector borrowers to 
whom the funds will be on-lent. 

One loan was made in 1994 from the ordinary capi
tal in the member's own currency. The financing carried an 
interest rate of 4 percent and a 20-year maturity. 

The rates of interest charged on local currency loans 
from the Fund for Special Operations (FSO) varied from 1 to 
4 percent depending on the stage of development of the coun
try and the nature of the project, with grace periods ranging 
from five to ten years and maturities varying from 25 to 40 
years. The rate of interest charged on convertible currency 
loans from the FSO for the less developed countries was 1 per
cent during the first ten years and 2 percent thereafter, with 
10-year grace periods and 40-year maturities. 

Four of the ordinary capital loans approved will re
ceive assistance from the Intermediate Financing Facility, 
which will reduce the interest rate paid by up to 5 percent. 

In addition to the interest rate on loans, the Bank 
charges a commitment fee of 0.75 percent on ordinary capital 
loans approved after January 1, 1989, 1.25 percent on ordi
nary capital loans approved prior to that date, and 0.50 per
cent on loans from the FSO, and a one-time inspection and 
supervision fee of 1 percent on all loans. As mentioned previ
ously, 75 basis points of the latter fee were waived during the 
first semester of 1994. 

Loans not extended directly to governments of the 
member countries, or to intergovernmental development in
stitutions, carry guarantees of a government or of a govern
ment agency. The financing of Small Projects, which need not 
be guaranteed, are extended in local currency loans with 
maturities of up to 40 years, wdth grace periods of up to 10 
years, and are charged a commission of 1 percent per year. 
Technical cooperation is extended on a reimbursable, grant, 
or contingent recovery basis. Contingent recovery technical 
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TABLE IX. THE BANK'S YEARLY (1994) AND CUMULATIVE LOANS ( 19(i I-94)' 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

Country 

Detail bj Funds 

Total Amount Ordinan Capital 
Fund lor Special 

Operations 

1901 1961-94 1991 1961-94 1991 1961-94 

Funds in 
administration 

1994 1961-94 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
Kl Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

717.2 
21.0 

4.0 

1711.1 
1.132.0 

75.0 
42.6 

30.3 
573.2 
500.0 

1.4 

22.9 
1.063.4 

194.5 
30.0 
20.9 

494.7 

2.0 
32.8 
70.0 

! 7.922.1 
208.4 
261.1 

2,268.6 
11.201.3 
4.434.0 
6,058.3 
2.195.9 
1,332.1 
3.261.5 
2.101.8 
1.310.0 

157.9 
356.2 

1,566.5 
1.156.1 
9.647.2 
1.028.0 
1,229.8 
1.158.1 
3.271.9 

18.7 
592.2 

1.3 I 1.8 
3.667.7 
2,114.3 

665.2 
21.0 

3.6 

1,132.0 
75.0 
2.6 

16.5 
556.9 
500.0 

1.4 

I 1.1) 
1,063.4 

30.0 
20.9 

494.7 

32.8 
70.0 

7,248.8 
206.4 
197.3 

1,117.3 
9.534.5 
4.188.0 
5,236.1 
1,715.7 

541.6 
2.251.3 
1.218.1 

639.7 
117.9 

625.0 
842.5 

9.020.5 
268.6 
914.1 
562.4 

2,657.7 
164 

545.6 
1,165.9 
3,493.4 
1,916.7 

$ 52.0 $ 624.3 

42.8 

173.1 

l l l l l 

13.5 
16.3 

53.9 

194.5 

1.074.5 
1,536.2 

2034 
760.5 
351.9 
711.0 
921.8 
748.6 
610.1 
331.1 
349.7 
888.6 
164.0 
559.0 
708.5 
282.9 
583.6 
393.1 

2.3 
31.3 

104.1 
101.4 
184.2 

$0.4 

0.3 

11.0 

2.11 

49.0 
2.0 

21.0 

76.8 
130.6 
42.6 
61.7 

128.3 
79.5 
88.4 

134.8 
60.2 

8.9 
6.5 

52.9 
149.6 
67.7 
50.9 
32.8 
12.1 

221.1 

15.3 
41.8 
72.9 
13.4 

TOTAL S3.234.tt $70,131.5 S4.697.tt S56.24I.8 S343.3 SI2.268.tt S 13.7 S 1.62(1.8 

After cancellations and exchange adjustments. 

cooperation, which accounts for a small amount of the total, 
is subject to repayment only if as a result of the cooperation a 
loan is subsequently made by the Bank, or another external 
financial institution, for the execution of a project or a p ro 
gram. 

THE YEAR'S LENDING 

The loans authorized by the Bank in 1994 came from the fol
lowing sources: 

Ordinary capital resources: 49 loans for $4,698 mil
lion brought the cumulative total of loans, less cancellations, 
to 1,047 for $56,242 million as of December 3 1 , 1994. 

F u n d for Special Opera t ions : 21 loans totaling $543 
million brought the cumulative total to 932 loans, less cancel
lations, for $12 ,269 million as of December 3 1 , 1994. 

O t h e r funds: Increases in previously approved export 
financing credits from the Venezuelan Trust Fund for $13.7 
million brought the cumulative total to $1,621 million as of 
December 3 1 , 1994. 

The Bank agreed to partially defray up to 5 percent of 
the interest of four loans for $ 114.8 million approved in 1994 
from the ordinary capital resources, with funds from the In
termediate Financing Facility (IFF) created under the Sixth Re
plenishment. Tables IX and XII show the Bank's cumulative 
lending and breakdown by sectors. 

Tota l Cost o f Projects 

The $5 .3 billion in Bank-financed loans help to finance 
projects involving a total investment of more than $8.8 bil
lion. The Bank's loans cover only a part of the total cost of the 
projects being carried out by the Latin American and Carib-

http://S3.234.tt
http://S4.697.tt
http://SI2.268.tt
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TABLEA. YEARLY (1994) AND CUMULATIVE (1961-94)' TOTAL COST OF PROJECTS 
(In millions of I IS. dollars) 

Country 

Total Cost Bank's Loans 
Latin America's 
Contributions 

1994 1961-94 1994 1961-94 1994 1961-94 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
I laiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

1.188.0 
33.0 
4.7 

319.3 
2.104.0 

500.0 
64.1 

0.0 
33.7 

622.6 
864.6 

1.6 
0.0 
0.0 

62.4 
33.4 

1.770.0 
202.8 

37.5 
23.7 

790.4 
0.0 
2.9 

45.4 
140.0 

0.0 

19.233.8 
307.3 
411.8 

3.715.1 
44,113.3 
10.046.2 
14.753.6 
3.481.6 
1.901.4 
5.905.8 
3.200.9 
2,416.6 

579.6 
509.9 

3.011.7 
1,805.9 

26,161.5 
1.731.5 
2.187.4 
1,598.4 
6,1 11.0 

29.7 
781.5 

2.323.9 
11467.6 
10.404.5 

717.2 
21.0 

4.1 

173.1 
1,132.0 

75.0 
42.7 

0.0 
30.3 

573.3 
500.0 

1.4 
0.0 
0.0 

53.9 
22.9 

,063.4 
194.5 
30.0 
20.9 

494.7 
0.0 
2.0 

32.8 
70.0 

0.0 

7,922.1 
208.4 
261.1 

2.268.6 
11.201.3 
4,434.0 
6,058.3 
2.195.9 
1.332.1 
3,261.5 
2.101.8 
1.310.0 

457.9 
356.2 

1,566.5 
1.156.1 
9,647.2 
1,028.0 
1,229.8 
1,158.1 
3,271.9 

18.7 
592.2 

1.311.8 
3.667.7 
2.114.3 

470.8 
12.0 
0.7 

146.2 
972.0 
125.0 
214 

0.0 
3.4 

49.4 
364.6 

0.2 
0.0 
0.0 
8.5 

10.6 
706.6 

84 
7.5 
2.8 

295.7 
0.0 
0.9 

12.6 
70.0 
0.0 

11.311.7 
98.9 

150.7 

1.446.5 
32,912.0 

5.612.2 
8,695.3 
1.285.7 

569.3 
2.644.3 
1,099.1 
1.106.6 

121.7 
153.7 

1,445.2 
649.8 

16,514.3 
703.5 
957.6 
440.3 

2.839.1 
11.0 

189.3 
1,012.1 
7.799.9 
8.290.2 

TOTAL S 8.844.1 S 178.1!» 1.3 S3.234.9 $70.131.3 $3,589.2 S108.060.0 

1 Cumulative loans alter cancellations and exchange adjustments. 

bean countries. The balance over and above the Bank's con
tribution comes from the Latin American and Caribbean coun
tries and, in some cases, other sources of financing. A coun
try-by-country breakdown is shown in Table X. 

D i s b u r s e m e n t s 

The Bank's disbursements on authorized loans amounted to 
$3,040 million in 1994, compared with $3,732 million in 
1993. As of December 3 1 , 1994, cumulative disbursements, 
including exchange adjustments, totaled $51 ,589 million, or 
73 percent of the loans authorized by the Bank. The 1994 dis
bursements and cumulative totals by funds include: 

Ord inary capital resources: $2,626 million, bring
ing the cumulative total to $39 ,844 million as of December 
3 1 , 1994. 

F u n d for Special Opera t ions : $400 million, bring
ing the cumulative total to $10 ,175 million as of December 
3 1 , 1994. 

O the r funds: $ 14 million, bringing the cumulative to
tal from funds administered by the Bank to $ 1,570 million as 
of December 3 1 , 1994. 

The distribution of 1994 and cumulative disburse
ments by country appears in Table XL 

R e p a y m e n t s 

Loan repayments amounted to $2,996 million in 1994. Cu
mulative repayments as of December 3 1, 1994, were $19,835 
million. Repayments received by the Bank during the year, 
identified by sources of loan funds, were: 

Ord inary capital resources: $2,660 million, bring
ing the cumulative total, before repayments to participants, to 
$14 ,548 million as of December 3 1 , 1994. 

F u n d for Special Opera t ions : $301 million for a cu
mulative total of $3,902 million as of December 3 1 , 1994. 

O the r funds: $35 million, bringing the cumulative to 
tal to $1,385 million as of December 3 1, 1994. 



TABLE XL YEARL Y (1994) AND CUMULA TIVE DISBURSEMENTS (1961 -94) 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Total Amount Ordinary Capital 

Detail by Funds 

Fund for Spccia 
Operations 

Funds in 
Administration 

Country 1994 1961-94 1994 1961-94 1994 1961-91 1994 1961-94 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

266.1 
3.9 
4.8 
0.0 

135.7 
396.2 
140.1 
289.9 

97.5 
49.1 

172.9 
122.7 
114.8 
17.4 
0.0 

80.9 
42.4 

343.9 
95.9 
13.5 
63.3 

203.6 
0.8 

86.6 
112.6 
84.1 

101.7 

5.808.1 
137.8 
160.1 

0.0 
1.755.8 
7.782.1 
4.150.8 
4.898.7 
1.280.7 

984.9 
2.281.6 
1,230.0 
1,162.5 

302.9 
224.0 

1.264.2 
922.9 

7,525.3 
759.9 
829.1 
702.7 

2,519.9 
17.6 

327.3 
999.4 

1.897.9 
1.662.8 

259.8 
3.9 
4.8 

92.6 
359.6 
140.1 
283.1 

94.5 
274 

133.1 
77.1 
77.4 

28.3 
31.3 

343.9 
29.0 
10.0 
47.7 

203.6 
0.7 

83.0 
111.2 
84.1 
99.7 

5.248.1 
135.8 
98.3 

899.3 
6.392.1 
8.906.1 
4,172.7 

801.1 
342.6 

1,441.4 
446.7 
610.2 
1 17.9 

469.1 
610.3 

6,931.3 
199.8 
526.4 
239.4 

1,905.4 
15.9 

286.2 
854.4 

1.723.6 
1.469.6 

$ 6.3 $ 511.1 

43.1 
36.6 

6.8 
3.0 

20.7 
39.8 
45.6 
37.4 
17.4 

52.6 
0.1 

66.9 
3.5 

15.6 

0.1 
1.6 
1.1 

2.0 

42.8 
0.0 

781.9 
1.260.6 
203.3 
665.7 
351.3 
566.0 
754.0 
649.4 
492.1 
178.1 
217.5 
744.2 
163.0 
559.0 
510.3 
269.9 
449.9 
393.1 

1.7 
25.8 

103.2 
101.4 
180.2 

0.0 

0.0 

1.0 

11.0 

2.0 

48.9 
2.0 

19.0 
0.0 

74.6 
129.4 
41.4 
60.3 

128.3 
76.3 
86.2 

133.9 
60.2 

6.9 
6.5 

50.9 
149.6 
35.0 
49.8 
32.8 
13.4 

221.4 
0.0 

15.3 
41.8 
72.9 
18.0 

TOTAL $3.040.4 S31.589.0 S 2,623.9 $39.843.7 $400.5 $10.173.5 S 14.0 $1.569.8 

TABLE XII. DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

Sector 1994 % 1961-94 

Productive Sectors 
Agriculture and Fisheries $ 125 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 441 

Physical Infrastructure 
Energy 230 
Transportation 

and Communications 547 

Social Sectors 
Health and Sanitation 748 
Urban Development 1,161 
Education 969 
Social Investment 266 
Science and Technology 0 
Environment 85 
Microenterprise 0 

Other 
Public Sector Reform 472 
Export Financing 24 
Others 187 

2.4 $11,525 
8.4 8,052 

4.4 14.976 

10.4 9.665 

14.2 
22.1 
18.4 
5.1 
0.0 
1.6 
0.0 

7,348 
3,926 
2,696 

694 
1,106 
1.064 

203 

9.0 5,648 
0.5 1.191 
3.6 2.037 

IOTA I, 

16.4 
11.5 

21.4 

13.8 

10.5 
5.6 
3.8 
1.0 
1.6 
1.5 
0.3 

8.1 
1.7 
2.9 

$5,255 100.0 $70.131 100.0 

TABLE XIII. DISTRIBUTION OF NONREIMBURSABLE 
TECHNICAL COOPERATION 
(in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Country 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

1994 1961-93 

369 
787 
368 

2.504 
4,438 

19.006 
557 

12,133 
5.51 I 
4,091 
3,580 

482 
2,108 
1,433 

600 
3.928 

907 
52 

13,810 
652 

2,984 
7.081 

62 
630 

1,346 
680 

20,956 

25,768 
13,799 
19,417 

30 
50.781 
78.622 
3.279 

26,492 
35,027 
53,740 
28,833 
37,515 
31.091 
25,862 
30,120 
28,042 
26.622 
22.357 

3.941 
38.010 
21,771 
27,653 
10,209 
15,690 
23,085 

6,542 
406.527 

lolal 

26.137 
14,586 
19,785 
2.534 

55.219 
97.628 
3.836 

38,626 
40.538 
32,924 
41,095 
31.573 
27,970 
31.553 
28,642 
30.550 
23.264 

3.993 
51.820 
22,423 
30,637 
60.821 
10,302 
16,470 
24,401 

7.172 
427,483 

TOTM, S111,005 $ 1.090.576 S 1.201.982 
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SAN LORENZO, EL SALVADOR. This 
180,000-kilowatt hydroelectric plant on the 
Lempa River was built with the support of a 
$90.4 million loan from the IDB. Complet
ing the facility enabled El Salvador to extend 
electrical service to an estimated 70,000 low-
income farmers living in Bajo Lempa, a fer
tile farming area. 

Technical Cooperation 

The Bank's technical cooperation program is a key instrument 
in helping borrowing member countries identify and prepare 
new projects, improve loan execution, strengthen the institu
tional capacity of public and private agencies, and facilitate the 
transfer of experience and technology among regional pro
grams. Technical cooperation is used to finance operations in 
a variety of sectors, including the social sectors, the environ
ment, and women in development. 

In 1994, the Bank approved 337 nonreimbursable 
technical cooperation operations totaling $ 111 million. Almost 
85 percent of the operations were for country-specific pro
grams and the balance for regional programs. 

The Bank's technical cooperation program was fi
nanced with resources from a variety of funds, including the 

Fund for Special Operations, the Japan Special 
Fund, the Social Progress Trust Fund, and other 
funds administered by the Bank. Resources from 
the Japan Special Fund financed 13 operations to
taling $1 1 million, ranging from feasibility studies 
for project preparation to institutional strengthen
ing. The less developed countries were the main 
beneficiaries of the Bank's nonreimbursable tech
nical cooperation program in 1994. 

In addition to the regular technical coop
eration program that finances specific operations 
in a variety of sectors, the Bank also finances sev
eral special technical cooperation programs. Short-
term operations are designed to provide technical 
assistance quickly to help countries in areas such 
as economic planning, design of development strat
egies, and strengthening executing agencies. In 
1994, the Bank approved 141 of these operations 
for a total of $3.9 million. 

The exchange or transfer of technical ex
pertise among the borrowing countries is also fi
nanced under the technical cooperation program. 
In 1994, the Bank approved 38 intraregional tech

nical cooperation exchanges for a total of $388,000. 
Through the Project Preparation Facility (PPF), the 

Bank supports activities related to project preparation (analy
sis and final designs) and execution (start-up activities to fulfill 
conditions prior to first disbursement). This year's approvals 
included $3.5 million for the nonreimbursable component and 
$9.7 million for the reimbursable amount under this program. 

Technical cooperation is also used for strengthening 
institutions that execute small projects. In 1994, 14 such op
erations were approved for $2.3 million. 

The Bank also finances a significant regional techni
cal cooperation program. Of the 337 nonreimbursable tech
nical cooperation operations approved in 1994, 34 financings 
were for regional technical cooperation, totaling $21 million. 
On a sectoral basis, almost 40 percent were for social sector 
programs; 27 percent were for integration initiatives; 16 per-



INIT.R-AMERICANDEVELOPMENT BANK 

cent helped finance human resource development programs; 
14 percent were for environmental programs; and 3 percent 
for women in development projects. 

The Bank and the MIF approved additional financing 
for the Programa Bolívar, an innovative mechanism by which 
eligible regional businesses forge partnerships with other firms 
and research institutions, both within and outside the region, 
so as to increase their participation in international markets 
and introduce flexibility in the design and production of the 
goods and services they sell. 

Several regional programs were in the health sector. 
For example, the Bank financed a regional program for the 
elimination of onchocerciasis (river blindness), which threat
ens four million people in the Americas. Another financing 
will help carry out an immunization program to control com
municable diseases. In the environment, a regional program 
was approved for strengthening the capabilities of Caribbean 
countries in managing coastal and marine environmental re
sources. Several other programs will benefit the Caribbean, in
cluding a project to increase the participation of countries in 
the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) in the global 
economy, and a project to facilitate the harmonization of capi
tal markets in the subregion. 

Procurement 

The Bank's procurement policies and procedures require that 
contracting for works and procurement of goods be carried out 
following the basic principles of economy, efficiency, compe
tition and due process. The services of consulting firms also 
must be acquired through an open and competitive selection 
process. Only firms from IDB member countries are eligible to 
participate in procurement. 

In 1994, the procurement policies and procedures 
were simplified and modified, bringing them closer in line with 
those used by other multilateral development institutions and 
thus facilitating the job of borrowers and executing agencies 
responsible for the procurement of goods and services and ex
pediting project implementation. The principal modifications 
introduced related to the process used to determine whether 
international competitive bidding (ICB) will be required and the 
associated publicity requirements. 

Until September 1994, the Bank required ICB over 
preset threshold limits. These limits were $ 1 million for works 
and $250,000 for goods, and were the same for all projects 
and countries. The modifications recently introduced require 
that the Bank set threshold limits on a case-by-case basis and 
by sector and by country. Ordinarily, however, the thresholds 
are not to exceed $5 million for works and $350,000 for 
goods. This flexibility will allow the Bank and the borrower 
to better address the characteristics of individual projects as well 
as the particular needs of each country. 

The publicity requirements were also simplified, re

ducing the number of publications required and establishing 
one principal periodical for international publicity. Streamlin
ing the publicity requirements will help simplify the job of ex
ecuting agencies and expedite project execution. It is expected 
that the modifications introduced in 1994 will have a signifi
cant impact on the speed of project implementation. 

The Bank's Office of the External Relations Advisor, 
which is responsible for disseminating information about Bank 
activities, launched a new publication in 1994 aimed at sup
pliers of goods and services and consultants entitled "IDB 
Projects." This monthly publication provides a wide variety of 
information, including the Bank's sectoral strategies; the "pipe
line" of projects currently under consideration by the Bank; 
an explanation of the project cycle; descriptions of projects re
cently approved; procurement bidding notices; and contract 
award information. "IDB Projects" is available by subscription 
through the Office of the External Relations Advisor. 

Although the responsibility for procurement (bids and 
contract awards) rests with the borrower, the Bank's Country 
Offices play an important role, monitoring the entire process. 
At headquarters, the Procurement Policy and Coordination 
Office is the focal point on project procurement matters. This 
Office reviews the procurement policies and procedures, pro
poses modifications and assists Bank and executing agency per
sonnel in the interpretation and application of these policies. 
In addition, the Procurement Office organizes and conducts 
training seminars on procurement procedures for Bank and 
executing agency staff. 

The Bank also has a high-level Procurement Commit
tee that is responsible for the oversight of the Bank's procure
ment policies and procedures. The Committee resolves pro
curement issues related to project execution. 

In 1994, disbursements of convertible currencies for 
the purchase of goods and services under investment and sec
tor loans totaled $2,583 million. Borrowing member coun
tries received $1,672 million, or 65 percent of this value. Lo
cal purchases of goods and services for projects in the 
borrowing countries totaled $1,223 million, and exports of 
borrowing countries to other borrowing countries amounted 
to $449 million. Nonborrowing member countries provided 
goods and services totaling $911 million. The accompanying 
tables (Disbursements for Purchase of Goods and Services by 
Country of Origin, Tables XIV, XV, and XVI) break out dis
bursements for all Bank lending, sector loans and investment 
loans. The tables include, where applicable, a detailed break
down of local purchases and exports of goods and services. 



TABLE XIV. DISBURSEMENTS FOR PI RCHASE OF GOODS A \D SERVICES B) COUNTR) OF ORIGIN (INVESTMENTAND SECTOR LOANS) (In millions of US. dollars) 

Local Purchases Exports 

Cumulative 190193 

\ni< mm 

I. i l . i l 

Amount 

Local Purchases 

I'M 
Exports 

1994 

■Nniipiiiil 

filial 
1994 

Vinounl 

Local Purchases 

\iiiount 

Exports 

Cumulalive 196194 

tot. I 

imounl 

BORROWING COUNTRIES 
Argentina S 936.6 
Bahamas 1.0 
Barbados 26.2 
Belize 
Bolivia 369.6 
Brazil 2.003.9 
Chile 1.673.4 
Colombia 809.6 
Costa Rica 257.!) 
Dominican Republic 215.7 
Ecuador 638.1 
El Salvador 110.1 
Guatemala 1688 
Guyana 7.8 
Haiti 12.2 
Honduras 192.3 
Jamaica 141.3 
Mexico 2.428.9 
Nicaragua 71.7 
Panama 182.1 
Paraguas 193.0 
Pera 368.4 
Suriname 0.7 
Trinidad and Ibbago 61.5 
Uruguay 247.3 
Venezuela 319.8 
Total ItommciN S 11,4882 

8.1 $ 594.6 
0.0 2.8 
0.2 2.1) 

0.1 
3.2 2.4 

17.4 1.279,8 
1 t.ti 105.7 
7.0 14822 
2.2 128.8 
1.9 9.4 
5.5 119.6 
1.2 21.0 
1.5 36.3 

0.1 1.5 
0.4 2.1 
1.7 18.4 
1.2 18.6 

21.1 642.8 
0.6 19.0 
1.6 18.0 
1.7 41.7 
3.2 86.5 
0.0 0.0 
0.5 20.1 
2.2 58.5 
2.H 27K.H 

I (MM) S :S.7I7.(¡ 

0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
6.6 
0.5 
0.ÍI 
0.7 
0.0 
0.6 
o.l 
0.2 
0.1) 
0.0 
O.I 
o.;i 
3.3 
o.i 
0.2 
0.2 
0.4 
0.0 
D.I 
0.3 
i l 

i!>.:t 

i 1.531.2 
a.» 

29.1 
11.1 

372.1) 
3.283.7 
1.779.1 

957.H 
386.7 
225.1 
757.7 
101,1 
205.1 

9.3 
44.3 

210.7 
189.9 

3.071.7 
90.7 

230.1 
234.7 
454.Í) 

0.7 
81.6 

305.8 
598.0 

i 15.215.8 

5.0 
0.0 
0.1 
0.0 
1.2 

10.7 
5.8 
3.1 
1.3 
0.7 
2.5 
0.5 
0.7 
0.0 
0.1 
0.7 
0.0 

10.0 
0.3 
0.7 
0.8 
1.5 
0.0 
0.3 
1.0 
1.9 

4 9 5 

$ 112.8 

0.1 

53.9 
236.7 
164.6 
54.3 
24.5 
22.8 
72.0 
58.7 

7.4 
I.I 

II.I 
17.5 

179.2 
17.7 
9.4 

20.8 
81.2 

0.0 
16.8 
53.8 
36.3 

S 1.223.3 

5.1 $ 52.6 
0.2 

0.0 

4.4 
19.3 
13.5 
4.4 
2.0 
1.9 
5.9 
1.8 
0.6 
0.1 

0.9 
1.4 

14.6 

20.7 
191.5 
14.1 
7.8 

12.2 
1.2 
(i.2 
5.1 
5.0 

0.9 
3.2 
5.7 

29.9 
0.6 
6.1 
1.7 

20.2 

0.8 
1.7 
6.6 
o o 
I.I 1.9 
I l 11.9 
4.6 49.8 

I0O.0 S 448.6 

3.9 
0.0 

0.0 
1.5 

14.1 
1.0 
0.6 
0.9 
0.1 
0.5 
0.1 
0.1 

0.1 
11.2 
0 ! 
2.2 
0.0 
0,1 
0.1 
1.5 

115.4 
0.2 
0.1 
0.1 

74.6 
428.2 
178.7 
62.1 
36.7 
24.0 
78.8 
63.8 
12.4 

0.9 
! I..: 
23.2 

209.1 
18.3 
15.5 
22.5 

101.4 
0.0 

0.1 18.7 
0.9 65.7 
3.7 106.1 

33.0 S 1,671.9 

4.5 
n.ii 
0.0 
0.0 
2.9 

16.6 
6.9 
2,1 
1.4 
0.9 
3.1 
2.5 
0.5 
0.0 
o.o 
0.0 
0.9 
8.1 
9.7 
0.6 
0.9 
3.9 
0.0 
0.7 
2.5 
4.1 

(>4.7 

S 999.4 
1.0 

26.3 
0.0 

423.5 
2.240.6 
1.838.0 

863.9 
282. t 
238.5 
710.7 
199.1 
170.2 

8.9 
12.2 

203.4 
I5H.8 

2.608.1 
89,1 

191.5 
213.8 
119.0 

0.7 
78.3 

301.1 
376.1 

$12,721.5 

7.9 $ 647.2 
0.0 3.0 
0.2 2.9 
0,0 0.2 
3.3 23.1 

17.6 1.471.3 
14.1 119.8 
6.8 156.0 
2.2 I 11.0 
1.9 10.6 
5.6 125.8 
1.6 26.1 
1.1 41.3 
0.1 1.5 
0.3 3.0 
1.0 21.6 
1.2 54.8 

20.5 672.7 
0.7 19.6 
1.5 54.1 
1.7 43.4 
3.5 1O0.7 
0.0 0.0 
0.0 22.0 
2.1 70,1 
3.0 328.6 

100.0 S 4,166.2 

3.1 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.1 
7.1 
I . I , 

0.8 
0.7 
0.1 
0.6 
0.1 
0.2 
0.0 
0.0 
0.1 
0.3 
3.3 
0.1 
0.3 
0.2 
0.5 
n.ii 
0.1 
0.3 
1.6 

20.2 

X 1.646.6 
4.0 

29.2 
0.2 

446.6 
3.711.9 
1.957.8 
1.019.9 

423,1 
249.1 
836.5 
225.2 
217.5 

10,1 
45.2 

225.0 
213.1 

8,280.8 
109.0 
2 15.6 
257.2 
556.3 

0.7 
100.3 
371.5 
704.7 

$16387.7 

in 
0.0 
0.1 
0.0 
13 

11.1 
5.9 
3,1 
1.3 
0.7 
2.5 
0.7 
0.7 
0.0 
0.1 
0.7 
0.6 
9.8 
0.3 
0.7 
0.8 
1.7 
n . i i 

0.3 
1.1 
2.1 

50.7 

NONBORROWING COUNTRIES 
\iMll. 
Belgium 
Canada 
Croatia 
Denmark 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Israel 
Italy 
Japan 
Netherlands 
Norway 
Portugal 
Slo\ enia 

Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
United States 
Yugoslavia 
Total ViiilNirronris 

! 68,8 
107.5 
353.7 

1.0 
90.8 
34.6 

1.282.8 
1.337.5 

52.1 
1.522.8 
1.288.5 

226.0 
2 1.6 
11.7 
I.0 

536.5 
316.0 
489.3 
479.1 

7.240.2 
14.0 

15528.0 

ii I 

0.6 
1.8 
0.0 
0.5 
0,2 
6.7 
7.2 
0.3 
7.9 
0.7 
I 2 
H 1 
0.1 
0.0 
2.8 
1.0 
2.5 
2.5 

87,6 
0.1 

1(0.7 

68.8 
107.5 
353.7 

1.0 
90.3 
34.0 

1.282.8 
1,387.5 

52.1 
1.522.8 
1.288.5 

226.0 
24.6 
11.7 
1.0 

536.5 
316.0 
489.3 
479.1 

7.240.2 
14.0 

15.528.0 

0.2 
0.3 
1.2 
0.0 
0.3 
0.1 
4.2 
4.5 
0.2 
5.0 
4.2 
0.7 
0.1 
0.0 
0.0 
1.7 
1.0 
1.6 
1.6 

23.0 
0.0 

50.5 

1.3 
7,1 

16.2 
0.5 
3.3 
2.1 

33.5 
70.1 
12.0 
58.9 
40.8 
20.0 

1.5 
4.9 
0.5 

I 5.5 
17.5 
22.1 
70.9 

505.7 

911.3 

0.5 
1.2 
n.ii 
0.2 
0.2 

4.3 
3.1 
1.5 
DI 
o.l 
0.0 
1.1 
1.3 
1.0 

67.0 

1.3 
7.4 

I 0.J 
0.5 
3.3 
2.1 

33.5 
70.1 
12.6 
58.9 
46.8 
20.0 

1.5 
4.9 
0.5 

15.5 
17.5 
22.1 
70.9 

505.7 

y 11.3 

0.1 
0.3 
0.6 
0.0 
0.1 
0.1 
1.3 
2.7 
0.5 
2.3 
1.8 
0.8 

O.l 
0.2 
0.0 
0.6 
0.7 
0.9 
2.7 

19.6 

35.3 

70.1 
II 1.9 

309.9 
1.5 

93.0 
30.7 

1.316.3 
1.457.6 

04.7 
1.581.7 
1.335.3 

246.0 
26.1 
16.6 

1.5 
552.0 
333.5 
511,1 
550.0 

7.715.9 
I 1.0 

16,4393 

0.3 
0.6 
1.8 
0.0 
0.5 
0.2 
6.4 
7.1 
0.3 
7.7 
6.5 
12 
o I 
0.1 
0.0 
2.7 
1.6 
2.5 
2.7 

37.6 
0.1 

79.8 

I 70.1 
114.9 

309.9 
1.5 

93.6 
36.7 

1.316.3 
1.457.6 

01.7 
1.581.7 
1.335.3 

2 10.0 
20.1 
16.6 

1.5 
552.0 
383.5 
511.4 
550.0 

7.745.9 
14.0 

16.4393 

0 2 
0.3 
I.I 
0.0 
0.3 
0.1 
3.9 
4.4 
0.2 
4.7 
1.0 

0.7 
o.l 
0.0 
0.0 
1.7 
1.0 
1.5 
1.7 

23.2 
0.0 

4 9 3 

I'Olll. S 11.498.2 100.0 S 19.245.6 100.0 $30.743.8 I0O.0 S 1.223.3 100.0 $1.339.9 IOO.0 S 2.583.2 100.0 S 12.721.5 100.0 S 20,605.5 100.0 $33.327.0 100.0 
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TABLE XV. DISBURSEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF GOODS AND SERVICES BY COUNTRY OF ORIGIN (SECTOR LOANS)1 (In millions ol'C.S. dollars) 

Local Purchases 

V i l l i m i l l 

Exports 

Cumulative 1990-93 

\ni( mill 

lüi.i l 

\iu< mm 

Local Purchases 

1994 

V i l l i l l l l l l 

Exports 

1991 

Total Local Puirliases 

Viiuiuiil 

Exports 

Cumulative 1990-94 

'Itilal 

Amount 

BORROWING COUNTRIES 
Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 

Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Culi imiiia 
CosUi Pica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
11 lul.i-
Jamalea 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguas 
Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
total Kin rimer* 

$ 115.1 
0,0 
1.1 
0.1 
0.9 

345.1 
62.7 
85.0 
25.2 

0.0 
118.9 

4,1 
12.9 

I.I 

1.1 
1.2 

126.5 
0.1 
!H 
2.7 

21.3 

12.0 
30.6 

107.1 
$ 1.134.2 

2.8 $ 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
8.4 
I 5 
2.1 
0.6 
0.0 
2.9 
0.1 
0.3 
0.0 

0.0 
0.0 
3.1 
0.0 
0.5 
o.l 
0.5 

0.3 
0.7 
4.1 

28.2 $ 

115.1 
o.o 
i.i 
O.l 
0.9 

345.1 
62.7 
85.0 
25.2 

0.0 
118.9 

1.4 
12.9 

1.1 
1.2 

126.5 
O.l 

19.1 
2.7 

21.3 

12.0 
30.0 

167.1 
1.154.2 

2.8 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
8.4 
1.5 
2.1 
0.6 
0.0 
2.9 
0.1 
0.3 
0.0 

0.0 
0.0 
3.1 
0.0 
0.5 
0.1 
0.5 

0.3 
0.7 
4.1 

28.2 

$ 10.1 

70.1 
11,3 
3.7 

10.2 

2.4 $ 16.1 

0.9 
3.1 
5.0 

2.9 

19.0 

4.5 

1.2 
5.1 

6.1 
32.0 

$ 192.7 

0.2 
10,1 

1.7 
0,5 
1.5 

0.1 
0,5 
0.7 

0.4 

2.8 

0.7 
0.2 
0.8 

1.5 
70.1 
11.3 
3.7 

10.2 

0.9 
3.1 
5.0 

2.9 

19.0 

4.5 
1.2 
5.1 

0.9 6.1 
4.7 32.0 

28.5 $ 192.7 

2.4 

0.2 
10.4 

1.7 
0.5 
1.5 

0.1 
0.5 
0.7 

0.4 

2.8 

0.7 
0.2 
0.8 

0.9 
4.7 

28.5 

131.2 
0,0 
I.I 
0.1 
2,1 

415.2 
74.0 
88.7 
35.1 

0.0 
119.8 

7.5 
17.9 

I.I 
0.0 
4.0 
1.2 

I 15 5 
01 

23.0 
3.9 

26.4 
0.0 

12,0 
36,7 

199.1 
t.340.9 

2.8 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.1 
8.7 
I i i 

I l i 

0.7 
0.0 
2.5 
0.2 
0.4 
0,0 

0.0 
0.1 
on 
3.1 
0.0 
0.5 
0.1 
0.0 

o.o 
0.3 
0.8 
4.2 

28.3 

131.2 
0.0 
1.1 
0.1 
2.4 

415.2 
74.0 
88.7 
35.4 

0.0 
119.8 

7.5 
17.9 

1.1 
0.0 
4.0 
1.2 

145.5 
0.1 

23.6 
3.9 

26.4 
0.0 

12.0 
36.7 

199.1 
1.346.9 

2.8 
0.0 
0.0 
0.0 
0.1 
8.7 
1.6 
1.9 
0.7 
0.0 
2.5 
0.2 
0.4 
0.0 
0.0 
0.1 
0.0 
3.1 
0.0 
0.5 
0.1 
0.6 
0.0 
0.3 
0.8 
4.2 

283 

\OM« «ROWING COI NTRIES 
Austria 
Belgium 
Canada 
Croatia 
Denmark 
Finland 
Prance 
Germany 
Israel 
Italy 
Japan 
Netherlands 
Norway 
Portugal 
Slovenia 
Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
United Stales 
Nuguslau'i 
Total XonlHillimeis 

10.1 
39.4 

109.2 

8.1 
I2.I 
74.2 

269.5 
1.1 

77.0 
220.3 

69.3 
13.0 
0.2 

45.8 
40.3 
57.1 
70.0 

1.819.3 
0.8 

2.936.8 

0.2 $ 
1.0 
2.7 

0.2 
0.3 
1.8 
6.6 
o.o 
1.9 
5.4 
1.7 
0.2 
0.0 

1.0 
1.4 
1.7 

44.5 
0.0 

71.8 

10.1 
39.4 

109.2 

8.1 
12.1 
74.2 

269.5 
I.I 

77.0 
220.3 

09.3 
13.0 
0.2 

45.8 
40.3 
57.1 
70.0 

1.819.3 
0.8 

2.936.8 

0.2 
1.0 
2.7 

0.2 
0.3 
1.8 
6.6 
0.0 
1.9 
5.4 
1.7 
0.3 
0.0 

1.1 
1.0 
1.4 
1.7 

44.5 
0.0 

71.8 

0.6 
6.4 
6.8 
0.1 
1.9 
0.1 

13.5 
34.6 

0.5 
10.0 
31.7 
16.6 

1.2 
0.1 
0.1 
6.6 
4.0 
9.5 

15.9 
319.3 

482.7 

0.1 
0.9 
1.0 
0.0 
0.3 
0.1 
2.0 
5.1 
0.1 
1.5 

0.2 
0.0 
0.0 
1.0 
0.6 
1.4 
2.4 

47.3 

0.6 
6.4 
6.8 
0.1 
1.9 
0.4 

13.5 
34.6 

0.5 
10.0 
34.7 
16.6 

1.2 
0.1 
0.1 
6.6 
4.0 
9.5 

15.9 
319.3 

482.7 

0 I 
0.9 
1.0 
o.o 
0.3 
0.1 
2.0 
5.1 
0.1 
1.5 
5.1 
2.5 
0.2 
0.0 
0.0 
1.0 
0.6 
I.I 
2.4 

47.3 

71.5 

10.7 
45.8 
110.0 

0.1 
10.0 
12.5 
87.7 

304.1 
1.6 

87.0 
255.0 

85.9 
14.2 
0.3 
0.1 

52.4 
44.3 
66.6 
85.9 

2.138.0 
0.8 

3.419.5 

0.2 
1.0 
2.4 
0.0 
0.2 
0.3 
1.8 
6,1 
0.0 
1.8 
5.3 
1.8 
0.3 
0.0 
0.0 
1.1 
0.9 
1.4 
1.8 

44.9 
0.0 

71.7 

10.7 
45.8 
116.0 

0.1 
10.0 
12.5 
87.7 

304.1 
1.6 

87.0 
255.0 

85.9 
I 1.2 
0.3 
0.1 

52.4 
14.3 
66.6 
85.9 

2.138.0 
0.8 

3.419.5 

0.2 
1.0 
2.4 
0.0 
0.2 
0.3 
1.8 
6.4 
0.0 
1.8 
5.3 
1.8 
0.3 
0.0 
0.0 
1.1 
0.9 
1.4 
1.8 

44.9 
0.0 

71.7 

TOTAL $ 4.091.0 100.0 $ 4.091.0 100.0 $ 675.4 IOO.0 $ 675.4 IOOO $ 4.766.4 1O0.0 S 4.760.4 100.0 

'Sector lending began in 1990. 



TABLE XVI. DISBURSEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF GOODS AND SERVICES BY COUNTRY OF ORIGIN (INVESTMENTLOANS) (In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Local Purchases 

Amount 

Exports ibta 

Cumulative 1961-93 

Amount 

Local Purchases 

1994 

Exports 

1994 

Total 

1991 

Amount 

Local Purchases 

Vim mm 

Exports 

Cumulative 1961-94 

Amount °/<i 

lotal 

Vmount 

BORROWING COUN 
Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Columbia 
Costa klea 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peni 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Total Borrowers 

IKIES 
$ 936.6 

1.0 
26.2 

369.6 
2.003.9 
1.673.4 

809.6 
257.9 
215.7 
038.1 
140.4 
168.8 

7.8 
42.2 

192.3 
141.3 

2.428.9 
71.7 

182.1 
193.0 
368.4 

0.7 
61.5 

247.3 
319.8 

$11.498.2 

8.1 
o.o 
0.2 

3.2 
17.4 
14.6 
7.0 
2.2 
1.9 
5.5 
1.2 
1.5 
0.1 
0.4 
1.7 
1.2 

21.1 
0.6 
1.6 
1.7 
3.2 
0.0 
0.5 
2.2 
2.8 

100.0 

479.5 
2.8 
1.8 

1.5 
934.7 

43.0 
63.2 

103.6 
9,1 
0,7 

16.6 
23.4 

0,1 
2.1 

17.3 
47,1 

516.3 
18.9 
28.9 
39.0 
65.2 

0.0 
8.1 

27.9 
111.7 

2.563.4 

3.2 $ 
0.0 
0.0 

0.0 
6.2 
0.3 
0.4 
0.7 
0.1 
0.0 
0.1 
0.2 
0.0 
0.0 
0.1 
0.3 
3,1 
0.1 
0.2 
0.3 
0.4 
0.0 
0.1 
0.2 
0.7 

16.9 $ 

1.416.1 
3.8 

28.0 

371.1 
2.938.6 
1.716,4 

872.8 
361.5 
225.1 
638.8 
157.0 
192.2 

8.2 
44.3 

209.6 
188.7 

2.945.2 
90.6 

211.0 
232.0 
433.6 

0.7 
69.6 

275.2 
431.5 

14.0616 

5.3 
0.0 
o.t 

1.4 
11.0 
6.4 
3.3 
1.4 
0.8 
2.4 
0.0 
0.7 
0.0 
0.2 
0.8 
0.7 
II.I 
0.3 
0.8 
0.9 
1.6 
0.0 
0.3 
1.0 
1.6 

32.8 $ 

$ 02.8 

0.1 

53.9 
236.7 
164.6 
54.3 
24.5 
22.8 
72.6 
58.7 

7.4 
I.I 

II.I 
17.5 
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ARGENTINA 

1200 

1000 

The Bank has made 164 loans totaling $7,922 million to 
Argentina. Cumulative disbursements totaled $5,808 million. 

LOANS 

Educational Investment and Reform 
($300 million loan from the OC) 

This is a five-year program consisting of a package of projects 
to be executed by Argentina's provincial governments, with the 
assistance and coordination of the national government. Each 
of the provincial projects has both a reform and an investment 
component, the former including funding for resources needed 
for the preparation and establishment of systems called for un
der the country's 1993 Federal Education 
law and the latter to finance expenditures 
for teacher training and development, the 
procurement of textbooks and other teach
ing materials and physical improvements 
in schools and equipment. Overall, the 
program has been designed not just to im
prove the quality of the Argentine educa
tion system (i.e., the numbers of students 
taught and the measure of their attain
ments), but also to make instruction at all 
levels of education more relevant to the 
country's technological and labor needs, to 
decrease regional disparities in access to 
good curricula, facilities and teachers and 
to make spending in the education sector 
at the community, provincial and national 
levels more efficient and productive. 

As the provinces undertake re
forms in the institutional, financial and 
managerial frameworks of their respective 
education systems, the activities and diag
nostic studies associated with this project 
will emphasize increasing the autonomy of 
individual schools and "educational communities." Accord
ingly, the project will finance the incorporation of changes in 
the provinces' legal and regulatory frameworks; strengthening 
the capacity of local and provincial governments to supervise 
individual schools and evaluate their progress; and implemen
tation of a system for sharing educational information among 
schools and communities. At the same time, the teacher-train
ing aspect of the reform components will seek to improve upon 
the current high pupil/teacher ratios ( 17 at the preprimary and 
primary levels) and to boost the motivation and attendance of 
instructors. The investment component of the provincial pro-

YEARLi LENDING 
\M)I)I$BIRHEMK\TS 

TO VRGKYTIW 
(In millions oft '.S. dollars) 

grams will contribute to the financing of 1.5 million textbooks 
for preprimary and basic general education (along with library 
and other materials for the neediest schools), 114,000 m2 of 
classroom space and other buildings for preprimary and 
196,000 m2 of similar space for basic general education. 

Development of Municipal Institutions and 
Social Investment Program 
(loans of $180 million from the OC and $30 million from the FSO, 
with parallel financing from the World Bank) 

This project is made up of two distinct components, one in
volving institutional development and the other focusing on 
public works. Together, they seek to solidify the decentraliza
tion of public finances throughout Argentina, providing ser
vices to low-income populations by the more than 1,000 mu
nicipal governments that exist throughout the country. Both 
components will be executed by the Secretaría de Desarrollo 
Social, SDS, an agency housed within the Office of the Presi

dent. Ten of Argentina's 23 provinces will 
be eligible to participate exclusively in the 
IDB portion of the program; an additional 
four provinces (Buenos Aires, Cordoba, 
Mendoza and Santa Fe) will be able to 
participate jointly in the IDB- and World 
Bank-financed programs. 

The institutional development 
component consists of surveying munici
pal governments and ascertaining both 
their financial status and their capacity to 
deliver services—and of initiating programs 
to redress the weaknesses identified by 
those surveys. The investment component 
will finance a series of works related to 
neighborhood improvements, including 
the construction of community centers, 
child-care facilities, bus terminals and 
parks and the installation of sanitation and 
lighting systems and street paving. In ad
dition, it will provide resources for studies 
prior to the works, supervision during ex
ecution and evaluations once completed, 
and will assist local governments with the 

preparation of master tax files for their respective jurisdictions. 

Support for Conversion of Organizations in the 
Productive Sectors 
(loans of $132 million from the OC and $22 million, in local 
currency, from the FSO) 

These loans will provide training for an estimated 170,000 
semi-skilled workers through a variety of component pro
grams that have in common a focus on preparing entrants to 
the labor force with training in fields with unmet demand. The 

Lending 
Disbursements 
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MIRAFLORES, ARGENTINA. 
Operator Miguel Quinteros checks 
gauges at one of three compressing 
stations built to increase the capac
ity of the Northern Gas Pipeline, 
which extends from the Bolivian 
border to Buenos Aires Province. 
Supported by $60.3 million in 
IDB loans, the project aims to meet 
growing demand and to replace use 
of fuel oil with natural gas, which 
is abundant and less costly in Ar
gentina. 

focus of the program is the country's low-income population. 
As joint executors of the program, the Ministry of Economic 
Affairs and Public Works and Services and the Ministry of La
bor and Social Security will oversee a range of vocational guid
ance and training initiatives which is driven by the private sec
tor, responding to local labor market conditions. At the same 
time, the program will concentrate on promoting increased job 
opportunities for women, and will thus include, in addition to 
the creation of trainee slots and actual employment, compo
nents such as a publicity campaign against gender discrimina
tion and the start-up of child-care subsidies. 

The program is the first of its kind for the Bank in 
Argentina—similar operations were approved in Chile in 1992 
and in Venezuela in 1993. In this instance, specific activities 
will include the offering of 45-day courses, with a maximum 
enrollment of 20, at work sites where there is a demonstrated 
demand for workers, and the establishment of other courses, 
aimed at workers displaced by recent changes in the Argentine 
economy as a whole, in specific areas related to microenter
prise management (e.g. planning and accounting). An addi
tional component will focus on job-skills matching activities 
for persons who are under- or unemployed, seeking to refine 
or broaden the skills of workers who already possess some 
technical expertise in productive processes. In another subpro
gram, consultants will be hired to help strengthen the country's 
employment offices, extending staff training in those that op
erate at the municipal, provincial and national levels, as well 
as in the private sector. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Consolidation of Public Sector Financial and 
Administrative Reform 
($47 million loan from the OC) 

The substantial accomplishments of the economic recovery in 
Argentina over the past several years have been accompanied 
by the adoption of a series of far-reaching public sector re
forms, which continue at a rapid pace. The purposes of the 
present operation are to support various aspects of the ten-year 
(1989-1998) public-administration and fiscal reform pro
gram, three in particular: the consolidation and extension 
throughout the public sector, at national and provincial levels, 
of systems and procedures developed by the Ministerio de 
Economía y Obras y Servicios Públicos, MEOSP; improving the 
internal control and audit systems of the public sector as a 
whole, under the direction of the Sindicatura General de la 
Nación, SIGEN(the Comptroller General's Office); and estab
lishing a reliable system of gathering and sharing economic sta
tistics so as to permit efficient programming of public invest
ment and spending. The considerable number of separate 
initiatives to be launched under each of the three subprograms 
corresponding to these objectives—including the administration 
of training and the development and application of new meth
odologies throughout the entire central government—will be 
coordinated by a specially created executing unit, answerable 
to a high-level Executive Board and assisted by groups of con
sultants and second-tier administrative coordinators. 
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MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Privat izat ion and R e g u l a t i o n o f the Water Sector in 
Mendoza 
($1,260,000 in grant and contingent-recovery financing) 

As a complement to the water and sanitation projects being 
undertaken in Argentina's provinces with the help of two loans 
cofinanced by the World Bank and the IDB in 1992, this 
project will focus on the province of Mendoza, in particular, 
and on the establishment of a regulatory agency and mixed-
ownership corporation to operate the systems as the principal 
sectoral institutions. In order to extend the coverage of water 
and sewer systems among the province's 1.4 million inhabit
ants, one of the project's two subprograms will provide for the 
creation of the Ente Provincial de Agua y Saneamiento, EPAS. 
The agency will be responsible for the design and implemen
tation of rate systems, general policies and quality control stan
dards, as well as the development of information systems and 
procurement of equipment. EPAS personnel will be trained in 
the executive, professional, technical and administrative aspects 
of their new jobs. In the second subprogram, MIF funds will 
help with the conversion of Obras Sanitarias Mendoza <OSM) 
into an entity in which 51 percent of the capital stock is owned 
by the province, 20 percent by a private concessionaire, 10 
percent by the concessionaire's employees, and 19 percent by 
private investors. Consultants will assist with the valuation of 
the present OSM's assets, preparation of the new corporation's 
bylaws and oversight of the procedures by which the conces
sion is awarded and financed. The placement of the new 
corporation's stock is anticipated to allow for the repayment 
of a portion of the financing to the MIF by the Province of 
Mendoza. 

BAHAMAS 

ARGENTINA: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS. I!)6l-lfl!)4 
(In thousands oft '.S. dollars) 

Sector Vim lunt 
Total Cost of 

liie Projects 

Encra $ 1.750,915 $ 4,675.936 
Public Sector Reform 1,736.865 2.344.450 
Agriculture and Fisheries 764.451 3,228.201 
Transportation and Communications 733.107 1.682,404 
Health and Sanitation 653,942 1,720.758 
Education 580.961 1.180.068 
Industry. Mining and Tourism 488,593 2,011.538 
Urban Development 386.611 701,000 
Science and Technology 250,952 505.523 
Export Financing 170.380 243.401 
Microenterprise 45.574 60.000 
Environment 30.428 39.050 
Preinvestment 27.694 39,980 
Social Investment 1,500 1,500 
Other 300,191 800,000 

YEARIA LENDING 
AND DISBURSEMENTS 

TO HIE BAHAMAS 
(In millions of U.S. dolkirs) 

The Bank has made 9 loans totaling $208 million to Bahamas 
Cumulative disbursements totaled $137 million. 

LOAN 

I m p r o v e m e n t s in Pr imary and Secondary Educat ion 
($21 million loan from the OC) 

At present, the Bahamas has 211 public and private primary 
and secondary schools on 19 islands, with a combined enroll
ment (from age 5 to 14, the years for which education is man
datory) of over 61,000 stu
dents and a teacher population 
of over 3,200. The issues con
fronting the Bahamian educa
tional system at the primary 
and secondary school level in
clude the need train teachers; to 
relocate schools, or build new 
ones, in areas where popula
tion growth has occurred; to 
improve the process of curricu
lum development, orienting 
teaching methods and materi
als to preparing students better 
in basic skills and areas in de
mand in the labor market; and 
to reduce class sizes in metro
politan areas. The objectives of 
this program, accordingly, are 
to both improve the content 
and methods of education at 
these two levels and to provide 
for the expansion and/or re
placement of educational facili-

60 

Lending 
Disbursements 

Total S 7.922.164 $19,233,809 

ties. As a complement to these two areas of emphasis, resources 
will also enable the Ministry of Education, first, to establish 
computerized systems in the areas of management informa
tion and school equipment inventory and maintenance con
trol, and second, to conduct an extensive study in vocational 
education and pre-employment training. 

The education services improvement component of 
this project will help the Ministry of Education to both plan 
and implement changes in school curricula, particularly in sci
ence, mathematics and foreign languages, and improve school 
library services for grades one through twelve. The same com
ponent will also finance the construction and equipment for 
primary schools on the Family Islands of Exuma (with a ca
pacity of 240 students) and Abaco (600 students) and one pri-
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mary and two secondary schools on New Providence Island, 
with places for a total of 2,700 students. The institutional 
strengthening component will emphasize the linking of 
schools, district education officers and the Ministry; the voca
tional education study will take 10 months to complete and 
will analyze the feasibility of using both school facilities and 
the country's Industrial Training Centres for a revamped out-
of-school training program. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Study for Solid Waste Management on New 
Providence Island 
(¥59 million grant—$600,000—from the Japan Special Fund) 

The preinvestment study financed in this operation has three 
objectives: preparation of a master plan for solid waste and 
hazardous materials management, along with procedures for 
the collection, deposit, processing and disposal of such refuse 
in the most cost-effective manners available; identification of 
institutional alternatives for waste management services, 
whether by the public sector, private sector, or a combination 
of the two; and a survey of the institutional strengthening needs 
of the government agencies responsible for policy, regulatory 
activities and enforcement in the area of solid waste manage
ment. The study will be coordinated by the Environmental 
Health Division of the Ministry of Health, with the support of 
the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). 

BAHAMAS: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS. 1977-1 !)!)4 

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector \H10IIIIt 

Total Cost of 
lho Projects 

Energy 
Education 
Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 
Other 

$ 154,471 
21.000 

8.388 
2,016 

22.513 

$ 227.136 
33,000 
11,365 
3,330 

32,500 

Total $208.388 S307.33I 
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BARBADOS 

BRIDGETOWN, BARBADOS. Expanded facilities enabled 
the Port of Bridgetown to better accommodate cruise ships and 
improve cargo operations, both critical to the Barbadian 
economy. A $10 million IDB loan helped alleviate overcrowded 
docking and consolidate operations under a Port Authority. 

NASSAU, BAHAMAS. A linesman for the Bahamas Electric
ity Corporation (BEC) does routine maintenance at the Big 
Point substation. The BEC used a $109 million IDB loan to 
erect 13 miles of transmission lines and expand generating 
plants. The project helped meet the growing demand for elec
tricity, particularly on New Providence and Paradise Islands. 

BARBADOS: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1969-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector \inounl 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Health and Sanitation $ 78,605 $ 117.737 
Transportation and Communications 57.181 96,197 
Education 49,831 86.262 
Export Financing 19,331 27,616 
Agriculture and Fisheries 17,656 26,975 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 14,984 27,426 
Environment 8,456 11,450 
Public Sector Reform 8,099 8.100 
Reinvestment 6,993 10,000 

The Bank has made 34 loans totaling $261 million to Barba
dos. Cumulative disbursements totaled $160 million. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Coastal Conserva t ion Program 
($3.6 million loan from the OC and Can$500,000 in grant 
cofinancing from the Canadian Technical Cooperation Program) 

This program will enable the Ministry of Tourism, Interna
tional Transport and the Environment to develop an integrated 
Coastal Zone Management Program. Specifically, it will pro
vide financing for management planning studies for the north, 
east and southeast coasts 
(complementing work al
ready underway along the 
south and west coasts) and YEARLY LENDING 
strengthening the local insti- **» DISBURSEMENTS 

& & TO BARBADOS 
tutions responsible for coastal (!n m¡mm ofL ,s doUm) 

zone management. Diagnos-
8 0 -tic surveys undertaken along 

45 km of shoreline ranging 
from Maycock's Bay to South 
Point will serve as the basis 
for developing the overall 
Management Plan, including 
the classification of coastline 
into geomorphological units, 
a historical analysis of shore
line changes and the acquisi
tion of data on océanographie 
conditions, and marine and 
terrestrial water quality. Ad
ditionally, the program will 
finance land use surveys and 
socioeconomic profiles of 
coastal communities. 

Targeted private-sec
tor groups such as fishing communities and shorefront prop
erty owners will be encouraged to contribute to the develop
ment of the Management Plan. In addition, institutional 
strengthening will concentrate on furthering the implementa
tion of the national Coastal Zone Management and Marine 
Pollution Control Acts and development of an income-gener
ating strategy, with cost recovery targets, in consultation with 
the private sector. 

90 91 92 93 94 

Lending 
Disbursements 

Total $261,136 $411,763 
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BELIZE BOLIVIA 

SMALL PROJECT FINANCINGS 
The Bank has made 111 loans totaling $2,269 million to Bo
livia. Cumulative disbursements totaled $1,755 million. 

Support for T w o D e v e l o p m e n t F o u n d a t i o n s 
(loans of $500,000 and grants of $150,000, to each, respectively, 
from the Japan Special Fund and the Swedish Trust Fund for the 
Financing of Small Projects) 

These two operations, the first Small Project Financings ap
proved for Belize since that country joined the Bank, represent 
contributions toward the sustainability of two nongovernmen
tal organizations, the National Development Foundation of 
Belize (NDFB) and the Belize Enterprise for Sustained Tech
nology (BEST), enabling the agencies to expand coverage to 
their respective clients. Bank resources will assist the NDFB to 
expand its revolving credit fund in support of microentrepre
neurs and small farmers and to install a computerized system 
to enhance monitoring, loan recovery and reporting. The ben
eficiaries of BEST's activities—primarily women and indig
enous groups—will be helped through the construction of a 
marketing and promotion center; the establishment of an in
vestment program supporting community-based enterprises 
through the use of appropriate technologies in sustainable ag
riculture, ecotourism and natural-resource development; and 
the spread of its community banks. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Planning and Reform in the Health Sector 
($1.8 million grant from the FSO) 

The public health sector, pressured by a sizeable immigrant 
population and other factors, stands in need of significant re
form in the area of health care delivery. The state-run health 
care model has encountered severe budget shortfalls, which in 
combination with the lack of a suitable resource-allocation 
policy and the lack of equitable access to services, among other 
factors, makes the inauguration of reforms urgent. Project re
sources will enable the Ministry of Health to design and imple
ment a series of such reforms—and also to prepare studies lead
ing toward an investment program for the sector that would 
accompany the latter stages of reforms. An additional compo
nent will provide training for Ministry personnel, including 
12 three-to-six-week overseas courses in health economics 
and planning, health management and administration, as well 
as on-the-job experience (in areas such as cost recovery and 
insurance) to be provided by consultant teams. 

LOANS 

Educat ion Reform 
($80 million loan and $1,380,000 grant from the FSO) 

Over the course of the next 20 years, the Government of 
Bolivia's Education Reform Plan aims at extending primary 
and secondary education coverage to 100 percent of the eli
gible population and to tailor scientific, technical/vocational 
and higher education opportunities to the country's need for a 
skilled workforce. This project supports the short-term objec
tive of improving basic education, improving the equity (e.g., 
targeting students for whom Spanish is not the first language 
and the two-thirds of the illiterate population who are women) 
as well as the efficiency of the services provided by that sector. 
Program resources will also enable the Secretaría Nacional de 
Educación, SNE, the executor of the program, to embark upon 
an investment initiative to adequately equip and instruct the 
country's most disadvantaged pupils. 

The SNE administers a basic education system which 
is free and universal and oversees over 12,000 public schools, 
over 80 percent of them in rural areas, and approximately 
80,000 teachers. Program activities will be carried out within 
a context marked by a new Education Reform Law, enacted in 
July, 1994, and a series of short-term objectives linked under 
the headings of Administrative and Educational Reforms. The 
specific portions of the program to be financed by the IDB in
clude the provision of office space for SNE employees in de
centralized, district offices; the establishment of an education 
management information system; development of a core cur
riculum for grades one through eight; the development, pro
duction and distribution of textbooks, teachers' guides and 
other pedagogical material; training in the use of bilingual ma
terials; institution of a National System of Education Measure
ment; and the acquisition of computers and other learning 
materials for núcleos, groups of rural schools covering grades 
one through five. 

Mult i sec tor Globa l Credit Program, P h a s e II 
($70 million loan from the FSO) 

This program, which is to be executed initially by the Gerencia 
de Desarrollo of the Banco Central de Bolivia, BCB, will con
tinue the provision of competitively priced medium and long-
term financing for the country's private sector that was begun 
with the help of an $80 million loan in 1991. The second 
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200 

phase of the program also coincides with the consideration of 
a new law governing the activities of the BCB that would have 
the effect of transferring the responsibility for executing this 
and other credit operations to an independent, second-tier fi
nancing entity. 

The program will function through a credit auction 
mechanism first established by the BCB in 1990 and which to 
date has brought interest rates charged by intermediary credit 
institutions (ICIs) more into line with their own cost of funds, 
increased allocative efficiency across alternative sectors, re
duced transaction costs and increased the degree of transpar
ency surrounding the selection of projects for financing. (The 
auction system was suspended for the final three quarters of 
1993 but was reestablished in early 1994.) Recent changes af
fecting the functioning of the mechanism include provisions 
for re-lending of reflows and a broadening of the criteria by 
which ICIs—potentially including BancoSol, 
a successful lender to small businesses—may 
establish eligibility to participate. The sec
ond phase of the program contains explicit 
guidelines on environmental control for end 
users of credit, including the incorporation 
of evaluation statements as part of the docu
mentation submitted by sub-borrowers to 
ICIs. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Strengthening of the Ministry of 
Sustainable Development and the 
Environment 
($19 million loan from the FSO and $800,000 
grant for project preparation from the Italian 
Trust Fund) 

Because a large part of the country's pro- ^ 
ductive structure involves the use of local 
fossil fuels, minerals, and agricultural and 
forest resources, the sustainability of 
Bolivia's economic development depends upon the prudent 
management of those resources and the curbing of threats such 
as deforestation, water pollution and soil erosion. 

In keeping with these imperatives, the present project's 
specific objectives include the strengthening of the technical, 
administrative and regulatory capacity of the Ministerio de 
Desarrollo Sostenible y Medio Ambiente, MDSMA, the im
provement of cartographic and biophysical databases on the 
country's 550,000 km2 of forest resources, and the proposal 
of ecological and economic zoning for priority watersheds. 
(Watersheds have been chosen as objects of study because they 
provide comprehensive views of both biophysical and socio
economic systems—the parts of the country that have been se
lected include the Pilcomayo River basin and three other areas 

i EARLY LENDING 
AND DISBIRSEYIUNTS 

TO BOL1V LA 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

in the Amazonian watershed and the interior drainage region.) 
The project will also establish a program of environmental 
quality standards for water and air, applicable to agrochemi-
cal use and food control and—importantly—will finance a se
ries of formal and informal education activities to promote the 
participation of community and nongovernmental groups in 
efforts to encourage concepts of sustainability as indispensable 
to future development. A final component will focus on the 
feasibility of involving the private sector in the provision of 
environmental services, specifically in the areas of solid waste 
management, the control of industrial and mining pollution, 
agrochemical control and vehicle emission control. 

Tax Policy and Administration 
($3,344,000 loan and $1,156,000 grant from the FSO) 

This project, which involves both grant 
and loan financing, will help the govern
ment of Bolivia to upgrade its tax admin
istration system and to implement a se
ries of reforms in tax policy. During the 
three-year implementation period, there 
will be a thorough review of the overall 
legal framework underpinning the Boliv
ian tax system—touching on collection, 
auditing and technical aspects. As part of 
the program, officials of the Dirección 
General de Impuestos Internos (DGIT) will 
receive training from the Inter-American 
Center of Tax Administrators, many of 
them in regional offices in the context of 
a decentralization of the DGII's opera
tions. In reviewing alternative future tax 
policies, the program will also include a 
review of proposals that study corporate 
taxation, excise taxes on oil and gas and 
revenue sharing, among other issues. Lending 

I Msbursements 

Decentralization of Highway 
Administration 

($800,000 grant from the Italian Trust Fund) 

This financing will enable the country's National Highway 
Administration (Servicio Nacional de Caminos) to decentralize 
responsibility for maintenance of approximately 33,000 km 
of local and feeder roads located in nine geographical depart
ments. The newly created road administration entities in the 
departments will work with their national counterpart (which 
will maintain responsibility for interdepartmental roadways) 
in drawing up projections of future demand for roadways and 
assuring the availability of financial and human resources for 
maintenance and new construction. 
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MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Capitalization of Public Enterprises 
($2,336,000 grant) 

Bolivia's Secretaría National de Capitalización e Inversión, set 
up in late 1993 as one of the first acts of the government 
elected in August of that year, will use the resources made 
available in this operation to refine work begun with the draft
ing of a Capitalization Law, focusing on a number of key is
sues that will affect the privatization or capitalization of eight 
state-owned enterprises. The companies are Yacimientos 
Petrolíferos Fiscales Boltvianos (YPFB), the oil and gas monopoly; 
the Empresa National de Telecomunicaciones (ENTEL); the 
Empresa Nacional de Energía Eléctrica (ENDE); the Empresa 
Nacional de Ferrocarriles (ENFE), the dominant national rail 
carrier; the Empresa National de Fundición (ENAF) and 
Karachipampa, two mineral smelting firms; and Lloyd Aéreo 
Boliviano (LAB) and AASANA, the country's principal airline 
and the airport authority. MIF funds will be used for the con
tracting of consultants and sectoral experts to complete prepa
ration for private sector participation in the electricity, hydro
carbons and telecommunications sectors and for shorter-term 
work to complete studies institutional and regulatory frame
work for the remaining three industries. The latter component 
will also include a review of privatization options for the ap
proximately 30 smaller state firms currently managed by the 
country's Regional Development Corporations (RDC). 

Support for the Isix ¡o< ion Pro-Crédilo and the Humo 
Departamental de I os Andes 
($2 million total) 

This operation, which includes the first assumption of an eq
uity position in a borrowing country firm by the MIF, seeks to 
broaden accessibility to credit by small businesses and microen
trepreneurs. It is composed of three separate financings—one a 
$1.4 million loan to PRO-CREDITO, a nongovernmental or
ganization established in 1991, the second an equity invest
ment of up to $400,000 to Banco Departamental de Los Andes, 
a newly created financial institution serving microentrepre
neurs and small businesses in which PRO-CREDITO is the 
majority shareholder, and the third a technical cooperation 
grant of $200,000 to both institutions, for institutional 
strengthening. 

The MIF's subscription of the Banco Departamentais 
share capital will entitle it to representation on the institution's 
Board of Directors and is made with the understanding that 
the MIF may sell all or part of its shares as of the end of the 
fifth year following the capital payment. The operations of the 
Banco Departamental'will share the characteristics of the highly 
successful lending program undertaken by PRO-CREDITO, in
cluding an emphasis on the thorough analysis of the credit his
tory and socioeconomic behavior of the borrowers, who are 

often families; the minimization of risk through diversification 
of the portfolio; and the building up over time of lasting com
mercial relationships with borrowers through repeat lending. 
Projections indicate that the Banco Departamental will have 
provided financings averaging less than $ 1,000 to some 9,000 
customers (including the portfolio inherited from PRO-
CREDITO, which is moving out of the lending operations per 
se)by the end of 1996. 

Sustainable Development and Ecological Tourism 
in Sanjosé de Uchupiamonas and Madidi National 
Park 
($1,250,000 grant) 

The direct beneficiaries of this financing will be approximately 
1,500 young residents of San José de Uchupiamonas and sur
rounding communities in the northwestern part of the Depart
ment of La Paz. The project's basic aim is to improve the liv
ing conditions and economic prospects of the Quechua-Tacana 
indigenous communities in the area by initiating small enter
prises based on products other than timber and ecotourism. At 
the same time, the project seeks to strengthen the economic 
self-sufficiency and decision-making capacity of the commu
nities themselves (through comités de base), allowing institu
tions in San José and its environs to assume ownership of the 
assets of these productive enterprises by the year 2000. The 
project will be executed by the Bolivian affiliate of Conserva
tion International, which will help local populations to develop 
the ecotourism facility within the newly created Madidi Na
tional Park. The Alto Madidi Region, which sits amid a high 
biodiversity belt, holds promise as a destination for visitors to 
the region. To that end, the residents of San José have sought 
to develop a simple tourist lodge on a 3,000-hectare parcel of 
lakeside land at El Chalalan, one and a half hours downstream 
on the Tuichi River. 

International Trade Modernization Program 
($744,000 grant) 

This operation will be executed by Bolivia's Cámara Nacional 
de Industrias, CNI, and will seek to facilitate access of Bolivian 
export firms to international markets over an 18-month ex
ecution period. In a first component, the project will help Bo
livian firms to avail themselves of trade preferences established 
on behalf of the Andean countries in the United States and the 
European Community (through an examination of the poten
tial markets for between 150 and 300 products for the two 
areas combined), analyzing export costs, identifying market 
niches and assisting with marketing programs. The second 
component of the operation will assist Bolivian exporters in 
two key areas—bolstering quality certification laboratories (the 
Instituto Boliviano de Normas y Calidad, IBNORCA) and help
ing the clearinghouse for international freight forwarders, the 
Consejo Boliviano de Usuarios de Transporte, COBUTRAC to 
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search out export corridors in neighboring countries (such as 
Arica in Chile or Ilo in Peru). IBNORCA, in particular, will be 
provided with computer software linking it to databases on in
ternational quality and standards and will benefit from train
ing for its staff in quality control techniques suited to match
ing exporters with the specialized needs of importers in the 
U.S., EC, and elsewhere. 

BRAZIL 

The Bank has made 226 loans totaling $11,201 million to Bra
zil. Cumulative disbursements totaled $7,782 million. 

LOANS 

São Paulo Commute r Train System 
($420 million from the OC) 

BOLIVIA: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS. 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector \mounl 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Transportation and Communications $ 584,991 $ 999,792 
Energy 524.292 839.208 
Agriculture and Fisheries 264,065 399,950 
Health and Sanitation 225.189 301,068 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 212.826 409,877 
Public Sector Reform 156,322 229,679 
Education 91.928 227,797 
Social Investment 37,768 83.540 
Export Financing 29,478 42,112 
Reinvestment 20,440 31.604 
Environment. 19.000 23,000 
Urban Development 12,228 10.964 
Other 90.000 107,500 

VEARLY LENDING 
AM) DISBURSEMENTS 

TO BRAZIL 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

1200 

1000 

Total 2.268.327 $3.715.091 

The overall objectives of the project are to facilitate the com
mute of low- and middle-income populations within the met
ropolitan area of São Paulo, reducing travel times, improving 
the flow of street traffic and 
thereby reducing pollution 
caused by vehicular emis
sions. The project will consist 
of three components: con
struction and operation of a 
first 9.3-km section of Line 5 
of the City's Metro system, 
running between Capão 
Redondo and Largo Treze; 
upgrading of the South Line 
under the administration of 
the Companhia Paulista de 
Trens Metropolitanos, CPTM; 
and institutional strengthen
ing for the CPTM and other 
entities involved in mass tran
sit in urban and suburban São 
Paulo. 

Improvements on the 
commuter train system will 
accommodate an estimated 
450,000 passengers daily, 
and will consist of realigning 
track, providing equipment to expand the electric power sup
ply to accommodate new and more trains, the building of seven 
new stations and installation of the requisite electromechani
cal equipment and procurement of ten new four-car trains. 
Construction of the new suburban line will benefit residents of 
two districts of the municipality of São Paulo and three ad
joining municipalities and will be complemented by the financ
ing of eight 64-car trains. The technical cooperation compo
nent will yield studies identifying opportunities for further 
private-sector participation in the area's high-capacity, mass-
transit system, a revaluation of the CPTM's assets and feasibil
ity of the second stage of Line 5. The project is part of an over
all $2.55 billion effort to develop an integrated metropolitan 
transit system, consisting of some 39 separate municipalities, 

Lending 
Disbursements 

file:///mounl
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FORTALEZA, BRJE^IL. An environmental sanita

tion project is building over 1,000 kilometers of sew

age lines and installing home connections for a quar

ter of Fortaleza's population. IDB loans totaling 
$200 million to the Stale of Ceará have helped fi
nance the project, which employs over 11,000 people. 

with 15 million inhabitants. The immediate focus of this 
project, with its three component parts, is a 96,000 hectare 
region in the south and southwestern portion of the metro

politan area where per capita income is substantially lower 
than the mean for São Paulo as a whole. 

Tourism Development in the Northeast 
($400 million loan from the OC) 

The Northeast of Brazil is the country's poorest region; its nine 
states are home to over 45 million people and cover approxi

mately 1.5 million km2. This loan, which is complemented by 

an additional $400 million in local counterpart 
funding, will allow the northeastern states to 
maintain and bolster their growing tourism in

dustry thereby contributing to local socioeco

nomic development. The primary focus for 
most of the investment to be financed with the 
help of this loan will come in areas where the 
need for infrastructure to support tourism has 
not kept pace with demand. 

The loan resources will be channeled 
through the Banco do Noroeste do Brasil via 
subloans to finance individual projects in the 
participating states in three components: insti

tutional development (including state tourism 
entities, state environmental agencies and mu

nicipal governments in the selected tourism 
sites); multiple works in basic infrastructure and 
public services in five sectors—sanitation, solid 
waste management, environmental reclamation 
and protection, transportation and historical 
preservation; and airport improvements (in the 
cities of São Luis, Fortaleza, Natal, Aracaju and 
Porto Seguro). 

Drainage Program in the City of 
São Paulo, Stage II 
($302 million loan from the OC) 

This is the Bank's fifth loan in the basic sanitation sector in the 
state of São Paulo and constitutes the second stage of a pro

gram begun with the help of a $77.5 million loan approved in 
1986. The first stage of the program encompassed the canali

zation of 29 km of creeks and the building of parallel roads 
and the procurement of equipment needed by the City of São 
Paulo's Municipal Roads Secretariat for operation and main

tenance of the roads. The second stage has again been designed 
as a multiple works program and will focus particular atten

tion on the provision of new housing for residents of the 13 
creek bottoms selected as the sites for the canalization. 
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The primary purposes of the operation are to forestall 
the frequent flooding and mudslides that afflict populations liv
ing in the vicinity of São Paulo's creeks, reducing the amounts 
of wastewater and garbage dumped into the creeks as they pass 
through shantytowns, and reducing erosion and silting by cre
ating parks in the secondary watersheds targeted by the pro
gram. Initial plans call for approximately 45 km of creeks to 
be channelized, and for 47 km of roads to be built alongside 
them. In all, the program also anticipates the relocation of ap
proximately 5,250 families, four-fifths of whom would resettle 
in housing complexes in the areas of Garagem, Inácio 
Monteiro and Cidade Jaraguá. (The remaining families will 
continue to live in their old neighborhoods, which will be im
proved through the provision of drinking water and sewerage 
services, the building of main roads and electricity hookups.) 
Bank resources will also be used to help finance internal im
provements in the City's environmental protection agency and 
housing authority. 

along with a technical cooperation grant to be parceled out to 
each through the Federação Nacional de Apoio aos Pequenos 
Empreendimentos, FENAPE, located in Brasilia. All four groups 
are private, nonprofit organizations active in providing tech
nical and financial assistance to low-income microentrepre
neurs. The three regional CEAPEs will serve an estimated 
4,200 microproducers in the cities of Brasilia, Recife and 
Aracaju, extending credit to business owners in trade, manu
facturing and service areas who would likely not have access 
to working capital or funds for investment through the formal 
financial system. The average size of individual loans in 
CEAPE-DF's (the affiliate located in Brasilia) was $335 as of 
year-end 1993, with an average term of 60 days. Sixty-three 
and 79 percent of the microenterprises benefitting from the 
operations of CEAPE-PE, which operates in Recife and several 
other municipalities in Pernambuco, and CEAPE-SE, which 
operates primarily in Aracaju, have been women. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 
SMALL PROJECT FINANCINGS 

Benefitting Low-income Craft Workers in 
Minas Gerais 
(two loans of $500,000 and technical cooperation grants totaling 
$300,000, from the FSO) 

This package of loans and grants will assist two private, non
profit intermediaries, Serviço Social Salão do Encontro, SASFRA, 
and the Associação dos Artesãos e Produtores Caseiros (Mãos de 
Minas), to generate jobs and provide social services to low-
income craft workers. Activities to be financed include the ex
pansion of SASFRA's workshops and training facilities and 
improvements in the facilities where the two cooperatives' 
products are marketed. The technical cooperation components 
of the projects will enable the two agencies to upgrade their 
capacity in the areas of accounting, finance, operations and in
formation management . SASFRA was founded in 1971, and 
has provided social services and support for income-generat
ing activities in the city of Betim. Mãos de Minas was founded 
in 1983 to assist craft workers and others in the informal sec
tor with the marketing of their products. Mãos is currently of
fering its services to more than 3,000 members through a net
work of 50 associations in various towns and cities in the state 
of Minas Gerais. 

Support for Small Business Owners in the Federal 
District, Pernambuco and Sergipe 
(three loans of $500,000 and one technical cooperation grant of 
$500,000, from the FSO) 

This project consists of loans to Centros de Apoio aos Pequenos 
Empreendimentos, CEAPE, in three separate Brazilian states, 

Support for Children in Especially Difficult 
Circumstances 
(six grants totaling $17.9 million from the FSO) 

The beneficiaries of these grants will be an estimated 52,000 
children living in extreme poverty, many of them from bro
ken homes and living on the street, in the cities of Campinas, 
Fortaleza, Recife, Salvador, São Luis and Teresina. In each case, 
a nongovernmental, community-based organization or a state 
or local government agency will extend direct assistance in one 
of the following component programs, grouped under the 
heading either of "social work" or "prevention programs": ac
tivities to encourage children to leave the streets, support for 
shelters, group houses and recovery centers, programs aimed 
specifically at helping young girls, legal-aid, job training, day
care and preschool and homes for orphans and abandoned 
children. 

In addition, the financings will support the activities 
of the intermediary organizations, focusing on providing staff 
with the resources necessary to reach a population which, by 
definition, is difficult to identify and which requires assistance 
in several forms—medical, psychological, social and economic. 
Studies have shown that, while there has been a growth in the 
population of at-risk children and of minors living in the 
streets, particularly in the country's Northeast (where five of 
the six target cities are located) coordinated efforts such as lo
cal nutrition programs can be effective. Thus the programs un
dertaken with the help of these loans will seek to address some 
of the most intractable problems afflicting Brazil's children-
including substance abuse, juvenile AIDS and gang violence. 
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Institutional Strengthening for the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs 
($10 million loan, in local currency, from the OC) 

CHILE 

This loan will help the Ministerio de Relações Exteriores to 
strengthen its institutional capability in the conduct and for
mulation of international economic affairs and policies, espe
cially in the area of economic integration. The initiatives to be 
undertaken with the help of this financing include the instal
lation of information and communications systems, the train
ing of over 1,000 staff members working at all levels of the 
agency and revamping of the curricula and physical facilities 
of the Instituto Rio Branco, the Ministry's 50 year-old training 
center for entrants into the diplomatic service. 

In addition, the operation will help to improve the 
agency's research capacity, particularly in areas related to eco
nomic integration. Many of the research programs to be un
dertaken will be coordinated through a newly established, in
ter-agency comité deliberativo, which will work jointly with the 
private sector on issues related to Brazil's membership in 
MERCOSUR, the Southern Common Market. 

BRAZIL: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of US. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cosi ol 

the Prelects 

Transportation and Communications $ 2,109,200 $ 4,894,505 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 2.034,822 16,580.030 
Energy 2.013,603 12.426,241 
Health and Sanitation 1.749,593 3,700,832 
Agriculture and Fisheries 990,494 2,124.042 
Urban Development 919,347 1,621.619 
Environment 504.300 1.043.500 
Education 275,373 628,167 
Export Financing 266,477 380,683 
Science and Technology 252,001 543,302 
Preinvestment 76,103 150,377 
Public Sector Reform 10.000 20,000 

YEARLY LENDING 
MID DISBURSEMENTS 

TO CHILE 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

350 

Total S 11.201,31:5 $44.113.298 

The Bank has made 114 loans totaling $4,434 million to Chile. 
Cumulative disbursements totaled $4,150 million. 

LOAN 

Local Development Program, Stage III 
($75 million form the OC) 

This loan marks the third in a series of operations in support 
of the Chilean government's decentralization efforts and fol
lows financings approved in 1985 and 1989. It will focus pri
marily on initiatives enabling re
gional governments—13 regions, 
51 provinces and 325 "com
munes"—to manage investments 
benefiting low-income groups. The 
investment portion of the program 
will be administered by the Fondo 
National de Desarrollo Regional, 
FNDR, and will be focused on 
projects providing health-care in
frastructure, education at the mu
nicipal level,sanitation, rural elec
trification, secondary roads and 
urban streets. An institutional-de
velopment subprogram will fi
nance training activities on behalf 
of the regional governments and 
will assist the Sistema National de 
Inversion, SNI, a central agency 
working on this program in con
junction with the national envi
ronmental impact evaluation sys
tem (SEIA) to clear the use of funds 
for regional authorities. 

The Bank's financing complements local counterpart 
resources of $425 million and will be disbursed (through a 
"time-slice" mechanism) to cover a series of investments over 
a five-year period. The design of the program places a pre
mium on improving the allocation of economic development 
investment funds among provinces and regions and seeks to 
eliminate duplication of sectoral investment planning between 
central ministries and regional governments. It also seeks to 
incorporate the provisions of the newly enacted Framework 
Law on Environmental Standards, which makes environmen
tal impact evaluation mandatory for investments by all gov
ernment agencies and private investors. In keeping with the 
municipalities' responsibility for executing measures to com-

rciiding 
Disbursements 

bat poverty, the program will focus on construction, rehabili 



LOANS AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION 59 

tation and the procurement of basic equipment, as noted, for 
multiple works in areas such as the upgrading of schools and 
primary health-care facilities, water supply and sewerage, the 
paving of roads and streets, and flood control. 

M U L T I L A T E R A L I N V E S T M E N T F U N D 

COLOMBIA 

The Bank has made 156 loans totaling $6,058 million to Co
lombia. Cumulative disbursements totaled $4,898 million. 

Pilot Program for Worker Retraining 
($1,840,897 grant) 

The Servicio National de Capacitación y Empleo, SENCE will 
use the resources provided to test a system for contracting out 
retraining and placement services for workers who have lost 
their jobs in selected industries. Over the 24-month execution 
period of the pilot program, private-sector firms will be hired 
to help up to 1,000 displaced workers in the textile and coal 
industries (along with a third industry to be determined at a 
later date), to find new employment. The retraining agencies 
will be free to offer "packages" of services to workers—includ
ing counseling, vocational guidance, subsistence grants and re
location. The performance of the retraining agencies will be 
judged according to the numbers of workers they place in new 
jobs and the types of jobs themselves. Assessment of the firms 
will also examine the reaction of the local private sector to the 
usefulness of the services offered and the suitability of the new 
workers. The program coordinating unit within SENCE will 
provide the agencies that are awarded contracts with data bases 
on the specific groups of workers they are to retrain. As a 
novel, short-term program, the operation also includes provi
sions for monitoring, evaluation and planning for potential fu
ture stages. 

L O A N 

CHILE: DISTRIBl TlOiX OF LOWS. 19(i I -1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost or 

the Projects 

Energy $ 1.098.068 $ 2,838.121 
Agriculture and Fisheries 787,832 1,460.133 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 751.209 1.301,003 
Urban Development 616,646 1.131,203 
Transportation and Communications 609.562 1,745,575 
Health and Sanitation 265,784 525,034 
Science and Technology 96,848 182.900 
Social Investment 75,000 500,000 
Education 68.638 155,767 
PubBc Sector Reform 32.913 150,008 
Preinvestment 13,170 26.514 
Microenterprise 12,122 20,000 
Export Financing 3,857 5.510 
Environment 2,774 4,440 

YEARLY LENDING 
AM) DISBURSEMENTS 

TO COLOMBIA 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

600 

Total S4.433.923 S 10.046.208 

Pacific Coast Sustainable Development 
($40 million loan from the FSO, with TC grants of $10 million 
from the net income of the FSO and $532,000 from the Japan 
Special Fund and a $1,350,000 loan from the PPF) 

The goal of this wide-ranging project is to provide a variety of 
integrated assistance pro
grams to community 
groups and local govern
mental agencies in the 
country's Pacific Coast re
gion, an area marked by 
extraordinary biodiversity 
and severe poverty. Over
all, program activities will 
concentrate on a benefi
ciary population estimated 
at 900,000, 90 percent of 
them Afro-Colombians in
habiting the department of 
Chocó and the western 
portions of the departments 
of Valle, Cauca and 
Nariño. This operation will 
complement two other 
programs financed by mul
tilateral institutions and be
ing implemented in the Pa
cific region: the Natural 
Resource Management 
Program financed by the World Bank and the BioPacifico pro
gram financed by the Global Environment Facility and the 
government of Switzerland. The present program will consti
tute the first phase of a long-term effort to promote sustain
able development in an area where per capita income is one-
third the national average and average rainfall ranges as high 
as 10,000 mm per year, making it one of the most humid ar
eas in the world. 

Program components will involve action in three main 
areas: institutional strengthening for government agencies, the 
provision of basic services and support for sustainable use of 
renewable natural resources. In the area of institutional 
strengthening, resources will be applied to developing project-
planning and management capabilities in the principal popu-

Lending 
Disbursements 
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lation centers (Buenaventura, Quibdó and Tumaco) as well as 
more remote municipalities and to strengthening the partici
pation of communities, especially of women, in the political 
process. As a rule, the projects will cost less than $100 ,000 . 
They will be concentrated on such high priorities as improved 
maternal and infant health care; controlling epidemiological 
illnesses; the rehabil i tat ion, expansion and equipping of 
schools; and construction of potable water and sewerage sys
tems and improvements in the collection and disposal of solid 
waste. Resources will be used for zoning, land-use planning 
and mitigation of environmental risks. The productive-activi
ties component will finance research and the establishment of 
small businesses making sustainable use of the region's renew
able natural resources. Finally, the operation will also fund 
preinvestment activities in the fields of transport, telecommu
nications and rural electrification. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Thermoe lec t r i c P lant Studies 
($730,000 grant from the Italian Trust Fund) 

Colombia's Comisión National de Energía will use the resources 
from this operation to conduct studies on the standardization 
of thermoelectric power plants with steam, gas and combina
tion cycles, allowing for certifiable comparisons to be made on 
the various options for expanding the country's generating ca
pacity. The program will enable the CNE to hire approxi
mately 50 consultants over a 15-month period, culminating 
in the preparation of a study to be coordinated by CESEN, a 
firm associated with the Istituto per la Ricostruzione Industríale, 
based in Italy. The final phase of the program will focus on 
the preparation of procurement specifications for future plants, 
some of them involving private-sector participation, and the 
compilation of environmental data related to the design, con
struction and operation of those plants. 

second component will consist of traineeships conducted in 
private firms for two months or less and paying at least the 
minimum wage. In addition, the executors of this portion of 
the program—the Corporation for Technological and Socio
economic Research and the Association of Small and Medium 
Industries—will establish a data base aimed at tracking the spe
cific labor needs of some 1,500 firms and matching them 
against the availability of newly retrained workers. 

Strengthening of the Energy Regulatory 
Commission 
($1,627,000 grant) 

Colombia's Comisión de Regulación Energética, CRE was cre
ated in 1993 to prepare the way for the opening up of the 
country's energy and mining sectors to private and foreign in
vestors. (The IDB has supported the restructuring of the Co
lombian energy sector over many years, most recently through 
a $150 million sector loan approved in 1992 and a $328 mil
lion financing in support of the construction of the Porce II 
hydroelectric facility the following year.) The three compo
nents of the present operation involve the hiring of consulting 
services for the CRE's start-up, the provision of training for 
CRE staff and the development and procurement of an infor
mation system for the agency. The consulting services will fo
cus on the legal, institutional and financial aspects of the 
country's reorganized public utilities—addressing question such 
as the definition of "exclusive service areas," regulations spe
cific to the electric power and gas subsectors and minimum 
criteria governing the quality of service in the generation, 
transmission and distribution of power. Other areas of study 
include the development of a transparent system of financial 
transactions in the sector (for the benefit of prospective inves
tors), the introduction of new accounting standards and the 
design of nondiscriminatory charges for access to regional 
transmission systems throughout the country. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Strengthened Tra in ing and Services for D i sp laced 
Workers 
(grants of $814,855 and $888,145) 

This project consists of two distinct programs. The first, to be 
executed by the Fundación Carvajal, will develop curricula in 
workplace and job skills training and will provide technical 
assistance to 120 trainers, working in 4 0 nongovernmental 
associations, who will in turn offer these courses and other ser
vices to an estimated 5 ,000 workers displaced from govern
ment and private-sector jobs. The second initiative undertaken 
will be a pilot program to provide practical, short-term train
ing oriented toward the placement of displaced workers in 
new, private-sector positions. The core of the activities in this 

COLOMBIA : DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961 -1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 
the Projects 

Energy $ 2,611,883 $ 5.873,384 
Health and Sanitation 674,417 1,588,488 
Transportation and Communications 609,919 2.496,955 
Public Sector Reform 561.659 825,387 
Agriculture and Fisheries 477.470 1.229,481 
Urban Development 392.347 759.835 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 339.686 1,188,938 
Environment 148,493 306,324 
Science and Technology 103,601 178,170 
Education 60,388 146,736 
Microenterprise 44.000 72,000 
Preinvestment 84,475 87,890 

Total S 6.058,338 $14,753,588 



LOANS AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION 61 

COSTA RICA 

The Bank has made 89 loans totaling $2,196 million to Costa 
Rica. Cumulative disbursements totaled S 1,280 million. 

SMALL PROJECT FINANCINGS 

Support for the Asociación Costarricense' para 
Organizaciones de Desarrollo C4C0RDE) and the 
Fundación Integral Campesina (FINCA) 
(loans of $500,000 and technical cooperation grants totaling 
$230,000, from the Japan Special Fund) 

This package of loans and grants has a dual 
purpose: to improve the income-earning 
potential of target populations, generating 
new jobs in both rural and urban low-in
come sectors, and to strengthen the capac
ity of two primary intermediary organiza
tions. A credit, training and technical 
assistance component will enable ACORDE 
to provide small-scale farmers and mi
croentrepreneurs with resources to cover 
working capital costs (such as seeds, raw 
materials and equipment) through four pri
vate development agencies, Caravanas de 
Buena Voluntad, the Asociación de 
Productores de Mora de Cartago, the 
Asociación ANDAR and the Fundación para 
el Desarrollo del Pacifico. In all, the four sub-
agencies will provide credit to an estimated 
500 small producers, and create 180 new 
jobs. FINCA will pass the funds at its dis
posal (in amounts ranging from ten to fifty 
thousand dollars) through some 20 com
munity banks, providing benefits to an es
timated 500 end-users of credit. Each of the 
second-tier financial entities will itself receive assistance in de
signing strategies for maximizing its resources. ACORDE and 
FINCA will also provide technical assistance to their counter
parts, arranging for the hiring of consultants in areas such as 
finance, environmental impact assessment, agronomy and 
marketing,. 

ÏEARLY LENDING 
AM) niSBlRSKMENTS 

TO COSTA KICA 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

microenterprises. Whereas the 1992 global credit program 
made resources available through commercial banks, the 
present operation will be executed through three non-profit 
intermediary organizations—the Asociación Cultural Sejetkó de 
Costa Rica (SEJETKÒ), the Cooperativa Agropecuaria y de 
Servicios Multiples de la Reserva Indígena de Boruca R.L., 
(COOPEBRUNKA) and the Asociación Protectora de Árboles 
(ARBOFILLA), the first two of which target their activities on 
indigenous communities. Each of the three has focused atten
tion, among the populations it serves, on productive activities 
at the grassroots level. In the case of SEJETKÕ, this has taken 
the form of helping 22 separate civic associations to protect 
their natural resources bases and to maintain their territory and 
culture. In COOPEBRUNKA's 15 years of existence, the focus 
has been on providing assistance in the marketing of agricul
tural products to residents of the Boruca Indigenous Reserve, 

located in the southeastern Department of 
Punta Arenas. ARBOFILIA's area of ex
pertise has been the provision of technical 
assistance, chiefly in matters related to en
vironmental protection, for groups of 
small farmers, women and children in ru
ral districts along the southern coast. The 
three organizations will each undertake 
reforestation and water supply projects in 
addition to making credit available to ben
eficiary families, and will together assist 
small farmers with the cultivation of corn, 
yucca, root crops, fruits, cotton, coffee, 
rica, papaya and cohune palm, as well as 
setting up test plots for balsa-wood and 
calabash trees. 

I,ending 
Disbursements 

Support for Intermediary Agencies and New 
Employment Opportunities 
(a total of $1.5 million in loans and $529,000 in TC grants from 
the Norwegian Development Fund) 

This operation will complement a $10 million Bank loan in 
1992 that has made credit available to small businesses and 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

National System for Sustainable 
Development 
($6.2 million grant from the FSO) 

The goal of this project is to make the Sistema National para el 
Desarrollo Sostenible (SINADES) operational, and in so doing 
to inculcate principles of sustainable development throughout 
all levels of public institutions in the country. The project also 
aims at strengthening the linkages between governmental or
ganizations and civil society, coordinating actions designed to 
integrate issues of social, economic and ecological sustainability 
into the formulation of policies, plans and investments at the 
national level. 

The program consists of three main components. The 
first, a series of training initiatives, involves the conduct of 
courses for 320 representatives of the private and public sec
tors, who would in turn extend the instruction to an estimated 
6,000 individuals. The subprogram will also provide for the 
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EL ROBLE, COSTA RICA. Workers at the Rio de Janeiro 
farm pack ferns to be exported for flower arrangements. The 
business began in 1990 with the help of a $560,000 loan 

from the National Bank of Costa Rica. The IDB supported 
the national agricultural credit program with loans totaling 
$45 million. 

Central America, by the Ministerio de Planification National y 
Política Económica, MIDEPLAN. 

Studies for the Social Development Program 
($1,150,000 grant from the FSO) 

staging of high-level conferences on issues such as the valua
tion of natural-resource assets in national accounts and re
search visits to institutions working on questions of 
sustainability in other countries. The second component will 
focus on operational issues affecting SINADES, principally 
through the integration of 35 separate "sustainable develop
ment units" (UNIDESOs), which will be linked by means of 
information systems and databases established to measure per
formance via a series of indicators of sustainability. The third 
component will concentrate on the consolidation of SINADES, 
and will encompass the drafting of legislation on specific and 
general environmental topics, funding mechanisms for the re
covery of the system's costs and the preparation of an invest
ment plan, to be coordinated with the other governments of 

This series of studies, to be coordinated by the Social Welfare 
Council attached to the Office of the Second Vice President and 
prepared by consultants hired by the Fundación de Coopera
ción Estatal, FUCE, will help the government of Costa Rica to 
develop a series of alternative reform programs benefitting 
low-income groups. Specifically, the studies will be grouped 
under four headings: social welfare, emphasizing a reorgani
zation of public social spending and the agencies involved in 
executing existing programs; the labor market, where studies 
will explore the operations of the Ministerio de Trabajo y 
Seguridad Social and identify mechanisms for the long-term fi
nancing of the country's pension system; education and train
ing, including analyses of ways to improve the access of 
women and young people to the labor market and initiatives 
to extend coverage of preschool and improve the quality of 
secondary school education; and urban areas, with particular 
attention to new designs for planning, financing and manag
ing investment projects (including, in addition to models for 
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metropolitan San José, decentralized pilot programs in the cit
ies of Puntarenas, Limón and Liberia and other locales) and 
strategies for improving the quality of life and infrastructure 
in shantvtowns. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Facilitating Private Investment in Infrastructure 
($1,550,000 grant) 

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

The Bank has made 62 loans totaling $1,332 mil l ion to the D o 
minican Republic. Cumulative disbursements totaled $984 mil
lion. 

LOANS 

This grant, which follows a S100 million Investment Sector 
Reform Program loan extended in 1993, is designed to con
tinue to make the country more hospitable to private sector 
investment. In particular, the operation focuses on the Servicio 
Nacional de Electricidad, SNE, an agency established in 1941 
and subsequently authorized to set rates and quality standards 
in the electric power, telecommunications, and water and sew
erage sectors. Under legislation currently pending in the Costa 
Rican legislature, the SNE would be transformed into the 
A u t o r i d a d Regu ladora de Servicios Públicos, ARESEP, an a u 
tonomous regulatory agency with technical expertise in irri
gation, transportation, the shipment of hydrocarbons and other 
cargo services, as well as each of the areas already mentioned. 
The transformation of the SNE will be complemented by a sec
ond component subprogram entailing the planning or imple
mentation of reform aimed at attracting private investment in 
each of the above-named sectors, examining such issues as the 
separation of the telecommunications and electricity branches 
of the Instituto Costarricense d e Electricidad (ICE), p rocedu re s 
for the awarding of concessions for water and sewerage works 
and the elimination of duplicative administrative controls over 
irrigation. 

COSTA RICA : DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961 -1994 
(In thousands oil .S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

Uie Projects 

Energy $ 994,281 $ 1.017.611 
Agriculture and Fisheries 286.578 424.600 
Public Sector Reform 250,000 380,000 
Health and Sanitation 162.420 245.637 
Transportation and Communications 152.421 2(59.014 
Export Financing 98.100 140,143 
Industry. Mining and Tourism 97.256 133,953 
Education 77.453 146.058 
Urban Development 28.051 49.205 
Science and Technology 23,200 34.000 
Preinvestment 16,137 27,039 
Microenterprise 10.01 o 14.300 

IK\RI , I LENDING 
UVD DISBURSEMENTS 

TO THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

Total S2.195,907 $3,481560 

Community Action Development Program 
(loans of $16.5 million from the OC and $13.5 million from the 
FSO, with IFF resources) 

This program has two main components—a series of invest
ment projects and a series 
of measures to strengthen 
the Fondo de Promoción a 
las Iniciativas Comunitarias, 
PROCOMUNIDAD, the 
decentralized agency estab
lished by the government 
in late 1993 to manage the 
country's "Social reform 
and War on Poverty" pro
gram. The objective of 
these complementary ac
tivities is twofold: to allevi
ate poverty and to promote 
open participation by com
munity groups and other 
members of civil society in 
determining how resources 
are allocated within those 
anti-poverty programs. In 
the investment projects 
component, community 
organizations will apply to 
PROCOMUNIDAD for fi
nancing of $250,000 or less for small-scale infrastructure 
works such as the construction of new preschool and primary 
school classrooms; the construction, rehabilitation or expan
sion of primary health care clinics serving the urban poor; and 
the installation of small water-supply systems, latrines and the 
relining of concrete gullies. Community groups may also ap
ply to the agency for funds to construct 150-person capacity 
community centers. 

PROCOMUNIDAD, as a new organization, financ-
inally and administratively autonomous from the rest of the 
Dominican government, will use Bank financing for the pur
chase of vehicles and the hiring of consultants to design sys
tems to monitor the environmental impact of the proposed 

Lending 
Disbursements 
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small-scale works and to evaluate the projects—based on cri
teria developed in part by beneficiaries. The agency's Board of 
Directors is chaired by the President of the Republic and in
cludes representatives of the private sector, umbrella groups of 
nongovernmental and community organizations, the Catholic 
Church and two government officials. Project funds will be dis
bursed over a period of four years, with monitoring reports 
prepared at six-month intervals throughout the execution pe
riod. 

improve access to and safety conditions in the port, expanding 
its container capacity, improving the coal-handling capacity 
and reducing the need for dredging. In Puerto Plata, the em
phases will be on planning flood protection works and dredg
ing, upgrading facilities for cruise ships and fishing vessels, 
among other areas. In both locales, the studies will contain rec
ommendations to ensure that any works eventually undertaken 
will comply with MARPOL V and other international agree
ments affecting marine environments. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

T a x S y s t e m Modern iza t ion 
($1,930,000 grant from the FSO) 

Building upon the enactment of a new tax code in 1992, this 
technical cooperation will support a series of undertakings by 
both the Dirección General de Impuesto sobre la Renta (DIR), 
the lead agency for domestic tax administrat ion, and the 
Direction General de Rentas Internas (DGRI), the agency re
sponsible for the physical collection of taxes through its 42 
field offices. Working in concert with the Inter-American Cen
ter of Tax Administrators (CIAT), the two agencies will un
dergo a reorganization along the lines of the functions assigned 
to them by the new code. Specific program-financed activities 
include the computerization of the DIR's offices, the develop
ment of guidelines for verification and target auditing, the con
solidation of the Office of Large-scale Taxpayers, and the sup
port of training courses offered by the Instituto Nat ional de 
Capacitación Tributaria (INCAT), the country's tax training of
fice. Overall, the three-year-long program is aimed at increas
ing the domestic tax ratio to approximately 9 percent of GDP, 
allowing external taxes (mainly customs revenues) to be col
lected at levels which encourage greater trade liberalization and 
subregional economic integration. 

Rehabi l i ta t ion o f Puer to Haina and Puerto Plata 
(grants of $700,000 and $900,000 from the Italian and Swedish 
Trust Funds, respectively) 

As a precursor to the preparation of a Port Investment Pro
gram to be executed by Secretaría de Estado de Obras Públicas y 
Comunicaciones, SEOPC, the resources in these two related 
grant operations will allow the Dominican Port Authority to 
contract specialized consultants from Italy and Sweden, respec
tively, to perform feasibility studies, environmental impact as
sessments and complete engineering designs for a l ready-
planned-for components of investment programs for the 
country's two largest ports. Together the ports of Haina (lo
cated outside the capital, Santo Domingo) and Puerto Plata (on 
the north coast) handled approximately 7.5 million tons of 
cargo in 1992. In Haina, the focus of the studies will be to 

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 
I9(il-I994 
(In thousands off ,S. dollars) 

Sector \rnounl 

Total 

Total Cosí ol 
the Protects 

Agriculture and Fisheries $417,207 $ 673.115 
Energy 271.787 365.184 
Transportation and Communications 174,075 262.795 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 136.515 191,628 
Public Sector Reform 102,000 102.000 
Education 69,705 103,764 
Health and Sanitation 53,144 79,155 
Urban Development 33.479 39,710 
Export Financing 13,571 19,387 
Preinvestment 4,706 6,897 
Other 55,887 57.764 

S 1,332,076 S 1.901.399 

file:///rnounl
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ECUADOR 

The Bank has made 137 loans total ing $3,261 mi l l ion to Ecua

dor. Cumulat ive disbursements totaled $2,281 mi l l ion . 

LOANS 

Water Supply and Sewerage for the City of Quito 
($136 million loan from the OC) 

The principal objective of this loan is to improve the hygienic 
and health conditions of the population of Quito by providing 
more efficient and farther-reaching water supply and sewer
age systems. The project would supply 
drinking water to nearly 350,000 inhabit
ants in the southern part of the city and 
would provide 22 residential neighbor
hoods (housing approximately 200,000 
people) with sewer systems, in each case, 
many of them from low-income groups. 
The multiple works components of the pro
gram, which as a whole is to be coordinated 
and executed by the Empresa Municipal de 
Agua Potable y Alcantarillado de Quito, in
clude construction of a 15-meter high dam, 
installation of some 48 km of steel, water-
conveyance lines and two tunnels (3.3 km), 
installation of a 7 Mw hydroelectric plant, 
construction of the first stage of an 850-lps 
water treatment plant, expansion of the wa
ter-supply network (503 km) with 20,000 
new residential hook-ups, and the installa
tion of 300 km of sewers. An additional im
portant portion of the project will involve 
the preparation of an integrated master plan 
for water supply and sewerage, including 
the study of ways to clean up the 
Machángara and Monjas Rivers and development of a plan 
for updating the regulations and design criteria currently used 
in both sectors. The executing agency, newly consolidated, will 
benefit through reviews of its financial accounting system, its 
customer services practices, and an inventory and valuation of 
its fixed assets. 

YFARI.i LENDING 
UVD DISBIRSEMENTS 

TO ECl \DOR 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

600 

500 

400 

300 

2(X) 

forms throughout the financial sector. This operation, a fast-
disbursing sector loan, will permit the Central Bank, as execu
tor of the reform program, to institute a series of changes in 
concert with other economic stabilization and structural re
form measures already underway. 

The basic elements of the program financed with the 
help of these two loans (a $100 million component to be re
leased in three tranches, complemented by a $10 million tech
nical cooperation) involve four main areas of concentration. 
The first is the introduction of a legal framework that promotes 
greater competition and efficiency in the conduct of financial 
and insurance activities (principally through the enactment of 
new legislation); the second, improvements in the supervision 
of the financial and insurance systems (through a series of ac
tions designed to strengthen the analytical and supervisory 
work of the Superintendency of Banks); third, the enforcement 

of a new law redefining the function of 
the Central Bank, accompanied by a re
structuring of the agency and the imple
mentation of a new monetary regime; 
and fourth, the introduction of a re
vamped framework for securities market 
activities predicated upon the Ecuadoran 
economy's need for additional long-term 
savings and investment. While these ar
eas of emphasis constitute the core of the 
reform program, attention will also be 
devoted to the provision of better finan
cial services in rural areas and reform of 
the country's pension systems, again with 
a view toward increasing savings and 
minimizing financial distortions. 

Agricultural Policy Reform 
(two loans from the O C totaling $92.5 

million) 
Lending 
Disbursements 

Financial Sector Program 
(two loans from the O C totaling $110 million) 

In recognition of the need to develop more efficient means of 
intermediation and to develop the country's capital market, 
Ecuadoran authorities have sought to implement a series of re-

This sector loan seeks to ensure that Ec
uador can rationalize the use of its pro
ductive resources and to increase the in

comes of low-income agricultural producers. The operation is 
predicated on the need to make the country's agricultural de
velopment more sustainable, and therefore includes a substan
tial component providing institutional strengthening in the ar
eas of environmental management, entrepreneurship training 
for campesinos and promotion of the private sector engaged in 
agriculture. The financing will be disbursed in three large 
tranches, over a planned-for period of 24 months. 

As means to overcoming distortions hampering the 
sector, the Ministry of Agriculture, as executor, will adminis
ter a number of related policy reform initiatives, including the 
reformulation of pricing and foreign trade policies, a liberal
ization of the legal framework surrounding land and water use 
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and a reduction in the state's role in marketing agricultural 
products. The institutional portion of the project calls for an 
overhaul of the executing agency and a reallocation of public 
spending on agriculture toward activities intended to increase 
productivity and conserve natural resources. Irrigation and en
vironmental management policies will also be recast, afford
ing the Ecuadoran government an opportunity to reclaim de
graded areas and to draw up watershed management plans, 
among other benefits. A technical cooperation component will 
provide the Ministry and affiliated agencies with the technical 
capacity for analyzing, formulating and evaluating sectoral 
policies and for promoting greater equity among rural pro
ducers. 

Restructuring of Transportation Services 
(two loans totaling $82.4 million from the OC) 

This program, consisting of an $80 million loan and a $2.4 
million technical cooperation, will help the Consejo National 
de Modernization del Estado, CONAM, to reorient the 
Ecuadoran transportation sector across the board, beginning 
with a reclassification of the role of the state and the creation 
of a framework hospitable to private investment. As a fast-dis
bursing loan (similar to the 1994 financial and agricultural 
sector operations), Bank resources will be made available over 
a relatively short period of time (30 months) as a means of 
helping the government to implement a series of broad-rang
ing policy changes. 

The program consists of five major components, 
building upon the enactment of legislation specific to the sec
tor, a new customs law, the adoption of regulations governing 
the granting of concessions for highways and diagnostic sur
veys of local labor markets. The first component, consisting of 
macroeconomic, legal and institutional reform, will continue 
the country's process of public-sector modernization. The sec
ond has two parts: privatization of port services, by means of 
which contracts will be let or concessions granted to private 
operators competent and interested in providing services to 
vessels and cargo in Guayaquil (the largest port), Bolivar, 
Esmeralda and Manta, and reorganization of the customs sys
tem, an initiative which seeks to modernize the processing of 
foreign trade transactions. The third area of activity is the de
velopment of a concession regime for road construction and 
operation, which will allow highway authorities to grant pri
vate firms the right to charge tolls on selected roads (e.g., the 
route from Máchala to Guayaquil) to defray the cost of rou
tine maintenance. The fourth portion of the program involves 
an action plan for closing the state railway company, ENFE, 
preparing guidelines for the sale of its assets and evaluating and 
mitigating the social and economic impacts from such a clos
ing. Fifth, in agreement with the Ministry of Labor and Hu
man Resources, plans for labor market flexibility will be imple
mented, focusing on retraining (for workers displaced from 

APG, the Guayaquil Port Authority and ENFE), improving 
productivity, promoting transparency through legal reform 
and establishing alternative dispute resolution mechanisms, 
among other initiatives. 

Debt and Debt-Service Reduction 
($80 million loan from the OC) 

As part of an effort undertaken jointly with the World Bank, 
the International Monetary Fund and the Export-Import Bank 
of Japan, this operation will enable the Government of Ecua
dor to reduce and reschedule some $8 billion of the country's 
external debt to commercial banks. In the context of an agree
ment negotiated with creditor commercial banks in May, 
1994, Ecuador would reduce its external debt to commercial 
banks by some $3.5 billion equivalent through the reduction 
of the debt's face value, lower interest rates, and prepayment 
of interest and principal on discount and par bonds to be is
sued within the agreement's framework. Ecuador will use in 
excess of $400 million in financing from the IDB and the other 
sources mentioned above, along with approximately $200 mil
lion from its own reserves, to cover costs stemming from the 
agreement, including the purchase of collateral. The operation 
will help to normalize Ecuador's relations with the interna
tional financial community and to lower the burden of its ex
ternal public debt (totaling approximately $13.5 billion as of 
year-end 1993, including interest), thereby helping to ensure 
the success of the country's economic stabilization and reform 
program. 

Rehabilitation of Historic Central Quito 
($41 million loan from the OC and $300,000 loan from the PPF) 

The long-run goal of the Empresa Mixta de Desarrollo del 
Centro Histórico, EMD, as executor of this program, is to pre
serve and rehabilitate the historic core of the capital city (a 
200-block area surrounding the Parque de la Independencia) 
and to restore its functional importance in terms of both cul
ture and commerce. The program will concentrate on attract
ing private investment in a strategic 84-block core area, im
proving access, safety, hygiene and upgrading cultural 
attractions. 

The principal components of the program focus on i) 
urban infrastructure, involving the upgrading of sidewalks and 
the installation of lights, signs and benches; ii) construction of 
five parking garages; iii) rehabilitation of the Manuela Sáenz 
Cultural Center, made up of 18th and 19th century buildings 
that will house the Municipal Library, Municipal Tourist In
formation Center, and a Museum of History, and convert the 
17th-century San Juan de Dios Hospital into the City Mu
seum; iv) collaborative projects with the private sector, includ
ing the rehabilitation of architecturally significant buildings 
from the city's colonial and more-recent past; and v) institu-
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tion-strengthening, including the hiring of consultants to build 
up the capacity of the EMD, comprehensive studies of parking 
and traffic management and initial stages of a program to 
monitor and lessen air pollution levels throughout the metro
politan area. 

Social Fund 
(loans of $15 million each from the OC and FSO and cofinancing 
of $30 million from the World Bank) 

The broad aim of this program is to help the Government of 
Ecuador in its efforts to alleviate poverty and to ensure the un
interrupted delivery of basic social services to vulnerable seg
ments of the population while the country undergoes a period 
of macroeconomic stabilization and reform. The IDB's re
sources will be used to allow the Fondo de Inversión Social de 
Emergencia del Ecuador, FISE, an agency set up early in 1993 
and attached to the Office of the President, to finance a variety 
of small-scale social infrastructure projects. At the same time, 
FISE will expand its work with local grass-roots organizations, 
cooperatives and other nongovernmental groups in the area 
of decentralized project management. The majority of the in
dividual projects will be concentrated in the following catego
ries: the repair, replacement or equipping of preprimary and 
primary schools and of primary health care facilities, accom
panied by training for community members in project main
tenance; and the refurbishing or construction of potable water 
distribution and sanitary sewer systems. The program will be 
executed over a three-year period. Individual works projects 
will be subject to a cost ceiling of $250,000, favoring benefi
ciaries with incomes at or below the country's poverty line. 

receive up to $50,000 in equity from the Foundation; and 
technical assistance, which would help NGOs or community 
groups participating in the program, as well as the enterprises, 
with project design and evaluation. In all, it is estimated that 
the program, which will rely on an additional $1 million in 
financing to be raised directly by the Foundation, will finance 
some 20 projects in its first 12 months, and 30 in each of three 
ensuing years of operation. 

Galapagos Islands Environmental Program 
(¥59 million grant—$600,000—from the Japan Special Fund) 

The resources provided in this grant will contribute to the con
duct of a feasibility study as a precursor to the definition of a 
Galápagos Environmental Management Program. The study 
will encompass components on land-use planning and envi
ronmental sanitation for three municipalities, monitoring and 
research activities for the Galápagos Marine Resources Reserve, 
the design of the program's activities in the area of institutional 
development, and a series of technical, socioeconomic and en
vironmental reviews on the overall program. Program activi
ties will be carried out by consultants in coordination with the 
Comisión National de Galápagos (CPG), over a period of 11 
months. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Community-based Economic and 
Social Development Program 
($2.5 million grant from the SPTF) 

As executor of this program, Fundación Esquel, a non-profit 
agency founded in 1990 and headquartered in Quito, will pro
vide financial and technical services to support small-scale, in
come-producing activities of low-income groups throughout 
the country. The Foundation's Community-based Economic 
and Social Development Program will operate via the estab
lishment of an endowment fund, which in turn will provide 
for the start-up of three financing mechanisms: a credit facil
ity to be administered by FINAGRO, the Compañía Financiera 
del Agro, S.A., an intermediary based in Los Ríos province; an 
enterprise investment component, by means of which small 
projects with at least one of three characteristics—featuring off
shoots in marketing and contracting, benefitting low-income 
groups and/or having a positive environmental impact—could 

ECUADOR: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1901-1994 
(In thousands of I \S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries $ 940.873 $ 1.348,812 
Energy 473.049 1,513.753 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 459.218 811,043 
Transportation and Communications 348,928 716,476 
Health and Sanitation 329.422 496,923 
Public Sector Reform 277,666 278,400 
Urban Development 169.648 402,750 
Education 167,362 213.628 
Social Investment 30.250 33,590 
Preinvestment 29,884 51.343 
Environment. 17.975 19,875 
Microenterprise 16,200 18,000 
Science and Technology 1,005 1,151 

$:5.2() 1,481» $5,fH)5.744 
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EL SALVADOR 

The Bank has made 77 loans totaling $2,102 million to El Sal
vador. Cumulative disbursements totaled $1,230 million. 

LOANS 

Road Rehab i l i t a t i on and I m p r o v e m e n t , Phase II 
(two loans totaling $225 million from the OC, with resources from 
the IFF and cofinancing of $106 million from the Overseas 
Economic Cooperation Fund of Japan and $9 million from the 
Central American Bank for Economic Integration) 

The objectives of this large-scale program 
are to improve the general and safety con
ditions of the country's roads and to 
strengthen and modernize road administra
tion and planning. Under the first phase of 
the program, financed in part by a $120 
million loan package approved in late 
1991, the National Highway Department 
received technical and administrative assis
tance, a maintenance administration system 
was put in place and an environmental unit 
was established within the Ministry of Pub
lic Works, MOP. The second phase will fo
cus on policy reform—including a modern
ization of the MOP, training in vehicle 
weight control and decentralization of ru
ral road administration, along with 
strengthening of the environmental u n h 
and on further investments in roads. The 
latter component will include the rehabili
tation of approximately 280 km of inter- ™ 
urban roads and an additional 180 km of 
roads within San Salvador; the repair and 
upgrading of some 455 km of unpaved 
roads; and routine maintenance of large stretches of both ur
ban and rural roads. The works affecting rural roads—taking 
place in areas which have lacked improvements in many 
years—will be of particular benefit to low-income populations 
engaged in agriculture and other small-scale productive activi
ties requiring transportation. 

YEARLY LEM)I\G 
AM) DISBURSEMENTS 

TO El SALVADOR 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

among them the 200-MW Acajutla facility) and geothermal 
generation. The transmission system consists of some 26 ser
viceable high-voltage lines and 19 substations; the distribution 
system, which is overloaded and unreliable as a consequence 
of heavy recent growth in demand and little investment to keep 
pace, covers 62 percent of the nation's residences. 

The components of this project, which is to be ex
ecuted by the Comisión Ejecutiva Hidroeléctrica del Río Lempa, 
CEL, include four major civil works initiatives: construction 
of the Berlin geothermal generation plant, with a capacity of 
55 MW; stabilization and rehabilitation of the Ahuachapãn 
geothermal plant, with a capacity of 42 MW; construction of 
three new 115 kV transmission lines and rehabilitation of an 
additional 20 115-kV lines, together with the building or ex
pansion of a total of ten substations; construction of the sys
tem permitting the linking up with neighboring Honduras at 

230 kV. The remaining principal compo
nents of the program are an energy con
servation program and a series of activi
ties to strengthen the CEL and train its 
staff. 

Electric Power Sector Program, Phase II 
($215 million loan from the OC) 

El Salvador's installed electricity generating capacity for pri
vate use is approximately 817 MW, made up largely of three 
hydroelectric plants, a series of thermoelectric plants (chief 

Social I n v e s t m e n t Fund, Stage HI 
($60 million loan from the OC, with 
resources from the IFF) 

This program, which follows earlier Bank 
loans committed in 1991 and 1993, has 
two principal objectives: to mitigate the 
effects of poverty in El Salvador and to re
define the institutional role and financial 
sustainability of the Fondo de Inversion So
cial, FIS, the program's executing agency. 
In its four years of existence, the FIS, an 
autonomous agency created by the Salva-
doran government to address the most 
immediate, small-scale investment needs 
of poor and marginalized segments of the 
population, has won a reputation for ef
ficiency and secure management of public 

funds. As a result, the government of El Salvador has proposed 
transforming the FIS into the country's primary executor of 
small investment projects in the areas of education, health, 
water and sanitation, electrification and reforestation—allow
ing it to assume duties heretofore performed by ministries and 
line agencies. The specific activities to be contracted for and 
undertaken with the help of these resources from the Stage III 
loan will reflect priorities articulated in the national Economic 
and Social Development Plan for the years 1994-99. In addi
tion, program funds will be used to improve the institutional 
capacity of the FIS in areas including the monitoring of com
pleted projects and administrative and financial procedures. 

Lending 
Disbursements 
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SMALL PROJECT FINANCINGS 

Assistance for Low-income Populations in San 
Salvador and the Department of Ahuachapàn 
(three loans of $500,000 and technical cooperation grants totaling 

$426,000, from the FSO) 

This operation consists of loans to three intermediary organi
zations, the Fundación Antidrogas (FUNDASALVA), Fundación 
Salvadoreña Education y Trabajo (EDYTRA) and the Fundación 
Salvadoreña para el Desarrollo Económico y Social (FUSADES). 
The financings are aimed at improving the ability of these 
groups to help create and/or consolidate employment oppor
tunities for low-income residents of the capital and in eight 
cantons in the western department of Ahuachapàn. End ben
eficiaries in each instance are groups at particular economic 
risk. 

The FUNDASALVA subprogram will establish three 
garment-making shops serving approximately 200 microen
trepreneurs. The EDYTRA component is aimed at supplying 
machinery and raw materials for ten cooperatives benefitting 
young people living in marginal areas in metropolitan San Sal
vador. The third loan will be targeted specifically on women 
producing cheese, sweets and other agricultural products in 
rural districts in Ahuachapàn, expanding opportunities 
through improved marketing and the purchase of equipmenl 
and primary goods. In each instance, grant funds will enable 
the nongovernmental intermediary groups to move toward 
greater financial self-sufficiency and to provide more compre
hensive services to their borrowers and beneficiaries. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Developing Productivity and Competitiveness in 
Small Enterprises 
($2,070,000 grant) 

According to a business census conducted by the Ministry of 
the Economy in 1993, the microenterprise sector accounts for 
90 percent of all firms in El Salvador. At the same time, a sec
ond study has shown, the competitiveness of such firms is 
hampered by a number of factors, including shortfalls in mana
gerial and financial capacity, insufficient attention to quality, 
a lack of market information, deficiencies in maintenance and 
a need for access to and understanding of new technologies 
and productive processes. The aim of this operation is to begin 
to provide expertise in these and other fields to participating 
small enterprises—and to do so through the private sector. As 
executor of the project, the Asociación National de la Empresa 
Privada (ANEP) will coordinate the country's chief business as
sociations in support of the establishment of a network of busi
ness extension centers, designed to provide personalized tech-

SAN MIGUEL, EL SALVADOR. A nurse cares for a pre
mature baby at the Regional Hospital, built and equipped by 
the Ministry of Public Health and Social Welfare with a $15 
million IDB loan. The hospital has 620 beds, an outpatient 
department, emergency unit, diagnostic and treatment services 
and a pharmacy. 
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nical assistance to microentrepreneurs throughout the country 
and across economic sectors. For selected beneficiaries, MIF 
resources will also support training—through the centers and 
individual extension agents—in more advanced forms of busi
ness management, innovations in productive technique, the 
identification of financing opportunities, and in means by 
which firms can collaborate for the sake of marketing and ex
porting their products. 

Restructuring and Privatization of the Energy and 
Telecommunications Sectors 
($1,971,000 in grant and contingent-recovery financing) 

The objective of this financing is to support the efforts of the 
Government of El Salvador to implement a new legal, regula
tory and institutional framework for the energy and telecom
munications sectors, creating a favorable climate for private 
investment and establishing regulatory commissions for each 
sector. The program, which is to be executed by the Ministerio 
de Planeamiento, consists of five components. In the first, the 
government will refine the proposed charter of the Common 
Ejecutiva Hidroeléctrica del Río Lempa, the country's principal 
entity with responsibility for generating and transmitting elec
tric power, and modify other regulations governing the elec
tric power, oil and natural gas subsectors. The second will lay 
the groundwork for the establishment of the Electricity and 
Hydrocarbons Regulatory Commission, empowered to set 
prices, monitor the quality of service delivery, set safety stan
dards and settle disputes, among other functions. In the same 
vein, the third and fourth components will provide assistance 
for the final stages of the revamping of the telecommunica
tions sector. A fifth component, distinct from the other four, 
will help the government to privatize the country's electricity 
distribution companies, bringing their financial statements up 
to date and drawing up an integrated plan for their divestiture. 

mation systems and for the recruitment and training of SSF 
personnel. 

Investment in Financiera Calpia, S.A. 
($800,000 in equity) 

This financing will help pave the way for the transformation 
of Asociación de Medianos y Pequeños Empresarios Salvadoreños/ 
Servicio Crediticio (AMPES/SC), a nongovernmental agency, 
into Financiera Calpia, S.A., a formal financial institution. The 
creation of Financiera Calpia, whose initial capitalization is be
ing undertaken jointly by the MIF, three local funding agen
cies and the Central American Bank for Economic Integration 
(CABEI), will broaden and deepen financial intermediation 
available to the roughly 425,000 workers involved in small 
businesses and microenterprises engaged in trade, industry, ser
vices and agriculture. The MIF's investment in the new firm 
will consist of a basic subscription of shares (amounting to no 
more than $500,000 or a 25 percent interest in the total share 
capital of the organization), which may be supplemented by 
an additional $300,000 in resources after the firm has suc
ceeded in raising new capital. The MIF retains the right to sell 
all or part of its shares at the end of the fifth year following 
payment of its capital subscription and may also choose to sell 
its share to the firm itself at a minimum price that is 130 per
cent of book value. 

Strengthening of the Banking Examiner's Office 
($1,832,000 grant) 

This operation will support a series of reforms and improve
ments in the activities and make-up of the Superintendencia del 
Sistema Financiero, SSF. A key component of the operation is 
the design and enactment of laws and regulations affecting 
banks and other credit institutions, insurance companies, se
curities brokers and pension funds. Work in these areas will 
build upon progress already achieved under the Investment 
Sector Reform Program approved by the IDB in 1992. In ad
dition, MIF resources will finance a second subprogram, in 
which consultants will be hired to provide full-time technical 
assistance in improving the organizational effectiveness of the 
SSF division responsible for the oversight of banks and finan
cial institutions. This institutional strengthening component of 
the program will also provide funds for computerized infor-

EL SALVADOR: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of I IS. dollars) 

Sector \motint 

Tola! 

Total Costo! 
the Projects 

Rncrgy $ 557,153 $ 962.284 
Transportation and Communications 446,819 802,757 
Health and Sanitation 285.401 414,536 
Agriculture and Fisheries 180,373 278,751 
Public Sector Reform 155,669 175,000 
Social Investment 153,371 163,365 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 144.951 144,593 
Export Financing 79,823 114,033 
Urban Development 31.208 59.255 
Education 25.149 31,344 
Microenterprise 24,000 30,000 
Preinvestment 17,707 24.980 

$2.101.684 $3,200,898 

file:///motint
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GUATEMALA 

The Bank has made 72 loans totaling $1,310 million to Guate
mala. Cumulative disbursements totaled $1,162 million. 

SMALL PROJECT FINANCING 

Support for Residents of the Forests of Peten 
(loan of $500,000 and technical cooperation grant of $226,000, 
from the FSO) 

This program, to be executed by the nongovernmental orga
nization Conservation International's affiliate in Guatemala, 
has several general objectives, chief among them the promo

tion of conservation of the 

YEARLY LENDING 
WD DISBURSEMENTS 

TO GUATEMALA 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

150 

Maya Biosphere Reserve, an 
area that is home to some 
1,540 families whose liveli
hood depends upon extractive 
activities, and the generation of 
job opportunities tied to the 
gathering and processing of 
three specific, nonwood forest 
products: allspice, tropical pot
pourri and cohune. The invest
ment component of the project 
would help to create new mi
croenterprises, training 400 
gatherers of allspice in collec
tion methods, other than the 
use of the traditional machete, 
which will reduce defoliation 
and felling of trees and thereby 
permit regeneration. It will also 
expand production of the pot
pourri, made up of dried leaves, 

seeds and husks from the forest floor and mixed with allspice 
oil, and cohune oil, which has potential as a fuel, feed for ani
mals and soap. The project has been designed to include as 
many women as possible as beneficiaries, some of them mem
bers of the Kekchi ethnic group in the vicinity of Cruce Dos 
Aguas, in the central-northern part of the province of Peten. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Strengthening of the Customs Service 
($1.4 million loan from the OC, with resources from the IFF) 

Lending 
Disbursements 

responsible for the taxation of the country's foreign trade, is 
housed within the Ministry of Public Finance and is respon
sible for levying charges that make up approximately 40 per
cent of its total tax receipts. This program, which is designed 
to modernize the DGA over a two and a half year period, will 
finance the standardization of rules and regulations regarding 
both the agency's own structure and its operations (the latter 
in tune with the new Central American Uniform Customs 
Code, CAUCA), training in both academic and technical top
ics for agency employees, and the institution of an informa
tion processing system to manage a broad variety of tasks, from 
the verification of cargo manifests and export declarations, to 
monitoring operations subject to quotas and/or licenses, to the 
processing of administrative appeals and claims. 

GUATEMALA CITY, GUATEMALA. Global IDB indus
trial loans to national financial institutions support credit pro
grams for private businesses such as the GINSA tire factory. 
GINSA used credits totaling $3.9 million from the Bank of 
Guatemala for working capital to purchase raw materials such 
as nylon, synthetic rubber and chemicals. 

Guatemala's Direction General de Aduanas (DGA), the agency 
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Strengthening of Tax Administration—Phase II 
(¥107 million grant-$977,000-from the Japan Special Fund) GUYANA 
As executor of the 28-month-long program, the Dirección 
General de Rentas Internas, DGRJ, will work with the Inter-
American Center of Tax Administrators, CIAT, to adopt the 
legal and administrative measures necessary to become more 
effective in monitoring tax compliance. Among the program's 
principal goals are to set up auditing programs covering at least 
10,000 taxpayers annually, to provide training for some 
1,400 employees of DGRI and to increase the tax ratio from 
the current 8.6 percent of GDP, one of the lowest figures in 
Latin America, to 11 percent by 1996. One focus of attention 
will be efforts to improve the productivity of domestic taxes, 
since at present, more than 40 percent of the tax revenue col
lected by national authorities is attributable to foreign trade. 

Highway Rehabilitation Studies 
($605,000 grant from the Italian Trust Fund) 

A s par t of the efforts of the Depa r t amen to N a c i o n a l de Caminos 
to design a country-wide road administration modernization 
program for the 1995-99 period, the resources made avail
able in this particular operation will finance environmental, 
economic and technical studies leading to the rehabilitation of 
a 101-km stretch of highway CA-10, running between Rio 
Hondo and Agua Caliente on the Honduran border. The road 
is an important part of the 1,875 km of Central American 
highways in the country, carrying more than 1,000 vehicles 
per day, and has already been identified as a priority for reha
bilitation in the context of the future works program. Improved 
safety, maintenance and upgrades should reduce accident rates 
and yield other economic returns, such as lower freight and 
general transportation costs for the country as a whole. 

The Bank has made 23 loans totaling $458 million to Guyana. 
Cumulative disbursements totaled $302 million. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Coasta l M a n a g e m e n t Program 
($800,000 grant from the Swedish Trust Fund for Consultancy 
Services and Training Activities) 

Y EARLY LENDING 
AND DISBURSEMENTS 

TO GUYANA 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

80 

Resources will be used to pre
pare design and feasibility stud
ies for the country's entire 425-
km long shoreline, with 
emphasis on the environmen
tally sound development of that 
area. Many issues preliminary 
to the definition of any eventual 
shoreline investment program 
(currently contemplated as a 
$25-million, five-year initia
tive) require extensive analysis, 
including an assessment of ex
isting legal and land tenure ar
rangements, environmental 
studies and the design of stabi
lization works and measures for 
erosion-prone stretches of the 
littoral. A consortium of three 
Swedish firms will work with 
Guyanese consulting engineers 
on several of the studies, con
tributing expertise in such diverse areas as financial analysis, 
resource management and institutional development of na
tional and local authorities to be involved in the execution of 
any future programs. 

Lending 
Disbursements 

GVA TÉMALA : DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Total 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

Enengy $ 295,177 $ 978,427 
industry. Mining and Tourism 220.412 201,654 
Health and Sanitation 209,379 325.506 
Agriculture and Fisheries 154.360 255.671 
Transportation and Communications 142.747 271.780 
Public Sector Reform 135.662 133,650 
Urban Development 112,172 172,439 
Education 28.268 62,472 
Microenterprise 10,000 12,500 
Export Financing 1,764 2,520 

S 1,309,941 $2.416,619 

GUYANA: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1976-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Total $457,819 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries $ 205,868 $ 286,350 
Education 60,800 67,600 
Health and Sanitation 49.882 57,900 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 37,263 42,300 
Energy 34,231 50,400 
Public Sector Reform 30,000 30,000 
Transportation and Communications 23,400 26,000 
Social Investment 13,500 15,000 
Export. Financing 2,875 4,108 

$379,638 
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HAITI 

4 

GEORGETOWN, GUYANA. A shipment of galvanized 
steel from abroad being unloaded at the Port of Georgetown. 
A $4 million IDB financing in 1991 is making the port 
more efficient by computerizing the customs system, setting 
up control procedures, and training customs officers and staff. 

YEARLY LENDING 
AN» DISBURSEMENTS 

TO HAITI 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

The Bank has made 34 loans totaling $356 million to Haiti. 
Cumulative disbursements totaled $224 million. 

After President Jean-Bertrand Aristide returned to power in 
October of 1994, the Bank was able to begin to reestablish a 
presence in the country and resume operations that had been 
suspended since 1991. On November 7, 1994 a multi-agency 
mission headed by the IDB commenced work on developing 
an updated strategy for an Emergency Economic Recovery 
Program (EERP) for Haiti. The mission consisted of some 16 
multilateral and bilateral fi
nancial institutions. 

The Bank's strategy 
for contributing to the EERP 
is threefold: 

• Launch an emer
gency rehabilitation program 
with income- and employ
ment-generating activities 
and a balance of payments 
component; 

• Resume activities 
under already-approved 
projects with undisbursed re
sources totaling $132.3 mil
lion; 

• Accelerate the 
preparation of two new 
projects in electrical energy 
and road rehabilitation and 
maintenance. 

In January of 1995 
the Bank's Board of Executive Directors approved the Bank's 
first operations for recovery—a $68.5 million loan from the 
FSO to stimulate Haiti's economic recovery by financing key 
imports and essential infrastructure projects and $4 million in 
nonreimbursable financing to establish an Emergency Imple
mentation Unit to execute works under the program. 

HAITI: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of US. dollars) 

Lending 
Disbursements 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Transportation and Communications $119,717 $167.694 
Health and Sanitation 115,474 145,015 
Agriculture and Fisheries 65,300 106,447 
Education 17,311 28,700 
Industry. Mining and Tourism 15.328 24.950 
Social Investment 12,400 23.935 
Export Financing 3.117 4,453 
Other 7.539 8.700 

Total $356,186 $309.894 
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HONDURAS 

The Bank has made 90 loans totaling $1,567 million to Hon
duras. Cumulative disbursements totaled $1,264 million. 

LOAN 

B a y Is lands E n v i r o n m e n t a l M a n a g e m e n t Program 
($19,080,000 loan from the FSO) 

holds with metered connections; sewerage works will serve an 
estimated population of 23 ,000 by the year 2 0 0 2 while im
provements in solid waste collection and disposal will include 
the closing of several garbage dumps and the construction of a 
new sanitary landfill. A real estate census and property regis
tration component will involve aerial photography, the defi
nition of property lines, mapping and lot numbering, among 
other activities. The fourth subprogram will allow for institu
tional strengthening of national and local entities. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

YEARLY LENDING 
AND DISBURSEMENTS 

TO HONDURAS 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

250 

200 

The Bay Islands archipelago, some 46 km north of Honduras ' 
Caribbean coast, is home to a vast coral reef system which at
tracts ecological tourists and thus, if sustainably developed, will 
continue to serve as a potential source of foreign exchange. The 

Bay Islands Department's 
eight islands and 65 keys 
extend over an area of 500 
km2 and have a combined 
population of approxi
mately 24,000 (nearly 
16,000 of whom live on 
the largest island, Roatán). 
The Department's four 
municipalities are respon
sible for environmental 
quality in their own re
spective jurisdictions; in 
addition, a 1993 legisla
tive decree created a Bay 
Islands Development 
Commission to help the 
area as a whole manage its 
natural resources. This 
project will help to de
velop the local capacity for 
planning, management 
and administration—and at 
the same time will provide 

residents of the Islands with improved water supply and basic 
sanitation services. The program will be administered by the 
Secretaría del Estado para Desarrollo Ambiental, SEDA. 

The program consist of four main components. The 
first, providing integrated natural resources management, will 
entail management of roughly 50 ,000 hectares of marine and 
coastal habitats, including the reefs, sea-grass beds and m a n 
grove swamps, as well as reforestation and other erosion con
trol measures, environmental education for resident fishing 
communities—among other groups, and pollution control. The 
environmental sanitation component will finance the installa
tion and/or rehabilitation of water pipes and distribution tanks, 
pumping stations and wells, and will provide 6,500 house-

Lending 
Disbursements 

* Includes I wo laws totaling $35 million Corn 1991 
energy program. 

N a t i o n a l Program for the P r e v e n t i o n and 
Contro l o f A I D S 
($1.8 million grant from the FSO) 

Estimates place the number of Hondurans infected with the 
HIV virus at between 90 ,000 and 140,000. The incidence of 
the disease is higher than in the other Central American coun
tries and is particularly high in San Pedro Sula, where indica
tors are double the average for the country as a whole. This 
operation supports the National AIDS Prevention and Con
trol Program, begun in 1989. Executed by the Ministry of 
Health with technical support from PAHO, the project will 
help to pay for the redesign of the country's epidemiological 
surveillance system and for equipment needed for the national 
laboratory network. Financing will also help start up a net
work of blood banks throughout Honduras, with training for 
health-care givers and for the Program's central administra
tion and management personnel. The operation will involve 
the design of a large-scale preventive education program for 
specific at-risk groups. 

HONDURAS: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 

(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Transportation and Communications $ 383.550 $ 599,089 
Energy 372,168 1,059,665 
Agriculture and Fisheries 275,423 508,645 
Health and Sanitation 170,828 275,173 
Urban Development 75.092 97.731 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 71.992 191,842 
Education 41,744 66,151 
Environment 39.480 48.400 
Social Investment 31,500 35,000 
Public Sector Reform 21.370 21,784 
Preinvestment 14,488 20,533 
Export Financing 8,908 12,726 
Other 60,000 75.000 

Total $1,566,543 $3,011,739 



LOANS AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION 75 

JAMAICA 

The Bank has made 58 loans totaling $1,156 million to Ja
maica. Cumulative disbursements totaled $922 million. 

LOAN 

Board and the Center's staff will each be made up of represen
tatives from labor groups as well as business interests. Project 
participants or their sponsors (employers, prospective employ
ers or unions) will be responsible for paying fees for training. 
Ultimately, the program aims at identifying a workable model, 
replicable elsewhere in the Caribbean and Latin America, in 
which the collaborative labor-management organizations will 
help the private sector to play a greater role in the training 
and placement of adult workers. 

Multisector Preinvestment Program 
($7,850,000 loan from the OC, $3.5 million loan from the Nordic 
Development Fund and $440,000 grant from the FSO) 

Support for the Jamaican Cooperative 
Credit Union League 
($1.9 million grant) 

The purpose of this program is to strengthen Jamaica's public-
sector investment planning and management, strengthening the 
institutions responsible for preinvestment activities through the 
introduction of new means for systematic planning and new-
methods of project analysis. The program itself consists of a 
series of components—one involving general studies (on the 
South Coast Sustainable Development Program and on up
coming projects in the health sector) analyzing various aspects 
of the Jamaican economy and a second concerned with the 
conduct of detailed studies for the preparation of projects al
ready included in the pipeline of future Bank lending opera
tions. The specific-studies component will include work on the 
Solid Waste Management Program (featuring the eventual 
implementation of a national plan and engineering designs for 
Kingston, Negril, Montego Bay and Ocho Rios); the Salt River 
Electricity Transmission System; an urban development plan 
for the northeast-coast town of Port Antonio; and a series of 
six to eight feasibility studies for management of individual 
watersheds. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Human Capital Development Pilot Project 
($3,523,400 grant) 

This operation will be administered by the Work Force De
velopment Consortium, Ltd., which is made up jointly by two 
groups, one representing organized labor (the Joint Trade 
Union Development Council, JTURDC) and the other private-
sector employers (the Private Sector Organisation of Jamaica, 
PSOJ). The goal of this experimental program is to enable the 
Jamaican private sector to promote the development of the 
country's human resource capital, beginning with a pilot pro
gram offering 3,600 workers placement and training/retrain
ing services. MIF resources will be used to help establish, in 
Kingston, a Labor Market Services Center featuring job match
ing initiatives and training in skills—some specialized and oth
ers, computer-assisted, in workplace basics such as literacy and 
numeracy—leading to self-employment. The Consortium's 

YEARLY LEXDIMi 
\M) DISBURSEMENTS 

TO JAMAICA 
(In millions of I :.S. dollars) 

The goal of this grant is to contribute to the expansion of the 
supply of financial services available to small and medium-
sized businesses through the 
development of the Jamai
can credit union industry. 
The Jamaican Cooperative 
Credit League, a cooperative 
trade association represent
ing the interests of the 
country's 86 individual 
credit unions that also offers 
its members a series of sec
ond-tier financial services, 
will serve as the executor of 
the program. The core ac
tivities to be carried out by 
the League and the consult
ants it hires will be, first, to 
strengthen individual credit 
unions in terms of compli
ance with new prudential 
standards, accounting and 
risk management—with the 
understanding that this may 
result in the merger or liq
uidation of some of them. 
Second, the project will provide resources to define prudential 
norms for the League's own operations (as well as those of the 
individual credit unions); to establish legal relationships be
tween each other, the Registrar erf Cooperative Societies and 
the Bank of Jamaica; and to reformulate the laws that govern 
credit unions. Third, the League itself will be restructured; 
equity from the credit unions will be used to capitalize a Cen
tral Financing Facility and individual credit unions will no 
longer be required to maintain a reserve account at the League 
(thus forcing market discipline on the League vis-ã-vis the rates 
it charges). 

Lending 
Disbursements 
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E s t a b l i s h m e n t o f the Office o f Ut i l i t ies R e g u l a t i o n 
($1,452,000 grant) MEXICO 
This financing consists of two subprograms, one to support the 
drafting of legislation and regulatory and commercial instru
ments for the Jamaican power sector as a whole and the other 
to finance the establishment of the Office of Utilities Regula
tion (OUR). The first component encompasses work in pro
mulgating a licensing system, a generation code, a tariff regi
men and rules for least-cost planning, in addition to the 
drawing up of standardized power purchasing agreements and 
related settlement and billing systems. The second will focus, 
following the adoption of authorizing legislation by Parlia
ment, on organizational and procedural issues within the 
OUR—including attention to the development of accounting 
standards, the design of information systems and the acquisi
tion of computer hardware and software. The program will 
be executed over a period of 18 months and is aimed, ulti
mately, at the consolidation of the OUR as the country's main 
regulatory agency for energy, telecommunications, transport 
and water distribution. 

JAMAICA: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1969-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 
Total Cost of 

llie Projects 

Industry'. Mining and Tourism $ 218,201 $ 281,405 
Export Financing 188,999 270,000 
Energy 183,383 357,500 
Agriculture and Fisheries i 36.872 321,635 
Urban Development 99.700 140.000 
Health and Sanitation 93,516 137.120 
Public Sector Reform 83.488 76.790 
Education 81,631 110,400 
Transportation and Communications 56,043 87,150 
Preinvestment 14,250 23,900 

YEARLY LENDING 
AND DISBURSEMENTS 

TO MEXICO 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

1200 

1000 

Total $1,156,083 S1.80,->.!)06 

The Bank has made 146 loans totaling $9,647 million to 
Mexico. Cumulative disbursements totaled $7,525 million. 

LOANS 

Munic ipa l D e v e l o p m e n t Program 
($500 million loan from the OC) 

This program, equal to the largest single financing in the Bank's 
history, is to help the central government of Mexico to finance 
a variety of activities by the Secretaría de Desarrollo Social, 
SEDESOL, enabling municipalities in selected states to better 
deliver basic social services, particularly to low-income popu
lations. SEDESOL will coordinate the activities to be financed 
by the loan through the Soli
darity Municipal Funds Pro 
gram, FMS, an initiative begun 
in 1990 which channels re
sources through municipal au
thorities for small-scale works 
projects whose total cost does 
not exceed $50,000. For many 
municipalities, FMS resources 
are of critical importance, ac
counting for more than half of 
their annual investment bud
gets. 

U n l i k e m a n y o t h e r 
Bank-financed programs, the 
Municipal Development Pro
gram will be administered not 
by a small, ad-hoc executing 
subagency, but by thousands of 
grassroots committees and mu
nicipal officials. Thus the de
sign of the project has empha
sized, up front , a series of 
program criteria and guidelines 

that are sufficiently flexible to allow for careful evaluation and 
monitoring during the program's execution. This will in turn 
permit Bank officials and SEDESOL to confer annually on ob
jectives and the progress made toward achieving them. Each 
participating state will institute a support program for local 
environmental management as a complement to the works. 

Five states have been designated to become eligible for 
FMS funding in 1995—Campeche, Nayari t , Nuevo León, 
Querétaro and Tlaxcala—following reviews of prior FMS per
formance. An additional five states will be selected for each of 

Lending 
Disbursements 
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the overall program's four years of operations. Municipalities 
in selected states will be encouraged to form project commit
tees under the auspices of a state coordinating unit and to put 
forward and execute projects in the areas of street paving, sani
tation, water supply, road rehabilitation, electrification and 
school repair and construction. Additional components of the 
project will support institutional strengthening for SEDESOL, 
a diagnostic study for small and rural municipalities and mea
sures to address priority weaknesses in medium-sized munici
palities. 

Integrated Compensatory Education Program 
($393 million loan from the OC) 

This project will increase access to primary education among 
disadvantaged children living in nine selected states—Colima, 
Chihuahua, Mexico, Nayarit, Querétaro, Quintana Roo, 
Sinaloa, Sonora and Zacatecas—providing improved opportu
nities for children living in small and/or isolated communities 
and for those born into homes where the parents have little or 
no formal education of their own. At the same time, parents 
will be provided informal, first-time instruction in child-rear
ing. A separate component of the program will promote lit
eracy through the recruitment and training of approximately 
97,000 community-based workers, through adult-education 
programs administered by the Instituto National para la 
Education de Adultos, INEA. 

Overall, the goals of the primary education compo
nent of the program are to improve formal primary education 
in 385 municipalities displaying educational indicators below 
the national average and an additional 72 municipalities made 
up of indigenous communities, thus benefitting an estimated 
1.1 million children. In the second major component, to be 
impemented in 23 states, children receiving "community edu
cation"—in remote communities with less than 100 inhabit
ants—will see the quality of education improved in 18,000 
schools through the definition of clear curricula, the provision 
of teachers' guides and other learning materials and the con
struction of an additional 14,000 new schools. In a series of 
activities related to parenting, roughly 76,000 parents will 
benefit from activities designed to stimulate the physical, cog
nitive, affective and psychomotor development of their chil
dren—including guidance in nutrition and instruction in vari
ous means of offering emotional and psychological support. 
Another initiative financed as part of the overall program will 
permit the Consejo National de Fomento Educativo, CONAFE, 
to concentrate on preschooling for a total of over 90,000 four 
and five year-olds in rural communities. 

MONTERREY, MEXICO. Children at a day care 
center in the community of San Nicolás enjoy new 
games and furniture purchased through an IDB-fi-
nanced credit program for small businesses. Channeled 
through the Asesoría Dinámica a Microempre-
sas, the credit program has benefited some 15,000 
low-income families. 
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Guadalajara W ater and Sewerage 
($169 million loan from the OC, with loan cofinancing of $60 
million from the European Investment Bank) 

This loan will improve the sanitary conditions and standard 
of living of the population of metropolitan Guadalajara, 
Mexico's second largest urban center. As executed by the Met
ropolitan Guadalajara Water Supply and Sewerage Authority 
(SIAPA), the various components of the four-year project will 
include rehabilitation of critical segments of the water supply 
system; expansion of water distribution systems to serve 40 
low-income areas; expansion of sewage treatment to the El 
Ahogado Creek and Blanco River basins; and procurement and 
installation of an automated monitoring system for the pri
mary network of the sewerage system. The project will also 
provide for environmental education and public information 
programs—and institutional strengthening to improve the effi
ciency of SIAPA itself. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

/ órnenlo Six in/ liaiianivx, A.C. 
($6.2 million loan and grant combination) 

In a new form of partnership for the IDB, this operation will 
team the MIF with Fomento Social Banamex, A .C , an inde
pendent, private-sector foundation created by its trustee orga
nization, the Banco Nat ional de México, to create a new trust 
fund, the "Fund for the Development of Productive Projects in 
Rural Areas." MIF support will come in two forms—a $5 mil
lion, recoverable investment in the Fund, and a $1.2 million 
technical cooperation grant for project preparation, advisory 
services and other activities provided by the latter during its 
first five years of operation. 

The end users of the support to be provided by the 
new Fund will be varied. Groups as diverse as rural small busi
nessmen, landless campesinos, indigenous peoples and fisher
men will be provided financial support not available through 
the country's formal credit systems. Organizations eligible to 
draw on the new Fund's resources will include ejidos (collec
tive farms), cooperatives and committees established by the 
central government's National Solidarity Program, another re
cent initiative provided to assist the rural poor. The Trust 
Fund's resources will be used to help develop jobs in produc
tive-sector businesses (including craftwork, forestry, crop and 
livestock production and small-scale mining), provide market
ing support, assist in strengthening the financial and technical 
capacity of the grassroots organizations, and help participants 
mobilize additional resources from private and public sources 
within Mexico and abroad. 

J o b Tra in ing for Street Chi ldren 
($745,000 grant) 

Similar to the Job Corps centers in the United States, the 
Fundación Bartolomé de las Casas, FBC, the executor of this 
project, has a proven track record in providing training in 
health, work ethics, and academic and vocational education. 
FBC has also conducted workshops for educational institutions, 
civic and prison groups and health clinics on alcohol and drug 
abuse prevention. This financing is intended to demonstrate 
that cost-effective, replicable programs can be run by the pri
vate sector for street children in areas such as the Cuauhtemoc 
and Venust iano Carranza neighborhoods in Mexico City, 
where the problem is particularly acute. In a 24-month pilot 
program run through FBC's Caracol Training Center, 1,000 
young people will be interviewed by outreach workers. From 
that number 3 6 0 students will receive basic skills training at 
the facility in each of the two years, for an average of four 
months each. Classes will be small—in some cases involving 
one-on-one sessions—and will focus on counseling, life skills, 
health education and leadership, as well as strictly vocational 
topics. In a separate component, FBC will receive financing to 
cover the costs of promotional materials for its programs and 
to help in establishing a private-sector job placement initia
tive. 

MEXICO: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector \ mount 
Total (lost of 
the Projects 

Agriculture and Fisheries 
Industry. Mining and Tourism 
Health and Sanitation 
Transportation anil Communications 
Urban Development 
Education 
linergy 
Science and Technology 
Environment 
Export Financing 
Preinvestment 
Other 

$ 3.555.748 $ 
1.668.712 
1.226.895 

961,028 
600.969 
437,982 
343.933 
296.003 
106.386 
100.444 
72.696 

276.361 

8420.814 
4.576.384 
2.211.370 
1.784.047 
1.029.305 
720.266 

5.880.000 
497,111 
200.000 
143,490 
148.740 
550.000 

Total ¡Üí).fi47.2l7 $2(i. 161,527 
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NICARAGUA 

The Bank has made 67 loans totaling $1,028 million to Nica
ragua. Cumulative disbursements totaled $759 million. 

LOANS 

Public Utilities Reform Program 
($114 million loan and $6 million grant from the FSO and 
$400,000 loan from the PPF) 

By assisting in the reform and restructuring of Nicaragua's 
combined utility companies and ministries, this combination 
of a loan and TC grant will help further the 
government's structural adjustment of the 
national economy and the recovery of the 
country's productive sectors. In so doing, 
the Public Utilities Sector Reform Commis
sion, as executor of the project, will also 
oversee a series of legal and institutional re
forms encouraging the participation of the 
private sector and improving the prospects 
for sustainable development of Nicaragua's 
natural resource base. 

The program focuses on three sec
tors: energy, water supply and sewerage 
and telecommunications. The first step to
ward the institution of market mechanisms 
in each of these areas will be to segregate 
the regulatory and policy-making function 
of the state from the business function of 
delivering services. Regulatory affairs—in
volving the review of tariffs according to 
the economic and financial position of the 
entities delivering services and subsidies for 
low-income groups—will be managed by 
autonomous agencies, while policy formu
lation will be assigned to state ministries. In the energy sector, 
steps will be taken to form distinct electric power and hydro
carbon companies in the wake of the restructuring of the 
present Instituto Nicaragüense de Electricidad. New electricity 
generating and transmission and distribution companies will 
be designed and the current monopoly of oil imports reserved 
for PETRONIC will be abolished. In the water supply and sew
erage sector, a network of regional utility companies will be 
formed as business corporations, in which, initially, the cen
tral government would be the majority stockholder and vari
ous municipalities might be grouped together in an effort to 
achieve economies of scale in service delivery. In the telecom-

YEARL1 Lli\M!\G 
WD DISBlIRSEMENTS 

TO NICARAGUA 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

munications sector, where restructuring is already well under

way, the new regulatory company will be established amid a 
climate in which 40 percent of the shares of a new telephone 
carrier will be sold to private bidders and an additional 11 per
cent will be reserved for its workers. 

E m e r g e n c y Soc ia l I n v e s t m e n t Fund—Stage I I I 
($40 million loan from the FSO and two technical cooperation 
grants totaling $3.6 million from the SPTF and FSO) 

Building upon the results achieved, in part, with the help of 
Bank resources in 1991 (a $4 million technical cooperation 
grant) and 1992 (a $16.3 million loan), this third operation in 
support of Nicaragua's Fondo de Inversión Social de Emergencia, 
FISE, will continue the financing of small-scale investment 
projects in a variety of social sectors. In the initial phases of 
FISE's activities, reviews indicate that all of Nicaragua's 143 

municipalities have benefitted, many 
through repairs to primary and secondary 
schools and the construction of health 
posts. Estimates are that women have 
made up over half the beneficiary popu
lation in education-sector projects and 
nearly two-thirds of that served by the 
health-sector investments. FISE's third 
phase will continue work in these two 
fields, but will extend the range of activi
ties to basic sanitation, environmental 
protection and other miscellaneous initia
tives—such as the rehabilitation of local 
markets and slaughterhouses and refores
tation—that will meet the basic needs of 
communities throughout the country. 
Technical cooperation funds will support 
training for personnel executing the pro
gram for the next three years and in
creased efforts to decentralize operations 
in the isolated Atlantic Autonomous Re
gion, among other uses, and will cover the 
cost of the national population census de
signed to provide a detailed socioeco

nomic mapping of cities, neighborhoods and rural settlements. 

National Rural Development Program 
($30 million loan from the FSO) 

This project will be run in part through the establishment of a 
governmental agency, the Programa Nacional de Desarrollo 
Rural, PNDR, which will assume responsibility for the coor
dination of current and future activities in a variety of fields, 
including infrastructure, credit, marketing, extension services, 
rural training, preinvestment and technical assistance. The 
PNDR is a temporary institutional mechanism designed to lead 
to satisfactory production levels throughout the sector and to 

Lending 
Disbursements 
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MANAGUA, NICARAGUA. The owner of this small 
grocery store is able to stock a wider variety of goods with 
the help of a loan from the Financiera Nicaragüense de 
Inversiones, one of several intermediary lenders that 
channeled credit from a $23.6 million IDB loan for 
microenterprise development. Small businesses employ 
half of Nicaragua's economically active population. 

on marketing, storage, pricing and management) and natural 
resource preservation at the municipal and departmental lev
els. 

Multisector Preinvestment Program 
($9 million loan from the FSO) 

Amid the context of the profound economic changes under
way in Nicaragua, the country's public investment policies 
have begun to focus on the need to increase real growth in 
expenditures, to improve project preparation and to refine both 
general and sector-specific guidelines for public investment 
over the medium term. The Dirección de Preinversión, a unit 
established within the Direction General de Inversiones Públicas 
in 1993, has carried out a review of the preinvestment units 
in 15 entities in various public sector organizations and will 
be the executor of the four-year-long program financed by this 
loan. 

Building upon the review, the present program will 
consist of two main elements. The first will finance specific 
prefeasibility and feasibility studies for projects such as an Im
provements in Low-income Neighborhoods in Managua and 
Five Major Cities program; for Rural Electrification in Four 
Eastern Departments and for three other energy-sector initia
tives; plans for a highway rehabilitation program and a re
search project on sources of water supply for localities in the 
Central-North and Atlantic regions; along with general stud
ies. The second will provide institutional strengthening for the 
executing agency and other planning and investment units. 

restore the private sector, as in all of the productive spheres of 
the Nicaraguan economy, as the principal engine for growth. 
In addition to providing institutional strengthening for PNDR, 
resources from the loan will also be used to help the agency 
carry out a variety of individual projects designed to augment 
sustainable production, including the rehabilitation of feeder 
roads, upgrading of irrigation systems, assistance to small and 
medium-sized producers (in the form of technical assistance 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Design and Implementation of an Integrated 
Financial Administration System 
($1,370,000 grant from the FSO) 

This 24-month program is part of a long-term effort by the 
Government of Nicaragua to reform the administration of the 
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country's finances and focuses on three specific objectives: 
strengthening of the Treasury Department, as both the agency 
that regulates the treasury system and as the executor of gov
ernment spending programs; the building-up of the regulatory 
and operational capacity of the Department of Public Borrow
ing, the government agency responsible for negotiating, con
tracting and administering the public debt; and reform of the 
centralized government Procurement Department. Each of the 
three component subprograms will involve the preparation of 
legislation or new regulations. Overall, the country's financial 
reform program is being managed by the Comisión de Reforma 
de la Administración Financiera y Control Gubernamental, 
CRAFCG, which is supported by the World Bank and USAID. 

mine how best to stabilize production at the Patricio Arguello 
Ryan geothermal electric power plant's two 35 Mw units. The 
plant, located on the northern shore of Lake Managua in the 
western part of the country, generates over one third of 
Nicaragua's annual electricity. Following the completion of the 
plant's second unit in 1989. INE authorities have wanted to 
assess how many additional wells it would be necessary to drill 
to continue to supply the existing plant at current levels, and 
to study whether or not to undertake plans for a third unit, to 
be built to the northwest, the direction in which the 
Momotombo field is believed to extend. 

Strengthening the Customs System 
($950,000 grant from the FSO) 

This program will enable the Ministerio de Finanzas to under
take a thorough revamping of the country's customs system, 
including reorganization of the Direction General de Aduanas, 
DGA, the development of regulations that will be harmonious 
with the Central American Uniform Customs Code (CAUCA) 
and the institution of training programs for DGA personnel 
and foreign trade groups. Bank resources will be used for the 
hiring of consultants to help accomplish these objectives, as 
well as to assist with the definition of new operating proce
dures for the DGA and the design and implementation of new-
information technologies. In order to execute the program, the 
DGA will form operating committees within the agency to 
draw up and carry out work plans for each of the project's 
component activities. 

Study for the National Socioenvironmental and 
Forestry Conservation Program 
(¥82 million grant-$74S,000-from the Japan Special Fund) 

This program, to be executed by the Ministerio del Ambiente y 
los Recursos Naturales, will finance a feasibility study for a pro
gram aimed at reforesting extensive areas of the country and 
training farmers and indigenous communities in techniques for 
sustainably managing small and medium-sized farms and ru
ral properties. As a complement to the basic study, resources 
will also fund a series of consultations with communities that 
will be affected by the eventual reforestation, along with a pi
lot program demonstrating forestry conservation and renova
tion methods. 

Evaluation of the Momotombo Geothermal Field 
($676,100 grant from the Italian Trust Fund) 

This grant will underwrite studies in the areas of volcanology 
and petrography, as well as a new reservoir engineering study, 
enabling the Instituto Nicaragüense de Energía, INE, to deter-

NICARAGUA: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of LIS. dollars) 

Sector \moiint 
Total Cost of 

the Projecte 

Agriculture and Fisheries $ 296.456 $ 598,243 
Public Sector Reform 253,134 362,320 
Transportation and Communications 109.882 192.569 
Health and Sanitation 100.560 153,250 
Energy 78,611 168,840 
Social Investment 56.972 62,500 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 42,404 76.453 
Microenterprise 23.600 29,500 
Urban Development 22,514 39.496 
Preinvestment 9.398 10,773 
Education 9.000 10,550 
Export Financing 1.826 2,609 
Environment 1,050 1,050 
Other 22,618 23.317 

Total S 1.028.023 $1,731.470 

file:///moiint


82 INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

PANAMA 

The Bank has made 81 loans totaling $1,230 million to 
Panama. Cumulative disbursements totaled $829 million. 

LOAN 

Social Investment Program 
(two loans totaling $30 million from the OC, with IFF resources) 

Despite high rates of income growth and declines in the un
employment rate, Panama continues to deal with the legacy of 
the economic crisis that shook the country from 1987 to 
1 9 8 9 . T h e Fondo de Emergencia Soaal, FES, established in 1 9 9 0 , 

is one of the country's 

YEARLY LENDING 
AMD DISBURSEMENTS 

TO PANAMA 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

Lending 
Disbursements 

principal mechanisms for 
channeling long-term in
vestment toward the 
neediest segments of the 
population. To date, its 
operations have fallen 
into four categories: social 
infrastructure, economic 
infrastructure, social assis
tance (principally training, 
nutrition and health care) 
and support for income-
generating productive ac
tivities (including farming, 
fisheries and microenter
prises). 

The present op
eration follows an exten
sive review of FES activi
ties and a redefinition of 

its mission in favor of the promotion of community develop
ment among lower-income groups. Thanks to the installation 
of a computer system making use of 1990 census data, for ex
ample, FES staff are now able to target assistance on commu
nities with average incomes of less than $80 per person per 
month. Activities to be undertaken with the help of this financ
ing include small-scale infrastructure works in areas such as 
rehabilitating, equipping and/or replacing schools and provid
ing teacher training; restoring the operating capacity of pri
mary health-care facilities; repairing or installing small-scale 
drinking water distribution systems; and building or upgrad
ing farm-to-market roads and other similar works as identi
fied by local communities. A component that will provide in
stitutional strengthening for the FES will be financed with 
funds originally lent to Panama in 1987 for low-income com
munity development program. 

PA NAM A : DISTRIBUTION OF LOA NS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Amount 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Transportation and Communications $ 353.127 $ 777.896 
Energy 264,017 540,002 
Agriculture and Fisheries 151,459 236,662 
Public Sector Reform 141,532 141.550 
Health and Sanitation 83.078 117,920 
Education 70.284 108.500 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 55,353 103,516 
Urban Development 52,681 82,420 
Social Investment 30.000 37,500 
Preinvestment 19,979 41,460 
Other 8,340 

lol.il $1,229.830 $2.187.426 
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PARAGUAY 
SMALL PROJECT FINANCINGS 

The Bank has made 78 loans totaling $1,158 million to Para
guay. Cumulative disbursements totaled $702 million. 

LOAN 

Vocational Training Program 
($20,745,000 loan from the OC and $3,503,000 grant from the 
MB?) 

Paraguay's economically active population grew by 5 0 per
cent between 1972 and 1993 and in 1992 was beset by an 
unemployment rate of 14.4 percent. The brunt of the rise in 
unemployment has fallen on the youngest members of the la
bor force and on women. The objectives of the program fi
nanced with the help of this grant and loan package are to p ro 
vide suitable vocational training for people entering the job 
market for the first time, to upgrade the skills of workers ac
tive in the productive sector of the Paraguayan economy and 
to increase the managerial capacity of small businesses and 
microenterprise in both urban and rural areas. The program is 
made up of a sectoral reform component—aimed at increasing 
the efficiency and quality of vocational education—and an in
vestment component, to finance training, as indicated above, 
for targeted groups including those working in jobs where the 
skills base is low and the unemployed poor. Program activities 
are to be carried out in two stages (the first for the reforms and 
the second for the actual, demand-driven training) over a five-
year period 

The program is to be coordinated by the Ministry of 
Justice and Labor and will focus in particular on redesigning 
the Servicio Nat ional de Promoción Profesional, SNPP, the pri
mary source of publicly funded employment training. Initially, 
the project calls for the creation of a new governing body to 
oversee the country's entire vocational training system (to be 
financed in part through an already existing payroll tax) and 
the streamlining (including the provision of retirement incen
tives to eligible staff) of the SNPP. A series of pilot tests will 
provide approximately 1,000 employees with training courses 
in areas as varied as computer programming, plumbing and 
electrical work. The investment component will focus on on-
the-job training for the already-employed, basic courses in 
business administration for those in start-up businesses, and 
community-based skills training to address the short-term, 
practical needs of the local labor markets. The MIF portion of 
the financing will be channeled toward aspects involving the 
Paraguayan private sector—both from the standpoint of par
ticipant in the revamped administration of the national train
ing system and as a provider of training courses of its own. 

Support for the Fundación Paraguaya de Cooperación y 
Desarrollo (FVPACODE) 
($500,000 loan and $295,525 grant from the F$0) 

In expanding the supply of financial services available to the 
small business and microentrepreneurial sectors, this project 
will focus on FUPACODE, a private, non-profit organization 
founded in Asunción in 1985. The operation builds upon the 
accomplishments of an earlier Small Project Financing ap
proved in 1987. As a supplier of both credit and technical as
sistance to Paraguay's informal sector, FUPACODE had helped 
an estimated 12,350 clients by mid-1993, some of them indi
viduals and some "solidarity groups," beneficiaries receiving 
loans of no more than the equivalent of $525, paid weekly 
over periods of two 
months. This loan will 
enable the intermediary 
to convert its financial 
services operations into 
those of a formal finan
cial institution within 
three years and will fo
cus on developing the 
in-house capacity for 
managing an expanded 
loan portfolio, adapting 
credit technologies and 
reformulating informa
tion management sys
tems. The technical co
operation grant will be 
used to provide training 
to FUPACODE staff in 
areas such as credit 
analysis and institu
tional planning. 

YEARLY I t:\0lM. 
AND DISBURSEMENTS 

TO PARAGUAY 
(In millions of US. dollars) 

Lending 
Disbursements 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Agricultural Diversification 
(Y 160.5 million grant—$1.5 million—from the Japan $pecial Fund) 

The goal of this operation is to provide the country's Ministry 
of Agriculture with an improved legal and institutional frame
work, by the end of a two-year execution period, in anticipa
tion of further initiatives aimed at diversifying and moderniz
ing the entire Paraguayan agricultural sector. Four major areas 
of emphasis will support this objective: the strengthening of 
the capacitv for sectoral work of the Ministry's General Plan
ning Directorate, the setting-up of an agricultural and livestock 
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research institute, the creation of a national system responsible 
for providing animal and plant health and quality services and 
a series of measures designed to strengthen private-sector in
vestments in agriculture, including attention to issues of orga
nization, production, marketing, storage, transportation and 
processing. 

PERU 

The Bank has made 124 loans totaling $3,272 million to Peru. 
Cumulative disbursements totaled $2,519 million. 

LOANS 

Highway Rehabilitation and Improvement 
Program, Phase II 
($252 million loan from the OC) 

PARAGUAY. DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Total Cost of 
Sector Amount llie Projects 

Energy $ 286.021 $ 
Transportation and Communications 199.713 
Agriculture and Fisheries 198,831 
Education 131.355 
Health and Sanitation 101.658 
Public Sector Reform 82.093 
Urban Development 80.969 
industry, Mining and Tourism 61.561 
Microenterprise 9,996 
Preinvestment 436 
Other 5,480 

414,012 
267,431 
296.51 I 
166,972 
171,017 
89,500 
94,273 
86,121 
12,000 

582 

Total SI.158,113 Sl.598.419 

This operation, the Bank's largest financing in the transporta
tion sector in Peru, will enable the Ministry of Transport , 
Communications, Housing and Construction to continue a se
ries of works begun with the assistance of a $210 million in 

1991. Two specialized agencies, the Programa Especial de 
Rehabilitación de Infraestructura de Transporte, PERT, and the 
Sistema Nacional de Mantenimiento de Carreteras, SINMAC, 
will repair and upgrade the most important arterial highways 
in the country. The agencies themselves will be strengthened 
institutionally as the works move forward, providing for im
proved planning, management and maintenance. Overall, the 
objectives of the program are to accelerate the recovery of 
Peru's productive sectors and to link depressed areas in the in
terior of the country with Pacific Coast ports and the Bolivian 
frontier. 

The portions of the National Highway System that are 
the objects of the multiple works financed by this loan are gen
erally two-lane highways carrying daily volumes of traffic of 
up to 1,000 vehicles, and bridges. Other works included within 
the scope of the operation are slope stabilization projects. The 
roads are at varying stages of deterioration. A representative 
sample of some 750 km of stretches of various routes has al
ready been identified—these roadways will be scheduled for re
habilitation in the first year of the program. Remaining pri
orities include approximately 1,900 km of the northern 
Pan-American Highway, the Central Highway, the Nazca-
Cuzco-Desaguadero Highway, the Juliaca-Arequipa Highway 
and the Pisco-Ayacucho Highway. 

Strengthening of the Basic Sanitation Sector 
($140 million loan from the OC) 

Following the creation of the decentralized Office of the N a 
tional Superintendent of Sanitation Services in December 
1992, the sanitation sector in Peru is made up of that agency 
(which acts as the regulatory and enforcement arm of the gov
ernment), the policy-setting Office of the Deputy Minister for 
Infrastructure within the Ministry for the Office of the Presi
dency and 36 sanitation companies operating (in 35 cases, ex
cepting the firm serving Callao and Lima) with autonomy and 
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700 

their own capital. Amid this context, the objectives of this pro
gram are to strengthen the legal, regulatory and institutional 
framework of each of these agencies, with particular attention 
to improving the operational capacity of the sanitation com
panies, and to prepare plans for the near-term upgrading and 
expansion of infrastructure in the sector throughout the coun
try (including diagnostic studies and plans for the execution of 
priority water and sewer system rehabilitation projects in ap
proximately 180 municipalities). 

The institutional-strengthening component of the pro
gram will focus on a variety of activities, including reviews of 
standards, policies, rates and subsidies, human resources, tech
nological development and other sector-wide issues. The sub
program aimed at increasing the operational efficiency of the 
sanitation companies will concentrate on the business side of 
their activities, including the establishment of better account
ing systems, financial planning procedures 
and personnel policies and the acquisition 
of standardized equipment for metering, 
billing and collection—in addition to the 
plans for the rehabilitation works. The ex
pansion plans will include examinations of 
the environmental, technical and economic 
aspects of systems aimed at expanding the 
national coverage ratios of 61 percent (for 
water supply) and 49 percent (for sewer
age) surveyed in 1993. 

Multisector Credit Program 
($100 million from the U.S. dollar window of 
the OC) 

This project, the first new financing to be 
drawn on the U.S.-dollar window of the 
ordinary capital account (see section on 
Terms and Conditions, page 37 for details), 
consists of two parts—a credit component 
in which medium- and long-term loans 
will be passed through qualifying financial 
intermediary so as to benefit private sector 
investors in the productive sectors, and an institutional sup
port component, aimed particularly at assisting government 
officials charged with oversight and enforcement in environ
mental activities in those sectors. 

The investment component of this program, building 
upon the progress achieved in a series of wide-ranging finan
cial reforms, will position the public-sector Corporation 
Financiera de Desarrollo, COFIDE, to discount funds made 
available by the IDB for on-lending to intermediaries assum
ing the full risk of individual credit operations. (A series of 
agreements will help to ensure that program funds do not in
terfere with local lending activity.) All projects financed by in
termediaries will be required to be environmentally certified 
by relevant Peruvian authorities; because many of the authori-

YEYRLV LENDING 
\M> DISBURSEMENTS 

TO PERI 
(In millions olí .S. dollars) 

Lending 
Disbursements 

ties and regulations in this area are new, the technical coop
eration component will include an information dissemination 
program to be implemented across various ministries and di
rected at the end users of credit, in addition to the training for 
government personnel. 

SMALL PROJECT FINANCINGS 

Support for Six Munic ipa l Sav ings and Loans 
(a total of $3 million in loans and $1 million in TC grants from the 
FSO) 

Peru's national system of municipal savings and loans banks is 
made up of 12 cajas municipales de ahorro y crédito, CMACs, 
the Federación Peruana de Cajas Municipales de Ahorro y 

Crédito, FEPCMAC, and the Fondo de 
Cajas Municipales de Crédito, FOCMAC. 
The focus of this package of Small Project 
loans are the CMACs, formal, non-profit 
financial institutions that seek to facilitate 
access to credit by small businesses and 
microenterprises in low-income areas, lo
cated in six municipalities—Chimbóte 
(CMASC Santa). Iquitos (CMAC Maynas), 
Huancayo, ka, Paita and Tacna. The tech
nical cooperation grants will be allotted to 
the six organizations by FEPCMAC, the 
body coordinating CMAC activities at the 
national level (e.g. performing standard
ized audits and providing information 
technology) that was founded in 1987. To 
date, the six CMAC have made a com
bined total of nearly 8,000 individual 
loans. The size of the institutions' portfo
lio ranges from S750,000 (CMAC Santa) 
to $1.7 million (lea); in most cases, asset 
growth has been rapid in recent months. 
The end users of the credits will apply the 
subloans for working capital and the pur

chase of fixed assets. In some cases, the cajas will develop pilot 
programs to help with the start-up of small-scale agroindus-

tnal ventures. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

S t r e n g t h e n i n g o f Tax Adminis trat ion—Phase II 
($2.2 million grant from the Japan Special Fund) 

The Superintendencia National de Administración Tributaria, 
SUNAT, working with the Inter-American Center of Tax Ad
ministrators (CIAT) will execute this two and a half year-long 
operation, which follows up on a 1991 technical cooperation 
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that was designed to help the agency on a number of fronts 
and which has been adjudged to have been broadly successful. 
The objectives of the present grant are to help the government 
of Peru to strengthen ongoing tax administration reform and 
modernization efforts, expand the tax base, increase the share 
of GDP represented by tax receipts to over 15 percent by 1996, 
improving the efficiency and organizational make-up of 
SUNAT at the same time. The eight areas of activities consti
tuting the plan of operations are the following: tax auditing, 
tax receipts (focusing on adjusting liabilities and issuing re
funds), large taxpayers (establishing programs in eight area of
fices), collections, operational decentralization, taxpayer assis
tance, training and development for many of the agency's 800 
professional staff and tax information (entailing the develop
ment of a new communications and publicity policy. 

Strengthening the Ministry of Economy 
and Finance 
(¥216 million grant—$2 million—from the Japan Special Fund) 

This grant will enable Peru's Ministry of Economy and Finance 
to set up an Advisory Group for Economic Policy and Sectoral 
Analysis, strengthening the analytical capabilities of the Min
istry and the central government as a whole. In the short term, 
project resources will be used to hire consultants to provide 
analysis in a variety of policy areas, including macroeconom
ics, public revenues and expenditures, the external sector, 
prices, regulation and privatization, health and nutrition, edu
cation, labor markets and poverty alleviation. Simultaneously, 
the Ministry will acquire computer equipment and software 
for modernization of the economic policy database system. 
Program funds will also be used to train permanent Ministry 
staff in the disciplines listed above. 

age of the Inspectorate and other sub-agencies affiliated with 
the Ministry of Economy and Finance. 

Social Stabilization Plan 
($1.4 million grant from the net income of the FSO, with $500,000 
in grant cofinancing from the Andean Development Corporation) 

A country-wide Social Stabilization Plan, aimed at poverty re
duction, will include, among other areas of concern, an analy
sis of levels of poverty throughout Peru; a review of the status 
of institutions, public and private, involved with the delivery 
of social services; an analysis of the country's natural resources 
and infrastructure; a study of best practices in efforts to date to 
combat poverty and the design of a new reform plan to con
tinue that effort; and an articulation of the sequence and size 
of concrete expenditures, as well as the budgetary and fiscal 
implications, associated with the implementation of the Plan. 
An additional benefit of the operation will be to provide train
ing for government officials, academics and nongovernmental 
groups in the use of database management and other informa
tion analysis techniques needed to help refine and implement 
the Plan. 

Modernization of the Customs Service 
($1.5 million loan from the OC) 

This program, which is to be executed over a period of 25 
months, will include five separate components. The first will 
involve a review and systematizing of all of the current cus
toms laws and regulations and the drafting of a new legal 
framework for combatting contraband. The second will focus 
on a review of the National Customs Inspectorate, with ac
companying training and evaluation of the agency's staff. The 
third will provide for automating customs operating proce
dures, including the areas of collection, valuation and inspec
tion. A fourth component will address automation more 
broadly, expanding the use of information technology and 
communications systems among all of the country's customs 
offices. The fifth set of activities are measures to stem contra
band and tax fraud, such as an inspection program to be con
ducted jointly with the private sector, and public awareness and 
community relations campaigns designed to improve the im-

PERU: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Total Cost of 
the Projects Sector Amount 

Public Sector Reform $ 721,332 $ 674,542 
Transportation and Communications 626,784 1.028,001 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 474.368 1.241,942 
Agriculture and Fisheries 456,455 1.168,238 
Health and Sanitation 298.472 521,612 
Energy 242,242 759,505 
Export Financing 176,756 252,509 
Social Investment 100,398 143,000 
Urban Development 56.520 105,773 
Preinvestment 9,590 27.071 
Education 9,028 21,869 
Other 100,000 167,000 

Total $($,271,945 $6,111,062 
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SURINAME 
The Bank has made 5 loans totaling $19 million to Suriname. 
Cumulative disbursements totaled $17 million. 

The Bank's strategy in Suriname has been to concentrate on 
building a strong technical cooperation program and to assist 
in implementing a structural adjustment program. Three 
projects are currently under review—strengthening of the sta
tistics bureau, establishment of a social emergency fund and 
budget preparation and administration. An institutional 
strengthening program for Suriname's General Assembly is 
also under review. 

SURINAME: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS. 1980-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector \inounl 
Total Cost of 

the Projects 

Health and Sanitation 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 
Education 

$ 8,305 
6,155 
4,241 

$ 9.700 
10,000 
10,000 

I'otal $111.701 $29,700 

PARAMARIBO, SURINAME. Tax assistant Sakoer 
Nanhaykhan enters assessments into a data base at the Office 
of Tax Administration. She was trained under a Ministry of 
Finance program to modernize Suriname's tax collection sys
tem. A $3.1 million IDB technical assistance grant in 1990 
supported the program. 
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TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 

The Bank has made 25 loans totaling $592 million to Trinidad 
and Tobago. Cumulative disbursements totaled $327 million. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Development of High-Tech Youth Training Centers 
($3.6 million grant) 

This project will support a highly successful local nongovern
mental organization, Service Volunteered for All (SERVOL), 
enabling the youth training centers run by that organization 
to expand and diversify their curricula in keeping with the 

needs of Trinidad's labor 
market. The target benefi
ciaries for the program are 
16-to-20 year-olds, from 
low-income households, 
who have abandoned for
mal schooling. Approxi
mately 55 percent of the 
anticipated beneficiaries 
will be young women. 
The program has three 
components. In the first, 
focused on education and 
training, programs would 
be improved through in
creased attention to occu
pational literacy and busi
ness skills, and would be 
provided with resources to 
inaugurate specific courses 
involving electronics and 

YEARLY LEMMNG 
AND DISBURSEMENTS 

TO TRIMDM) AM) TOBAGO 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

300 

250 

PORT OF SPAIN, TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO. A 
$24.6 million IDB loan financed expansion and improve
ments of the highway between Port of Spain and Arima. The 
increasing number of trucks, buses and taxis over the past de
cade had brought rush hours to a standstill until the IDB-fi-
nanced project was completed in 1993. 

Lending 
Disbursements 

TRINIDAD AND TOBA GO: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 
1967-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Sector Amount 

Total S392.203 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

Energy $ 268,537 $ 335,000 
Public Sector Reform 81,942 80,000 
Urban Development 71.604 97,240 
Transportation and Communications 51,439 104.398 
Education 43.097 55,219 
Agriculture and Fisheries 30,858 42,898 
Preinvestment. 16.983 19,739 
Export Financing 15,320 21.886 
Health and Sanitation 8.423 20.090 
Environment, 4,000 5,070 

$781,340 

computer-based skills for an estimated 850 students annually. 
The second component will provide post-training work expe
rience averaging 16 weeks for half of the trainees, selected on 
a competitive basis, and will establish a scholarship fund en
abling graduates to obtain more specialized technical instruc
tion. The third component of the program will support the 
program management activities of SERVOL. In addition to 
strengthening the organization's links to target communities 
and the private sector, SERVOL's labor market information 
system will be refined, allowing for adjustment of the course 
offerings at the high-tech training centers to conform to the 
job needs of the private sector. 
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URUGUAY 

The Bank has made SO loans totaling $1,312 million to Uru

guay. Cumulative disbursements totaled $999 million. 

LOAN 

Strengthening Social Sectors 
($30 million loan from the OC) 

This wideranging program is designed to improve both the 
design and the implementation of the country's social policies. 
It is being executed by the Planning and Budget Office within 
the Office of the President of the Republic. 
The goals of the project are to strengthen 
the administrative ability of public institu

tions and to broaden and improve the cov

erage of social services t h roughou t the 
country, particularly in the areas of health 
care and education. 

Building upon previous initiatives 
undertaken jointly by the Government of 
Uruguay, the IDB, the World Bank, the 
United Nations Development Programme 
and the U.S. Agency for International De

velopment, specific components of the fi

nancing will focus on constructing and 
equipping 3 0 small health care and educa

tional facilities (general health clinics, facili

ties for the elderly, and kindergartens), as 
well as institutional strengthening and pre

investment studies. The latter two compo

nents will be broken out among the health 
care, education, labor and justice sectors, § ■ 

including work in such areas as the prepa

ration of health maps and cadastres, studies 
on various aspects of primary and second

ary schooling, jobs programs target ing 
women and youth, and modernization of the country's Su 
preme Court. 

YEARLY LENDING 
\M) DISBURSEMENTS 

TO I Rl (¡I AY 
(In millions ofU.S. dollars) 

auditor of state firms and central government agencies. Par

ticularly as the country prepares for membership in 
MERCOSUR and finds its economy more closely linked with 
partners within and outside the hemisphere, the International 
Audit Department, the focus of this pilot operation, will ben

efit from a thorough review and modernization program. 
Many of the activities of the program focus on the implemen

tation of internal monitoring and quality control systems

some of them featuring improved means of making audit find

ings available in appropriate and timely formats and spelling 
out recommendations for changing agency practices. Others 
focus on a reorganization of the department itself, including 
the classification of jobs and skills commensurate with a rede

fined set of responsibilities. A second major component will 
involve the design of a continuing education program for 
agency employees, under the direction of a newly created 

Training Unit. The third and final com

ponent will result in the issuance of a di

agnostic report for the restructuring of the 
entire agency. 

250 

2(X) 

Lending 
Disbursement 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Modernization of the Accounts Tribunal 
(Comptroller General's Office) 
($1,408,000 loan from the OC) 

In its sixty years of existence, Uruguay's Tribunal de Cuentas 
has undergone virtually no substantial changes in its legal 
makeup and very little review of its functions as the principal 

Strengthening of the General Tax 
Office 
(¥121 million grant—$1.1 million—from the 
Japan Special Fund) 

This financing is providing assistance for 
the third phase of a program, previously 
financed by the Bank in 1986 and 1990, 
the overall goals of which are to reduce 
tax evasion, improve taxpayer services 
and improve the productivity of the staff 
of the Dirección General de Impuestos. 
Over a period of 28 months, the program 
will be carried out by a technical team 
made up jointly of professional staff from 
the DGI and local consultants under the 
general direction of the InterAmerican 
Center for Tax Administrators (CIAT). 
Specific objectives of this third phase of 
the program are to increase the number 

of large taxpayers being monitored in both the capital and the 
interior of the country; to simplify tax procedures for an esti

mated 43,000 middleincome filers; to audit approximately 
60,000 taxpayers using new systems; to introduce innovative 
management information systems in fields ranging from tax

payer registration to the conduct of legal proceedings; and to 
provide training for DGI employees. An additional, overarch

ing aspect of the program is to help the DGI to decentralize its 
operations, enhancing the capabilities of the agency's regional 
units. 
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MONTEVIDEO, URUGUAY. Workers install sewage 
lines for a sanitation project supported by a $26 million IDB 
loan in ¡989. The project is the second phase of a compre
hensive effort to reduce pollution of the Montevideo shoreline. 
The IDB financed the initial project phase with a $78 mil
lion loan in 1981. 

tablishment of anti-smuggling units), the simplification of cus
toms procedures, increased training for 100 agency officials in 
areas such as management, valuation and inspection, and the 
expansion of the DNA's computer systems. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Modernization of Central Government 
Administration 
(two grants totaling $3,690,000) 

Modernization of the National Customs Bureau 
($1.05 million loan from the OC) 

This loan will support the modernization and strengthening 
of the Direction National de Aduanas, DNA and is intended to 
improve the enforcement of regulations relating to foreign 
trade. The operation seeks to reduce the cost of customs op
erations, enhancing customs receipts as a consequence of 
greater efficiency. The primary activities to be undertaken will 
include a revamping of the agency's basic organizational struc
ture (to include an emphasis on decentralization and the es-

In recognition of the need to reform several major aspects of 
the country's public administration systems, this operation will 
concentrate on two areas: the development of a set of staffing 
requirements for virtually all of the units of the central gov
ernment and the contracting-out of support services for hos
pitals outside the Montevideo metropolitan area. The public 
employee reform component is built around the development 
of a system in which employees may voluntarily seek skills 
training to prepare them for work in the private sector. To that 
end, the financing will support apprenticeship arrangements 
(pasantías) established by means of labor conversion commit
tees, along with other alternative private-sector job training 
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and counselling programs, to benefit an estimated 1,500 work
ers in 11 of the country's 13 government ministries. The ac
tivities undertaken in the health-care reform component will 
be grouped together as a pilot program whose main features, 
in the six hospitals chosen for study, will be the contracting 
out of laundry, nutrition, infrastructure and equipment main
tenance and invoicing and bill collection services. The prepa
ration of bidding documents will be administered by a specially 
created technical coordinating unit and will be complemented 
by training courses on unique features of hospital support ser
vices for up to 400 employees of interested private firms by 
hotel management schools and other specialized institutions. 

Youth Training and Business Development 
Program 
(two grants totaling $2.5 million) 

This project, made up of two component subprograms, seeks 
to strengthen Uruguay's system for coordinating the supply of 
training for entrants to the labor force with the demand for 
workers in the context of MERCOSUR. At the same time, it is 
intended to consolidate the means by which private, nongov
ernmental organizations provide labor training, evaluating the 
cost-effectiveness of various alternatives for supplying train
ing services, and, as a result, defining policies suggesting 
complementary roles for the state and private sector in this 
area. In the first component, the Instituto National de la 

Juventud, INJU, will coordinate training for approximately 
3,200 young men and women, placing 800 of them in jobs 
with private companies. In the second subprogram, selected 
Uruguayans between the ages of 18 and 29 will, in addition 
to receiving training from any one of a variety of private agen
cies, be eligible to receive risk capital provided through one of 
two investment firms, Inversiones para el Desarrollo Uruguay, 
S.A. (SALNDESUR) or the Asociación Cristiana de Dirigentes 
de Empresa (ACDE) to start businesses of their own. 

The Universidad Católica del Uruguay (UCUDAL), as 
executor of the program, will provide training courses for a 
total of 300 representatives of labor, governmental and entre
preneurial groups. Training will be followed by discussions, 
designed to lead to joint activities by workers and employers, 
among seven "sector working groups" and by a series of addi
tional, intensive courses in labor relations. The program's other 
main component focuses on research and dissemination, in
cluding the preparation and publication of studies on specific 
economic sectors, the adaptation of foreign labor-relations 
models to Uruguayan surroundings, and a series of 12 na
tional-level seminars on these and related topics. The program 
will be executed over a period of 24 months. 

Modernization of Labor Relations 
($876,200 grant) 

The Uruguayan labor market has been subject to a variety of 
profound changes in recent years—preparation for member
ship in Mercosur and the liberalization associated with that 
integration, a rise in the number of women seeking jobs out
side the home and the need to increase productivity to keep 
pace with new international competitors. In recognition of the 
country's need to create an employment program targeted on 
specific sectors of the population—principally women and 
young people—various changes have already begun to appear. 
The present operation seeks to further that progress through 
the development of a climate leading to prospects for improved, 
purposeful collective bargaining between business and labor 
leaders, assisted by government where and when appropriate. 

URUGUA V: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Nrcloi' Amount 

Total $1.311,791 

Total Cost of 
the Projects 

Public Sector Reform $ 241,073 $ 443,796 
Transportation and Communications 207,898 454,759 
Health and Sanitation 187.043 270,312 
Agriculture and Fisheries 181.751 265,245 
Urban Development 126,783 173,301 
Social Investment 67.598 87.500 
Energy 65.299 162,009 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 37,624 145,627 
Science and Technology 35,193 50,000 
Education 32,869 89.536 
Preinvestment 9.072 16,014 
Export Financing 8,940 12,771 
Microenterprise 7.491 10,000 
Other 103.157 143.001 

$2,323.871 
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VENEZUELA 

YEARLY LENDING 
A\D DISBURSEMENTS 

TO VENEZUELA 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

The Bank has made 58 loans totaling $3,668 million to Ven
ezuela. Cumulative disbursements totaled $1,897 million. 

LOAN 

National Urban Transportation Program 
($70 million loan from the OC) 

This loan, which is complemented by $100 million in financ
ing approved in 1993 by the World Bank and an additional 

$30 million in cofinanc
ing from the Andean De
velopment Corporation, is 
the first Bank operation 
geared toward urban traf
fic control and transpor
tation systems. It is in
tended to alleviate or 
eliminate transportation 
problems in Caracas and 
other large metropolitan 
areas throughout the 
country, and to support 
the transfer of responsibil
ity for urban transporta
tion to the cities. The fo
cus of the program will be 
the strengthening of Ven
ezuelan municipalities' ca
pacity for planning, oper
ating and maintaining 
transportation projects 

Lending 
Disbursements 

VENEZUELA : DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS, 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Total Cost of 
Sector Amount the Projects 

Energy $ 936,373 
Agriculture and Fisheries 669,991 
Public Sector Reform 565,498 
Transportation and Communications 464,974 
Industry1, Mining and Tourism 401,651 
Health and Sanitation 216,115 
Education 174.608 
Social Investment 84,182 
Environment 51,486 
Science and Technology 47,447 
Urban Development 31,871 
Preinvestment 22,035 
Export Financing 1,404 

$ 4.031,900 
1,803,075 
1,270,000 
1,630,600 
1,326.594 

526.596 
378,626 
140,000 
125,000 
94,000 
94,450 
44,694 
2,006 

and systems under their jurisdictions, particularly in the realm 
of public transit. Activities undertaken in each of the five par
ticipating localities (Valencia, San Cristóbal, Maracay, 
Barcelona-Puerto La Cruz and Caracas) will emphasize efforts 
to make transportation accessible to low-income populations, 
to curb pollution and to improve safety. 

The executing agency for the program, the Fondo 
National de Transporte Urbano, FONTUR, will receive insti
tutional strengthening in one of the program's three main com
ponents, allowing the agency to work with the municipalities 
on issues such as improving traffic policing. In a second com
ponent, resources will be applied in the form of investments in 
urban transit infrastructure and the maintenance and rehabili
tation of roads. A third component will finance a range of de
sign and feasibility studies for both participating and non-par
ticipating municipalities. Throughout all phases of the project, 
FONTUR and the municipalities will concentrate on mecha
nisms for increasing the involvement of the private sector in 
public transit investment and service delivery. 

Total $3,667,635 $11,467.341 
\ 
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REGIONAL 

The Bank has made 46 regional loans totaling $2,114 million. 
Cumulative disbursements totaled $1,662 million. 

TECHNICAL COOPERATION 

Innovation and Internationalization among Small 
and Medium-sized Businesses 
($8.7 million in grants from the FSO and the MIF) 

This is the second phase of Bank support for the Programa 
Bolivar, a highly successful, innovative 
mechanism by means of which eligible re
gional businesses forge partnerships with 
other firms and research institutions, both 
within and outside the region, so as to in
crease their participation in international 
markets and introduce flexibility in the de
sign and production of the goods and ser
vices they sell. The second phase of the pro
gram will provide for the creation of 
Program offices in seven countries—Belize, 
the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Gua
temala, Honduras, Nicaragua and 
Panama—in addition to the 13 already es
tablished. From its inception, the Program 
has been rooted in the concept that Latin 
American and Caribbean small businesses 
can profit from assistance in obtaining the 
"externalities" essential for international 
competitiveness, among them legal, finan
cial, scientific and technological advisory 
services. 

Evaluations conducted during and 
after the first phase of the Program's activi
ties have shown that the 14 national Latin American Agen 
cies for Science and Business (ENLACEs) set up under the aus 

REGIONAL 
YEARLY LENDING 

AM) DISBURSEMENTS 
(In millions oft .S. dollars) 

pices of the Program have reviewed 600 proposals from 

technical and economic points of view, yielding 300 instances 
in which potential partnerships were identified and 50 cases 
in which letters of intent have been signed to establish actual 
business partnerships. During the second phase, an additional 
six ENLACE agencies will be inaugurated and a number of 
new "antenna" offices, located in the interior of several coun
tries, will be added to the 3 1 such locations already up and 
running. Officials in the Program's Secretariat will also help 
to identify and support additional referral centers, where en
trepreneurs and investors can be matched, in the United States, 
Europe and Japan. 

E l i m i n a t i o n o f River B l i n d n e s s 
(two grants totaling $3.5 million from the SPTF and a third for 
$500,000 from the FSO) 

Onchocerciasis, or river blindness threat
ens an estimated four million people in the 
Americas, most of them living in Brazil, 
Colombia, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico 
and Venezuela. The incidence of the dis
ease should dramatically decrease over the 
five-year life of this project, principally 
through the delivery of four million doses 
of Ivermectin, a safe and effective drug for 
treating the disease. The Bank's participa
tion in the project comes in the context of 
establishing, in the six target countries, 
coordinated plans to interrupt the trans
mission of the disease. The strategies, in 
turn, will consist of programs in epidemi
ology, mapping, health education and 
health management information systems. 
In the health education component, in 
particular, community-based volunteers 
will be placed in charge of treatment cam
paigns and will collaborate with the two 
executing agencies—the U.S.-based River 
Blindness Foundation and the 

Onchocerciasis Elimination Program in the Americas, head
quartered in Guatemala. 

I m m u n i z a t i o n Program 
(two grants totaling $2,535,000 from the FSO) 

Lending 
Disbursements 

CARACAS, VENEZUELA. Some 6,200 kilometers of 
highways are being repaired with the help of a $71.6 mil
lion IDB loan. The project will help de congest traffic in 
the capital by spurring development of other regions. It 
also will lower transport costs, improving the marketing 
of agricultural products. IDB financing covers only part 
of the project's total cost of $240 million. 

These two programs, to be administered by the Pan American 
Health Organization (PAHO), have a series of objectives to be 
pursued by national authorities seeking to control communi
cable diseases. In broad outline, the goals are to eradicate neo
natal tetanus and measles (and to consolidate the eradication 
of poliomyelitis), on the one hand, and to evaluate the effec
tiveness of informational and educational programs concern
ing AIDS, on the other. More specifically, components will 
consist of actual preventive immunization programs executed 
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over a three-year period, including technical work in areas 
such as epidemiological surveillance, virology, health educa
tion and training (up to 540 short courses benefitting approxi
mately 11,000 health officials throughout the region), and ini
tiatives focussed on AIDS prevention, including the use of 
teleconferences and videos targeted at selected community 
groups. 

Support for the Secretariat of the Amazon 
Cooperation Treaty and the Latin American and 
Caribbean Commission on Development and 
Environment 
(grants totaling $2 million from the FSO, cofinanced by a $500,000 
grant from the UNDP) 

This operation consists of three subprograms which together 
will support the activities of environmental management agen
cies and related authorities operating in the region. In particu
lar, the activities to be coordinated over the 39-month life of 
the project will focus on developing common methodologies 
for the application of geographic information systems, promot
ing the adoption of ecological and economic zoning as criteria 
for decisions regarding the future development of the 8 mil
lion km2-wide region. Building upon the work begun under 
the terms of a 1991 technical cooperation, the present pro
gram will channel resources through the Amazon Coopera
tion Treaty (TCA) and its specialized subagencies in order to 
harmonize and standardize the design and implementation of 
environmental policies in the eight member countries of the 
TCA—Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Guyana, Peru, 
Suriname and Venezuela. It will also support the Latin Ameri
can and Caribbean Commission on Development and Envi
ronment, an agency charged with assisting regional govern
ments with the implementation of Agenda 21, the blueprint 
agreed to at the 1992 U.N. Conference on Environment and 
Development. 

Conference and Training for Labor Leaders 
($1,780,000 in grants from the FSO) 

This operation, the first of its kind for the Bank, consists of 
two distinct subprograms—the first, a series of seminars in la
bor economics for representatives of workers' organizations 
from each of the IDB's 26 borrowing member countries, and 
the second, a two-day conference on "Social Dialogue for De
velopment, Democracy and Equity," held in January 1995 in 
Caracas in coordination with the Organización Regional 
Interamericana de Trabajadores, ORIT. The training for labor 
leaders, generally but not necessarily affiliated with ORIT or 
the Caribbean Congress of Labour, will come in the form of 
three-week courses at one of four academic centers—The Cen
ter for Trade Union Studies of Economics at the State Univer
sity of Campinas, in Brazil; the Labor Studies Institute 

(IESTRA) at the National University of Costa Rica ; the Labor 
Relations Program at the University of Chile; and the Trade 
Union Education Institute of the Kingston, Jamaica campus of 
the University of the West Indies. The conference will build 
upon a November, 1992, Washington conference organized 
by the Bank and ORIT and will bring together delegates from 
labor organizations throughout the hemisphere, as well as rep
resentatives of governments, the private sector and multilat
eral institutions. 

Regional Education Reform 
(two grants totaling $1,590,000 from the FSO and the SPTF) 

The main goal of this operation is to place the issue of educa
tional reform high on the policy agenda of countries through
out the region. It will benefit six selected countries—Brazil, Co
lombia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Nicaragua and 
Peru—and will be executed by the Corporación de Investigaciones 
para el Desarrollo, CINDE, an independem academic institu
tion in Chile, with the support of the Washington, D.C.-based 
Inter-American Dialogue. The program seeks to stimulate de
bate on educational reform in the designated countries, includ
ing groups such as trade unions, political parties, religious 
groups and the media, among others in the shaping of new-
policies and the proposal of sectoral reforms. Among the spe
cific activities to be financed with project resources are the 
compilation of studies—some in a national context and others 
drawing on "best practices" in educational policy reform 
throughout the region and abroad; the convening of subre-
gional symposia on educational issues; and the preparation and 
broad dissemination of a final report/agenda. 

Caribbean Environmental Network Program 
($1 million grant from the FSO) 

This project aims at strengthening the coastal resources man
agement capabilities of the 17 member countries of the Bank 
that are located within the sphere of operations of the United 
Nations' Caribbean Environment Programme. It will be fi
nanced jointly by the Bank's grant and a contribution of 
$361,000 from the United Nations Environment Programme. 
One subprogram will establish an environmental information 
management system, to be known as CEPNET, allowing sur
veys and analyses of existing systems to be conducted and lead
ing to the implementation of a pilot program, over a 27-month 
execution period, in six of the eligible countries. A second sub
program will support a Technical Advisory Service which will 
in turn assist national environmental agencies with diagnostic 
studies, institutional strengthening, the development of train
ing materials, control of marine pollution and environmental 
impact assessments. 
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Support for Widening Caribbean Integration 
($900,000 grant from the FSO) 

While their number has been increasing in recent years, there 
remain relatively few mechanisms by means of which the En
glish-speaking Caribbean Community (CARICOM) member 
states can interact with their Spanish-speaking neighbors. At 
the same time, within CARICOM itself, there is a need for 
strengthening economic and commercial ties. The overall ob
jectives of this operation, accordingly, are 1) to support the 
emerging linkages between CARICOM and other subregional 
groupings in the Caribbean littoral, promoting greater num
bers of exchanges among the countries of the Wider Carib
bean, and 2) to further progress toward the creation of a single 
Caribbean Common Market. Six component activities will 
contribute to the pursuit of these objectives. The first two are 
related to "widening": development of an information network 
between CARICOM and other subregional organizations and 
strengthening of the already-existing economic and trade in
formation systems used by the CARICOM Secretariat. The re
maining initiatives involve the preparation of action plans and 
studies related to the CARICOM members' policies regarding 
private sector investment; the operation of and legal frame
works surrounding labor markets and labor mobility; an 
analysis of the financial instruments that can be used within 
the subregion to promote savings and investment; and a series 
of publications, seminars and other vehicles for publicizing the 
recommendations and results contained in each of these re
ports and plans. 

MULTILATERAL INVESTMENT FUND 

Support for Profund Internacional, S. A. 
($3 million) 

Profund International is a newly created, specialized regional 
investment fund, incorporated in Panama, which will identify 
and invest in Latin American financial institutions and non
governmental organizations providing services to microentre
preneurs and small businesses. In this operation, the MIF will 
subscribe to shares of redeemable preferred (along with a much 
smaller amount of common) stock and may liquidate its in
vestment no later than December 3 1, 2006. In the interim the 
MIF, like other shareholders in the fund, will receive a cumu
lative dividend of 5 percent on its investment. The MIF will be 
represented on Profund's Board of Directors. 

The end beneficiaries of Profund's own lending and 
investments will fall into one of two categories—either non
governmental institutions that are in the process of being trans
formed into financial institutions themselves, or joint ventures 
in which larger financial institutions are seeking partners 
among smaller, start-up enterprises. As a rule, the small busi

nesses supported by the fund will have fewer than 100 em
ployees and less than $200,000 in assets. Initial estimates in
dicate that once Profund's initial capitalization is complete (at 
$12 million, by the end of 1994), it would provide equity or 
quasi-equity financing to as many as eight beneficiaries in its 
first year—and that those intermediary beneficiaries would in 
turn assist an estimated 18,600 microentrepreneurs and small 
businesses with loans ranging from $350 to $20,000. 

Harmonization of Central American Capital 
Markets 
($2,150,000 grant and $750,000 on a contingent recovery basis) 

With the harmonization of Central American capital markets 
already underway, the aim of this operation is to establish a 
regional clearing and settlement system, setting up common 
standards for regulation of the nine existing exchanges. Spe
cifically, the financing will provide for the creation, in each of 
the beneficiary countries, of Central Securities Depositories 
(CSDs) to guarantee individual trades (especially important for 
cross-border investments) and provide a means of safe-custody 
for securities. The CSDs will aim, over the course of the next 
several years, at a goal of having all trades settled no later than 
the day immediately following the initial transaction. In addi
tion, the program will institute regulations requiring the dis
closure of appropriate prospectus information. Anticipating the 
ultimate goal of establishing a single, integrated regional mar
ket, the operation will also provide resources for the purchase 
of hardware and software needed to ensure the efficient func
tioning of the CSDs. The compatibility of the CSDs, and the 
coordination of the program as a whole, will be the responsi
bility of the executing agency, the Asociación de Bolsas de 
Comercio de Centro América, BOLCEN. 

Harmonization of Caribbean Capital Markets 
($2,204,290 grant) 

This project seeks to establish standards, applicable in at least 
the five participating member exchanges (The Bahamas Stock 
Exchange Limited, Securities Exchange of Barbados, Bolsa de 
Valores de Santo Domingo in the Dominican Republic, Jamaica 
Stock Exchange and Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange) for 
trading, clearing and settlement systems and to implement self-
regulatory mechanisms for each market. Similar in design and 
scope to the subregional program for Central American ex
changes (see above), MIF resources will be used to establish 
central securities depositories (CSDs), capitalized sufficiently to 
guarantee each trade, thereby increasing investor safeguards 
and paving the way for greater harmonization of market mar
kets. The present 18-month integration effort will begin with 
selected markets of jittering sizes (ranging from the Bahamas, 
which is just beginning operations, to Jamaica, with a trading 
volume of roughly $350 million in 1993) but is aimed at ex-
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tending to the wider Caribbean (consistent with a CARICOM 
initiative to include Guyana, Haiti, Suriname and the Organi
zation of Eastern Caribbean States member countries) and be
yond. 

Microenterprise Training Program 
($1,615,178 grant) 

This program will be executed in three countries by affiliates 
of the international nongovernmental organization ACCIÓN 
International, and coordinated through a center set up by the 
latter in Bogotá, Colombia, the Centro Action Microempresarial, 
CAM. Designed in coordination with other Bank projects 
among them several country-specific microenterprise credit 

funds, a 1992 technical cooperation and the MIF operations 
benefitting the Gateway Fund and Profund, described above, 
activities will focus on the provision of practical and effective 
training, as well as educational services, to entrepreneurs in the 
informal sectors of Argentina, Colombia and Nicaragua. N o 
tably, unlike many of the highly regarded and successful ini
tiatives of CAM and ACCIÓN affiliates, the emphasis in this 
project will be nonfinancial services, specifically on the inven
tion of better technologies for training in the areas of business 
management, technical skills, human and organizational de
velopment, and specialized programs for rural beneficiaries. A 
second stage of the program will involve microentrepreneurial 
training in Chile and Guatemala. 

REGIONAL: DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS. 1961-1994 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Amount 

Total 

Total Cost Of 
Uie Projects 

Energy $1.156.826 $ 7,228,418 
Transportation and Communications 138.720 218,216 
Environment 130.000 731,600 
Education 65,948 105,410 
Industry, Mining and Tourism 58,580 211,615 
Preinvestment 26.566 58,752 
Agriculture and Fisheries 10,267 49,430 
Urban Development 5.465 10,000 
Other 521,899 1,790,999 

82,114.271 S10.404.440 
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STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOAMS, 191)4' 
Ordinary Capital 

Country 

ARGENTINA 

Project 

SUPPORT FOR CONVERSION OF ORGANIZATIONS IN THE 
PRODUCTIVE SECTORS 

CONSOLIDATION OF PUBLIC SECTOR FINANCIAL AND 

ADMINISTRATIVE REFORM 
DEVELOPMENT OF MUNICIPAL INSTITUTIONS AND 

SOCIAL INVESTMENT PROGRAM 
EDUCATIONAL INVESTMENT REFORM 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Loan Millions of 
Number U.S. Dollars) 

(816/OC-AR) 

(826/OC-AR) 

(830/OC-AR) 
(845/OC-AR) 

132 

47 

180 
300 

BAHAMAS 

BARBADOS 

BRAZIL 

IMPROVEMENTS IN PRIMARY AND 
SECONDARY EDUCATION 

COASTAL CONSERVATION PROGRAM 

(848/OC-BH) 

(856/OC-BA) 

21 

3.6 

INSTITUTIONAL STRENGTHENING FOR THE MINISTRY 

OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS (814/OC-BR) 10 
TOURISM DEVELOPMENT IN THE NORTHEAST (841/OC-BR) 400 
SÃO PAULO COMMUTER TRAIN SYSTEM (844/OC-BR) 420 
DRAINAGE PROGRAM IN THE CITY OF SÃO PAULO, STAGE II (849/OC-BR) 302 

CHILE 

DOMINICAN 
REPUBLIC 

ECUADOR 

EL SALVADOR 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM, STAGE III 

COMMUNITY ACTION DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

SOCIAL FUND 
REHABILITATION OF HISTORIC CENTRAL QUITO 
WATER SUPPLY AND SEWERAGE FOR THE CITY OF QUITO 
AGRICULTURAL POLICY REFORM 
AGRICULTURAL POLICY REFORM 
FINANCIAL SECTOR PROGRAM 
FINANCIAL SECTOR PROGRAM 
RESTRUCTURING OF TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 
RESTRUCTURING OF TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 
DEBT AND DEBT-SERVICE REDUCTION 

SOCIAL INVESTMENT FUND, STAGE III 
ELECTRIC POWER SECTOR PROGRAM, STAGE II 
ROAD REHABILITATION AND IMPROVEMENT, PHASE II 
ROAD REHABILITATION AND IMPROVEMENT, PHASE II 

(853/OC-CH) 

(819/OC-EC) 
(822/OC-EC) 
(823/OC-EC) 
(831 ADC-EC) 

(832/OC-EO 
(833/OC-EC) 
(834/OC-EC) 
(842/OC-EC) 
(843/OC-EO 
(850/OC-EC) 

75 

(825/OC-DR) 16.52 

(829/OC-ES) 
(838/OC-ES) 
(839/OC-ES) 
(840/OC-ES) 

15 
41 

136 

80 
12.5 

100 

10 
80 

2.4 

80 

60' 
215 
195 
30-

GUATEMALA STRENGTHENING OF THE CUSTOMS SERVICE (828/OC-GU) 1.4 
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STATEMENT OF APPROVED LOANS, lf)f)4' 
Ordinary Capital 

Country Project 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Loan Millions of 
Number U.S. Dollars) 

JAMAICA 

MEXICO 

MULTISECTOR PREINVESTMENT PROGRAM 

GUADALAJARA WATER AND SEWERAGE 
MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
INTEGRATED COMPENSATORY EDUCATION PROGRAM 

(835/OC-JA) 

(810/OC-ME) 
(837/OC-ME) 
(846/OC-ME) 

7.85 

169 
500 
393 

PANAMA 

PARAGUAY 

PERU 

URUGUAY 

VENEZUELA 

SOCIAL INVESTMENT PROGRAM 
SOCIAL INVESTMENT PROGRAM 

VOCATIONAL TRAINING PROGRAM 

CUSTOMS MODERNIZATION PROGRAM 
HIGHWAY REHABILITATION AND 

IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM, STAGE II 
STRENGTHENING OF THE BASIC 

SANITATION SECTOR 
MULTISECTOR CREDIT PROGRAM 

MODERNIZATION OF THE NATIONAL CUSTOMS 
BUREAU 

STRENGTHENING SOCIAL SECTORS 
MODERNIZATON OF THE ACCOUNTS TRIBUNAL 

NATIONAL URBAN TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM 

' Variable interest rate on outstanding balance is established semi-annually. 
2 Interest rate charges partially defrayed by Intermediate Financing Facility. 

(854/OC-PN) 
(855/OC-PN) 

(851 ADC-PR) 

(820/OC-PE) 

(836/OC-PE) 

(847/OC-PE) 
(852/OC-PE) 

(815/OC-UR) 
(811/OC-UR) 
(827/OC-UR) 

(818/OC-VE) 

21.7 

8.32 

20.75 

1.5 

252 

140 
100 

1.05 
30 

1.41 

70 
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STATEMENT OF APPRO] ED LOANS. 101)4' 
Fund for Special Operations 

Country Project 

Amount 
(Expressed in 

Loan Millions of 
Number U.S. Dollars) 

ARGENTINA 

BOLIVIA 

COLOMBIA 

DOMINICAN 
REPUBLIC 

ECUADOR 

SUPPORT FOR CONVERSION OF ORGANIZATIONS 
IN THE PRODUCTIVE SECTORS 

DEVELOPMENT OF MUNICIPAL INSTITUTIONS AND 
SOCIAL INVESTMENT PROGRAM 

TAX POLICY AND ADMINISTRATION 
STRENGTHENING OF THE MINISTRY OF SUSTAINABLE 

DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT 
EDUCATION REFORM 
MULTISECTOR GLOBAL CREDIT PROGRAM, PHASE II 

PACIFIC COAST SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM 

COMMUNITY ACTION DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

SOCIAL FUND 

(925/SF-AR) 

(932/SF-AR) 

(924/SF-BO) 

(929/SF-BO) 
(931/SF-BO) 
(939/SF-BO) 

(926/SF-CO) 

(930/SF-DR) 

(928/SF-EC) 

22 

30 

3.34 

19 
80 
70 

40 

13.5 

15 

HONDURAS 

NICARAGUA 

ENERGY SECTOR HYBRID LOAN - ADDITIONAL FINANCING2 (936/SF-HO) 14.82 
ENERGY SECTOR HYBRID LOAN - ADDITIONAL FINANCING2 (937/SF-HO) 20 
BAY ISLANDS ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PROJECT (938/SF-HO) 19.08 

NATIONAL RURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
PUBLIC UTILITIES REFORM PROGRAM 
MULTISECTOR PREINVESTMENT PROGRAM 
EMERGENCY SOCIAL INVESTMENT FUND, STAGE III 

(927/SF-NI) 
(933/SF-NI) 
(934/SF-NI) 
(935/SF-NI) 

' Interest rates on Fund for Special Operations loans van' from 1 to 4 percent, depending on the stage of development of the country 
and the nature of the project. 

- These loans refer to a program originally financed by loans 664/OC-HO, 645/OC-HO, and 868/SF-HO, each approved in 1991. 

30 
114 

9 
40 



OCHO RIOS, JAMAICA. Workers install drainage syste. 
for a highway bypass that will alleviate traffic, congestion in 
downtown Ocho Rios. Bank loans totaling $36 million helped 
improve public services in seven regions selected because they 
play a key role in strengthening the Jamaican economy. Project 
funds were used to rebuild roads, sewerage, schools, health cen

ters and bus terminals. 
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GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 
(In percent) 

T\B1.K I 

Proportion of Regional GDP 

1970 
1979 

\v erases 

1980 
1989 

1990 
1994 

1900 
1969 

Real Growth Rales 

\niuiiil Averages 

1970 
1979 

1980 
1989 1991 

Vnnual 

1992 1993 I994p 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

19.8 
0.3 
0.2 

0.9 
29.8 

0.3 
0.2 
0.0 
0.7 

34.9 

15.2 
0.3 
0.2 
0.0 
0.7 

33.7 

4.2 

5.8 

5.1 
6.0 

2.7 
2.7 
2.1 

4.5 
8.6 

-1.0 
3.0 
2.1 
4.3 

-0.4 
2.3 

8.9 
-4.0 
-3.0 
4.6 
5.3 
0.2 

8.7 
-2.0 
-5.0 
9.0 
2.7 

-0.8 

6.0 
0.8 
1.5 
4.2 
3.2 
4.1 

o.a 
2.0 
2.4 
2.8 
4.2 
5.3 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

3.6 
4.3 

3.3 
4.7 
0.5 
0.6 
1.5 

4.2 
5.4 
0.6 
0.6 
1.5 

4.5 
5.2 
5.8 
4.5 
4.3 

2.0 
5.7 
6.2 
7.1 
9.4 

2.8 
3.3 
2.3 
2.8 
2.0 

6.1 
2.0 
2.3 
0.7 
4.9 

10.3 
3.8 
7.7 
7.9 
3.5 

6.0 
5.3 
6,1 
3.0 
1.7 

4.0 
5.7 
4.3 
2.9 
3.0 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

0.9 
1.0 
0.1 
0.2 
0.4 

0.6 
0.9 
0.1 
0.2 
0.4 

0.6 
1.0 
0.1 
0.2 
0.4 

5.9 
5.5 
3.4 
0.8 
5.7 

4.6 
5.9 
1.7 
4.5 
5.9 

-0.4 
0.6 

-3.2 
-0.8 
2.7 

3.5 
3.7 
8.3 

-4.0 
3.3 

5.1 
4.8 
8.0 

10.0 
5.6 

5.0 
3.9 

12.9 
-4.0 
3.7 

6.0 
3.8 
7.7 

-5.0 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

0.6 
18,1 
0.5 
0.6 
0.5 

0.4 
20.4 

0.3 
0.6 
0.7 

0.4 
20.6 

0.2 
0.6 
0.7 

4.7 
7.0 
7.5 
8.0 
4.7 

-0.2 
6.4 

-0.1 
4.5 
8.5 

2.! 
1.4 

-1.5 
0.3 
3.1 

0.5 
3.6 

-0.2 
9.6 
2.5 

1.4 
2.8 
0.4 
8.6 
1.8 

1.2 
(A 

-0.9 
5.9 
1.1 

2.0 
3.1 
1.8 
4.5 
4.0 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad andTobaj 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

I.7 
O.l 
0.8 
I.I 
8.7 

4.0 
0.1 
0.7 
1.0 
7.5 

3.3 
0.0 
0.6 
1.0 
7.8 

5.2 
5.8 
5.0 
1.2 
5.9 

3.7 
5.6 
5.3 
2.7 
4.8 

-0.7 
-0.6 
-3.1 
0.4 
0.3 

2.8 
2.8 
2.5 
3.2 
9.7 

-2.4 
-1.1 
-1.6 
7.7 
6.8 

6.5 
-0.2 
-1.3 

1.5 
-1.0 

12.7 
-3.0 
2.5 
3.5 

-4.3 

I,at in America 100.0 100.0 10O.0 5.4 5.6 1.2 3.6 2.9 3.4 4.1 

Source: IDB estimates based mi official statistics from member countries. 
p Preliminary. 
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P0PIL\TI0\ ]\D GROWTH RATES. HHiO-94 TABLE 2 

Country 

\rgenlina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

I960 

20.616 
lit) 

231 
91 

3.85 I 
72.59 I 

1970 

23.962 
170 
239 
120 

4.212 

1980 

28.237 
210 
249 
146 

5.355 

1985 1990 

tin thousands) 

30.831 
233 
253 
166 

5.895 

82.322 
255 
257 
19(1 

6.573 

1992 

33.101 
264 
258 
199 

6,894 

33.487 
268 
259 
204 

7.064 

\\cragc Grow lb Rales 

1993 1991 1971-80 1981-90 1990-94 

33.875 
272 
260 
209 

7.238 
1)5.847 121.286 135.561 149.042 154.105 156.569 159.000 

1.7 
2.1 
0.4 
2.0 
2.1 
2,1 

(In percent) 

1,1 
2.0 
0.3 
2.6 
2.1 

1.2 
1.6 
0.3 
2.1 
2.1 
1.6 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

7.61 1 
15.939 

1.286 
8.281 
1.85 I 

9.504 
21.360 

1.731 
4.423 
5.970 

11.145 
26.525 

2.284 
5.697 
7.961 

12.122 
29.481 

2.642 
6.116 
9.(199 

13.173 
32.300 

3.035 
7.17(1 

10.264 

13.599 
33,125 

3.191 
7.471 

10.741 

13.813 14.026 
33.987 34.545 

3,269 3.347 
7.620 7.769 

10.981 11.226 

1.6 
2.2 
2.8 
2.6 
2.9 

1.7 
2.0 
2.9 
2.3 
2.6 

1.6 
1.7 
2.5 
2.0 
2.3 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
I londuras 

2.570 
8.96 1 

569 
3.80 1 
1.91(1 

3.588 
5.246 

709 
4,520 
2,592 

4.525 
6.917 

759 
5.353 
3.569 

4,739 
7.968 

79(1 
5,865 
4,186 

5.172 
9.197 

796 
6,186 
4.879 

5.396 
9.7 I I 

8(18 
6.754 
5.180 

5.517 
10.030 

816 
6.893 
5,336 

5,641 
10,322 

825 
7,085 
5.497 

2.3 
2.8 
0.7 
1.7 
3.3 

1.3 
2.9 
0.5 
1.9 
3.2 

2.2 
2.9 
0.9 
2.1 
3.0 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
I'anama 
Paraguay 

1.629 1.869 2.133 2.811 2.420 2,469 2.495 2.521 1.3 1.3 1.0 
35.130 48.400 64,478 72.689 81,250 84.770 86.581 88,131 2.9 2.3 2.1 

1.502 2.063 2.802 3.229 3.676 3.957 4.117 4.275 8.1 2.8 3.8 
1.119 1.506 1.950 2.167 2.398 2.191 2.538 2.611 2.6 2.1 2.2 
1.771 2.351 3.147 3.693 4.277 1.520 1.643 4.767 3.0 3.1 2.8 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

9.931 
290 
843 

2.538 
7.502 

13.193 
372 
971 

2.808 
10.604 

17.295 19.117 
352 

1.082 
2.914 

15.(12 1 

383 
1.160 
3.008 

17.161 

21,550 
422 

1.236 
3.094 

19.321 

22.454 
488 

1.265 
3.131 

20.187 

22.916 
147 

1.278 
3.149 

20.620 

23,381 
455 

1.292 
3.167 

21.(151 

latin America 204.442 2(i8.:«2 :54l.:5!):> 380,968 420,754 4:56.814 444.897 453,038 

Source: Latin \mcrican Demographic Center, Santiago. Chile and IDIi estimates. 
1 Panama includes [he Canal Zone, In mi 1980. 

2.7 
-0.6 

1.1 
d I 
3.5 

2.1 

2.2 
1.8 
1.3 
(1 .6 

2.5 

2.1 

2.1 
1.9 
1.1 

( 1 6 

2.2 

l.f) 
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GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT PER CAPITA '. 1960-94 TABLE 3 

Country 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

I960 

3.889 

2.526 

762 
840 

1970 

4.318 
9.846 
1.536 

1,039 
1.171 

1988 U.S. dollars) 

1980 1990 

4.709 
10.486 
5.358 
1.671 
1.199 
2.223 

3.755 
11,424 
6.001 
2.0 15 

979 
2.075 

1993 

4.552 
10.308 
5.592 
2.264 
1,016 
2.044 

I994p 

4,7 17 
10.359 
5.705 
2.276 
1,033 
2.120 

1970 

38.0 
86.6 
39.9 

9.1 
10.3 

(\s a percent of (Mil)-) 

1980 

83.2 
74.0 
37.8 
11.8 
8.5 

15.7 

199(1 

21.1 
64.3 
33.8 

11.7 

1993 

25.2 
57.2 
31.0 
12.6 
5.6 
11.8 

I994p 

25.9 
56,1 
31.1 
12.4 
5.6 
11.5 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

1.775 
737 

1.089 
384 
758 

2.133 
909 

1.390 
458 
811 

2.339 
1.253 
1.789 

699 
1.403 

2.614 
1.157 
1.688 

680 
1.298 

3.056 
1.537 
1.826 

715 
1.337 

3.13(1 
1.598 
1,86(1 

722 
1,347 

18.8 
8.0 

12.2 
4.0 
7.1 

16.5 
8.8 

I2.6 
4.9 
9.9 

I 1.7 
8.2 
9.5 
3.8 
7.3 

16.9 
8.5 

10.1 
4.0 
7.4 

17.1 
8.7 

10.1 
3.9 
7.3 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

985 
654 
61(1 
288 
542 

1.237 
844 
738 
262 
684 

1.266 
1.109 

727 
852 
861 

1.059 
910 
500 
268 
798 

1.144 
942 
644 
205 
825 

1.186 
950 
686 
191 
788 

10.9 
7.4 
0.5 
2.3 
6.0 

8.9 
7.8 
5.1 
2.5 
6.1 

6.0 
5.1 
2.8 
I .a 
4.5 

6.3 
5.2 
3.6 
1.1 
4.6 

6.5 
5.2 
3.7 
1.0 
4.3 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguas 

.267 

.170 
868 
.1 13 
772 

1.857 
1.686 
1.228 
1.827 

910 

1.520 
2.421 

884 
2.314 
1.560 

1.561 
2.256 

568 
2.008 
1.557 

1.563 
2.263 

512 
2.38 I 
1.553 

1.578 
2.284 

502 
2.419 
1.573 

16.3 
14.8 
10.8 
16.1 
8.0 

10.7 
17.1 
6.2 

16.3 
11.0 

8.8 
12.7 
3.2 
11.3 
8.8 

8.7 
12.5 
2.8 

13.2 
8.6 

8.6 
12,1 
2.7 

13.2 
8.6 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and'Ibbago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

Lililí America 

1,350 
575 

3.102 
2.097 
2.913 

1.284 

1.725 
737 

4,096 
2.211 
3.773 

1.877 
1.241 
6,822 
2.864 
4.048 

1.339 
955 

4,136 
2.791 
3.400 

1.354 
888 

1.(149 
8.078 
3,715 

1,677 2.313 2,082 2,169 

1,496 
841 

4,105 
3.168 
3.482 

2.218 

15.2 
6.5 

36.6 
19.5 
33.2 

14.8 

13.2 
8.8 

44.6 
20.2 
28.6 

16.3 

7.5 
5,1 

23.3 
15.7 
19.1 

11.7 

7.5 
4.9 

22.5 
17.1 
20.6 

12.0 

8.2 
4.6 

22.4 
17.3 
19.0 

12.1 

Sources: For countries in Latin America. IDB estimates based on official statistics, and for Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECO) countries, OKCI) Main 
Economic Indicators. October l!)!)4. 
See Economic and Social Progress in Latin America. 1994 report. Statistical Appendix. Methodological Motes lor Tallies B-l In 8-19. 

2 Due te differences In Hie methodology used by the 11)8 and the OKCI) for conversion of national accounts In a common currency the data are nul strictly comparable to those 
published in pre\ iuusissues of the Annual Kcport. The per capita GDP of ORCD countries in constan! 1988 CS. dollars was estimated al $11.366 for 1970. $14.170 for 1980. 
$17.775 for 11)90. S1 «.(Kid for 1993. and $ 18.357 for 1994. 
|i Preliminary 
... \ntavailable. 
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GRO WTH OF GROSS DOMESTIC PRODI CTII > SECTOR OF ORIGIN, 19909(1 
(Average annual growth rates in percent) 

TABLE 4 

Country 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

\giiculture' 

1990 1991 

8.5 
13.3 
2.0 

3.7 

3.9 

1992 

0. 

4.5 9.3 
5.2 13.8 

12.5 4.2 
2.8 5.4 

1993 

7.1 
4.1 
5.4 

-1.2 

1990 

0.2 

4.4 
9.9 
6.7 

8.3 

Industry2 

1991 

11.2 

4.6 
4.0 
4.9 

1.9 

1992 

9.1 

6.5 
12.9 
3.7 

3.8 

1993 

5.8 

0.6 
7.3 
2.7 
6.7 

1990 

3.7 
9.5 
3.0 

1.2 

Services3 

1991 

8.5 

3.5 
3.2 
3.3 
1.4 

1992 

9.9 

6.5 
4.5 

1993 

1.5 
2.7 
2.8 
4.8 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Kcuador 

6.6 
5.8 
2.5 

8.6 
6.1 

3.2 
4.2 
6.3 
4.2 
6.6 

4.8 
1.9 
4.0 
6.0 
1.7 

2.7 
2.5 
0.3 
1.3 

0.0 
1.7 
2.4 

10,1 
1.9 

6.3 
0.6 
1.3 

3.0 
3.7 

8.6 
3.8 
9.0 

12.2 
4.2 

4.2 
2.8 
7.3 
2.7 
3.9 

4.4 
4.5 
4.3 

0.9 
4.9 

5.9 
1.8 
1.8 
1.5 
4.8 

9.8 
5.8 
8.0 
6.4 
3.0 

6.6 
7.6 
6.6 
3.8 
0.3 

HI Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

7.4 
4.1 

13.8 
3.7 
I.I 

3.1 
12.4 
-4.0 
6.1 

9.0 
3.0 

24.3 

3.6 

0.3 
2.1 
6.2 

LI 

1.0 
1.4 

-0.3 
-7.3 
-0.5 

0.7 
2.5 
11.9 
5.0 
0.9 

6.5 
7.2 
3.8 

10.5 

8.7 
3.2 

17.7 

4.4 

2.8 
3.2 
1.6 

0.3 

4.1 
4.3 

0.5 
3.6 
1.0 

6.1 
4.8 
3.4 

4.7 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

11.5 
5.9 

0.2 
3.0 
2.2 

0.2 
1.0 

3.9 
5.0 

0.6 

12.9 
1.0 
2.9 
6.3 
0.1 

8.8 
1.8 
1.0 
1.4 
5.6 

8.1 
5.8 

2.8 
11.7 
3.0 

1.4 
3.5 
4.1 

18.2 
2.5 

().() 
2.9 

2.7 
17.3 
2.6 

0.8 
0.6 
0.7 
17.2 
3.7 

3.6 
3.8 
0.4 
3.8 
3.6 

3.6 
4.2 
2.8 
7.6 
4.2 

0.9 
3.4 
1.3 
6.8 
2.0 

1.9 
0.5 

2.3 
4.3 
3.5 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

laiiii America 

6.4 
0.8 

17.0 
0.3 

-1.5 

./ 

1.8 
10.8 
5.5 
2.2 
2.4 

2.» 

6.2 
4.9 
0.3 
11.0 
2.7 

2.3 

7.5 
0.7 
3.3 
0.3 

4.1 

0.(5 

3.9 
1.7 
1.8 

-1.9 
9.7 

1.6 

0.1 
4.5 
1.3 

12.3 

3.2 

-2.3 
2.3 

-1.2 
4.4 
7.2 

2.0 

Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries. 
Agriculture includes agriculture and livestock production, hunting and fishing, and forestry 

2 Industry includes mining and quarrying, manufacturing, electricity «as and water, and construction. 
'■ Sen ices includes commerce, transport and communications, financial services, government, and other services. 
... Not available. 

9.0 
0.2 

4.5 
6.1 
0.5 

3.9 

-5.3 
-2.6 
0.2 
2.4 
4.6 

I.I 

1.9 
7.4 
3.6 
4.4 
9.0 

4.3 

7.7 
1.5 
8.7 
8.6 

3.9 

4.3 
1.3 

1.2 
5.6 

2.6 

3.:> 
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G R O W T H O F G R O S S D O M E S T I C P R O D U C T I I I T Y P E O F E X P E N D I T U R E ' , 1 9 9 1 - 9 4 TABLE 5 

(Average annual growth rates in percent) 

Consumption Investment Exports2 Imports2 

Counlrj 1991 1992 1993 199 Ip 1991 1992 1993 199 Ip 1991 1992 1993 I994p 1991 1992 1993 I994p 

Argentina 12.3 10,1 5.0 3.4 25.1 30.9 18.7 18.0 -8.3 0.6 5.0 12.0 64.9 63.1 11.0 17.0 
Bahamas 
Barbados 1.8 -4.(1 -0.5 ... -11.6 -50.1 45.0 ... -4.0 -7.0 3.0 ... -0.2 -21.0 8.6 
Belize 12.7 5.8 -5.2 -0.7 7.3 8.8 14.4 5.0 2.2 12.3 11.5 2.(1 12.2 8.2 5.5 -0.5 
Bolivia 1.2 1.8 3.2 ... 43.6 15.6 1.1 ... 1.6 -6.3 5.3 27.0 24.9 9.6 2.2 62.0 
Brazil 1.2 -2.6 5.7 7.5 -3.2 -9.1 9.8 1.0 6.6 23.2 12.1 -2.0 10.0 5.3 35.2 6.5 

Chile 7.1 7.(1 5.5 1.5 -2.1 23.3 13.8 8.9 10.0 16.7 1.4 9.3 6.3 23.7 11.5 4.1 
Colombia 1.6 2.2 7.5 5.1 -8.7 39.(1 27.7 9.9 12.8 5.3 5.5 5.3 0.6 46.9 43.1 8.0 
CostaRica 0.8 6.6 6.1 3.4 -12.4 31.7 8.5 6.5 8.4 14.3 13.5 3.9 -3.3 26.0 15.0 3.8 
Dominican Republic -1.1 -0.7 5.0 1.8 -0.2 23.5 12.5 7.5 11.9 24.0 -2.0 2.0 9.3 19.1 3.9 3.0 
Ecuador -1.4 1.8 I.I 4.2 38.4 3.8 -4.0 2.0 0.8 7.3 1.5 4.0 16.5 1.2 -4.1 8.0 

ElSalvador 3.0 2.9 4.2 9.3 22.5 25.5 6.0 10.6 -1.6 11.2 11.4 -3.3 4.2 13.1 7.4 11.0 
Guatemala 3.6 8.1 5.0 5.7 22.6 29.6 -5.9 5.0 -4.9 8.3 8.6 !.() 7.2 37.6 1.4 0.0 
Guyana 3.7 -10.7 28.9 13.3 -16.2 -1.4 5.0 7.2 16.4 38.2 3.4 7.0 -3.8 17.6 8.3 11.0 
Haiti -0.9 -9.1 ().() ... -11.0 -51.3 -19.0 ... -9.9 -57.5 3.9 ... -1.(1 -16.1 11.3 
Honduras 2.1 3.6 5.2 -1.5 17.9 12.4 7.6 0.0 -2.0 8.1) 0.2 2.0 6.0 7.5 7.2 1.0 

Jamaica -0.2 -5.9 2.4 1.8 6.0 -5.6 -I.O 1.5 6.1 5.0 4.2 4.0 7.3 -3.1 5.0 3.6 
Mexico 5.7 4.8 (I.I 3.7 7.5 14.4 -3.3 8.5 4.6 1.6 3.5 5.5 16.8 20.9 -1.2 11.6 
Nicaragua 7.5 -1.3 -6.1 -0.2 11.7 -6.9 -5.7 2.0 -15.2 20.2 8.4 10.6 16.4 -0.6 -12.0 2.6 
Panama 11.5 6.5 1.9 6.5 11,1 4 1.1 4.1 8.0 8.6 2.6 8.7 2.2 15.8 12.1 1.1 8.7 
Paraguaj 4.1 2.1 2.5 3.4 8.6 -6.5 2.3 3.5 -11.5 -9.7 14.2 9.0 8.0 -10.9 3.3 5.0 

Peru 1.8 1.5 3.3 6.7 11.3 -7.1 12.4 33.0 11.5 0.1 6.3 20.0 20.1 9.7 -0.3 26.0 
Suriname 1.8 -28.1 -10.6 
Trinidad am IT ibago 2.8 -I.I -1.4 -2.9 30.1 -11.0 5.0 -6.0 2.7 -9.0 -5.5 5.0 12.7 -15.0 -4.2 -16.0 
Uruguay 2.8 10.3 1.0 5.1 28.8 12.0 20.4 5.0 2.6 10.5 2.2 4.0 18.7 25.3 14.3 10.0 
Venezuela 7.4 6.2 -0.1 -9.1 80.0 35.5 -19.3 -7.1 4.3 -2.3 8.2 5.3 49.5 21.7 -9.9 -17.3 

Latin America 4.6 3.0 2.4 3.9 8.0 9.6 4.0 7.7 4.,") 9.0 6.6 4.1 17.2 19.3 9.0 7.5 

Source: IDB estimates based on official statistics of member countries. 
Gross domestic product is equal to consumption plus investment plus exports minus Imports. 

2 Goods and non-factor sen ices, 
p Preliminary. 
... Nol available. 
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DISBURSED TOTAL EXTERNAL DEBT OUTSTANDING', 1985-94 
(111 millions of US. dollars) 

TABLE (i 

Country 1985 1986 1987 198,8 198,9 1990 1991 1992 1993 199 Ip 

Argentina 
15a hamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

50.946 
193 
457 
118 

4,805 
106.121 

52,450 
216 
579 
121 

5,575 
113.705 

58.458 
193 
577 
137 

5.836 
123.837 

58,74 I 
171 
703 
139 

4,901 
I 5.7 I 

65,257 
221 
644 
144 

4.135 
111.372 

62,233 
266 
688 
152 

4.278 
116.417 

65,396 
113 
652 
169 

1.076 
117,350 

67.770 
439 
621 
172 

4.220 
121,063 

7 1,473 
455 
566 
184 

4,212 
132.749 

82,331 

581 
205 

4.303 
134.865 

Chile 
Colombia 
Cosía Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

20,384 
14.216 
4,101 
3.502 
8.703 

21.144 
15,362 
4.576 
3.687 
9.334 

21.489 
17.008 

1.72 I 
3,923 

10,473 

19.582 
16.995 
4.544 
3,991 

10.745 

18,032 
16,878 

1.603 
4,053 
11.317 

19.227 
17,232 
8.772 
4.387 

12,109 

17.947 
17.338 
4,049 
1.494 

12.468 

19.134 
¡7,197 
3,966 
4.612 

12.280 

20.637 
17.173 
3.872 
4.633 
14,110 

20,884 
19.121 
3.831 
4.141 

13.232 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

1.854 
2.656 
1.485 

718 
2.729 

1.858 
2,791 
1.620 
710 

2.974 

1.982 
2.796 
1.722 
844 

3.299 

1.994 
2.639 
1.858 
818 

8.308 

2.078 
2.637 
1.630 
802 

3.385 

2.147 
2,839 
1,915 
881 

3,714 

2.180 
2.821 
1.940 
747 

3.383 

2.261 
2.750 
1.878 

773 
8.594 

2.012 
2,954 
1.938 

773 
3.865 

2.245 
3.112 
1,995 

843 
4,172 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

4.068 
96.867 

5,821 
4,759 
1,817 

4.216 
100.889 

6.821 
4.859 
2.087 

1.733 
109.469 

7.976 
5.630 
2,520 

4.569 
99.213 

8.711 
6,066 
2.351 

1.574 
93,838 
9.743 
6,318 
2.384 

1.663 
06.026 
10.692 
6.679 
2.106 

4.516 
115.362 
10.642 
6,733 
2,066 

4.394 
113.423 

11.133 
6.486 
1.634 

4.279 
118.028 
10.445 
6.802 
1.599 

4,299 
124.192 

10.704 
6,919 
1,648 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

12.884 
52 

1.448 
3.919 

35.334 

I 1.888 
70 

1.855 
8.906 

34.340 

17.490 
85 

1.802 
4,299 

34,570 

18,245 
95 

2.061 
3,82 1 

34.738 

18.588 
123 

2.117 
5,246 

32.377 

20.068 
123 

2.508 
5.850 

33,170 

20.720 20.293 

2.175 
6.149 

34.122 

2.364 
6,659 

37,774 

20,328 

2.137 
7.259 

37.465 

22.327 

2.149 
7.289 

37.813 

Lilin America 390.286 410.636 44:>.868 426.740 422.491 444.140 458.211 466.890 492.948 513.204 

Sources: World Bank. World Debt Tallies. 1993-94 and 1994-95 and estimates; and IDB estimates. 
'Total external debt Is the sum of long-term and short-term external debt (including interest arrearsj.and use of IMF credit. Long-term external debt is made up of publicand publicly 
guaranteed debt and private non-guaranteed debt. Short-term external debl is debt with an original maturilv of one year or lessand could be either public or private. The use of IMP 
credit denotes repurchase obligations to the IMF with respect to all uses of IMP resources, excluding these resulting from drawings in the reserve tranche and the IMF Trust Fund. 
p Preliminary 
...Net available. 
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ANNUAL A VER AGE GROWTH OF CONSUMER PRICE INDEXES', 1971-94 
(In percent) 

TAB 

Country 1971-80 1981-90 1981-85 1986-90 1980 1985 1990 1991 1992 1993 11)9 Ip 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

119.5 
7.5 

14.2 

18.8 
35.3 

130.8 
21.1 
10.8 
10.4 
12.6 

437.6 
5.5 
5.7 
4.1 

222.7 
387.1 

20.3 
23.7 
25.6 
24.6 
36.3 

322.6 
5.9 
7.7 
6.1 

610.9 
148.9 

21.3 
22.3 
34.8 
16.2 
27.5 

583.8 
5.1 
3.7 
2.2 

46.5 
667.6 

19.4 
25.0 
17.0 
33.6 
45.8 

100.8 
12.1 
11.4 

47.2 
82.8 

35.1 
26.5 
18.1 
16.7 
13.0 

672.1 
4.6 
3.9 
1.2 

11718.3 
226.9 

30.7 
24.0 
15.1 
37.5 
28.0 

2314.0 
4.7 

3.0 
17.1 

2937.8 

26.0 
29.1 
19.0 
59.4 
48.5 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

10.7 
9.6 

10.2 
10.7 
8.1 

19.0 
14.4 
30.9 

6.7 
7.8 

14.7 
7.5 

19.6 
9.1 
6.9 

23.5 
21.8 
43.3 

1.3 
8.7 

17.4 
10.8 

17.8 
18.1 

22.3 
18.7 
15.0 
10.7 
3.4 

24.0 
41.2 
63.6 
21.5 
28.3 

14.1 
33.2 

1(11.5 
20,1 
34.0 

1.2 
10.0 
28.2 
25.3 
8.7 

18.6 
11.9 
10.0 
46.2 
10.8 

12.0 
15.0 

25.0 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

18.1 
16.5 

7.0 
13.1 

I 1.8 
65.1 

595.3 
1.8 

21.7 

16.6 13.1 
60.7 69.7 
54,1 3031.9 
3.2 0.4 

15.8 28.0 

27.3 
26.4 
35.3 
13.8 
22.4 

25.7 22.0 
57.8 26.7 

219.5 7485.2 
1.0 0.8 

25.2 38.2 

51.1 
22.7 

2712.3 
1.3 

24.3 

77.3 
15.5 
20.3 

1.8 
15.1 

224 
9.7 

20,1 
0.5 

18.2 

30.0 
7.0 

10.0 
1.2 

21.0 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

30.2 
9.8 

13.0 
62.7 

8.1 

882.1 
12.9 
11.0 

60.6 
23.3 

102.1 
7.0 

12.4 
44.8 
I!.I 

823.8 
33.6 

9.7 
78.2 
36.9 

59.1 
1-1.1 
17.5 
63.5 
21.5 

Source: International Monefarv Fund. International Financial Stalisties and li)B est ¡males. 
1 Annual averages of monthlj Consumer Price Indexes. 
p Preliminary. 
... Not available. 

163.4 7 181.7 
10.9 21.7 
7.6 11.0 

72.2 112.5 
11.4 40.8 

409.5 
26.0 

3.9 
102.0 
34.2 

73.5 
43.7 

6.4 
68.4 
31.4 

48.6 
143.5 

10.7 
54.1 
38.1 

24.0 
35-1.0 

8.6 
42.0 
57.0 



.08 INTERAMERICAN DE VEL OPMENT BANK 

BALANCE OF PAYMENTS SUMMARY'. 1990-94 
(In millions of U.S. dollars) 

Country 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

1990 

Balance on 

Merchandise Current 
Trade Account 

8.628 
882 
-171 

59 
55 

10.747 

4.552 
75 
16 
15 

191 
3.788 

Capital 
Vccounl 

1.888 
57 
15 

25 
221 

5.330 

3.379 
9 
36 

15 
18 

1.246 

1991 1992 

Reseñes 
and 

Related 
Hems

2 

Balance on 

Merchandise 
Trade 

4,419 
725 
474 

97 
43 

10.578 

Current 
Account 

Capital 
Account 

Reserves 
and 

Related 
Ileitis2 

Balance on 

Merchandise Current 
Trade Account 

647 
86 
29 
25 

262 
1.408 

3.618 
176 
0 
22 

23 I 
753 

2.630 
13 
39 
16 

-22 
197 

1.450 
759 
306 
103 
432 

15.525 

6.546 
33 
137 
28 

533 
6.275 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

1.273 
1,971 
442 

1.058 
1,003 

648 
542 

424 
106 
166 

3.011 
2 

170 
408 
318 

-2.331 
-61(1 

(97 
7 

276 

1.574 
2,959 
199 

1,070 
644 

12 
2.349 

75 
35 

167 

836 
783 
323 
49 
448 

■1,248 
1,836 

348 
841 
164 

750 
1,233 
-171 

-1.611 
960 

743 
912 

370 
445 

10 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

599 
-216 

-22 
87 
20 

136 
212 
149 

38 
51 

20 
146 
164 
17 

183 

153 
29 

18 
26 
24 

-706 
-443 

17 
-137 
-77 

167 
183 
119 

Id 
■172 

28 
654 
158 
32 
86 

70 
554 
40 
21 

65 

96 1 
.044 
20 

113 
157 

108 
705 
146 

6 
258 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

522 
1.433 

237 
841 
253 

328 
7.451 

305 
63 

172 

117 
8.526 

447 
222 

29 

118 
2.303 

39 
297 
219 

424 
11.329 

419 
1.041 

667 

255 
4,888 

4 
220 
599 

25,1 
9(1 

9 
6 

298 
156 

85 
7,993 

86 
198 
298 

475 
20.677 

547 
1.265 

783 

10 
2 1,806 

-716 
109 

-859 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

Latin America 

339 
91 

987 
426 

10.637 

26.010 

8 11 
34 

439 
169 

8,279 

-1,005 

876 

231 
69 

■3.594 

285 
10 
96 

151 
2.913 

14.391 -14,237 

-163 
-I 

541 
61 

1.837 

-1,220 
-75 
-20 
42 

1.736 

7,607 -16.836 

489 
32 

103 
356 

2.004 

887 
43 

153 
154 

2,224 

33.758 -18.873 

565 
68 

666 
125 
1.274 

1,686 
11 

122 
-16 

-3,753 

■11,405 -34.163 

Sources: International Monetary Fund. Balance of Payments (lope). December 199 I ; and IDB estimates. 
Merchandise trade is equal to exports of goods minus imports of goods valued ai i.o.b. prices. Current account is equal to trade plus services plus unrequited transfers. Capiial 

account is the net result of capital inflows and outflows of the monetary and nonmonctarj sectors. Reseñes and related items include the changes in monetary gold, special drawing 
rights, reserve position in the IMF foreign exchange atid use of IMF credit. The table excludes errors and omissions. 
2 According to conventional usage, a minus (—) means an increase. 
p Preliminary. 
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TABLE 8 

1992 1993 1994 

Reserves Balance on Reserves Balance on Reserves 
and and and 

Capital Related Merchandise Current Capital Related Merchandise Ciurcnl Capitol Related 
\oeoiml Hems2 trade \cciiool Vceounl Ileitis2 trade Vceoiml Veeoiuil Items2 Counlrv 

10.959 -4.550 -2.128 -7.452 9.912 -2.547 -6.000 -12.000 12.000 -300 Argentina 
12 28 -824 -72 -2 -19 -860 -60 20 -30 Bahamas 

-Kid -28 -415 53 -13 -20 -420 95 -6 -40 Barbados 
22 -0 -118 -18 32 I I -115 -54 44 10 Belize 

525 -26 -358 -479 404 -138 -37 1 -822 358 -85 Bolivia 
9.925 -15.063 13.072 -637 16.703 -9.218 10.500 1.006 10.500 -11.506 Brazil 

2.98,1 -2.547 -979 -2.093 2.608 -420 -100 -1.200 8.000 -1.200 Chile 
166 -1.092 -1.655 -2.2 10 1.730 -20 1 -1.700 -2.650 2.600 50 Colombia 
313 -175 -665 -170 390 59 -591 -18.7 207 230 CoslaRica 
165 -26 -1.606 -161 319 -89 -1.700 -375 200 175 Dominican Republic 
189 -103 578 -360 760 -528 500 -850 650 -300 Ecuador 

181 -91 -1.035 -77 99 -112 -1.210 -250 250 -15(1 ElSalvador 
601 26 -1.025 -687 89 1 -111 -797 -611 titio ll Guatemala 
198 -35 -31 -143 166 -88 -18 -126 137 -16 Guyana 

-5 -0 -102 13 -II -26 ... ... ... ... llalli 
210 -ll -97 -217 193 loti -250 -350 290 -it) Honduras 

260 -211 -811 -226 261 -114 -875 -40 300 -340 Jamaica 
27.0(13 -1.715 -13.891 -23.391 32.059 -7.232 -22.603 -28.307 9.115 19.192 .Mexico 

656 -0 -392 -156 2 19 79 -340 -390 111) -20 Nicaragua 
-105 -116 -1.364 -38 118 -98 -1.565 -110 -100 -50 Panama 
-204 346 -1.176 -1.110 252 -86 -522 -304 500 -249 Paraguay 

907 -568 -580 -1.768 1.176 -115 -950 -2.306 5.000 -2.700 Peru 
-48 12 45 -9 -4 13 33 -15 -10 25 Suriname 
-84 31 462 nil 98 -158 7 19 116 -30 1 -ill Trinidad and Tobago 

-0 -188 -386 -226 198 -192 -750 -450 25(1 -60 I ruguov 
2.017 1.031 2.902 -2.223 1.832 -16 5.300 400 -3.600 3.200 Venezuela 

57.417 -25.111 -17.887 -44.421 64.469 -21.568 -24.671 -48.816 42.411 5.732 Latin America 

file:///oeoiml
file:///cciiool
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SELECTED SOCIAL INDICATORS' 

Country 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Boliv ia 
Brazil 

Crude Birth 
Rale 

(Per 1000 Poi 

Crude Death 
Rate 

lotion) 

Vital Statistics 

1970 

23.1 
25.3 
20.6 

45.5 
34.8 

LAE1 

20.3 
20.0 
15.7 
36.6 
35.5 
23.3 

1970 

9.0 
6.2 
8.7 

19.5 
10.2 

LAE 

8.6 
5.7 
8.8 
6.2 

10.0 
7.4 

li il. 11H Mortality 
(Per 

1000 Live Births) 

1970 

52.2 
35.0 
38.2 

153.1 
1)4.6 

LAE 

29.0 
25.0 
10.0 
41.0 
82.0 
57.0 

Life Expectancy 
;il Birlb 
(Years) 

1970 

66.8 
61.9 
68.7 
58.9 
46.1 
59.6 

LAE 

71.4 
69.6 
75.3 
68.7 
59.6 
66.2 

llcallh 

Population per 
Physician 
(Persons) 

1970 

529 
1.8 15 
1.914 
2,926 
2.018 
2.029 

At: 

335 
772 

1.123 
1.562 
1.524 

684 

Chile 
Colombia 
Cosía Rico 
Dominican Republi 
Ecuador 

29.2 
37.1 
33.4 
41.2 
42.5 

22.5 
23.9 
26.3 
26.(1 
295 

9.5 
9.3 
6.7 

10.3 
11.8 

7.1 
5.8 
3.6 
6.0 
6.8 

78.6 
78.6 
61.5 
90.0 
99.8 

23.3 
21.0 
14.0 
4I.0 
45.0 

62.4 
61.0 
67.1 
58.7 
58.1 

72.0 
69.3 
76.2 
67.5 
66.6 

2.160 
2.256 
1.622 
2.299 
2.909 

2.152 
1, 152 
1,631 
1.765 

984 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

43.9 
45.0 
33.9 
40.7 
49.3 

38,1 
38.4 
24.5 
31.1 
37.3 

11.6 
14.4 
6.9 

17.9 
14.7 

6.9 
7.4 
7.4 

12.9 
6.8 

103.0 
100.2 
86.2 

141.0 
110.2 

40.0 
62.0 
18.0 
93.6 
49.0 

57.6 
52.5 
59.7 
47.6 
52.7 

66.3 
64.8 
65.1 
54.6 
65.8 

4.101 
3.656 
1.012 

12,521 
3,774 

2.816 
2.184 
6.220 
7,264 
2,135 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

34,4 
43,1 
47.4 
37.1 
37.7 

23.9 
28.6 
39.(1 
24.9 
33.1 

8.3 
9.4 

13.5 
7.7 
7.3 

6.4 
5.3 
6.3 
5.0 
6.3 

13.2 
72,4 

106.0 
46.6 
56.6 

14.0 
35.0 
56.0 
21.0 
35.5 

67.7 
61.9 
53.9 
65.5 
65.3 

73.6 
70.3 
66.6 
72.8 
67.2 

2,682 
1,48 1 
2.147 
1.657 
2.298 

2,006 
1.771 
1.192 
811 

1.256 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

llibago 

40.8 
35.7 
27.4 
26.9 
37.9 

29.1 
3(1.5 
23.4 
17.1 
20.0 

13.9 
7.6 
7.3 
9.8 
7.0 

7.4 
6.3 
6.3 
9.6 
4.5 

108.0 
53.2 
52.0 
46.4 
53,1 

52.0 
36.5 
15.6 
20.0 
20.2 

53.Í) 
63.8 
65.4 
68.8 
65.2 

67.2 
68.6 
71.3 
73.7 
70.8 

1.920 
2.156 
2.248 

915 
1.120 

939 
1.264 

943 
513 
633 

Sources: The Statistical Yearbooks of ECI AC. Unesco, United Nations Statistical Office, various issues. PAH0 Health CondiUons in the Americas, and the Vvbrld Bank .Socá/W/íaiors 
of Development, various editions. 
1 Social Indicators are colleded by countries through censuses and surveys taken, in manj cases, infrequently and on other than an annual basis. Therefore, the data for 11)7() arc for 
years as close lo 1970 as possible and in no case earlier than 1970 nor later than IU71). Dala for the latest available estimate (I.AK) are in no case prior lo 1980 and for many of 
Hie indicators refer to I he later half of Hie decade. Furthermore, users Should be aware i liai lhe concepts, definitions and methodologies employed in lhe collection of such indicators 
varj from countrj lo country and often varj over lime within countries. 
:4.iicsi Available Estimate. 
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TABLK!) 

Health 

Population 
per Hospital Bed 

(Persons) 

1970 UAL 

Accès lo 
Sale Water 
(In percent) 

1970 LAE 

literacy Rate2 

(In percent) 

1970 LAE 

Education 

Enrollment Ratios 
1st and 2nd Levels 

(In percent) 

1970 LAE 

Third Level5 

(In percent) 

1970 LAE CoilOllA 

179 
196 
98 

185.1 
442 
271 

216 

117 
301 
828 
301 

56 
65 
98 

33 

90 
loo 
73 
53 
87 

7.4 

0.7 

36.8 
33.8 

1.7 
3.0 
i.o 
9.2 

22.5 
18.9 

70 

85 

54 
65 

96 
94 
99 

70 
89 

14.2 

3.9 

8.7 
5.3 

43.4 
19.6 
17.3 

22.2 
11.7 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbado 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 

265 
451 
253 
379 
432 

320 
703 
293 
529 
625 

56 
63 
74 
37 
84 

86 
92 
94 
67 
70 

11.0 
19.2 
11.6 

33.0 
25.8 

6.6 
13.3 
7.2 

16.7 
14.2 

87 
64 
76 
65 
66 

90 
82 
78 
92 
89 

9.1 
4.7 

24.3 
6.5 
7.6 

23.3 
13.7 
27.6 
18.6 
20.1 

Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 

524 
461 
198 
1275 
578 

699 
673 
300 
1323 
993 

40 
38 
75 
12 
34 

43 
61 
83 
41 
70 

42.9 
54.0 
8.4 

78.7 
43.1 

27.0 
44.9 
2.6 

47.0 
26.9 

62 
36 
79 

65 
56 
82 
40 
75 

3.3 
3.4 
1.9 
o,l 
2.1 

16.1 
8.6 
5.1 
1.2 
9.7 

El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 

244 
804 
426 
342 
614 

293 
801 
538 
300 
1087 

62 
54 
35 
69 
II 

72 
78 
53 
83 
34 

3.9 
25.8 
42.5 
21.7 
19.9 

1.6 
12.7 
13.0 
10.7 
9.9 

8 I 
68 
54 
75 
67 

82 
85 
78 
83 
73 

5.4 
6.1 
5.7 
6.6 
4.3 

6.0 
15.2 
10.1 
21.7 

8.2 

Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 

460 
176 
202 
169 

2894 

708 
112 
196 
221 
385 

35 

96 
92 
75 

58 
9ft 
96 
84 
89 

27.5 

7.8 
6.1 

23.5 

10.7 
5.1 
3.9 
3.8 
7.3 

72 
90 
73 
82 
71 

in1 

87 
90 
96 
88 

10.8 
1.2 
2.9 
9.9 
11.7 

35.6 
9.2 
6.5 

32.0 
29.5 

Peru 
Suriname 
Trinidad and 'Ibbago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

:i Proportion of the population 15 years of age and older who cannot, with understanding read and write a short simple statement on everyday life. 
( Iross enrollment of all ages al priman and secondary levels as a percentage of school-age children as defined by the country. School-age children at the primary and sccondarj 

levels generally range from 6 to 17 years of age. Cross enrollment can be more than 100 percent if some pupils arc younger or older than the above age range. 
5 Calculated as above with an age group of 20 lo 24. 
...Not available. 



COCHABAMBA, BOLIVIA. Vendors at the La 
Pampa market benefited from a $500,000 IDB Small 
Projects loan to Acción Rural Agrícola de Desarrollo 
Organizado (ARADO), a private nonprofit organiza
tion. AR.-IDO helped build collection silos and directed 
a marketing program to help local low-income farmers 
sell 3,000 tons of potatoes annually. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 114 through 129 present fairly, in all material respects, the finan
cial position of the Inter-American Development Bank -Ordinary Capital at December 31, 1994 and 1993, and the results of 
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi
nancial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan
cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage
ment, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the 
opinion expressed above. 

Effective January 1, 1994, the Bank changed its method of accounting for investments. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP 

Washington, D.C. 
February 13, 1995 
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BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

December 31. 
1994 1993 

ASSETS 

Cash and Investments 
Cash 
Investments 

Loans outstanding 
Allowance for loan losses 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 
On loans 

Receivable from members 
Capital subscriptions 
Non-negoliable, non-inleresl bearing 

demand obligations 
Amounts required lo maintain value of 

currency holdings 

Other assets 
Properly 
Unamortized borrowing costs 
Miscellaneous 

Special Reserve assets 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL 

Liabilities 
Borrow ings 

Plus unamortized premium 

Accrued interest on borrowings 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Advance payments of capital subscriptions 

Capital 
Capital stock 
Subscribed 5,045,296 shares 

(1993-4.492.720) 
Less callable portion 

General Reserve 
Special Reserve 

Total liabilities and capital 

S 273.970 
7.503.573 

24,477.967 
(746.998) 

24.670 
492.711 

259.813 
175.086 

19.601 

S25.198.000 
52,040 

25.250.040 
629.950 
224.939 

60.863.587 
(57.524.924) 

3.338.663 
3.458.378 
1.844.194 

S 7.777.543 

23.730.969 

517.381 

2.159 

419,378 

40 421,577 

454,500 

1.844.194 

$34,746.164 

S26.104,929 

8.641,235 

$34.746,164 

S 261,103 
7.539.880 

22,179.003 
(711.998) 

66.488 
458.075 

1.785 

421,073 

40 

254,548 
179,795 
12.307 

S23.424.414 
46.694 

23.471.108 
599.777 
268.236 

1.858 

54.197,624 
(51.027.487) 

3,170,137 
3.150.983 
1.606,521 

S 7.800.983 

21,467.005 

524.563 

422.898 

446,650 

1,606,521 

S32.268.620 

S24.340.979 

7.927.641 

S32.268.620 

7776" accompany¡nii notes are an integral pari of these financial statements 
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ST A TEMEMT OF INCOME AND GENERAL RESER VE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31, 
1994 1993 

Income 
Loans 

Interest 
Credit commissions 
Special commissions 
Supervision and inspection fees 

Investments 
Other 

Total income 

Expenses 
Borrowing expenses 
Provision for loan losses 
Administrative expenses 

Total expenses 

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting for investments 
Cumulative effect on prior years due to change in accounting for investments 

Net Income 
Allocation to Special Reserve 
Addition to General Reserve for the year 
General Reserve beginning of year 

Translation adjustments 

General Reserve end of year 

$1.572.348 
91.184 

232.803 
19,498 

1.915.833 
337.990 

2,624 
2,256.447 

1.709,132 
35,000 

200,908 
1,945,040 

311,407 
57,166 

368.573 
(232,803) 
135.770 

3.150.983 
171,625 

$3.458.378 

S 1.521.868 
88.728 

214.756 
38.947 

1,864,299 
481,755 
(16,397) 

2,329,657 

1.657,799 
97,848 

178,603 
1,934,250 

395,407 

395.407 
(214,756) 
180,651 

2,958,552 
11,780 

S3,150,983 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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STA TEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31. 
1994 1993 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Borrowings: 

Gross proceeds from borrowings 
Repayment of borrowings 

Participations: 
Repayments to participants 

Capital: 
Collections of receivables from members 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Cash flows from lending and investing activities 
Lending: 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 
Net cash used for lending activities 

Purchase of property 
Investments of the Special Reserve 
Miscellaneous assets and liabilities 
Net cash used for lending and investing activities 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Interest and other costs of borrowings 
Income from Investments 
Gross purchases of trading investments 
Gross proceeds from sales and maturities of trading investments 
Oilier income 
Administrative expenses 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and investments (I) 

Net increase in cash and Investments (I) 

(I) Cash only for 1994. 

$ 954.597 
(1.065.128) 

(20.486) 

167,989 
36.972 

(2.625.857) 
2.099.046 
(526.811) 

(19.741) 

(5.979) 
(552.531) 

1.918.259 
(1.767.241) 

(583.209.384) 
583.787.324 

2.624 
(191,046) 

540,536 

(12,110) 

5 12.867 

S 3.940.988 
(2.399.741) 

(37.397) 

164.495 
1.668,345 

(3.335.831) 
1.787,561 

(1.548.270) 
(15.934) 

(210.907) 
17.213 

(1,757,898) 

1,805.233 
(1,608,446) 

486.929 

(16.397) 
(162.410) 
504.909 

81,591 

S 496,947 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS 
December 31, 1994 and 1993 

Note A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 
The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the Inter-American Development Bank (Bank) conducts 
its operations in the currencies of all of its members. Such curren
cies are derived from capital and borrowed sources including earn
ings from each. Assets and liabilities denominated in currencies 
other than the United States dollar are generally translated at ap
proximate market rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
financial statements. Income and expenses in such currencies are 
generally translated at the approximate market rates of exchange 
prevailing during each month. The Bank generally follows the 
policy of holding, investing and lending the proceeds of borrow
ings and the capital subscriptions received in the currencies received. 

The adjustments resulting from the translation into United 
States dollars of assets and liabilities derived from borrowed sources 
are shown in the Statement of Income and General Reserve as trans
lation adjustments affecting the General Reserve directly. Fluctua
tions of rates of exchange of currencies received from capital sources 
do not have any effect on the United States dollar equivalent of such 
currencies because of the maintenance of value provisions described 
in Note B. 

Exchange gains or losses realized upon conversion of one 
borrowed currency into another are generally insignificant and are 
recorded in other income. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the Or
dinary Capital is convertible into any other currency at any rate or 
rates. 

Investments 
Effective January 1, 1994, all investments are classified as trading 
and valued at market, with unrealized gains and losses included in 
income. 

Loans 
The Bank makes loans to its developing members, agencies or 
political subdivisions of such members or to private enterprises 
located in their territories. In the case of loans to borrowers 
other than national governments, central banks or other gov
ernmental or inter-governmental entities, including the Inter-
American Investment Corporation (IIC), the Bank has followed 
the general policy, since 1967, of requiring that the govern
ment, or an entity thereof engaging the full faith and credit of 
the government, guarantee the loan. Under the loan contracts 
with the borrowers, the Bank may sell participations in the 
loans to commercial banks or other public or private organi
zations, but it reserves to itself the administration of the loans. 
For loans approved on or after July 1982, except for the loan 

to IIC as described in Note E and loans or that portion of loans 
financed under the U.S. Dollar Window Program described be
low, the repayment obligations of borrowers in various cur
rencies are determined on the basis of an Exchange Risk Shar
ing System (Currency Pooling System), which is designed to 
equalize exchange risks among borrowers. The principal 
amount of loans is repayable in the currencies lent. Interest on 
loans is accrued in the currencies lent. 

In May 1994, the Board of Executive Directors approved a 
$ 1,000,000,000, two year pilot lending program referred to as the 
"U.S. Dollar Window Program" under which loans are denomi
nated and disbursed only in U.S. dollars. This program is aimed at 
providing financing on terms more compatible with the needs of 
the private sector borrowers to whom the funds will be on-lent. 

The Bank has a policy of not rescheduling loan repayments. 
The Bank follows the policy of reviewing the collectibility of loans 
on a continuous basis and records provisions for loan losses in ac
cordance with its determination of collectibility risk of the total loan 
portfolio. Income ceases to be accrued under all loans in a country 
when service under any loan to or guaranteed by a borrower in 
such country, made from any fund owned or administered by the 
Bank, is overdue for more than 180 days; income is recorded there
after only as it is collected, until loan service is current under all 
loans. 

Direct costs associated with originating loans are considered 
immaterial and are expensed as incurred. 

Property 
Property is recorded at cost. Major improvements are capitalized 
while routine replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged 
to expense. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method 
over estimated useful lives (30 to 40 years for buildings and 3 to 7 
years for equipment). 

Unamortized borrowing costs 
Legal, accounting and rating agency fees, printing costs and other 
expenses associated with the issuance of bonds are amortized on a 
straight-line method over the term of the bonds. 

Administrative expenses 
Substantially all administrative expenses of the Bank, including de
preciation, are allocated between the Ordinary Capital and the Fund 
for Special Operations pursuant to an allocation method approved 
by the Board of Executive Directors. For 1993, the Board of Ex
ecutive Directors revised the methodology for calculating the allo
cation of administrative expenses between the Ordinary Capital and 
the Fund for Special Operations. During 1994, such expenses were 
charged 69.2% to the Ordinary Capital and 30.8% to the Fund 
for Special Operations (1993-65.7% and 34.3%, respectively). 
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December 31, 1994 and 1993 

Interest rate and currency swaps 
The difference paid or received for interest on interest rate and cur
rency swaps is recorded as part of borrowing expenses. The net as
set or liability relating to swap transactions is shown in the balance 
sheet under other assets—miscellaneous or accounts payable and ac
crued expenses. 

Fair values of financial instruments 
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Bank in 
estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet 
for cash approximates fair value. 

Investments: Fair values for investment securities are 
based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted 
market prices are not available, fair values are based on 
quoted market prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans: The Bank is one of very few lenders of development 
and structural adjustment loans to Latin American countries. 
There is no secondary market for development loans. The 
Bank has three categories of loans: (a) variable-rate loans; 
(b) fixed-at-disbursement-rate loans; and (c) fixed-rate 
loans. The interest rate on variable-rate loans is reset semi
annually. For all loans and related commitments, the Bank 
is of the opinion that due to its unique position in its lending 
operations and the absence of a secondary market, it is not 
practicable to estimate a fair value for the Bank's lending 
portfolio at this time. 

Off-balance-sheet instruments: Fair values for the 
Bank's interest and currency swaps are based on pricing 
models. Fair values for the Bank's futures contracts are based 
on market prices. 

Borrowings: The fair values of the Bank's borrowings are 
based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted 
market prices are not available, fair values are based on 
quoted market prices of comparable instruments. 

Note B—Maintenance of Value 
In accordance with the Agreement Establishing the Inter-Ameri
can Development Bank Agreement), each member is required to 
maintain the value of its currency held in the Ordinary Capital, ex
cept for currency derived from borrowings. Likewise, the Bank is 
required to return to a member an amount of its currency equal to 
any significant increase in value of such member's currency which 
is held in the Ordinary Capital, except for currency derived from 
borrowings. The standard of value for these purposes is the United 

States dollar of the weight and fineness in effect on January 1, 1959 
(see Note J). 

Note C—Restricted Currencies 
Cash includes $238,150,000 (1993-$216,514,000) in the non-
convertible currencies of regional borrowing members, of which 
$85,707,000 (1993-$84,306,000) has been restricted by one of 
the members, in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement, 
to be used for making payments for goods and services produced in 
its territory. 

Note D—Investments 
Effective January 1, 1994, following implementation of a new stan
dard issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in May 
1993, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Se
curities" (SFAS 115), the investments of the Bank which consist of 
obligations of governments and their corporations and agencies and 
of banks, are classified as trading and are stated at market value. 
The initial adoption of SFAS 115 resulted in the recognition of a 
net unrealized gain of $57,166,000. For the year ended December 
31,1993, the investments of the Bank are stated at amortized cost 
which approximates market value. 

The investments of the Bank are shown in the Summary 
Statement of Investments in Appendix I-1. 

Proceeds from sales of investments during 1994 and 1993 
were $49,787,602,000 and $26,080,804,000, respectively. Gross 
gains of $ 112,320,000 and gross losses of $91,240,000 were re
alized on those sales in 1994 (1993-$74,072,000 and 
$24,311,000, respectively). The average return on investments (in
cluding the Special Reserve), during 1994 and 1993 was 3.48% 
and 5.24%, respectively. 

The Bank limits its activities of investing in securities to a list 
of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have 
been established for each counterparty by type of instrument and 
maturity category. 

As part of its overall portfolio management strategy, the 
Bank is a party to financial futures contracts calling for a delayed 
delivery of securities or money market instruments in which the 
seller agrees to make delivery at a specified future date of a speci
fied instrument, at a specified price or yield. At December 31,1994, 
the total contract value of futures contracts was $200,000,000. At 
December 31, 1994, the Bank's exposure to credit loss on futures 
contracts due to potential nonperformance of counterparties was 
$185,540,000 (1993-$0). 

Note E—Loans Outstanding 
Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with the 
requirements of the project being financed ; however, disbursements 
do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, take certain 
actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. Of the 
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December 31, 1994 and 1993 

undisbursed balances, the Bank has entered into irrevocable com
mitments to disburse approximately $47,103,000 at December 3 1, 
1994. 

In 1992, the Bank approved a loan to the IIC, in the amount 
of $210,000,000. Disbursements under this loan, which is de
nominated in U.S. dollars only and carries a Libor-based interest 
rate, started in 1993 and amounted to $75,000,000 in the aggre
gate as of December 31, 1993. There are no amounts outstanding 
under this loan as of December 31,1994. 

Loan approvals and disbursements made under the terms of 
the U.S. Dollar Window Program (see Note A—Summary of Sig
nificant Accounting Policies, Loans) amount to $306,000,000 and 
$80,000,000, respectively, as of December3 1, 1994. 

The Intermediate Financing Facility Account (IFF) was es
tablished in 1983 by the Board of Governors of the Bank for the 
purpose of providing to certain borrowers part of the interest pay
ments for which they are liable on loans from the Ordinary Capi
tal resources of the Bank. During 1994 the IFF paid $31,882,000 
(1993-$23,747,000) of such interest on behalf of the borrowers. 
The IFF is funded primarily from the General Reserve of the Bank's 
Fund for Special Operations. 

As of December 31, 1994, there are no countries in 
nonaccrual status in the Ordinary Capital of the Bank. As of De
cember 31, 1993, the only loans in nonaccrual status pursuant to 
the policy described in Note A were those made to or guaranteed 
by Suriname with an outstanding balance of $13,198,000, of 
which $681,000 was overdue. On February 10, 1994, the Bank 
received payment of all amounts overdue on loans to borrowers in 
Suriname, which came out of nonaccrual status. The effect of the 
foregoing resulted in an increase in income in 1994 and in a de
crease in income in 1993 of $978,000. 

Changes to the accumulated allowance for loan losses were 
as follows (in thousands): 

1094 1993 

Balance at January 1 $711,998 $614,150 
Provision for loan losses 35,000 97,848 

Balance at December 31 $746,998 $711,998 

The average interest rate earned on loans outstanding, which 
includes the special commission (see Note G), was 7.74% in 1994 
and 8.06% in 1993. In addition to the interest rate, the Bank 
charges a credit commission of .75% (1.25% on loans approved 
prior to January 1, 1989) per annum on the undisbursed convert
ible currency portion of loans, and a one-time inspection and su
pervision fee of 1% on the principal amount of the loans, which is 
capitalized into the loan balance in installments during the disburse
ment period of the loan. On February 9, 1994, the Board of Ex
ecutive Directors approved a waiver of the inspection and supervi
sion fee accrued in excess of 0.25% during the period January 1 to 

June 30, 1994. No waivers were approved during the period July 
1 through December 31,1994 nor during the year ended Decem
ber 31, 1993. The average return on loans outstanding was 8.22% 
in 1994 and 8.66% in 1993. 

The average maturity and the average interest rates for loans 
outstanding at December 31, 1994 and 1993, are as follows (in 
thousands): 

Average 

maturity 

(vears) 

Average 

interest 

raii-

Loans at: 

Outstanding 

balance 

1994 1993 1994 1993 1994 1993 

4,279,954 $ 4,730,437 3.28 3.63 8.66% 8.65% Fixed-rate 

Fixed-at-disburse-

mentrate 11.737,891 11,452,871 5.92 6.27 7.87% 8.00% 

8,460,122 5,995,695 9.62 10.34 6.81% 7.22% Variable-rate 

Total $24.477,967 $22,179,003 6.74 6.80 7.64% 8.17% 

Note F—Property 
The property of the Bank—Ordinary Capital—consists of the fol
lowing (in thousands): 

December 3 1, 

1994 1993 

Land, buildings, improvements and 
equipment, at cost $349,647 $329,905 

Less: accumulated depreciation (89,834) (75,357) 
$259,813 $254,548 

Note G—Special Reserve 
The amount of special commissions earned by the Bank on loans 
made out of the Ordinary Capital resources is segregated as a spe
cial reserve that may be used only for meeting the Bank's obliga
tions created by borrowing or by guaranteeing loans. The rate of 
commission is 1% per annum on all loans granted to date. 

The following is a summary of changes in the Special Re
serve (in thousands): 

1994 1993 

Balance at January 1 $1,606,521 $1,401,661 
Allocation of special 
commissions 232,803 214,756 

Translation adjustments 4,870 (9,896) 
Balance at December 3 1 $1,844,194 $1,606,521 
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The Special Reserve assets consist of the following (in thou
sands): 

December 31, 
1994 1993 

Market Amortized 
value cost 

Obligations of the United States 
Government and its corporations 
and agencies $1,770,320 $1,543,860 

Accrued loan commissions 73,874 62,661 

$1,844,194 $1,606,521 

Note H—Borrowings 
The borrowings of the Bank consist of loans, notes and bonds is
sued in various regional and nonregional member currencies, at in
terest rates ranging from 2.25% to 14.15%. The average cost of 
outstanding borrowings during 1994 and 1993 was 6.96% and 
7.26%, respectively, before swaps, and 6.85% and 7.21%, respec
tively, after swaps. 

Sinking fund requirements and maturities subsequent to 
December 3 1, 1994 are as indicated in Appendix 1-3. 

Costs of $3,277,000 in 1994 and $17,712,000 in 1993, 
reflecting premiums on purchases of bonds pursuant to advance 
redemption provisions, are recorded in Other income. 

Borrowings at fair value at December 31, 1994 and 
1993, amounted to $25,801,000,000 and $26,087,606,000, 
respectively. 

Note I—Interest Rate and Currency Swaps 
The Bank has entered into currency swaps in which the proceeds of a 
borrowing are exchanged for a different currency and simultaneously, 
a forward exchange agreement is executed providing for a schedule 
of future exchanges of the two currencies in order to recover the cur
rency exchanged. The combination of a borrowing and a currency 
swap produces the financial equivalent of substituting a borrowing in 
the currency obtained in the initial conversion for the original bor
rowing. The Bank also undertakes interest rate swaps, which trans
form a fixed-rate payment obligation in a particular currency into a 
floating-rate obligation in that currency and vice-versa. The Bank in
curs no risk as a result of the fluctuations of the exchange rates appli
cable to currency swap transactions because of its policy of holding 
and investing the corresponding proceeds in the same currencies. 

At December 3 1, 1994, the Bank had gross receivables from 
currency swaps at a book value of $2,178,949,000 (1993-
$1,651,840,000) and gross payables from currency swaps at a 
book value of $2,365,094,000 (1993-$ 1,880,998,000). 

In addition, the Bank had interest rate swap contracts cov
ering a notional principal amount of $1,002,303,000 on Decem
bers 1, 1994 (1993-$948,989,000). 

At December 3 1, 1994 and 1993, the Bank was exposed 
to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by its counter
parties in an aggregate amount of $74,191,000 and $62,332,000, 
respectively, for outstanding currency swaps, and $ 15,889,000 and 
$ 17,319,000, respectively, for outstanding interest rate swaps, rep
resenting the estimated cost of replacing at current market rates all 
those outstanding swaps for which the Bank would incur a loss in 
replacing the contracts. 

The Bank follows guidelines regarding the counterparties 
with whom it will enter into swap agreements and establishes credit 
limits for each of those counterparties. The Bank does not antici
pate nonperformance by any of its counterparties. The fair value of 
the net liability for currency and interest rate swap agreements at 
December 31, 1994, is $247,155,000 (1993-$300,110,000) 
corresponding to currency swaps and $61,015,000 (1993— 
$35,204,000) for interest rate swaps, respectively. 

The book value of the net liability for currency and interest 
rate swap agreements at December 31,1994, shown net in the bal
ance sheet under accounts payable and accrued expenses is 
$165,839,000 (1993-$208,995,000) corresponding to currency 
swaps and $1,130,000 (1993-$907,000) for interest rate swaps, 
respectively. 

NoteJ-Capital Stock 

Composition 
The capital of the Bank consists of "paid-in" and "callable" shares. 
The subscribed "paid-in" capital has been or is to be paid in gold 
and/or United States dollars and in the currency of the respective 
member, which in some cases must be made freely convertible, in 
accordance with the terms for the respective increase in capital. 
Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing demand obligations have 
been or will be accepted in lieu of part of the member's subscrip
tion to the "paid-in" capital. The subscribed "callable" portion of 
capital may only be called when required to meet obligations of 
the Bank created by borrowings of funds for inclusion in the 
Bank's Ordinary Capital resources or guarantees chargeable to 
such resources and is payable at the option of the member either 
in gold, in United States dollars, in fully convertible currency of 
the member country, or in the currency required to discharge the 
obligations of the Bank for the purpose for which the call is made. 

Valuation 
The Agreement provides that the Ordinary Capital be expressed in 
terms of the United States dollar of the weight and fineness in effect 
on January 1, 1959. The Second Amendment to the Articles of 
Agreement of the International Monetary Fund eliminated par val
ues of currencies in terms of gold effective April 1, 1978, and con
sequently the General Counsel of the Bank has rendered an opin
ion that the Special Drawing Right (SDR) has become the successor 
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to the 1959 United States dollar as the standard of value of the 
Bank's capital stock and for the purpose of maintaining the value 
of the Bank's currency holdings. The SDR has a value equal to the 
sum of the values of specific amounts of stated currencies, includ
ing the United States dollar. Pending a decision by the Bank's gov
erning boards, and as suggested in the General Counsel's opinion, 
the Bank is continuing its practice of using the 1959 United States 
dollar, which pursuant to the devaluations of the United States dol
lar in 1972 and 1973 is equal to approximately 1.2063 current 
United States dollars, as the basis of valuation. 

In these terms, at December 31 ,1994 the subscribed capital 
was $60 ,863 ,587 ,000 (5 ,045,296 shares of approximately 
$12,063 each) consisting of $3,338,663,000 (276,759 shares) of 
"paid-in" capital and $57,524,924,000 (4,768,537 shares) of 
"callable" capital. If the SDR were to have been substituted for the 
1959 United States dollar on December 3 1 , 1994, subscribed capi
tal would have totalled $73 ,653 ,956 ,000 , consisting of 
$4,040,277,000 of "paid-in" capital and $69,613,679,000 of 
"callable" capital. Such substitution would not have materially af
fected either the overall financial position or the results of opera
tions of the Bank—Ordinary Capital. For a statement of subscribed 
capital at December 3 1 , 1994, see Appendix 1-4. 

Voting power 
Under the Agreement Establishing the Inter-American Develop
ment Bank Agreement), each member country shall have 135 votes 
plus one vote for each share of Ordinary Capital stock held by that 
country. The Agreement also provides that no increase in the sub
scription of any member to the Ordinary Capital stock shall have 
the effect of reducing the voting power of the regional developing 
members below 53.5%, of the United States below 34.5%, and of 
Canada below 4.0% of the total voting power, leaving the voting 
power available for nonregional members at up to 8%. 

Under the terms of the Eighth General Capital increase in 
the resources of the Bank detailed below under Increase of capital, 
the voting power of the member countries of the Bank would be 
modified so that once all of the installments to the capital increase 
have been made, the voting power of the regional developing coun
tries cannot be reduced below 50.005%, that of the United States 
below 3 0 % or that of Canada below 4 % of the total voting power, 
leaving the voting power available for nonregional members at up 
to 15.995%. 

In making decisions concerning operations of the Fund for 
Special Operations and the Intermediate Financing Facility Ac
count, the number of votes and percent of total voting power for 
each member country are the same as determined by the provisions 
of the Agreement referred to above. 

Changes for the period 
Subscriptions to the increase in the capital stock of the Bank ap
proved in January 1990, in the amount of $26,500,007,000, con

sisting of $662,705,000 of "paid-in" capital and $25,837,302,000 
of "callable" capital were completed as of November 30, 1994. 
Total subscriptions to shares of Ordinary Capital stock and the vot
ing power of the member countries as of December 3 1 , 1994 are 
shown in the Statement of Subscriptions to Capital Stock and Vot
ing Power in Appendix 1-5. 

The composition of subscribed capital and amounts receiv
able from members for the years ended December 3 1 , 1994 and 
1993 are as follows (in thousands): 

Subscribed capital 

Amount 

Shares Paid-in Callable Total 

Balance at 
January 1, 1993 4,490,731 $3,167,749 $51,005,881 $54,173,630 

Subscriptions to the 
increase of capital 
approved in 1990 1,989 _ 2,388 21,606 23.994 

Balance at 
December31, 1993 .. . 4,492,720 3,170,137 51,027,487 54,197,624 

Subscriptions to the 
increase of capital 
approved in 1990 . . . . 552,576 168,526 6,497,437 6,665,963 

Balance at 
December31, 1994 .. . 5,045,296 $3,338,663 $57,524,924 $60,863,587 

Amount 

Receivable from members 1994 

Regional developing members $319,017 
United States 77,373 
Canada 9,771 
Non-regional members 15,416 
Total $421,577 

1993 

$314,882 
75,672 
17,009 
15,335 

$422,898 

Increase of capital 
In August 1994, the Board of Governors of the Bank voted in fa
vor of the terms of the Eighth General increase in the resources of 
the Bank and to recommend to the Bank's member countries that 
they take the necessary measures to bring the increase into force. 
Under the increase, the authorized ordinary capital would be in
creased by $40,000,000,000, consisting of $1,000,000,000 of 
authorized "paid-in" capital and $39,000,000,000 of authorized 
"callable" capital. The subscription to the increase would be made 
in six annual installments. 
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M e m b e r s h i p 
On April 2 1 , 1993, the Bank's Board of Executive Directors de
cided that the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (SFRY) had 
ceased to be a member of the Bank and that the Republic of Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia, the Former Yugoslav 
Republic of Macedonia, the Republic of Slovenia and the Federal 
Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) are authorized to 
succeed to the SFRY's membership. Accordingly, the shares repre
senting SFRY's membership in the Ordinary Capital of the Bank 
have been classified as unallocated until each successor republic suc
ceeds to the membership of the SFRY. The Republics of Croatia and 
Slovenia have since become members of the Bank. The Republic of 
Croatia and the Republic of Slovenia were allocated 1,142 shares 
and 655 shares, respectively. On March 30, 1994, the Republic of 
Croatia and the Republic of Slovenia completed the subscription of 
these shares. On June 21 , 1993, the Government of the Republic 
of Macedonia declined the offer to succeed to the membership of 
the SFRY in the Bank. 

N o t e K—General Reserve 
In accordance with resolutions of the Board of Governors the net 
income from the Ordinary Capital resources of the Bank, after al
location to the Special Reserve (see Note G), has been added to a 
General Reserve to provide for possible annual excess of expenses 
over income. 

The adjustments resulting from the translation into United 
States dollars of assets and liabilities derived from borrowed sources 
are made directly to the General Reserve. Such adjustments consist 
of the following (in thousands): 

Years ended December 3 1, 

1994 1993 

Cumulative adjustment, 
beginning of year 

Translation adjustments 
for the year 

Cumulative adjustment, 
end of year 

5 (4,471) $(16,251) 

171,625 11,780 

$167,154 $ (4,471) 

N o t e L—Retirement P lans 

D e s c r i p t i o n 
The Bank has two retirement plans (Plans), the Staff Retirement Plan 
(SRP) for the benefit of its international employees and the employ
ees of the IIC and the Local Employees Pension Reserve Fund (LRP) 
for the benefit of local employees in the country offices. Both plans 
are defined benefit plans. 

Funding p o l i c y 
The Plans are funded by employee and Bank contributions at the 
rates of 10% and 2 4 % of payroll, respectively. In accordance with 
the provisions of the Plans, any and all contributions to the Plans 
by the Bank shall be irrevocable, and shall be held by the Bank sepa
rately in Retirement Funds, to be used in accordance with the pro
visions of the Plans, and neither such contributions nor any income 
thereon shall be used for or diverted to purposes other than the ex
clusive benefit of participants and retired participants or their ben
eficiaries or estates under the Plans prior to the satisfaction of all 
liabilities with respect thereto. 

T y p e s o f assets 
The assets of the SRP and those of the LRP are invested by several 
independent investment managers. A portion of investments cor
responding to the SRP is denominated in currencies other than the 
United States dollar. The following tables summarize the invest
ments of the Plans as of December 31 ,1994 and 1993, respectively 
(in thousands): 

December 31, 

Staff Retirement Plan 

1994 

Cost Fair Value1 

1993 

Cost Fair Value1 

Government, corporate and 
other bonds, notes and 
short term investments $240,065 $237,300 $218,053 $223,829 
Common stocks 472,729 511,053 454,084 508,492 
Convertible bonds 4,021 4,027 2,361 2,728 

Real estate investment funds.. 44,494 47,913 47,599 50,079 

$761,309 $800,293 $722,097 $785,128 

'Does not include accruals and accounts receivable in the amount of $881,000 and 
$673,000 at December31, 1994 and 1993, respectively. 

Local Employees Pension Reserve Fund 

Common stock fund 
Fixed income fund 
Cash and short term investments 

December 31, 1994 

Cost 

$5,857 

2,209 

67 

$8,133 

Fair Value1 

$5,907 
1,983 

67 

$7,957 

'Does not include accruals and accounts receivable in the amount of $220,000 as of 
December 31, 1994. 
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Pension costs 
Total pension costs for the SRP and for the LRP for 1994 amounted 
to $26 ,192 ,000 and $2 ,319 ,000 , respectively, ( 1 9 9 3 -
$24,833,000 for the SRP) and were charged to administrative ex
penses and allocated to the Ordinary Capital and to the Fund for 
Special Operations as indicated in Note A. The portion of this cost 
that relates to the Ordinary Capital for the year ended December 
31 , 1994 is $19,730,000 (1993-$ 16,3 15,000). The balance has 
been charged to the Fund for Special Operations. 

Components of pension costs 
Pension costs consist of the following (in thousands): 

Years ended December 3 1 , 

Local 
Employees 

Pension 
Reserve 

Fund 
1994 

Staff Retirement 
Plan 

1994 1993 
Service cost $28,622 $24,486 
Interest cost 
on projected 
benefit obligation 52,485 57,313 

Amortization of 
prior service costs 593 593 

Net actuarial loss / 
(gain) deferred (54,416) 24,557 

Less: Actual return 
onPlanassets (1,092) (82,116) 

739 

,254 

860 

(562) 

28 
$26,192 $24,833 $2,319 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on December 3 1, 1994 
valuation of the Plans (in thousands): 

Obligation at December 31, 1994 
Non-vested benefits 
Vested benefits 
Accumulated benefits 

Effect of future salary increases 

Projected benefit obligation at 
December 31, 1994 

Plan assets at December 31,1994 
Projected benefit obligation in excess of 
Plan assets 

Remaining unrecognized net obligation at 
December31, 1994 

Unrecognized loss 

Prepaid (accrued) pension cost recognized 
in the Balance Sheet 

Staff 
Retirement 

Plan 

$ 83,572 
607,363 
690,935 
228,027 

918,962 
801,220 

(117,742) 

5,338 
113,414 

$ 1,010 

Local Employees 
Pension Reserve 

Fund 

$ 3,446 
10,718 

14,164 
7,817 

21,981 
8,177 

(13,804) 

12,047 
847 

$ (910) 

The unrecognized net transition obligation is being amor
tized over 15 years. 

Actuarial assumptions: 

Weighted average assumed discount rate . 
Weighted average expected long-term 

rate of return 
Weighted average rate of salary increases 

SRP LRP 

7.75% 7.75% 

7.00% 7.00% 
8.44% 7.00% 

Note M—Non-Pension Retirement Benefits 
The Bank provides certain health care and other benefits to retir
ees. All current staff who contribute to the SRP while in active ser
vice and who meet certain requirements will be eligible for 
postretirement benefits when they retire under the Bank's retire
ment plans. 

Funding policy and type of assets 
The Postretirement Benefits Plan was funded by the Bank during 
1991. At December 3 1 , 1994, the Plan's assets were invested pri
marily in trust and mutual funds which invest in government, cor
porate and other fixed income securities and common stocks. 

The following table summarizes the investments of the Plan 
(in thousands): 

December 31, 

1994 1993 

Common stock fund 
Fixed income fund . 
Cash and short 

term investments . 

Cost 

$200,772 
69,598 

2,903 

Fair 
Value1 

$193,569 
64,777 

2,903 

Cost 
Fair 

Value1 

$166,426 $173,975 
56,089 57,089 

11,118 11,118 

$273,273 $261,249 $233,633 $242,182 

'Does not include accruals and accounts receivable in the amount of $2,133,000 and 
$4,148,000 atDecember31, 1994 and 1993, respectively. 

Benefits costs for the Plan for 1994 amounted to 
$2 1,216,000 (1993-$ 19,259,000) and were charged to admin
istrative expenses and allocated to the Ordinary Capital and to the 
Fund for Special Operations as indicated in Note A. The portion of 
this cost that relates to the Ordinary Capital for the year ended De
cember 3 1 , 1994 was $14,681,000 (1993-$12,653,000). The 
balance has been charged to the Fund for Special Operations. 
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Components of postretirement benefits costs 
Postretirement benefits costs consist of the following (in thousands) : 

Years ended December 3 1 , 

Service cost 
Interest cost 
Prior service cost 
Amortization of unrecognized 

obligation 
Net actuarial (loss) / gain . . . . 
Less: Actual return on Plan assets 

1994 

$15,476 
19,961 

38 

3,629 
(20,353) 

2,465 

$21,216 

1993 

$10,888 
21,245 

496 

3,974 
6,777 

(24,121) 

$19,259 

Reconciliation of Plan assets based on December 3 1 
valuation of the Plan (in thousands): 

1994 

Obligation at December 3 1, 1994 
Accumulated postretirement benefits obligation: 

Retirees $151,071 
Fully eligible active plan participants 61,570 
Other active plan participants 144,185 

356,826 
Plan assets at December 3 1 , 1994 263,382 

Accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation in excess of plan assets (93,444) 

Unrecognized items: 
Prior service cost 314 
Net actuarial loss 96,140 

Prepaid postretirement benefit cost $ 3 ,010 

Actuarial gains and losses which exceed 10% of the accu
mulated postretirement benefit obligation are amortized over the 
average remaining life of active participants of approximately 12.1 
years. 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Weighted average assumed discount rate . . . . 7.75% 
Weighted average expected long-term 

rate of return 7.00% 
Weighted average rate of salary increases . . . 8.44% 

For measurement purposes, an initial annual rate of increase 
in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits ranging from 
9.5% to 7.0% was used for those participants assumed to retire in 
the United States. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually over 
30 years to an ultimate rate of approximately 5%. For those par
ticipants assumed to retire outside of the United States a 5 % increase 
was assumed. Increasing the assumed health care cost trend rates 

by one percentage point would increase the accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation as of December 3 1 , 1994 by 
$56,345,000 and the net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 
the year then ended by $6,908,000. 

Note N—Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash 
Provided by Operating Activities 
A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operat ing 

activities, as s h o w n in the statement of cash flows, is as follows (in 

thousands) : 

Years ended December 31, 

Net Income 
Difference between amounts accrued and amounts 
paid or collected for: 
Loan income 
Investment income 
Net unrealized loss on investments 
Gross purchases of trading investments 
Gross proceeds from sales and maturities 
of trading investments 
Interest and other costs of borrowings 
Administrative expenses, including depreciation . 
Provision for loan losses 
Cumulative effect on prior years due 
to change in accounting for investments 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

1994 1993 
368,573 $395,407 

2,426 (59,066) 
5,174 

6,832 
(583,209,384) 

583,442,502 
(58,109) 49,353 
9,862 16,193 

35,000 97,848 

(57,166) 
540,536 $504,909 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities 
Increase resulting from exchange rate fluctuations: 
Borrowings 
Loans outstanding 
Investments 

1,884,116 $493,509 
1,751,512 489,894 

328,697 
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December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Investments 
Amortized 

cost 
1993 

Obligations of the United States 
Government and its 
corporations and agencies S4.017.239 

Obligations of other 
governments 2,303.505 

Bank obligations 73,285 
Time deposits 2,689.711 

S9.083.740 
(1,543.860) 

$7.539.880 

Special Reserve investments 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 
1994 

S 6.285 

10.227 
58 

S 16.570 

1993 1994 1993 

S (55) S(4,228) 

(23,326) (234) 

(2U 
$61,628 S(23.402) S(4,462) 

817,318 

44,261 
4 

45 

Market 
value 
1994 

S2.796.365 

2.279.689 
24,204 

4,173.635 
S9.273.893 
(1.770,320) 

S7.503.573 

Estimated 
market 

\ , i l u r 

1993 

S4.030.329 

2.347,532 
73,289 

2.689.756 

$9,140,906 

The market value, estimated market value and amortized cost of the above investments by contractual maturity are as follows: 

Due in one year or less 
Due alter one year through five years. 
Due after live years 

Market 
value 
1994 

S8.472.288 
729,668 

71,937 

S9.273.893 

Estimated 
market 
value 

1993 

$6.410,539 
2,299,762 

430.605 

$9,140,906 

Amortized 
cost 
1993 

S6.405.701 
2,257,916 

420.123 

S9.083.740 

The freely convertible currencies of the above investments are as follows: 

Currencies 1994 
Austrian schillings S 5.160 
Belgian francs 
British pounds sterling 
Canadian dollars 
Danish kroner 
Finnish markka 
French francs 
German marks 
Italian lire 

26.032 
167.057 
410,819 
12,036 
7,978 

67,217 
690,371 
226.449 

1993 
S 4.689 
22,445 
134,013 
371,791 
11.232 
7,348 

61.486 
628.568 
202.849 

Currencies 

Japanese >en 
Netherlands guilders 
Norwegian kroner . . . 
Portuguese escudos . 
Spanish pesetas 
Swedish kronor 
Swiss francs 
United Stales dollars 
\ enezuelan bolivars. 

1994 
S2.108.574 

105,510 
5.521 
2,542 

101.578 
19,186 

249.956 
4,883.761 
234.146 

S9.273.893 

1993 
S 1.484.922 

291.361 
5.148 
2.311 
90408 
17.289 

277,534 
5,230.853 
239,493 

S9.083.740 
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SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF LOANS - NOTE E 
December 31, 1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Loans 
approved, 

less Principal 
cancellations collected 
$ 7248.482 $ 2,075.384 

206,361 4.152 
197290 26.917 

1.117.199 167.819 
9,533,540 3.179.602 
4,187,729 1.246.798 
5236.340 1.456.673 
1.715.628 208.301 

541.602 105.733 
2,251,121 369.958 
1,218.372 236,316 

639.635 234283 
117.862 29.841 
624.996 121.623 
842,455 224.151 

9,020.923 2582,564 
268.589 64.512 
914.003 239.056 
561.990 73281 

2,657.503 532.669 
16.429 2219 

545,560 1.839 
1.165.882 188272 
3,493,321 260,394 
1,706.418 464.629 

210.000 75.000 
Total 1994 $56239230 $14,471.986 

SI 1.563.667 

Member in whose 
territory loans have 
been made 
Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Cosia Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Pent 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 
Inter-American Investment 

Corporation 

Loans sold 
or agreed 
to lx' sold 
$118.213 S 

14.000 
59.740 

121.685 
172,705 

1.520 
200 

103257 
15251 
40.725 

18,060 

22,186 
1.794 

58.000 
429 

122.662 

13.951 
5,768 
1,000 

Undisbursed 

2,000,799 
70,609 
98.942 

217.982 
3.142,452 

281.962 
1,063,438 

914.548 
199.050 
809,917 
771,702 
29,447 

155,944 
232,144 

2.089222 
68,715 

387.696 
323.121 
752239 

517 
259.382 
311.523 

1769,757 
312,023 

135,000 

Outstanding 
1994 

S 3.054,086 
131,600 
71,431 

717,398 
3.151,746 
2,537284 
2,543,524 

591259 
236.619 
967.989 
195,103 
335,180 
88.021 

329.369 
386,160 

4.026,951 
133,568 
229251 
165,159 

1249,933 
13,693 

284,339 
652.136 

1.457.402 
928.766 

Currency in which 
outstanding portion of 

approved loans is 
collectible 

Freely 
convertible Other 
currencies currencies 

$ 2.998,602 
131,600 
71.306 

712.662 
3.086211 
2,523,334 
2,537773 

591259 
236.619 
966.989 
193,919 
334277 
88.021 

329.369 
385,093 

4,013,406 
133.568 
229.057 
164.146 

1245,763 
13,693 

284.339 
652,133 

1.457,402 
928,766 

Outstanding 
1993 

S 55.484 S 

125 
4.736 

65.535 
13,950 
5,751 

1,000 
1,184 

903 

1.067 
13.545 

194 
1,013 
4.170 

2.778.971 
118.537 
66.867 

612.797 
2.870.994 
2,413220 
2.433240 

484.838 
209.869 
850240 
159.024 
259.549 
90.311 

292,857 
357,511 

3.739.995 
103.311 
228.957 
118.162 

1,030.024 
13,197 

186,511 
527,696 

1,320.765 
836.560 

75.000 
$891.146 $16.398.131 $24,477,967 $24,309,307 $168.660 

Total 1993 $49.607.954 $890.897 S 14.974.387 S22.008.638 $170.365 $22.179.003 

The freely convertible currencies in which the outstanding portion of approved loans is collectible are as follows: 

Currencies 1994 1993 Currencies 1994 1993 
Austrian schillings 
British pounds sterling .. 
Canadian dollars 
European currency units 
Gemían marks 

S 7.505 
151296 
13.380 

2.130.845 
Japanese yen 7.857.434 

5 9,009 
198.185 
17.832 
4,379 

1,812.396 
7227.456 

Netherlands guilders 
Swiss francs 
Trinidad and Tobago dollars. 
United States dollars 
\enezuelan bolivars 

S 834.440 
5,326,142 

537 
7.985.013 

2.715 
$24.309.307 

S 713.543 
4,624,445 

730 
7,397,636 

3.027 

S22.008.638 

file:///enezuelan
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STA TEMENT OF BORROWINGS - NOTE H 
December 31, 1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Borrowings Swap agreements 

Principal outstanding 
Payable in: 1994 1993 
Austrian schillings S 91.659 
British pounds sterling .. 760.547 
Canadian dollars 499,002 
French francs 224.467 
German marks 2.550,361 
Hong Kong dollars 64.625 
Italian lire 153,399 
Japanese yen 9.424.504 

S 81.900 
498.815 
528,701 
203,545 

2.217,103 

8,372,870 

Luxembourg francs . 
Netherlands guilders 
Portuguese escudos. 
Spanish pesetas 
Sw iss francs 
United Slates dollars .. 

I'olal 

78,524 
1247.849 1.262.281 

72.285 65.041 
227,687 209.996 

3.669.386 3.450.457 
6,133.705 6.533.705 

$25.198.000 $23.424.414 

Weighted 
average 
cost M 

1994 
7.84 
9.00 
8.63 
7.00 
7.40 
7.30 
7.59 
5.63 

7.58 
7.33 

12.00 
12.05 
6.05 
8.09 

6.83 

Currency swap 
payable (receivable) 

Weigh led 
average cost 
(return)(%)(a) Net currency obligations 

1994 
S (91.659) 

(343.750) 
(499.002) 
(224.467) 

(64,625) 
(153.899) 
(250.652) 
240.626 
(78.524) 

(172,901) 
(72,285) 

(227,687) 
766.088 

1.358.380 

1993 
S (81.900) 

(103.688) 
(528.701) 
(203.545) 

(223.994) 
215,034 

(154.567) 
(65.041) 

(209.996) 
536.044 
(80.407) 

1.129.920 

1994 
(7.84) 
(8.31) 
(8.63) 
(7.00) 

(7.30) 
(7.58) 
(5.29) 
4.86 

(7.58) 
(8.29) 

(12.00) 
(12.05) 

5.13 

7.03 

1994 1993 
Due dates 

1994 

416.797 395.127 1995/15 

2.550,361 2.217,103 1995/04 

9.414.478 8.363.910 1995/17 

1.074.948 1,107.714 1995/03 

4,435.474 3.986.501 1995/05 

7.492.085 7.583.218 1995/23 

(a) The weighted average cosl of borrowings outstanding at December 31.1994, after adjustment for swap activities, was 6.65% 
(1993-6.89%). 

Sinking fund requirements and maturities subsequent to December 31, 1994 are approximately equivalent to the following 

teat' 
1995 
1996 
1997 
1998 
1999 
2000/04 
2005/09 
2010/14 
2015/19 
2020/23 

Amounts 
S 2.048,143 

1,934,907 
3.059.449 
2,078.557 
2.084,721 
10.897.327 
1.491.119 
831.381 
472,396 
300.000 

S25,198.000 
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STA TEMENT OF SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK - NOTE J 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Paid-in portion of 
subscribed capital 

Members 

Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Croatia 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic. 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 
Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 
Slovenia 
Spain 
Suriname  
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago 
United kingdom 
United States 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Total before unallocated amount. 
Unallocated (see Note J) 

Total 1994 

Tolal 1993 . 

Shares 
585,530 

3,999 
11.317 
7.004 
9.476 
5.970 

47,002 
585,530 
221,158 
160,774 
160,659 
23,496 

1.142 
4,259 

31,366 
31,366 
23.496 

3.999 
48.679 
49.858 
31.366 
8.712 

13,300 
23,496 

3,942 
48,679 
31.366 
54.303 

376,387 
7,401 

23.496 
4.259 

23.496 
23.496 
78,462 

1,282 
655 

48.679 
4,776 
8.290 

10,870 
23.496 
48.679 

1.751,885 
62,776 

313.704 
5.043.333 

1.963 

5.045296 

4.492.720 

Freely 
convertible 
currencies 

$279.992 
2.618 
7.480 
3.879 
6.357 
3.601 

22,450 
279.992 
149.369 
76.820 
76.808 
11.255 

748 
2.823 
14,983 
14,983 
11,255 
2,618 

32.017 
32.752 
14,983 
5,223 
8,167 
11,255 
2.606 

32,017 
14,983 
35.659 
180.010 
4.825 
11.255 
2,823 
11,255 
11,255 
37,554 

796 
434 

32,017 
3,486 
5,525 
7,093 
11255 
32,017 

1.149,355 
30.038 
74.395 

2.763,081 
1.363 

$2.764.444 
$2.597.130 

Other 
currencies 
S104.059 

4,053 
1.755 

3,601 
8,360 

104,059 

28.566 
28.554 
4,162 

5.573 
5.573 
4.162 

5,573 
2,570 
4.162 
4.162 

5.573 

66,904 

4.162 

4,162 
4,162 

13,957 

2,232 

4.162 

11.171 
138.790 
574.219 

S574.219 

S573.007 

Callable 
portion of 

subscribed capital 
$ 6,679,450 

45,624 
124,989 
78,859 
107.956 
64,817 

536.195 
6,679.450 
2,518,555 
1.834.100 
1.832.737 
268,025 
13.029 
48.555 

357.826 
357.826 
268.025 
45,624 

555.220 
568.706 
357.826 
97.304 
148.115 
268.025 
44,948 

555,220 
357,826 
619,421 

4293,605 
84,456 

268.025 
48,555 

268.025 
268.025 
895,010 
14.669 
7,467 

555,220 
51.897 
94.481 
124,036 
268.025 
555.220 

19.984.391 
716.085 

3.571.162 

Tolal 
1994 

Total 
1993 

57.502.607 
22.317 

S57.524.924 
$51.027.487 

$ 7,063,501 
48.242 
136,522 
84,493 
114.313 
72,019 

567.005 
7.063.501 
2.667.924 
1.939.486 
1.938.099 
283,442 
13.777 
51,378 

378,382 
378,382 
283.442 
48,242 

587,237 
601.458 
378,382 
105.097 
160.444 
283.442 
47.554 
587.237 
378.382 
655.080 

4,540,519 
89281 

283.442 
51,378 

283,442 
283,442 
946,521 
15.465 
7.901 

587,237 
57.615 
100.006 
131,129 
283.442 
587,237 

21,133.746 
757,294 

3,784,347 
60,839,907 

23.680 
$60.863.587 

S 6.297.317 
43,006 

121,707 
75.324 

101.912 
47.989 

505.506 
6297.317 
2.378,534 
1,729,112 
1,727.869 

252,693 
12.281 
45.805 

337.341 
337,341 
252.693 
43.006 
523.541 
536.220 
337,342 
93,697 
160,444 
252,693 
42,391 
523.541 
337.342 
584.027 

4.048,006 
79.594 

252.693 
45.805 

252.693 
252.693 
843.849 
13,788 
7.045 

523.541 
51.367 
89.161 
116.906 
252.693 
523,541 

18,778.572 
675.154 

3,373.852 
54,173,944 

23.680 

$54.197.624 
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STATEMENT OF SUBSCRIPTIONS TO CAPITAL STOCK AND VOTING POWER 
December 31,1994 and 1993 

Member countries 
Regional developing members 

Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
EI Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
\ encziiela 
Tolal regional developing members 

Canada. 

I niled Stales 

V'onrcgional members 
Austria 
Belgium 
Croatia 
Denmark 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Israel 
Italy 
Japan 
Netherlands 
Norway 
Portugal 
Slovenia 
Spain 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
Tolal nonregional members 
Tolal before unallocated amount. 

Unallocated (Sec Note J) 
(¡RAM) TOTAL 

Subscribed 
shares 

585.530 
11,317 
7.004 
5.970 

47,002 
585,530 
160,774 
160,659 
23,496 
31.366 
31.366 
23.496 
31.366 
8,712 

13.300 
23.496 
31.366 

376,387 
23496 
23,496 
23.496 
78,462 
4.776 

23.496 
62,776 

313.70 1 

2.7IL839 

221,158 

1.751.885 

3.999 
9.476 
1.142 
4.259 
3.999 

48.679 
49.858 
3.942 

48.679 
54.303 
7,401 
4.259 
1,282 

655 
48.679 
8.290 

10.870 
48.079 

358.451 
5.043.333 

1.963 
5.045.296 

Number 
of voles 

585,665 
11.452 
7.139 
6.103 

47,137 
585,665 
160.909 
160.794 
23,631 
31,501 
31,501 
23.631 
31,501 

8,847. 
13,435 
23.631 
31.501 

376,522 
23,631 
23.631 
23,631 
78.597 

4,911 
23,631 
62,911 

313.839 

2.715.3 19 

221.293 

1.752.020 

4.134 
9,611 
1.277 
4,394 
4,134 

48,814 
49.993 
4,077 

48,814 
54,438 
7,536 
4.394 
1,417 

790 
48.814 
8.425 

11.005 
48,814 

360,881 
5,049.543 

2,233 
5,051,776 

% Of total 
number of 

votes' 

11.60 
0.23 
0.14 
0.12 
0.93 

11.60 
3.19 
3.18 
0.47 
0.62 
0.62 
0.47 
0.62 
0.18 
0.27 
0.47 
0.62 
7.46 
0.47 
0.47 
0.47 
1.56 
0.10 
0.47 
1.25 
6.22 

53.77 

4.38 

34.70 

0.08 
0.19 
0.03 
0.09 
0.08 
0.97 
0.99 
0.08 
0.97 
1.08 
0.15 
0.09 
0.03 
0.02 
0.97 
0.17 
0.22 
0.97 
7.15 

100.00 

'Dala are rounded to the nearest one hundredth of one percent; detail may not add to subtotals and grand tolal because of rounding. 
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SPECIAL OPERATIONS 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 132 through 141 present fairly, in all material respects, the finan
cial position of the Inter-American Development Bank -Fund for Special Operations at December 31, 1994 and 1993, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin
ciples. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for the opinion expressed above. 

Effective January 1, 1994, the Bank changed its method of accounting for investments. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP 

Washington, D.C. 
February 13, 1995 
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BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United Stales dollars 

December 31. 

ASSETS 

Cash and invest men Is 
Cash 
Investments 

Loans outstanding 
Allowance for loan losses 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On investments 
On loans 

Receivable from members 
Contribution quotas 
Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing 

demand obligations 
Amounts required to maintain value 

of currency holdings 
Properly and improvements, net 
Other assets 

Total assets. 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued 

expenses 
Undisbursed technical cooperation 

projects and other financings ... 
Advance payments of contribution 

quotas 

Fund balance 
Contribution quotas authorized and 

subscribed 
General Reserve 
Technical cooperation contribution. 

1994 

$1,311,097 
765.904 

6.043,276 
(115.100) 

3.262 
37,079 

1.088 

1.352.062 

59,865 

$ 19,854 

227,125 

8.675.034 
534,266 

13.474 

$2,077,001 

5,928,176 

40.341 

1,413.015 
984 

10.236 
$9,469,753 

$ 246.979 

Total liabilities and fund balance 

9,222,774 

$9,469,753 

1993 

S 1.237,985 
780.733 

5.931,793 
(115,100) 

6,172 
36,003 

53.140 

1,423,783 

59,865 

S 3,739 

212,644 

814 

8.649.103 
534,489 

14,651 

S2.0I8.718 

5,816,693 

42,175 

1.536,788 
1.042 

24 
S9,415,440 

$ 217,197 

9.198,243 

S9.415.440 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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STA TEMENT OF INCOME AND GENERAL RESER VE 
Expressai in thousands of United Stales dollars 

Years ended December 31. 

Income 
Loans 

Interest 
Credit commissions 
Service charges 
Supervision and inspection fees. 

Investments 
Other 

Total income 

Expenses 
Administrative expenses 

Tolal expenses 

Income before technical cooperation expense 

Technical cooperation expense 

Income before cumulative effect o! change in accounting lor investments. 

Cumulative effect on prior years due to change in accounting for investments . . . 

Net Income 

General Reserve beginning of year 
Translation adjustments 
Allocation to Intermediate Financing Facility Account 

General Reserve end of year 

1994 

$126.036 
6.264 
1.765 
4.228 

138.293 

37.431 
834 

176,358 

89.422 
89.422 

87.136 

77.395 

9.741 

1.678 

11,419 

334.489 
3.858 

(15.500) 

$534.266 

1993 

SI 14.755 
4.976 
1.599 
4.248 

125,578 

54.461 
944 

180,983 

93.213 
93,243 

87,740 

85.906 

1.834 

1.834 

552.345 
(4.190) 

(15,500) 

S534.489 

The accompanying notes arc an integral part of these financial statements 
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STA TEMENT OF CASH FLO WS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31, 
1994 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Capital: 

Collections of receivables from members 
Participations: 

Sales of loans to participants 
Repayments to participants 

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities . 

Cash flows from lending and investing activities 
Lending: 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 

Net cash used for lending activities 
Gross purchases of held-to-maturity investments 
Gross proceeds from sales of held-to-maturity investments. 
Miscellaneous assets and liabilities 
Net cash used for lending and investing activities. 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income from investmenls 
Gross purchases of trading investments 
Gross proceeds from sales and maturities of trading investments 
Other income 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and other financings 
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 

Transfer to the Intermediate Financing Facility Account 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and investments (I) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and investments ( 1 ) 

$ 142,839 

5.544 
(14,855) 
133.528 

(400.312) 
301.296 
(99,216) 

(303,714) 
232.368 

(3.852) 
(154,214) 

137,071 

(9,907,372) 
10,025,524 

834 
(82.865) 
(64,092) 
109.100 

(15,500) 
198 

$ 73.112 

1993 

S (25,494) 

7,664 
(18,215) 
(36,045) 

(378,987) 
270,098 
(108,889) 

6.664 
(102,225) 

124.991 
58.501 

944 
(119,919) 
(65,723) 
(1,206) 

(15,500) 
(9,404) 

S( 164,380) 

(1) Cash only for 1994. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31.1994 and 1993 

Note A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 
The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the Inter-American Development Bank (Bank) conducts 
the operations of the Fund for Special Operations (FSO) in the cur
rencies of all of its members. Assets and liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than the United States dollar are generally trans
lated at approximate market rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the financial statements. Income and expenses in such cur
rencies are generally translated at approximate market rates of ex
change prevailing during each month. Fluctuations of rates of ex
change generally do not have any effect on the United States dollar 
equivalents of such currencies because of the maintenance of value 
provisions described in Note B. The net adjustments resulting from 
the translation into United States dollars of assets, liabilities and 
contribution quotas which do not have maintenance of value pro
tection, being derived from the 1983 and 1990 increases in con
tribution quotas, are shown in the Statement of Income and Gen
eral Reserve as translation adjustments affecting the General Reserve 
directly. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the FSO 
is convertible into any other currency at any rate or rates. 

Investments 
Effective January 1, 1994, the majority of the FSO's investments 
are classified as trading. The remainder of the portfolio is classified 
as held-to-maturity. All investments classified as held-to-maturity 
are valued at amortized cost, which approximates market value, 
and investments classified as trading are stated at market value with 
unrealized gains and losses included in income. 

Loans 
The FSO makes highly concessional loans to its least developed bor
rowing members, agencies or political subdivisions of such mem
bers or to private enterprises located in their territories. In the case 
of loans to borrowers other than national governments, central 
banks or other governmental or inter-governmental entities, the 
FSO has followed the general policy, since 1967, of requiring that 
the government, or an entity thereof engaging the full faith and 
credit of the government, guarantee the loan. Under the loan con
tracts with the borrowers, the FSO sells participations in the loans 
to the Social Progress Trust Fund, reserving to itself the adminis
tration of those loans. The principal amount of loans as well as any 
accrued interest are repayable in the currencies lent. 

The FSO has a policy of not rescheduling loan repayments. 
The FSO follows the policy of reviewing the collectibility of loans 
on a continuous basis and records provisions for loan losses in ac
cordance with its determination of collectibility risk of the total loan 
portfolio. Income ceases to be accrued under all loans in a country 

when service under any loan to or guaranteed by a borrower in 
such country, made from any fund owned or administered by the 
Bank, is overdue more than 180 days; income is recorded thereaf
ter only as it is collected, until loan service is current under all loans. 

Direct costs associated with originating loans are considered 
immaterial and are expensed as incurred. 

Property and improvements 
Property is recorded at cost. Major improvements are capitalized 
while routine replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged 
to expense. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method 
over estimated useful lives (30 to 40 years for buildings). 

Administrative expenses 
Substantially all administrative expenses of the Bank, including de
preciation, are allocated to the Funds pursuant to an allocation 
method approved by the Board of Executive Directors. For 1993, 
the Board of Executive Directors revised the methodology for cal
culating the allocation of administrative expenses between the Or
dinary Capital and the FSO. During 1994, such expenses were 
charged 30.8% to the FSO and 69.2% to the Ordinary Capital 
(1993-34.3% and 65.7%, respectively). 

Technical cooperation 
All non-reimbursable technical cooperation projects, as well as cer
tain financings whose recovery is explicitly contingent on events 
that may not occur, are charged against income or the technical 
cooperation contribution account at the time of approval. 

Cancellations of the undisbursed balances of technical coop
eration projects are recognized as income in the period in which 
they occur. 

Fair values of financial instruments 
The following methods and assumptions were used by the FSO in 
estimating the fair value disclosures for its financial instruments: 

Cash: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet 
for cash approximates fair value. 

Investments: Fair values for investment securities are 
based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted 
market prices are not available, fair values are based on 
quoted market prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans: The FSO is one of very few lenders of development 
and structural adjustment loans to Latin American countries. 
There is no secondary market for development loans. Inter
est on all loans within the FSO is accrued at fixed rates. For 
all loans and related commitments, the FSO is of the opin
ion that due to its unique position in its lending operations 
and the absence of a secondary market, it is not practicable 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS (continued) 
December 31,1994 and 1993 

to estimate a fair market value for the FSO's lending portfo
lio at this time. 

Note B—Maintenance of Value 
In accordance with the Agreement Establishing the Inter-Ameri
can Development Bank (Agreement), each member is required to 
maintain the value of its currency held in the FSO to the extent es
tablished by the terms for the respective increases in contribution 
quotas. Likewise, and subject to the same terms of contribution 
quota increases, the Bank is required to return to a member an 
amount of its currency equal to any significant increase in value of 
such member's currency which is held in the FSO. The standard of 
value for these purposes ranges from the United States dollar at its 
1959 value to the United States dollar at its value in effect at any 
given time. Holdings derived from the 1983 and 1990 increases in 
contribution quotas do not have maintenance of value protection. 

The General Counsel of the Bank has rendered an opinion 
that since the effectiveness on April 1, 1978 of the Second Amend
ment to the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary 
Fund, which eliminated par values of currencies in terms of gold, 
the Special Drawing Right (SDR) has become the successor to the 
1959 United States dollar as the standard of value. The Bank's gov
erning boards have not made a decision on this matter. If the SDR 
were to have been substituted for the 1959 United States dollar on 
December 3 1, 1994, the financial position and the results of op
erations of the FSO would not have been materially affected. 

"Amounts required to maintain value of currency holdings" 
represent amounts due from member countries for maintenance of 
value adjustments resulting from the changes in the values of cur
rencies in 1972 and 1973. Such amounts include $5,387,000 
( 1993—$5,387,000) for which payment responsibility has not been 
assigned as they relate to outstanding loans repayable at borrow
ers' options either in the currencies disbursed or in the borrowers' 
currencies. The obligation for payment of this amount is being al
located to individual members on the basis of the currencies received 
in loan repayments. 

Note C—Restricted Currencies 
Cash includes $1,299,753,000 (1993-$1,219,772,000) in the 
non-convertible currencies of regional borrowing members, of 
which $148,402,000 (1993-$ 137,078,000) has been restricted 
by one of the members to be used for making payments for goods 
and services produced in its territory, in accordance with provisions 
of the Agreement. 

Note D—Investments 
Effective January 1, 1994, following implementation of a new stan
dard issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in May 
1993, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Se
curities" (SFAS 115), the majority of the liquid investment portfo

lio of the FSO which consist of obligations of governments and their 
corporations and agencies and of banks, is classified as trading and 
is stated at market value. The remainder of the portfolio is classi
fied as held-to-maturity. The initial adoption of SFAS 115 resulted 
in the recognition of a net unrealized gain of $ 1,678,000. For the 
year ended December 3 1, 1993, all investments of the FSO are 
stated at amortized cost which approximates market value. 

The investments of the FSO are shown in the Summary 
Statement of Investments in Appendix II-1. 

Proceeds from sales of investments during 1994 and 1993 
were $946,017,000 and $333,674,000, respectively. Gross gains 
of $7,093,000 and gross losses of $1,745,000 were realized on 
those sales in 1994 (1993-$3,187,000 and $246,000, respec
tively). The average return on investments during 1994 and 1993 
was 4.83% and 5.96%, respectively. 

The FSO limits its activities of investing in securities to a list 
of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have 
been established for each counterparty by type of instrument and 
maturity category. 

Note E—Loans Outstanding 
Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with the 
requirements of the project being financed; however, disbursements 
do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, take certain 
actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. Of the undisbursed 
balances, the Bank has entered into irrevocable commitments to dis
burse approximately $38,452,000 at December 31, 1994. 

The Board of Executive Directors has authorized participa
tions by the Social Progress Trust Fund (Trust Fund) in the United 
States dollar or local currency portions of loans made from the FSO 
provided that, with respect to such loans, the provisions of the So
cial Progress Trust Fund Agreement have in substance been com
plied with as fully as though the loans had been made initially from 
the Trust Fund. 

Pursuant to the policy described in Note A, in October 1993, 
loans made to or guaranteed by Suriname were placed in 
nonaccrual status. In addition, loans made to or guaranteed by Haiti 
were placed in nonaccrual status in April 1992. The effect of the 
foregoing resulted in a decrease of $3,400,000 in income for the 
year ended December 3 1, 1993. 

On February 10, 1994 and December 19, 1994, the FSO 
received payment of all amounts overdue on loans to borrowers in 
Suriname and Haiti, respectively, which came out of nonaccrual 
status. As a result, income from loans for the year ended December 
3 1, 1994, has been increased by $8,430,000 corresponding to in
come that would have been accrued in prior years. 

The average maturity of loans outstanding and the average 
interest rate for loans outstanding at December 31, 1994 and 1993, 
are 12.5 years and 12.3 years, respectively, and 1.92% and 1.96%, 
respectively. 
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Note F—Contribution Quotas Authorized and 
Subscribed 
Non-negotiable, non-interest bearing demand obligations have 
been or will be accepted in lieu of part of the payment of the mem
bers' contribution quotas. The Canadian contribution quota is be
ing increased by collections of principal, interest and service charges 
on loans extended from the Canadian Trust Fund administered by 
the Bank. 

Voting power 
In making decisions concerning operations of the FSO, the number 
of votes and percent of voting power for each member country are 
the same as determined for the Ordinary Capital. 

The following table summarizes the changes in contribution 
quotas subscribed for the years ended December 31, 1994 and 
1993 (in thousands): 

Contribution quotas 
subscribed 

Balance at January 1, 1993 
Contribution by Canada -

Trust Fund collections 
Decrease in the U.S. dollar equivalents 

of contributions approved in 1983 
and 1990 due to exchange rate 
fluctuations 

Balance at December 31,1993 
Contribution by Canada -

Trust Fund collections 
Decrease due to Macedonia's withdrawal 
Increase in the U.S. dollar equivalents 

of contributions approved in 1983 and 
1990 due to exchange rate fluctuations 

Balance at December 31,1994 

i.666,613 

1,853 

(19,363) 

.,649,103 

1,724 
(592) 

24,799 

i,675,034 

The composition of amounts receivable from members for 
the years ended December 3 1, 1994 and 1993 are as follows (in 
thousands): 

Amounts 

Receivable from members 
Regional developing members 
United States 
Canada 
Non-regional members 

Total 

1994 
i 997,677 

215,299 
17,023 

183,016 
¡1,413,015 

1993 
51,036,526 

269,119 
28,468 

202,675 
51,536,788 

Certain currency holdings of the FSO which are derived 
from authorized contributions in 1983 and 1990 are not subject 
to the maintenance of value provisions of the Agreement. 

At December 31, 1994, the cumulative increase in the 
United States dollar equivalents of contribution quotas because of 
exchange rate fluctuations was $55,222,000 (1993— 
$30,423,000). 

Increase in contribution quotas 
In August 1994, the Board of Governors of the Bank voted in fa
vor of the terms of an increase in the resources of the FSO and to 
recommend to the Bank's member countries that they take the nec
essary measures to bring the increase into force. Under the proposed 
increase, the authorized contribution quotas for the FSO will be in
creased by approximately $1,000,000,000. This increase will be 
subscribed in ten annual installments. 

Membership 
On April 21, 1993, the Bank's Board of Executive Directors de
cided that the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (SFRY) had 
ceased to be a member of the Bank and that the Republic of Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia, the Former Yugoslav-
Republic of Macedonia, the Republic of Slovenia and the Federal 
Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) are authorized to 
succeed to the SFRY's membership. Accordingly, the contribution 
quotas representing SFRY's membership in the FSO of the Bank 
have been classified as unallocated until each successor republic suc
ceeds to the membership of the SFRY. The Republics of Croatia and 
Slovenia have since become members of the Bank. The Republic of 
Croatia and the Republic of Slovenia were allocated their share of 
the contribution quotas in the amount of $4,166,000 and 
$2,397,000, respectively. On March 30, 1994, the Republic of 
Croatia and the Republic of Slovenia completed their subscription 
of these contribution quotas. On June 21, 1993, the Government 
of the Republic of Macedonia declined the offer to succeed to the 
membership of the SFRY in the Bank. 

Note G—General Reserve 
In accordance with resolutions of the Board of Governors, the net 
income of the FSO is to be added to the General Reserve. 

In both 1994 and 1993 the Board of Governors allocated 
the equivalent of $15,500,000 in convertible currencies from the 
General Reserve to the Intermediate Financing Facility Account 
(IFF) for the purpose of providing to certain borrowers part of the 
interest for which they are liable on loans from the Ordinary Capi
tal of the Bank. In addition, in accordance with the agreements for 
the Sixth and Seventh General Capital increases approved in 1983 
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and 1990, the equivalent of $15,500,000 in convertible curren
cies is to be allocated annually from the General Reserve to the IFF 
during each of the years 1995 and 1996, $23,500,000 from 1997 
through 2001 and $30,000,000 from 2002 through 2010, sub
ject to adjustment by the Board of Governors. 

As indicated in Note A, the adjustments resulting from the 
translation of those assets, liabilities and contribution quotas which 
do not have maintenance of value protection, are shown as adjust
ments to the General Reserve. Such adjustments consist of the fol
lowing (in thousands) : 

Years ended 
December 31, 

1994 1993 

Cumulative adjustments 
beginning of year $(5,907) $(1,717) 

Translation adjustments 
for the year 3,858 (4,190) 

Cumulative adjustments 
end of year $(2,049) $(5,907) 

The agreement for the Eighth General Capital increase of the 
Bank approved in 1994, contemplates the transfer starting in 1995 
of $30,000,000 per annum to a new Fund for Technical Assistance 
and commencing in 1997, of all net income in convertible curren
cies, to the IFF. 

Note H—Technical Cooperation Contribution 
In June 1992, the Board of Executive Directors approved the allo
cation of $15,000,000 from the 1991 Ordinary Capital net income 
to a separate account in the FSO to be used solely for the financing 
of technical cooperation projects. In 1994, $1,177,000 was 
charged to this account (1993-$349,000). 

Note I—Administrative Expenses 
Pursuant to the policy described in Note A—Administrative Ex
penses, the FSO shares all of the expenses incurred by the Bank in 
the Ordinary Capital including those related to the retirement plans 
and non-pension retirement benefits. 

Note J—Technical Cooperation Expense 
Technical cooperation expense consists of the following (in thou
sands): 

December 31, 

1994 1993 
Projects approved $84,649 $90,258 
Cancellation of balances for 

overages or projects not executed .. . (6,570) (3,162) 
Recuperations and adjustments (684) (1,190) 

Total $77,395 $85,906 

Note K—Reconciliation of Net Income to Net Cash 
Provided by Operating Activities 
A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities, as shown in the statement of cash flows, is as follows (in 
thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

Net Income 
Difference between amounts accrued and 

amounts paid or collected for: 
Loan income 
Income from held-to-maturity investments 
Net unrealized gain on investments 
Gross purchases of trading investments 
Gross proceeds from sales and maturities 

of trading investments 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and 

other financings 
Cumulative effect on prior years due to 

change in accounting 
for investments 

1994 
11,419 

(1,223) 
(351) 

(1,503) 
(9,907,372) 

9,989,947 
6,557 

13,304 

(1,678) 

1993 
1,834 

(587) 
4,040 

(26,676) 

20,183 

Net cash provided by (used for) 
operating activities $ 109,100 $ (1,206) 

Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities 
Increase (decrease) resulting from 
exchange rate fluctuations: 

Due from members $19,032 
Contribution quotas 25,162 
Investments 10,040 

E 13,966 
(19,363) 
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APPENDIX II-1 

SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF INVESTMENTS - NOTE D 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Trading Investments 

Obligations of the United Slates 
Government and its corporations 
and agencies 

Obligations of other 
governments 

Bank obligations 
Time deposits 

Amortized 
cost 

1993 

Cross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 
1994 

S 47,493 S 

210,026 
39,804 

483,410 

1,590 
112 

1993 

S 808 

983 

1994 

S -

(493) 

(6) 

1993 

Market 
value 
1994 

S (43) S 

(9,327) 
(22) 

175.583 
31,595 

507,228 

Estimated 
market 
value 
1993 

S 48.258 

201,682 
39,782 

483,412 
$780.733 S2.002 $1,793 $(499) $(9,392) $714,406 $773,134 

Held—to—maturity Investments 

Obligations of other 
governments 
Time deposits 

Amortized 
cost 

1994 

$14.773 
36.725 

Sõ 1.498 

1993 

$ -

Gross unrealized 
gains 

1994 

$ -

$ -

1993 

S -

S -

Gross unrealized 
losses 

1994 1998 

Estimated 
market value 

1994 1993 

8(5,171) 8 - S 9,602 S 
36,725 

$(5,171) $ - $46,327 $ 

The market value, estimated market value and amortized cost of the above securities by contractual maturity, are as follows: 

Market 
value 
1994'" 

Due in one year or less $751.131 
Duc aller one \ear through five years... 14.773 

$765.904 

Estimated 
market 
value 
1993 

$700,452 
72.682 

$773,134 

Amortized 
cost 
1993 

$699,957 
80.770 

$780,733 

(I) Includes $ 14.773.000 (Obligations of other Governments) and $36,725.000 (Time Deposits) corresponding to investments 
classified as Held-to-Maturity, estimated at amortized cost. 

The freely convertible currencies of the above investments are as follows: 

Currencies 
Austrian schillings 
Belgian francs 
British pounds sterling 
Canadian dollars 
Danish kroner 
Finnish markka 
French francs 
German marks 
Italian lire 

1994 
15.678 
27,458 
76,248 
83.115 
8,559 
9.420 

83,867 
69,856 
36.407 

1993 
12,589 
22,360 
62,576 
99,703 
7,122 
8,665 

66,042 
51,602 
26,700 

Currencies 1994 
Japanese yen 
Netherlands guilders 
Norwegian kroner ... 
Portuguese escudos . 
Spanish pesetas 
Swedish kronor 
Swiss francs 
United States dollars 
Venezuelan bolivars. 

S 86,394 
16,254 
2,784 
7,095 

70,030 
14,496 
20,744 
86,001 
51,498 

$765,904 

1993 
$ 62,621 

12,904 
2,029 
6.157 

58,725 
11.610 
15,852 

179,441 
74,035 

$780,733 
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SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF LOANS - NOTE E 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of I ¡titled Slates dollars 

Member in whose 
territory loans have 
been made 
Argentina 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic.. 
Ecuador  
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago. 
I ruguaj 
Venezuela 
Regional  

Loans 
approved, 

less 
cancellations 
S 624.300 

41.274 
1.073.642 
1,536.028 
203.421 
762,506 
349.104 
714,515 
925.887 
747.576 
603.097 
329.677 
350,795 
888.074 
163.242 
558.986 
704.457 
286.142 
586.190 
395,337 

2.271 
31.315 

103.965 
101.393 
187.782 

Loans sold 
Principal or agreed to 
collected be sold 
S 286.944 

11.680 
169,409 
788,341 
169.407 
349.163 
133.183 
142.361 
148.662 
84.937 
116.875 
16.189 
46,416 
133.640 
56.031 

434.893 
89.653 
115,939 
147.372 
213.766 

15 
13.062 
46.470 
74.260 
90.010 

Undisbursed 
S 26.133 S 113.160 

3,742 
41,388 
7,298 
7,000 
2,872 
16.484 
16.812 
12.083 
12.144 

400 
2,480 
18,367 

2.056 
27.847 
12.924 

956 
20.451 

2.062 
21.782 

292.647 
275,605 

94,858 
585 

145,043 
167.902 
99,168 
118.023 
152.951 
132.285 
144.399 

981 

198,211 
13.045 

133.728 

553 
5,472 
846 

3.979 

Outstanding 
1994 

S 198.063 
29.594 

607.844 
430.694 
26.716 

311.485 
212,164 
410.627 
592.511 
551.388 
856.055 
159.837 
169.614 
591.668 
106.230 
122.037 
388.746 
144,234 
304,134 
161,120 

1.703 
12.781 
54.587 
5.351 

93.793 

Currency in which 
outstanding portion of 

approved loans is 
collectible 

Freely 
convertible Other Outstanding 
currencies currencies 1993 
S 10.337 

29,286 
529,682 

1.509 
10,333 
157,202 
192.045 
373.141 
551.518 
518.138 
319,667 
157,472 
148,273 
543.450 
90,118 
24.068 
375.249 
117.412 
250,291 
98,894 

640 
29.334 
5.351 

76.507 

187.721) 
808 

78.162 
429.185 
16.383 
154,283 
20,419 
37.486 
40.993 
33.250 
36.388 
2,365 

21,341 
48,218 
16.112 
97.969 
13.497 
26.822 
53.843 
62.226 
1.703 

12.141 
25.253 

17.286 

S 212.089 
30.918 

583.673 
431,533 
31,491 
327,871 
222.806 
405.604 
571.490 
517.825 
331.807 
145,602 
186,506 
552,258 
11 1.590 
140.823 
331.266 
149.305 
299.186 
173,400 

1,591 
11,793 
56.240 
6.688 

98.438 
Tolal 1994. 
Total 1993. 

S 12.270.976 S3.878.978 S255.281 S2.093.441 S6.043.276 S4.609.917 S 1.433.359 
SI 1.755.615 S3.583.I28 S259.784 $1,980,910 S4.435.662 $1.496.131 S5.931.793 

The freely convertible currencies in which the outstanding portion of approved loans is collectible are as follows: 

Currencies 

Austrian schillings 
Belgian francs 
British pounds sterling .. 
Canadian dollars 
Danish kroner 
Finnish markka 
French francs 
German marks 
Italian lire 

1994 
$ 7.499 

25,046 
99,736 

239.081 
11.016 
7,085 

97,966 
119,021 
26.972 

1993 
S 7.809 

25,718 
105.175 
210.288 
11.392 
7,413 

102,460 
123,442 
28,714 

Currencies 1994 

Japanese yen 
Netherlands guilders. 
Norwegian kroner . . . 
Porlagítese escudos.. 
Spanish pesetas 
Swedish kronor 
Swiss francs 
United States dollars. 
Venezuelan bolivars . 

S 29.666 
16.999 
13.337 
2,682 

112,008 
21,823 
27,264 

3.605,075 
47,641 

S 

1993 

133,738 
17.632 
13,752 
2.782 

117.261 
22,647 
28,214 

3,427,348 
49,877 

$4.609.917 $4,435.662 
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STA TEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION QUOTAS - NOTES B AND F 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United Stales dollars 

Contribution (|tiolas authorized and subscribed 

Subject to maintenance 
of value 

Members 
Argentina 
Austria 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Belgium 
Belize 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Canada 
Chile 
Colombia 
Cosla Rica 
Croatia 
Denmark 
Dominican Republic.. 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Finland 
France 
Germany 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Israel 
Italy 
Jamaica 
Japan 
Mexico 
Netherlands 
Nicaragua 
Norway 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Portugal 
Slovenia 
Spain 
Suriname  
Sweden 
Switzerland 
Trinidad and Tobago . 
United Kingdom 
United Stales 
Uruguay 
\ enezuela 
Total before 

unallocated amount 
Unallocated 

(see Notes B and F). 

Tolal 1994 

Total 1993 . 

Before 
adjustments 

S 402.819 
10.955 
8.800 
1.403 

27.098 

32.535 
402.819 
204.532 
111.440 
111.385 
16.215 
8.121 

11.692 
21.721 
21.721 
16.215 
10.955 

133.396 
136.692 
21.721 
6.980 

16.215 
16.215 
10.794 

133.396 
21.721 

148.825 
259.249 

20,261 
16,215 
11.692 
16.215 
16.215 
54.492 
4,994 
1.795 

133.396 
5.280 

23.729 
29.752 
16.215 

133.396 
4.100.000 

43.502 
250.060 

7.197.839 

5.447 

S7.203.286 

S7.202.154 

Adjustments 
S 29.239 

12 

9.502 
61.754 
12.577 
22.565 
19.786 
3.818 

7.341 
4.151 
1.87 I 

6.312 

2.316 
6.569 

2,734 

15,041 

4,594 

5.87 I 
8.504 

13.803 

1.446 

243.574 
3.714 

12.109 

199.231. 

5.387 

S50 1.623 

S50 1.628 

Not subject 
to 

maintenance 
of value 

$ 45,572 
3.786 
1.166 

159 
8.737 
7,200 
4,190 

51.352 
43.563 
14.430 
I 1,130 
2.069 
1.045 
3.724 
2.809 
2.809 
2.069 
2.490 

39.363 
45.889 

2.809 
899 

2.069 
2.069 
3.034 

26.628 
2.809 

74,066 
35.947 

6.975 
2.061 
2.735 
2.069 
2.069 
7,107 

819 
602 

,30.150 
688 

5.151 
10.319 
2.070 

31.285 
372.304 

5.622 
33.947 

965.105 

2.020 

S967.I25 

S942.326 

Total 1994 

S 477.630 
14.741 
9.966 
1,604 

35,835 
7,200 

46.227 
515.925 
260,672 
148,435 
145.601 
22.102 
4.166 

15.416 
31.871 
28.681 
20.158 
13.445 

172.759 
182.581 
30.842 

7.879 
20.600 
24.853 
13.828 

160.024 
27.264 

222.891 
310.237 

27.236 
22.870 
14.427 
24,155 
26.788 
75.402 

5,813 
2.397 

163.546 
5.968 

28.880 
40.071 
19.731 

164.631 
4.715.878 

52.838 
298.116 

8.662.180 

12.854 
S8.675.034 

Total 1993 
S 476.140 

14.338 
9.966 
1.604 

34.801 
7.200 

46.227 
515.925 
261.541 
148.435 
145.601 
22.102 

4.072 
15.037 
31.871 
28.681 
20.158 
13.353 

169.090 
178.385 
30.842 

7.879 
20.600 
24.853 
13.566 

158.864 
27.264 

215.014 
310.237 

26,496 
22,870 
14.365 
24.155 
26.788 
75.402 

5.795 
2.343 

161.203 
5.968 

28.325 
38.912 
19.730 

163.007 
4.715.878 

52.839 
298.116 

8.635.838 

13.265 

S8.649.I03 

1994 
Contribution 

quotas 
receivable from 

members 

o 
258 

457 

56 

771. 

812 
S 1.088 

S53.I 10 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING 
FACILITY ACCOUNT 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 144 through 147 present fairly, in all material respects, the fi
nancial position of the Inter-American Development Bank -Intermediate Financing Facility Account at December 3 1, 1994 
and 1993, and the changes in its fund balance for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits pro
vide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

Effective January 1, 1994, the Bank changed its method of accounting for investments. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP 

Washington, D.C. 
February 13, 1995 
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BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United Stales dollars 

December 31, 

ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash 
Investments 

Accrued interest on investments 
Other assets 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AM) FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Fund balance 
Total liabilities and fund balance . 

1994 

$ 2.365 
345.73!» $348,104 

392 
209 

$348,705 

$217 

348.488 
$348,705 

1993 

S 780 
324,362 $325,142 

1.079 
234 

$326,505 

326,505 
$326.505 

STA TEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31. 

Additions 
Allocation front Fund for Special Operations 
Income from investments 

Tolal additions 

Deductions 
Interest paid on behalf of Ordinary Capital borrowers 

(I)ecrease)/lncrease for the year before cumulai he effect on 
prior years due to change in accounting lor investments 
Cumulative effect on prior years due to change in accounting loi' 

investments 

(I)ecrease)/lncrease for the year . . 

Fund balance beginning ol the year 

Translation adjustments 

Fund balance end of year 

1994 

$ 15.500 
11,898 
27,398 

31,882 

(4.484) 

598 

(3.886) 

326,505 

25,869 

$348,488 

1993 

S 15.500 
15.502 
31.002 

23.747 

7,255 

7.255 

311,568 

7.682 

S326.505 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS 
December 31,1994 and 1993 

Note A—Nature of the Account 
In 1983 the Board of Governors of the Inter-American Develop
ment Bank (Bank) established the Intermediate Financing Facility 
Account (IFF) for the purpose of providing to certain borrowers part 
of the interest payments for which they are liable on loans from 
the Ordinary Capital of the Bank. For initial funding purposes, the 
equivalent of $61,000,000 in convertible currencies of the Gen
eral Reserve of the Fund for Special Operations (FSO) was trans
ferred to the IFF on December 15, 1983. In addition, under the 
Sixth and Seventh General Capital increases, the equivalent of 
$15,500,000 in convertible currencies of the General Reserve of 
the FSO has been transferred annually beginning in 1984; a simi
lar amount is to be allocated annually by the Board of Governors 
during each of the years 1995 through 1996, $23,500,000 from 
1997 through 2001 and $30,000,000 from 2002 through 2010. 
These amounts are subject to adjustment for appropriate reasons 
related to the availability of funding for the IFF. 

The agreement for the Eighth General Capital increase of the 
Bank approved in 1994, contemplates the transfer from the FSO 
to the IFF, starting in 1997, of all net income in convertible cur
rencies. 

Additionally, in June 1992, the Board of Executive Direc
tors approved the allocation of $35,000,000 from the 1991 Or
dinary Capital net income. 

The IFF is also authorized to receive additional contributions 
from any member country. 

In making decisions concerning operations of the IFF, the 
number of votes and percent of voting power for each member 
country are the same as determined for the Ordinary Capital. 

Note B—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 
The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars; 
however, the IFF conducts its operations in various convertible cur
rencies, including the United States dollar. Assets and liabilities de
nominated in currencies other than the United States dollar are 
translated at approximate market rates of exchange prevailing at 
the dates of the financial statements. Income and expenses in such 
currencies are translated at the approximate market rates of ex
change prevailing during each month. The adjustments resulting 
from the translation of assets and liabilities are shown in the State
ment of Changes in Fund Balance as translation adjustments. 

No representation is made that any currency held in the IFF 
is convertible into any other currency at any rate or rates. 

Administrative expenses 
Administrative expenses of the IFF are paid and absorbed by the 
Inter-American Development Bank—Ordinary Capital and Fund 
for Special Operations. 

Fair values of financial instruments 
The following methods and assumptions were used by the IFF in 
estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet 
for cash approximates fair value. 

Investments: Fair values for investment securities are 
based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted 
market prices are not available, fair values are based on 
quoted market prices of comparable instruments. 

Note C—Investments 
Effective January 1, 1994, following implementation of a new stan
dard issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in May 
1993, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Se
curities" (SFAS 115), the investments of the IFF which consist of 
obligations of governments and their corporations and agencies and 
of banks, are stated at market value reporting unrealized gains and 
losses in net income. The initial adoption of SFAS 115 resulted in 
the recognition of a net unrealized gain of $598,000. For the year 
ended December 3 1, 1993, the investments of the IFF are stated at 
amortized cost which approximates market value. 

The investments of the IFF are shown in the Summary State
ment of Investments in Appendix III-1. 

The IFF limits its activities of investing in securities to a list 
of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have 
been established for each counterparty by type of instrument and 
maturity category. 

Proceeds from sales of investments during 1994 and 1993 
were $871,112,000 and $79,086,000, respectively. Gross gains 
of $4,234,000 and gross losses of $1,114,000 were realized on 
those sales in 1994 (1993-$624,000and$123,000,respectively). 
The average return on investments during 1994 and 1993 was 
3.23°/o and 4.72%, respectively. 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
December 31, 1994 and 1993 

Note D—Translation Adjustments 
As indicated in Note B, the adjustments of assets and liabilities de
nominated in currencies other than the United States dollar are shown 
as translation adjustments in the Statement of Changes in Fund Bal
ance. Such adjustments consist of the following (in thousands): 

Years ended December 31, 

Cumulative adjustments 
beginning of year . . . 

Translation adjustments 
for the vear 

Cumulative adjustments 
end of year 

1994 

$43,267 

25,869 

$69,136 

1993 

$35,585 

7,682 

$43,267 

Note E—Commitments 
The payment by the IFF of part of the interest due from borrowers 
is contingent on the availability of resources. At December 31, 
1994, the amounts disbursed and outstanding and undisbursed, 
classified by country, under loans on which the IFF would pay part 
of the interest are as follows (in thousands): 

Country 

Bahamas 
Barbados 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic. 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Suriname  
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Regional 

Disbursed 
and 

outstanding 

$ 35,424 
2,835 

104,837 
19,096 
38,584 
18,171 
26,021 
40,343 
15,863 

126,761 
94,206 
36,306 
50,454 

9,479 
70,238 
84,064 

5,121 

$777,803 

Undisbursed 
$ 46,382 

39,168 
97,063 
17,548 
15,000 
90,000 

5,604 

116,058 
68,715 

119,623 
20,812 

517 
93,988 
64,472 
50,925 

$845,875 
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INTERMEDIATE FINANCING FACILITY ACCOUNT 
INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX III-1 

SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF INVESTMENTS - NOTE C 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Investments 

Obligations of the United Stales 
Government and its corporations 
and agencies 

Obligations of other 
governments 

Bank obligations 
Time deposits 

Amortized 
cost 

1993 

69.786 
3,762 

172.603 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 
1994 

$ 78.211 $ 48 

550 

$324,362 S598 

1993 

S554 

42 
2 

$598 

1994 1993 

Market 
value 

1994 

$ 74,993 

140,027 

130.719 

Estimated 
market 
value 

1993 

$ 78,765 

69,828 
3,764 

172,603 

$345.739 $324.960 

The market value, estimated market value and amortized cost of the above securities by contractual maturity, are as follows: 

Markel 
\aluc 

1994 

Due in one year or less $345,739 
Due after one year through five years — 

$345,739 

Kstimated 
market 
value 

1993 

$294,538 
30,422 

$324.960 

Amortized 
cost 
1993 

$294,494 
29.868 

$324,362 

The freely convertible currencies of the above investments are as follows: 

Currencies 1994 

British pounds sterling $ 35,029 
Canadian dollars 9,688 
German marks 58,211 
Japanese yen 136.727 

1993 

I 32,177 
9,712 

44,639 
121.783 

Currencies 1994 

Netherlands guilders $ 2,163 
Swiss francs 28.928 
United States dollars 74,993 

$345,739 

1993 

$ 1.840 
30,367 
83,844 

$324.362 

file:///aluc
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SOCIAL PROGRESS 
TRUST FUND 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 150 through 156 present fairly, in all material respects, the finan
cial position of the Social Progress Trust Fund, which is administered by the Inter-American Development Bank, at December 
3 1, 1994 and 1993, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

Effective January 1, 1994, the Bank changed its method of accounting for investments. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP 

Washington, D.C. 
February 13, 1995 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

December 31, 

.ASSETS 

Cash and investments 
Cash 
Investments 

Participations in loans made from the Fund 
for Special Operations 

Loans outstanding 

Allowance for losses on loans and 
participations 

Accrued interest and other charges 
On participations 
On loans 

Total assets 

1994 

$ 2,695 
9,350 

218 
133 

$ 12,045 

104,344 

32,654 

(3.035) 

351 
$146.359 

1993 

S 4.158 
9.872 

458 
52 

S 14.030 

113.656 

35,055 

(3,035) 

510 
$160.216 

LIABILITIES AND Fl !\D BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses .. 
Undisbursed technical cooperation projects 

and other financings 

Fund balance 
Fund established by the United States 

Government 
Accumulated excess of expenses over income 
Amounts returned to the United Stales 

Government 
Total liabilities and fund balance 

$ 969 

31.059 

525.000 
(220.992) 

(189.677) 

S 32.028 

114,331 
$146,359 

$ 1.224 

33.066 

525,000 
(215,204) 

(183.870) 

S 34.290 

125.926 
$160,216 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE ENTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STA TEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENSES 
Expressed in thousands of United Stales dollars 

Years ended December 31, 

Income 
Loans 
Participations . 
Investments... 

Total income 

Expenses 
Administrative expenses 

Direct expenses 
Indirect and overhead expenses charged by 

administrator 
Pros ision for loan losses 

Tolal administrative expenses 
Translation adjustments 

Total expenses 

Income before technical cooperation expense . 
Technical cooperation expense 

Excess of expenses over income before cumulative effect of change in 
accounting for investments 

Cumulative effect on prior years due lo change in accounting for 
investments 

Excess of expenses over income 

Accumulated excess of expenses over 
income beginning of year 

Accumulated excess of expenses over 
income end of year 

1994 

575 
1.661 

396 
2.632 

80 

305 

391 
956 

1.347 

1.285 
7.074 

(5.789) 

I 

(5.788) 

(215.204) 

8(220.992) 

1993 

524 
1,973 

340 
2,837 

120 

480 
( 1.265) 
(3.665) 
1,183 

(2,482) 

5,319 
16.215 

(10.896) 

(10.896) 

(204,308) 

$(215.204) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STA TEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31, 
1994 

Cash flows from lending and investing activities 
Lending (excluding related income): 

Loan collections 
Purchases of participations in loans 
Collections of participations 
Other assets and liabilities 

Net cash provided by lending and investing activities 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income on participations 
Income from investments 
Gross purchases of trading investments 
Gross proceeds from sales and maturities of trading investments 
Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and other financings 

Net cash used for operating activities 

Refunded to the U.S. Government 

Effect of exchange rale fluctuations on cash ami investments (I) 

Net decrease in cash and investments ( 1 ) 

(1) Cash only for 1994 

2.401 
(5.544) 
14,855 

(369) 

I 1.343 

495 
1.859 

(340.000) 
340.920 

(236) 
(9,081) 

(6,043) 

(5.807) 

(956) 

$(1,463) 

1993 

$ 4,097 
(7,664) 
18,215 

14.648 

578 
2,001 

340 

(345) 
(9.744) 

(7.170) 

(8,465) 

(1,183) 

$(2,170) 

The accompanying notes arc an integral part of these financial statements 



FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS 153 

SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31. 1994 and 1993 

Note A—Nature of the Fund 
In 1961 the United States of America and the Inter-American De
velopment Bank (Bank) entered into an Agreement whereby the 
Bank became Administrator of the Social Progress Trust Fund 
(SPTF). Pursuant to the Agreement the Bank charges the SPTF for 
salary costs of certain of its professional staff, other direct expenses 
and the SPTF's share of allowable overhead expenses. At Decem
ber 31, 1994, the Government of the United States and the Bank 
had agreed to final overhead rates for all years through 1993. For 
subsequent years, the Bank proposed to use a rate of $3.61 per 
$ 1.00 of salary cost on a provisional basis. 

Note B—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 
The financial statements are expressed in United States dollars, 
which is the functional currency of the SPTF. Assets and liabilities 
in currencies other than United States dollars are translated gener
ally at approximate market rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 
of the financial statements. Income and expenses in such curren
cies are translated generally at the approximate market rates of ex
change prevailing during each month. The adjustments resulting 
from the translation of the Latin American currencies held by the 
SPTF into United States dollars are shown in the Statement of In
come and Expenses as translation adjustments. No representation 
is made that any currency held by the SPTF is convertible into any 
other currency at any rate or rates. 

Loans 
Loans from the resources of the SPTF have been made to develop
ing members of the Bank, agencies or political subdivisions of such 
members or to private enterprises located in their territories. For loans 
to borrowers other than members and central banks, the Bank as Ad
ministrator has received in all instances the member's guarantee. 

The Bank as Administrator has a policy of not rescheduling 
loan repayments. The Bank as Administrator follows the policy of 
reviewing the collectibility of loans on a continuous basis and records 
provisions for loan and participation losses in accordance with its de
termination of collectibility risk of the total loan portfolio. 

The Bank as Administrator ceases to accrue income under 
all loans in a country when service under any loan to or guaran
teed by a borrower in such country, made from any fund owned 
or administered by the Bank, is overdue for more than 180 days; 
income is recorded thereafter only as it is collected, until loan ser
vice is current under all loans. 

Technical cooperation 
All non-reimbursable technical cooperation projects, as well as cer
tain financings whose recovery is explicitly contingent on events 

that may not occur, are charged against income at the time of 
approval. 

Fair values of financial instruments 
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Adminis
trator in estimating the fair value disclosures for financial instruments: 

Cash: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet 
for cash approximates fair value. 

Investments: Fair values for investments are based on 
quoted market prices, where available. If quoted market 
prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted mar
ket prices of comparable instruments. 

Loans: For all loans and participations, the Bank as Ad
ministrator is of the opinion that due to its unique position 
and the absence of a secondary market, it is not practicable 
to estimate a fair value for the SPTF's holdings of loans and 
participations at this time. 

Note C—Investments 
Effective January 1, 1994, following implementation of a new stan
dard issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in May 
1993, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Se
curities" (SFAS 115), the investments of the SPTF which consist of 
obligations of governments and their corporations and agencies and 
of banks, are classified as trading and are stated at market value, 
reporting unrealized gains and losses in net income. The initial 
adoption of SFAS 115 resulted in the recognition of a net unreal
ized gain of $1,000. For the year ended December 3 1, 1993, the 
investments of the SPTF are stated at amortized cost which approxi
mates market value. 

The investments of the SPTF are shown in the Summary 
Statement of Investments in Appendix IV-1. 

Proceeds from sales of investments during 1994 and 1993 
were $59,284,000 and $20,070,000, respectively. Gross gains of 
$334,000 and no gross losses were realized on those sales in 1994 
(1993-$3,000 and $0, respectively). 

The SPTF activities of investing in securities are limited to a 
list of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit limits have 
been established for each counterparty by type of instrument and 
maturity category. The average return on investments during 1994 
and 1993, was 4.06% and 3.09%, respectively. 

Note D—Participations in Loans Made from the Fund 
for Special Operations 
The Board of Executive Directors has authorized the use of the re
sources of the SPTF to purchase participations in loans made from 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
December 31,1994 and 1993 

the Fund for Special Operations provided that, with respect to such 
loans, the provisions of the SPTF Agreement have in substance been 
complied with as fully as though the loans had been made initially 
from the SPTF. Through the purchase of participations in the local 
currency components of loans made from the Fund for Special Op
erations, the value of which must be maintained by the respective 
borrowers, it has been possible to substantially maintain the value 
of the SPTF resources so invested. 

The composition of the amounts outstanding by country, 
resulting from participations in loans of the FSO as of December 
31 , 1994, is as follows (in thousands): 

Country 

Argentina 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic . 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 

Total 

Outstanding 
participations 

$ 1,212 
2,995 

13,121 
171 

12,366 
10,169 
6,709 
9,160 

400 
807 

10,789 
110 

17,350 
5,799 

594 
11,668 

110 
814 

; i04,344 

N o t e E—Loans O u t s t a n d i n g 
Approved loans are disbursed to borrowers in accordance with the 
requirements of the project being financed; however, disbursements 
do not begin until the borrower and guarantor, if any, take certain 
actions and furnish certain documents to the Bank. 

Loan disbursements have been made principally in United 
States dollars although, in the case of certain loans, disbursements 
have been made in the national currencies of the borrowers or in 
the currencies of other members. In accordance with the provisions 
of practically all loan agreements, loans disbursed in United States 
dollars may be repaid in the national currency of the borrower at 
the market rate of exchange existing at the date of repayment or in 
United States dollars at the election of the borrower. 

On December 19, 1994, the Bank received payment of all 
amounts overdue on loans to borrowers in Haiti, which came out 
of nonaccrual status. As a result, income from participation in loans 
for the year ended December 3 1, 1994, has been increased by 
$41,000, corresponding to income that would have been accrued 
in previous years. The effect of the placing of loans to Haiti in 
nonaccrual status in 1992, resulted in a net decrease in income from 
participation in loans, during 1993, of $17,000. 

The average maturity on loans outstanding and the interest 
rates for loans outstanding at December 3 1 , 1994, and 1993, are 
11.1 years and 11.3 years and 1.52% and 1.52%, respectively. 

N o t e F—Amounts Returned t o the U n i t e d States 
G o v e r n m e n t 
The Bank as Administrator has returned to the Government of the 
United States the equivalent of $189,677,000 of the assets of the 
SPTF during the years 1980 through 1994 (1994-$5,807,000; 
1993—$8,465,000) for use in financing social development 
projects of the Inter-American Foundation. 

N o t e G — Reconc i l i a t i on o f Excess o f E x p e n s e s o v e r 
I n c o m e to N e t Cash Used for Opera t ing Act iv i t i e s 
A reconciliation of the excess of expenses over income to net cash 
used for operating activities, as shown in the statement of cash 
flows, is as follows (in thousands) : 

Years ended December 31, 

1994 
Excess of expenses over income $ (5,789) 
Difference between amounts accrued 

and amounts paid or collected for: 
Loan income (80) 
Participation income 198 
Net unrealized gain on investments (7) 
Gross purchases of trading 

investments (340,000) 
Gross proceeds from sales and 

maturities of trading investments 340,532 

1993 
(10,896) 

54 
28 

Administrative expenses 
Technical cooperation and 

other financings 
Provision for losses on loans 

and participations 
Cumulative effect on prior years due 

to change in accounting for 
investments 

Translation adjustments 
Net cash used for operating 

activities 

155 

(2,007) 

(1) 
956 

$ (6,043) 

255 

6,471 

(4,265) 

1,183 

(7,170) 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX IV-1 

SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF INVESTMENTS - NOTE C 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Investments 

Obligations of the United Slates 
Government and its corporations 
and agencies 

Amortized 
cost 

1993 

$ 9.872 

$ 9.872 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 

1994 1993 

$ 7 

$ 7 
$ I 

$ 1 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 

1994 1993 

$ -

S -

Market 
value 
1994 

S 9.350 

S 9,350 

Estimated 
market 
value 

1993 

S 9.873 

S 9.873 

The above securities all had contractual maturities of one year or less at both December 31, 1994 and December 31, 1993. 
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SOCIAL PROGRESS TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

APPENDIX IV-2 

SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF LOANS - NOTE E 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Countries in which 
loans have been made 

Loans 
approved, less 
cancellations 

Argentina 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Colombia 
Cosía Rica 
Dominican Republic 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Honduras 
Mexico 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Paraguay 
Peru 
Uruguay 
Venezuela 
Regional 

Total 1994 

$ 45 
20 
61 
34 
4!) 
l l 
« 

27 
37 
28 
7 

34 
13 
12 
7 

45 
10 
72 
8 

.900 
,648 
.510 
.352 
.008 
,700 
.407 
.448 
.689 
.313 
,602 
,927 
,035 
.862 
799 
,108 
.350 
,861 
,367 

Total 1993 

S537.886 

$537,886 

Principal 
collected 
$ 43.680 

15.038 
61.510 
34,352 
49,008 
11.700 
8.407 

27.448 
25,564 
18,284 
7,602 

34,927 
13.035 
12,862 
7,629 

45.108 
10,350 
72,861 
5,867 

$505.232 
$502,831 

Outs landing 
1994 

$ 2.220 
5.610 

12,125 
10.029 

170 

2,500 
$32.654 

Outstanding 
1993 

$ 2,338 
5,680 

69 

12.921 
10.495 

295 

337 
56 

2,864 

$35,055 



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

VENEZUELAN 
TRUST FUND 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 

Board of Governors 
Inter-American Development Bank 

In our opinion, the financial statements appearing on pages 158 through 164 present fairly, in all material respects, the finan
cial position of the Venezuelan Trust Fund, which is administered by the Inter-American Development Bank, at December 31, 
1994 and 1993, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank's management; our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 

Effective January 1, 1994, the Bank changed its method of accounting for investments. 

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP 

Washington, D.C. 
February 13, 1995 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

BALANCE SHEET 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

December 31, 

ASSETS 

Cash and temporary investments 
Cash 
Temporary investments 

Loans outstanding 
Allowance for loan losses 

Investment in equities, at cost 

Accrued interest 
On temporary investments 
On loans 

Other assets ... 
Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 

Fund balance 
Fund established by the Venezuelan 

Investment Fund 
Accumulated earnings 
Translation adjustments 
Less: amounts returned to the Venezuelan 

Investment Fund 
Total liabilities and fund balance ... 

1994 

344 
117,532 

130,700 
(3,900) 

7 
4,046 

$ 402,536 
616,391 

(8,508) 

(759,201) 

$117,876 

126,800 

1,140 

4,053 

1,353 
$251,222 

251,218 
$251,222 

1993 

226 
119,579 

147,588 
(11,000) 

766 
4,347 

$ 404,060 
594,256 

(8,520) 

(727,047) 

$119,805 

136,588 

1,140 

5,113 

103 
$262,749 

262,749 
$262,749 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STA TEMENT OF INCOME ANDA CCUMULA TED EARNINGS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31, 

Income 
Loans 
Temporary investments 
Other 

Total income 

Expenses 
Direct and indirect expenses 
Commission on temporary investments . 
Provision for loan losses 

Total expenses 

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting 
for investments 
Cumulative effect on prior years due to change in accounting for 

investments 

Net income 

Accumulated earnings, beginning of year. 

Accumulated earnings, end of year 

1994 

$ 11,662 
4,254 

1 

15,917 

912 
48 

(7,100) 
(6,140) 

22,057 

78 

22,135 

594,256 

$616,391 

1993 

$ 12,695 
3,901 
(392) 

16,204 

867 
68 

935 

15,269 

15,269 

578,987 

$594,256 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 



160 INTER-AMERICAN DE VEL OPMENT BANK 

VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

STA TEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Years ended December 31, 

Cash flows from lending and investing activities 
Lending: 

Loan disbursements 
Loan collections 

Other assets and liabilities 
Net cash provided by lending and investing activities. 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loan income collections 
Income from temporary investments 
Gross purchases of trading investments 
Gross proceeds from sales and maturities of trading investments . 
Administrative expenses 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Refunded to the Venezuelan Investment Fund 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and investments (1). 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and investments (1) 

(1) Cash only for 1994. 

1994 

$ (14,016) 
30,373 

7 
16.364 

11,941 

(9,057.851) 
9,064,955 

(2,213) 

16,832 

(32,966) 

(113) 

117 

1993 

$(14,679) 
35,364 

20,685 

12,913 
3,532 

(1,050) 
15,395 

(42,637) 

135 

$ (6,422) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS 
December 31,1994 and 1993 

Note A—Nature of the Fund 
In 1975 the Venezuelan Investment Fund and the Inter-American 
Development Bank (Bank) entered into a Trust Agreement whereby 
the Bank became the Administrator of the Venezuelan Trust Fund 
(VTF). The initial resources of the VTF were made available in U.S. 
dollars and in Venezuelan bolivars for a total of $400,000,000 and 
VEB 430,000,000, equivalent to $100,000,000 at the rate of ex
change in effect at that time. 

The purpose of the VTF is to contribute to the financing of 
projects and programs having a significant effect on the develop
ment of member countries of the Bank which are relatively lesser 
developed or of limited market, or of intermediate size, through bet
ter utilization of their natural resources and the promotion of their 
industry and agroindustry and to expand the Bank's export financ
ing program, with emphasis on the strengthening of the integra
tion plans of Latin America, and to cooperate in the solution of 
problems which may arise affecting national and regional economic 
and social development plans. 

In accordance with the Trust Agreement, the Bank charges 
the VTF for direct and indirect expenses and a commission on tem
porary investments. The direct and indirect expense charge is de
termined as a percentage of the VTF's assets at the end of the year, 
excluding certain assets not committed under loans. The Venezue
lan Investment Fund may require the return of all sums received in 
payment of loans made from the VTF as well as all collections of 
income derived from VTF resources. Amounts returned to the Ve
nezuelan Investment Fund in 1994 were $32,966,000, comprised 
of $32,265,000 and VEB 80,111,000 (1993-$42,637,000, 
comprised of $41,618,000 and VEB 55,421,000). 

Note B—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Translation of currencies 
The accounting records are maintained and the financial statements 
are expressed in United States dollars. Assets, liabilities and fund 
balance denominated in Venezuelan bolivars, which is the only 
other currency of the VTF, are translated into United States dollars 
at the rates of exchange in effect at the dates of the financial state
ments. Income and expenses in Venezuelan bolivars were translated 
at the approximate market rates of exchange prevailing during each 
month. 

The application of the above mentioned rates of exchange 
had the effect of reducing the United States dollar equivalent of the 
initial resources of the VTF by $1,525,000 in 1994 and 
$ 1,352,000 in 1993. The portion of amounts returned to the Ven
ezuelan Investment Fund representing refunds of principal collected 
was also reduced by $812,000 in 1994 and $706,000 in 1993. 

The resulting net adjustment is shown in the Balance Sheet as trans
lation adjustments under Fund balance, and consists of the follow
ing (in thousands) : 

Years ended December 31, 

1994 1993 

Cumulative adjustments 
beginning of year $(8,520) $(8,752) 

Translation adjustments 
for the year 12 232 

Cumulative adjustments 
end of year $(8,508) $(8,520) 

Loans 
Loans from the resources of the Trust Fund have been made to de
veloping members of the Inter-American Development Bank, agen
cies or political subdivisions of such members or to private enter
prises located in their territories. For loans to borrowers other than 
members and central banks, the Bank as Administrator has received 
in all instances the member's guarantee. Loans approved are dis
bursed to borrowers in accordance with the requirements of the 
project being financed; however, disbursements do not begin until 
the borrower and guarantor take certain actions and furnish cer
tain documents to the Bank. 

The Bank as Administrator has a policy of not rescheduling 
loan repayments. The Bank as Administrator follows the policy of 
reviewing the collectibility of loans on a continuous basis and 
records provisions for loan losses in accordance with its determi
nation of collectibility risk of the total loan portfolio. 

The Bank as Administrator ceases to accrue income under 
all loans in a country when service under any loan to or guaran
teed by a borrower in such country, made from any fund owned 
or administered by the Bank, is overdue for more than 180 days; 
income is recorded thereafter only as it is collected, until loan ser
vice is current under all loans. 

Fair values of financial instruments 
The following methods and assumptions were used by the Adminis
trator in estimating the fair value disclosures for financial instruments : 

Cash: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet 
for cash approximates fair value. 

Investments: Fair values for investment securities are 
based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted 
market prices are not available, fair values are based on 
quoted market prices of comparable instruments. 
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VENEZUELAN TRUST FUND 
ADMINISTERED BY THE INTER-AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS (continued) 
December 31,1994 and 1993 

L o a n s : For all loans and related commitments, the Admin
istrator is of the opinion that due to its unique position and 
the absence of a secondary market, it is not practicable to es
timate the fair value of the VTF lending portfolio at this time. 

N o t e C—Investments 
Effective January 1, 1994, following implementation of a new stan
dard issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board in May 
1993, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Se
curities" (SFAS 115), the investments of the VTF, which consist of 
time deposits and other obligations of banks, are classified as trad
ing and are stated at market value, reporting unrealized gains and 
losses in net income. The initial adoption of SFAS 115 resulted in 
the recognition of a net unrealized gain of $78,000. For the year 
ended December 3 1 , 1993, the investments of the VTF are stated 
at amortized cost which approximates market value. 

The investments of the VTF are shown in the Summary 
Statement of Investments in Appendix V - 1 . 

Proceeds from sales of investments during 1994 and 1993 
were $393,937,000 and $181,493,000, respectively. Gross gains 
of $2,601,000 and gross losses of $746,000 were realized on those 
sales in 1994 (1993-$37,000 and $59,000, respectively). 

The Administrator of the VTF limits its activities in securi
ties to a list of authorized dealers and counterparties. Strict credit 
limits have been established for each counterparty by type of in
vestment and maturity category. The average return on investments 
during 1994 and 1993 was 3.70% and 3.54%, respectively. 

N o t e E—Reconc i l ia t ion o f N e t I n c o m e t o N e t Cash 
P r o v i d e d by Opera t ing Act iv i t i e s 
A reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities, as shown in the statement of cash flows, is as follows (in 
thousands): 

Years ended December 3 1, 

1994 
Net income 
Difference between amounts accrued and 

amounts paid or collected for: 
Loan income 
Investment income 
Net unrealized gain on investments 
Gross purchases of trading investments . . . 
Gross proceeds from sales and 

maturities of trading investments 9,060,954 
Income from equity investments — 
Administrative expenses 
Provision for loan losses 
Cumulative effect on prior years due to 

change in accounting for investments . 

Net cash provided by operating activities. . . 

1993 
$ 22,135 $15,269 

278 

(253) 
(9,057,851) 

(1,253) 
(7,100) 

(78) 
16,832 

Supplemental disclosure 
of noncash activities: 
Decrease in loans outstanding resulting 

from exchange fluctuations $ 
Decrease in investments resulting 

from exchange fluctuations $ 

218 
(369) 

392 
(115) 

$15,395 

531 $ 522 

32 $ -

N o t e D—Loans O u t s t a n d i n g 
On December 19, 1994, the VTF received payment of all amounts 
overdue on loans to borrowers in Haiti, which came out of 
nonaccrual status. As a result, income from loans for the year ended 
December 3 1 , 1994, has been increased by $535,000 correspond
ing to income that would have been accrued in prior years. The ef
fect of placing loans to Haiti in nonaccrual status in 1992, resulted 
in a net decrease in loan income during 1993 of $209,000. 

The average maturity and interest rates for loans outstand
ing at December 3 1 , 1994 and 1993, are 4.21 years and 4.64 years 
and 8.06% and 8.08%, respectively. 
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APPENDEKV-1 

SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF INVESTMENTS - NOTE C 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

.Investments 

Obligations of the United $tates 
Government and its corporations 
and agencies 

Time deposits 

Amortized 
cost 
1993 

$ 60,794 
58,785 

$119,579 

Gross 
unrealized 

gains 
1994 1993 

$253 

$253 

$75 
_ 3 
$78 

Gross 
unrealized 

losses 
1994 1993 

$ -

Market 
value 
1994 

$ 96,570 
20,962 

$117,532 

Estimated 
market 
value 
1993 

$ 60,869 
58,788 

$119,657 

The market value, estimated market value and amortized cost of the above securities by contractual maturity, are as follows: 

Due in one year or less 
Due after one year through five years 

Market 
value 
1994 

$117,532 

$117,532 

Estimated 
market 
value 
1993 

$100,467 
19,190 

$119,657 

Amortized 
cost 
1993 

$100,455 
19,124 

$119,579 

The freely convertible currencies of the above investments are as follows: 

Currencies 1994 
United $tates dollars $117,532 
Venezuelan bolivars -

$117,532 

1993 
$118,947 

632 
$119,579 
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APPENDIX V-2 

SUMMAR Y STA TEMENT OF LOANS -NOTED 
December 31,1994 and 1993 
Expressed in thousands of United States dollars 

Countries in which 
loans have been made 
Argentina 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Bolivia 
Brazil 
Chile 
Costa Rica 
Dominican Republic . 
Ecuador 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 
Guyana 
Haiti 
Honduras 
Jamaica 
Nicaragua 
Panama 
Peru 
Trinidad and Tobago 
Uruguay 
Regional 

Total 1994 

Loans 
approved, 

less 
cancellations 

$ 2,577 
2,022 

21,033 
49,686 
51,721 

1,791 
116,616 
63,571 
52,128 
93,347 
31,891 
8,875 
6,456 

42,836 
149,607 
34,440 
19,978 

175,345 
15,320 
8,940 
3,243 

Total 1993 

$951,423 

$939,225 

Principal 
collected 
$ 2,577 

1,435 
18,295 
34,005 
51,721 
1,791 

107,544 
35,930 
35,678 
85,312 
21,584 
4,947 
4,787 
30,573 
143,406 
17,712 
11,041 

175,345 
14,320 
8,940 
1,540 

$808,483 
$779,083 

Undisbursed 

2,000 
5,000 

1,240 

2,000 

2,000 

Outstanding 
1994 

$ 
587 
738 

10,681 

9,072 
26,401 
16,450 
8,035 
10,307 
1,928 
1,669 

10,263 
6,201 
16,728 
8,937 

1,000 

1,703 

Outstanding 
1993 

$ 

$12,240 
$12,554 

$130,700 

717 
1,297 

11,700 

10,265 
28,205 
18,602 
9,064 
11,922 
2,357 
2,232 
13,217 
6,551 
18,492 
10,067 

1,000 

1,900 

$147,588 

Loans approved, less cancellations, include short and medium term lines of credit for export financing to the following countries at 
December 31, 1994 (in thousands): 

Argentina $ 2,577 
Barbados . 
Bolivia ... 
Brazil 
Chile 
Costa Rica 

19,331 
29,284 
51,721 

1,791 
98,100 

Dominican Republic 13,571 
EI$alvador 74,440 
Guatemala 1,764 
Guyana 2,875 
Haiti 3,117 
Honduras 8,908 
Jamaica 145,565 
Nicaragua 1,000 
Peru 164,000 
Trinidad and Tobago 15,320 
Uruguay 8,940 

$642,304 
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GOVERNORS AND ALTERNATE GOVERNORS 

Country 

ARGENTINA 
AUSTRIA 
BAHAMAS 
BARBADOS 
BELGIUM 

BELIZE 
BOLIVIA 
BRAZIL 
CANADA 
CHILE 

Governor 

Domingo Cavallo 
Ferdinand Lacina 
William C. Allen 
Owen S. Arthur 
Philippe Maystadt 

Manuel Esquivei 
Fernando Alvaro Cossío 
Ciro Ferreira Gomes 
André Ouellet 
Eduardo Aninat 

Alternate 

Roque Fernandez 
Hans Dietmar Schweisgut 
Ruth Millar 
George Reid 
Jean-Pierre Arnoldi 

Keith Arnold 
Gaby Cândia de Mercado 
Pedro Sampaio Malan 
Louise Frechette 
Manuel Marfan Lewis 

COLOMBIA 
COSTA RICA 
CROATIA 
DENMARK 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

ECUADOR 
EL SALVADOR 
FINLAND 
FRANCE 
GERMANY 

GUATEMALA 
GUYANA 
HAITI 
HONDURAS 
ISRAEL 

Guillermo Perry Rubio 
Fernando Herrero Acosta 
Zoran Jasic 
Ole Loensmann Poulsen 
Hector Valdez Albizu 

Modesto Correa San Andrés 
Ramón González Giner 
Mauri Eggert 
Edmond Alphandéry 
Klaus-Jürgen Hedrich 

Ana Ordóñez de Molina 
Asgar Ally 
Jean-Marie Chérestal 
Guillermo Bueso 
Jacob Frenkel 

José Antonio Ocampo 
Leonardo Gamier Rimólo 
Josip Kulisic 
Peter Bruckner 
Luis Manuel Piantini Munnigh 

J. Roberto Orellana M. 
Taisto Huimasalo 
Christian Noyer 
Klaus Regling 

Willy Waldemar Zapata Sagastume 
Michael Shree Chan 
Marie Michèle Rey 
Juan F. Ferrera 
Reuven Kokolevich 

ITALY 
JAMAICA 
JAPAN 
MEXICO 
NETHERLANDS 

Lamberto Dini 
Omar Davies, MP 
Masayoshi Takemura 
Pedro Aspe 
Gerrit Zalm 

Vincenzo Desario 
Shirley Tyndall 
Yasushi Mieno 
Guillermo Ortiz 
J. P. Pronk 

NICARAGUA 
NORWAY 
PANAMA 
PARAGUAY 
PERU 

PORTUGAL 
SLOVENIA 
SPAIN 
SURINAME 
SWEDEN 

Pablo Pereira Gallardo 
Asbjoern Mathisen 
Guillermo Chapman 
Orlando Bareiro 
Jorge Camet Dickmann 

Eduardo de Almeida Catroga 
Mitja Gaspari 
Javier Gómez-Navarro 
Humphrey Stanley Hildenberg 
Mats Karlsson 

Emilio Pereira A. 
Knut Vollebaek 
Olmedo David Miranda 
Julio González Ugarte 
Germán Suárez Chavez 

Manuel Pinho 

Apolonio Ruiz Ligero 
Stanley Ramsaran 
Malin Kârre 

SWITZERLAND 
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 
UNITED KINGDOM 
UNITED STATES 
URUGUAY 
VENEZUELA 

Nicolas Imboden 
Lenny Saith 
Baroness Chalker of Wallasey 
Lloyd Bentsen 
Ignacio de Posadas 
Julio Sosa Rodríguez 

Adrian Schlapfer 
Carlyle Greaves 
N.B. Hudson 
Joan E. Spero 
Javier de Haedo 
Werner Corrales Leal 

As of January 10, 1995 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND ALTERNATE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Julio Angel 
COLOMBIA 

PERU 

Havelock Brewster 
GUYANA 
Barry Malcolm Alternate) 
BAHAMAS 

José Córdoba Montoya 
MEXICO 
Ruddy E. Pérez Alternate) 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

Jorge Ramón Hemández-Alcerro 
HONDURAS 

COSTA RICA 

Maritza Izaguirre 
VENEZUELA 
Rogelio Novey Alternate) 
PANAMA 

Guy A. Lavigueur 
CANADA 
William D. Gunn Alternate) 
CANADA 

Gert-Robert Liptau 
GERMANY 
Helge Semb Alternate) 
NORWAY 

A. Humberto Petrei 
ARGENTINA 
Andrés Solimano Alternate) 
CHILE 

L. Ronald Scheman 
UNITED STATES 

Antonio Cláudio Sochaczewski 
BRAZIL 
Jacinto Vêlez Alternate) 
ECUADOR 

Hiroshi Toyoda 
JAPAN 
Moshe Gal Alternate) 
ISRAEL 

Jacques Trigo Loubière 
BOLIVIA 
Homero Martínez-Lawlor Alternate) 
URUGUAY 

Elected by: 
Colombia 
Peru 

Elected by: 
Bahamas 
Barbados 
Guyana 

Elected by: 
Dominican Republic 
Mexico 

Elected by: 
Belize 
Costa Rica 
El Salvador 
Guatemala 

Elected by: 
Panama 
Venezuela 

Elected by: 
Canada 

Elected by: 
Belgium 
Denmark 
Finland 
Germany 
Italy 

Elected by: 
Argentina 
Chile 

Appointed by: 
United States 

Elected by: 
Brazil 
Ecuador 
Suriname 

Elected by: 
Austria 
Croatia 
France 
Israel 
Japan 

Elected by: 
Bolivia 
Paraguay 
Uruguay 

Jamaica 
Trinidad and 

Haiti 
Honduras 
Nicaragua 

Netherlands 
Norway 
Sweden 
United Kingdom 

Portugal 
Slovenia 
Spain 
Switzerland 

Number 
of votes 

239,391 

82,570 

408,023 

145,565 

337,470 

221,293 

186,115 

746,574 

1,752,020 

622,077 

174,766 

133,679 

Percentage of 
voting power* 

4.74 

1.64 

2.89 

6.69 

4.38 

3.70 

14.79 

34.70 

12.32 

3.48 

2.65 

Evaluation Office 
Jean S. Quesnel, Director 

Richard D. Fletcher, Deputy Director 

As of February 1, 1995 
Total may not add due to rounding. 
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PRINCIPAL OFFICERS OF THE BANK 

President 

Executive Vice President 

Chief, Office of the Presidency 

Controller 

Deputy Controller 

Chief Economist 

Auditor General 

External Relations Advisor 
Office of the Multilateral Investment Fund 
Manager 

Deputy Manager 
Deputy Manager 

Regional Operations Department 1 
Manager 

Deputy Manager 
Senior Deputy Manager-Regional Support Services 
Deputy Manager-Financial Support Services 

Regional Operations Department 2 
Manager 

Deputy Manager 

Regional Operations Department 3 
Manager 

Deputy Manager 

Finance Department 
Manager 

Senior Deputy Manager-Treasurer 
Deputy Manager-Policy, Planning and Capital Markets 
Deputy Manager-Cashiers and Accounting 

Legal Department 
General Counsel 

Deputy General Counsel 

Secretariat Department 
Secretary of the Bank 

Deputy Secretary 

Strategic Planning and Operational Policy Department 
Manager 

Integration and Regional Programs Department 
Manager 

Private Sector Department 
Manager 

Social Programs and Sustainable Development Department 
Manager 

Administrative Department 
Manager 

Deputy Manager-Budget and Services 
Deputy Manager-Human Resources Administration 

Special Representative in Europe 

Enrique V Iglesias 
Nancy Birdsall 

Euric A. Bobb 

Alberto Pico 

Carlos Eduardo Guedes 

Ricardo Hausmann 

William L. Taylor 

Muni Figueres de Jiménez 

Donald F. Terry 
Keisuke Nakamura 
Abayubá Morey Rolando 

Ricardo L. Santiago 
Manuel Rapoport 
Frederick W. Schieck 
Setsuko Ono 

Miguel E. Martinez 
William R. Large, Jr. 

Ciro de Falco 
Miguel A. Rivera 

Charles O. Sethness 
Carlos Santistevan 
Naoki Kajiyama 
(Vacant) 

John Marvin Niehuss 
J.James Spinner 

Carlos Ferdinand 
Oscar Rodrieuez-Rozic 

Stephen A. Quick 

Nohra Rey de Marulanda 

Makoto Sunagawa 

Waldemar F. W. Wirsig 

Richard J. Herring 
Emil Weinberg 
Feliciano López Peralta 

Andrés Bajuk 

As of January 12, 1995 
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CHANNELS OF COMMUNICATIONS AND DEPOSITORIES 

Member Country Channels of Communications Depository 

ARGENTINA 
AUSTRIA 
BAHAMAS 
BARBADOS 
BELGIUM 

BELIZE 
BOLIVIA 
BRAZIL 
CANADA 
CHILE 

COLOMBIA 
COSTA RICA 
CROATIA 
DENMARK 
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 
ECUADOR 
EL SALVADOR 
FINLAND 
FRANCE 
GERMANY 

GUATEMALA 
GUYANA 
HAITI 
HONDURAS 
ISRAEL 
ITALY 
JAMAICA 
JAPAN 
MEXICO 
NETHERLANDS 
NICARAGUA 
NORWAY 

PANAMA 
PARAGUAY 
PERU 
PORTUGAL 
SLOVENIA 
SPAIN 

SURINAME 
SWEDEN 

SWITZERLAND 

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 
UNITED KINGDOM 
UNITED STATES 
URUGUAY 
VENEZUELA 

Banco Central de la República Argentina 
Federal Ministry of Finance 
Ministry of Finance 
Ministry of Economic Affairs 
Administration de la Trésorerie, 

Service des Relations Internationales 
Financial Secretary, Ministry of Finance 
Banco Central de Bolivia 
Banco Central do Brasil 
Canadian International Development Agency 
Ministerio de Hacienda, Dirección 

de Presupuestos 
Ministerio de Hacienda y Crédito Público 
Ministerio de Hacienda 
Ministry of Finance 
Danish International Development Agency 
Banco Central de la República Dominicana 
Ministerio de Finanzas y Crédito Público 
Banco Central de Reserva de El Salvador 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
Ministère de l'Économie 
Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation 

and Development 
Banco de Guatemala 
Ministry of Finance 
Banque de la République d'Haïti 
Banco Central de Honduras 
Bank of Israel 
Ministry of the Treasury 
Ministry of Finance and Planning 
Ministry of Finance 
Secretaría de Hacienda y Crédito Público 
Ministry of Finance 
Ministerio de Economía y Desarrollo 
Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs 

Department of Multilateral Development 
Cooperation 

Ministerio de Planificación y Política Económica 
Banco Central de Paraguay 
Banco Central de Reserva del Perú 
Ministério das Finanças 
Ministry of Finance 
Subdirección General de Política Comercial 

Multilateral, Ministerio de Comercio 
y Turismo 

Ministry of Finance 
Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Department 

for International Development Co-operation 
Office Fédéral des Affaires Economiques 

Extérieures 
Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 
Overseas Development Administration 
Treasury Department 
Ministerio de Economía y Finanzas 
Oficina de Coordinación y Planificación de la 

Presidencia de la República 

Banco Central de la República Argentina 
Õsterreichische Nationalbank 
Central Bank of The Bahamas 
Central Bank of Barbados 

Banque nationale de Belgique 
Central Bank of Belize 
Banco Central de Bolivia 
Banco Central do Brasil 
Bank of Canada 

Banco Central de Chile 
Banco de la República 
Banco Central de Costa Rica 
National Bank of Croatia 
Danmarks Nationalbank 
Banco Central de la República Dominicana 
Banco Central del Ecuador 
Banco Central de Reserva de El Salvador 
Bank of Finland 
Banque de France 

Deutsche Bundesbank 
Banco de Guatemala 
Bank of Guyana 
Banque de la République d'Haïti 
Banco Central de Honduras 
Bank of Israel 
Banca d'Italia 
Bank of Jamaica 
Bank of Japan 
Banco de México, S.A. 
De Nederlandsche Bank N.V 
Banco Central de Nicaragua 

Bank of Norway 
Banco Nacional de Panamá 
Banco Central de Paraguay 
Banco Central de Reserva del Perú 
Banco de Portugal 
Bank of Slovenia 

Banco de España 

Central Bank van Suriname 

Sveriges Riksbank 

Banque nationale suisse 
Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 
Bank of England 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York 
Banco Central del Uruguay 
Banco Central de Venezuela 

As of January 24, 1995 
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COUNTRY OFFICES AND REPRESENTATIVES 

ARGENTINA, José Maria Puppo 
Calle Esmeralda 130, 19°y 20°Pisos 
(Casilla de correo N o . 181 , Sucursal 1) 
Buenos Aires Tel: 3 3 4 - 1 7 5 6 

BAHAMAS, Hugo E. Souza 
IDB House, East Bay Street 
(P.O. Box N - 3 7 4 3 ) 
Nassau Tel: 3 9 3 - 7 1 5 9 

BARBADOS, Pamela McKell 
Maple Manor, Hastings 
(P.O. Box 402) 
Christ Church Tel: 4 2 7 - 3 6 1 2 

BELIZE, José Airton Teixeira 
Social Security Building 
Bliss Parade, Belmopan Tel :82-3914 

BOLIVIA, David B. Atkinson 
Edificio BISA, 5°Piso 
Avenida 16 de Julio, No . 1628 
(Casilla de correo N o . 5872) 
La Paz 

BRAZIL, Jorge Elena 
Setor Comercial Sul (SCS) 
Quadra 3 - N o . 4 0 
Edifício Planalto - 2° andar 
7 0 3 0 0 Brasília, D.F. 

Tel: 3 5 - 1 2 2 1 

Tel: 32 1-7848 

CHILE, Vladimir Radovic 
Avenida Pedro de Valdivia 0 1 9 3 , l l °Piso 
(Casilla N o . 16611, Correo 9, Providencia) 
Santiago Tel: 23 1-7986 

COLOMBIA 
Avenida 40 A No . 13-09 , 8°Piso 
Apar tado aéreo 12037) 
Bogotá Tel: 2 8 8 - 0 3 6 6 

COSTA RICA, Juan Manuel Corredor 
Edificio Centro Colón, 12° Piso 
Paseo Colón entre Calles 3 8 y 4 0 
San José Tel: 2 3 3 - 3 2 4 4 

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC, 
Leonardo A. da Silva 
Avenida Winston Churchill esquina 
Calle Luis F. Thomen, Torre BHD 
Apar tado postal No . 1386) 
Santo Domingo Tel: 5 6 2 - 6 4 0 0 

ECUADOR, Ronald P. Brousseau 
Avenida Amazonas 4 7 7 y Roca 
Edificio Banco de Los Andes, 9° Piso 
Apar t ado postal No . 1 7 - 0 7 - 9 0 4 1 ) 
Quito Tel: 5 6 - 2 1 4 1 

EL SALVADOR, 
Stephen E. McGaughey 
Condominio Torres del Bosque 
10° Piso, Colonia La Mascota 
[Apartado postal No . (01) 1991 
San Salvador Tel: 2 2 3 - 8 3 0 0 

GUATEMALA, Cario Binetti 
Edificio Géminis 10 
12 Calle 1-25, Zona 10, Nivel 19 
Apar tado postal 935) 
Guatemala Tel: 3 5 - 2 6 5 0 

GUYANA, Charles T, Greenwood 
4 7 High Street, Kingston 
(P.O. Box 10867) 
Georgetown Tel: 5 - 7 9 5 1 

HAITI 
Bourdon 3 8 9 
(Boîte postale 1321) 
Port-au-Prince Tel: 45 -5711 

HONDURAS, Federico Alvarez 
Edificio Los Castaños, 5 ° y 6°Pisos 
Colonia Los Castaños 
Apar t ado postal No . 3180) 
Tegucigalpa Tel: 3 2 - 4 8 3 8 

JAMAICA, Robert Kestell 
4 0 - 4 6 Knutsford Boulevard, 6th floor 
(P.O. Box 429) 
Kingston 10 Tel: 9 2 6 - 2 3 4 2 

MEXICO, Jairo Sanchez 
Avenida Horacio N o . 1855 
6o. Piso (Esquina Periférico) 
Los Morales-Polanco 
11510 México, D.F. Tel: 5 8 0 - 2 1 2 2 

NICARAGUA, Martin Stabile 
Edificio BID 
Km. 4 - 1 / 2 Carretera a Masaya 
Apar t ado postal 2512) 
Managua Tel: 6 7 - 0 8 3 1 

PANAMA 
Avenida Samuel Lewis 
Edificio Banco Unión, 14°Piso 
(Apartado postal 7297) 
Panamá 5 Tel: 6 3 - 6 9 4 4 

PARAGUAY, José Agustín Riveros 
Edificio Aurora I, 2 ° y 3 " Pisos 
Calle Caballero esquina 
Eligió Ayala (Casilla 1209) 
Asunción Tel :49-2061 

PERU, Rosa Olivia V. Lawson 
Paseo de la República 3 2 4 5 , 14°Piso 
Apar tado postal N o . 2 7 0 1 5 4 ) 
San Isidro, Lima 2 7 Te l :442-3400 

SURINAME, Christian Will 
Peter Bruneslaan 2 - 4 
Paramaribo Tel: 4 6 - 2 9 0 3 

TRBMIDAD AND TOBAGO, 
Robert H. Bellefeuille 
Tatil Building 
11 Marava lRd . 
(P.O. Box 68) 
Port of Spain Tel: 6 2 2 - 8 3 6 7 

URUGUAY, William R. Largejr. 
Andes 1365, 13» Piso 
(Casilla de correo 5 0 2 9 , Sucursal 1) 
Montevideo Tel :92-0444 

VENEZUELA, Alejandro Scopelli 
Edificio Cremerca, 3 e r Piso 
Avenida Venezuela, El Rosal 
Caracas 1060 Tel :951-5533 

INSTITUTE FOR THE INTEGRATION 
OF LATIN AMERICA 

José Maria Puppo, Director a.i. 
Calle Esmeralda 130 - 16°, 17°y 18°Pisos 
(Casilla de correo N o . 3 9 , Sucursal 1) 
Buenos Aires Tel :394-2265 

SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE 
I N E U R O P E 
Andrés Bajuk 
66 , Avenue d'Iéna 
75116 Paris, France Tel :40 69 3 1 0 0 

As of March 1, 1995 



KEY TO ABBREVIA TIONS 

EIB European Investment Bank 
FSO Fund for Special Operations 
IBRD International Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
IFAD International Fund for Agricultural Development 
IFF Intermediate Financing Facility 
JEXIM Export-Import Bank of Japan 
JSF Japan Special Fund 
KfW Kreditanstalt fiir Wiederaufbau (Germany) 
MIF Multilateral Investment Fund 
NGO Nongovernmental Organization 
OAS Organization of American States 
OC Ordinary Capital 
OECF Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund (Japan) 
PPF Project Preparation Facility 
SPTF Social Progress Trust Fund 
TC Technical Cooperation 
UNDP United Nations Development Programme 
WID Women in Development 
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